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 Prologue 
 
      
 
    Saturday 24th May, 1969 
 
    Official Residence of Flag Officer Submarines 
 
    Crofton House, Titchfield, Hampshire 
 
      
 
    Lady Maya Collingwood guessed that her twenty-eighth birthday had come and gone at some time in the last week.  In her village in Turkey, she had been a ‘May baby’, a child of the spring and the actual date of her birth, if it was remembered at all, was a thing of little or no significance. 
 
    Nonetheless, last week her husband had sent her flowers, a lovely bouquet, and chocolates hand-made in Normandy, along with an apologetic note explaining that his duties demanded his presence in Plymouth and then Rosyth, in Scotland, and that he would not be home until the weekend, when he would be bringing a guest – or guests - to dine, and possibly, to stay at the Residence. 
 
    People imagined that her husband was a little bit of what the English called, ‘a cold fish’ but actually, it was more the case that despite his fame and the fact that he was now Vice Admiral, Flag Officer Submarines, he was a little shy and still, despite everything, wary of strangers.  He was never more relaxed than when he was in the company of his captains, among his faithful band of brothers.  Or, of course, when he was at home with Maya and their four children. 
 
    Within days of their marriage in 1964, they had formally adopted Yelda, now nearly ten – in her native tongue her name signified ‘Summer Rose’, and like Maya, they had no idea of her exact date of birth but nominated 1st June anyway – in the same pragmatic fashioned they had settled on 1st May for Yelda’s younger brother, eight-year-old Yannis, ‘god is merciful’ in Turkish.  Since then, they had been blessed with Meryem (‘beloved’), now well into her fifth year, and her little brother Haluk (‘good-natured’) whose third birthday had been less than a fortnight ago.  In the way of things, Meryem’s and Haluk’s names, had been Anglicised into Mary and Hal, and these days Maya spoke, other than in rare moments of exasperation, fluent English, albeit with – her husband would remind her, smiling – a distinct Fife accent.  Inevitably, people said that Yelda and Yannis sounded even more Scottish than the Scottish! 
 
    She and her husband were still pondering names for the child she bore, four months into her third pregnancy; it would have tempted fate to voice either a boy or a girl’s name, and like every couple, they prayed for a healthy baby.  They had been lucky with Meryem and Haluk, truly blessed and God-willing, they would be again although it was agreed between husband and wife that if all went well, they would not entice the fates to intervene a fourth time.  Often it seemed as if they lived in a kinder, less poisoned world but there were always reminders of how uncaring, blind chance, bad luck and a vagary of pestilence could destroy a life, many lives… 
 
    Maya’s younger sister, Reyha had very nearly died of influenza that first year they had been in England, and tragically, the sisters’ three-year-old niece, Jamilia, like Yelda and Yannis rescued with the women by HMS Dreadnought that dreadful night in 1964, had been carried away by the plague at Barrow-in-Furness.  Reyha had married a dockyard worker at Rosyth and now had a two-year-old son, Archie but she had lost another baby, a girl, still born only last year.  Maya often felt like she had abandoned her younger sister – there were about three years between them – long before Simon’s latest promotion had brought them south to Hampshire.  She and Reyha talked most weeks on the telephone but…their worlds were different; her sister lived comfortably enough on a new estate outside Dunfermline, her husband was an under-foreman nowadays but Maya was the wife of the professional head of the Submarine Branch of the Royal Navy and inevitably, the gap between the sisters was slowly becoming a…chasm. 
 
    Maya had been on a long journey since the war. 
 
    A little over five years ago she and her sister, Yelda, Jamilia and Yannis, whose parents were mostly likely dead, had been fleeing for their lives from the Red Dawn abomination, trapped, certain that they were about to die, on board a sailing boat being shot at by a Russian warship; and then in the night great explosions had ripped that wicked ship apart and, a little later, a great black iron whale had come to the surface and rescued them all. 
 
    It was like something out of a dream. 
 
    A childhood fable, still almost too incredible to believe… 
 
    Maya still remembered – how could she ever forget? - the terror, the numb foreboding she had felt handing the little ones down into the maw of that beast, into the gentle hands and the indomitable protection of the crew of HMS Dreadnought. 
 
    Yes, it was all too fantastical, utterly improbable, like her fairy tale romance with her very own knight in shining armour. 
 
    Simon was either sixteen or seventeen years her senior.  She could not be sure because they both had birthdays in May, and her relevant date was, well…a little vague. 
 
    She had been fascinated by him from the outset.  Undoubtedly, in the beginning hers had been a young, ill-educated country girl’s infatuation with a very powerful man; but it was a fascination which had swiftly morphed into devotion the more she learned of him, his moods and the obvious respect in which he was held by everybody around him.  He had saved her life, brought her, Yelda and Yannis to England as if on a magic carpet and there had never been any question but that they would be man and wife. 
 
    She had been married before, leastways under the sight of Allah to a boy she had known all her life but that was in another lifetime; in the way of things, she had been fifteen, perhaps sixteen and he – Cetin – a year older.  A marriage unblessed with children was never going to be happy and before two years were over, he had disavowed her.  All this she had confessed to Simon after Meryem’s birth. 
 
    ‘Our lives began again that night of the war,” he had smiled, and afterwards, she had never spoken of that dark, lost time when she had been outcast, spurned even by her own family for the sin of a barrenness that time had proven had been Cetin’s, not hers. 
 
    In truth, little remained of the peasant girl from southern Anatolia now.  She had thrived in the big wide world beyond the narrow horizons and the cruel experience of her young womanhood; she was a mother in her own right and loved her husband no less.  She had married a great man, and in so doing honoured the name of her, likely sorely-reduced clan back in Turkey by keeping his house, and by bearing and caring for his children.  Most astonishingly, especially to herself, she was no longer, if she had ever been, that obedient little cipher so many people must think her still to be.  True, she remained an exotic presence in most company, and to that extent she remained an outsider but that was hardly strange in the circumstances.   Her children were growing up to be more British than the British, settling happily into their new surroundings after the move down from Scotland in January. 
 
    And she herself, for all her darkly-tinged eastern mystery was, when she checked in the mirror, her modest attire excepted, to all appearances a thoroughly modern, and very western woman. 
 
    She heard a phone ringing downstairs. 
 
    Her housekeeper picked up the handset. 
 
    “Lady Maya,” came the call and without a thought for her ‘condition’ – which had her husband, almost comically, worrying for her if she appeared to lift so much as a finger to exert herself around the house - she danced down the stairs. 
 
    In Rosyth she had had a housekeeper, and when entertaining at home a Royal Navy steward, or perhaps two or three, would often be detailed to help with kitchen and serving duties; here in Hampshire she had a permanent household of three civilians and two Navy (WRENS) to manage.  Fortunately, the residence’s security detail managed itself.  Happily, she and her senior housekeeper, Wendy, the middle-aged widow of a Petty Officer who had been killed serving on HMS Yarmouth in the Battle of Malta in April 1964, had got on very well from day one. 
 
    “It’s Sir Simon,” Maya was told with a smile. 
 
    It seemed that her husband’s aircraft had just landed at the Royal Naval Air Station at Eastleigh, a few miles down the coast. 
 
    Maya guessed that her husband was aware that ears would be flapping around him; so, as was his habit he was a little terse.  She never took offence. 
 
    He had meetings at Fort Blockhouse, the Headquarters of the Submarine Service in Gosport, that afternoon, then he, his former Executive Officer from those days in the Mediterranean, Captain Max Forton, the commander of HMS Warspite, the Navy’s third nuclear-powered hunter killer submarine, and Lieutenant Commander Michael Philpott – one of Francis Barrington’s protégés – whom, aged twenty-nine, was soon to assume command of the conventional diesel-electric boat, HMS Narwhal, would probably be accompanying him home for dinner, and staying the night. 
 
    Maya reported this to Wendy – emphasising the probably caveat which was usually their private code indicating that her husband might just have been obfuscating for the benefit of, or misdirection of a third party - and they chatted, briefly, about the arrangements which needed to be made. 
 
    Hopefully, her husband would actually bring Max Forton to the residence.  When she had first met the now thirty-nine-year-old commanding officer of HMS Warspite, Max had sported a piratical beard which added years to his age.  In 1964 he had been Simon’s faithful Executive Officer on board the Dreadnought, and soon thereafter, succeeded her husband in command.  It had fallen to Max to bring the battered, creaking submarine back to England where she had spent the next eighteen months in dry dock.  At Rosyth, along with Sandy Woodward and Francis Barrington, Max had become a founding father, a member of the select band of brothers driving forward the Royal Navy’s Undersea Fleet Program. 
 
    Looking back, it sometimes, on reflection, seemed as if the whole gargantuan project had been masterminded in the front room of the Collingwood marital home in Rosyth; with Simon’s band of brothers in earnest, often jovial conclave with Yelda and Yannis rushing around playing hide-and-seek under the illustrious submariners’ legs!! 
 
    Since the move south to Hampshire, Maya missed Sandy Woodward’s very British aridly acerbic wit, and the calming effect Francis Barrington had on any room he walked into.  The children also missed Uncle Sandy and Uncle Francis, too.  Today, she and Wendy agreed that they would not tell the children that Uncle Max might be coming to dinner tonight; it would be a nice surprise for them if it happened, and in the meantime their excitement would not drive her to distraction.  And, if he did not materialise as promised, there were bound to be tears.  Similarly, once they discovered their father was coming home; they would be impossible. 
 
    Children anywhere, in any age, or culture were children. 
 
    She and Simon had suspected that the papers would make a big fuss over his promotion to Flag Officer Submarines – a hugely more public post than that he had held in Scotland, which had been shrouded in a cloak of secrecy from the outset – because he was married to an, albeit very discreet, practicing Muslim.  Not that they had sought to deliberately conceal the fact that although Simon was, nominally, a Christian – in reality he was a confirmed but undemonstrative agnostic – he was perfectly amenable for his children to be brought up in the tradition of Islam.  And oddly, this had never really been a problem.  Possibly, this was one rational consequence – most of the consequences seemed to them both anything but rational - of living in a world still only slowly recovering from the cataclysm of October 1962. 
 
    Granted, there were compromises to be made, as in any marriage.  For example, when Yelda and Yannis were old enough to go to school, they would be required to attend Christian prayers each morning; in Maya’s former homeland that would have been apostasy; here it was going to be just another small, incidental accommodation because for her children not to, would have been to inflict an otherness on them, and that was unthinkable in this land which had given her back her life.  Besides, she had gladly embraced many of the small customs and practices of her adopted country.  At public ceremonies she had abandoned head scarves for hats, and while she dressed conservatively, she was hardly paranoid about showing her ankles and forearms, not that the climate of this northern land often permitted of such things.  Apparently, the weather on the South Coast was supposed to be altogether ‘sunnier’ than Rosyth on the Forth of Forth but she had yet to see the evidence for that assertion. 
 
    ‘It is still only May, my dear,’ Simon had assured her phlegmatically. 
 
    She was a good Muslim, a daughter of Islam but she was, as time went by, ever more British in her manners and religious observances.  That said, she never let her long, black hair down outside the house; always it was contained in a bun or clipped up, modestly. 
 
    She greeted her husband’s friends and captains to her house with a gentlewomanly handshake, or embrace, and brushing, near-air kisses.  Albeit, not so much in the English way, as in the Mediterranean fashion that she had learned from her Royal Navy sister, Lady Marija Christopher’s example – in the papers and on the television – whom sadly, she had not met, face-to-face since she was briefly a refugee on Malta in 1964.  Ridiculously, Marija only lived a few miles away now; but the two women had not yet contrived to engineer a reunion in the five months she had been back in England.  Partly, this was because Marija had a new baby and her time was constantly in demand; and partly it was because Maya had not wanted to be thought impolite in seeking such a meeting, even before she had realised that she, too, was pregnant again. 
 
    Ashokrulillah. 
 
    Thanks to Allah… 
 
    Marija had remembered her, sent her a nice letter welcoming her to Hampshire and indeed, intimated that ‘we ought to meet’ and ‘talk about those days in Malta!’ 
 
    Maya was distracted by the sound of cars rumbling across the gravelled driveway through the trees leading up to the old house.  She had been about to look in on the first-floor nursery, instead she tripped back down the stairs to greet her guests. 
 
    She blinked in surprise when she recognised the man stepping out into the spitting, late afternoon rain and his companion.  One thing she had learned early in her marriage was how to adroitly keep out of the way of great men’s bodyguards; now, she smiled and stepped aside so that one of the tough-looking men in a suit tailored to conceal a holstered Browning 9-millimetre semi-automatic pistol under his left armpit, could move, apologetically past her into the house to do what he had to do.  To begin with, the constant security sweeps had irritated, and somewhat intimidated her in Scotland – granted it had happened less frequently at Rosyth – but as Simon always said: ‘better safe than sorry, my love.’ 
 
    She heard the newcomer speaking with a member of the Official Residence’s Royal Marine guards somewhere behind her; and ignored him thereafter. 
 
    “Sir Peter,” she smiled, shaking the hand of the First Sea Lord, the Head of the Royal Navy.  “What a lovely surprise!” 
 
    Admiral Sir Peter Hill Norton grimaced sheepishly. 
 
    “Please forgive the cloak and dagger subterfuge, Lady Maya,” the newcomer said, “but it’s jolly well near impossible to have a quiet chap with Submarines,” her husband, Flag Officer Submarines, “without the whole country knowing about it these days!” 
 
    “It is lovely to see you again, Peter,” Maya assured him. 
 
    There had been a time when the unlikely incongruity of an impoverished Anatolian peasant’s daughter’s transformation from stateless refugee to a fully paid-up member of the British establishment, who was on first name terms with the man who commanded the entire Royal Navy, would have given Maya pause for thought.  However, she was not that helpless peasant girl these days; any more than the world was what it had been five years ago, when HMS Dreadnought had suddenly surfaced in the night, almost capsizing the bullet-riddled, sinking boat in which she had believed, moments before that she, her sister and their three infant charges were surely about to die. 
 
    There was a second, much younger officer with the First Sea Lord. 
 
    “You’ve met Jock, haven’t you, Lady Maya?”  Peter Hill Norton inquired rhetorically. 
 
    Thirty-one-year-old Lieutenant Commander John Cunningham Kirkwood ‘Jock’ Slater, had dined at the house in Rosyth a couple of times when he was attached to the South Atlantic Planning Group at Auchtermuchty last year.  Maya remembered his retelling of an entertaining account of his time on board the USS Lynde McCormick, serving in the capacity of Operations Liaison Officer during a South American cruise in early 1968, which had included a visit to Puerto Argentino following a ‘comical’ war game with several Argentine destroyers. 
 
    “How nice to see you again, Jock,” Maya welcomed the First Sea Lord’s bagman. 
 
    “Sir Simon is just a few minutes behind us,” he chuckled. 
 
    In no time Maya had settled her visitors in arm chairs in the oak-beamed living room with glasses of Sherry, and begun to roll out her stock conversational pieces to entertain them as they waited for her husband to arrive. 
 
    “I was expecting Captain Forton and Commander Philpott,” she explained, innocently. 
 
    “Fine young officers,” Sir Peter Hill Norton declared. 
 
    Maya had no way of judging, or assessing in any way, an officer’s professional prowess, other that was, than by acknowledging the esteem in which they were held by their colleagues.  What had struck her about practically everybody she had met wearing the dark blue uniform of the Service was the profound decency of the men, one and all.  In idle moments, of which she had few with a house full of young children and infants, notwithstanding that entertaining was the cross every senior officer’s wife had to bear, this remained a thing of no little wonder.  Unlike in her former homeland, she had no doubt whatsoever that men in uniform in her adopted country were only there to protect the weak, women like herself, and her children.  They did not flaunt their power, true some were overly proud of their dignity but that did not detract from a fundamental, seemingly ubiquitous…decency. 
 
    Even when she had first gone aboard the Dreadnought it had struck her that her future husband never, not once, raised his voice to any of his officers. 
 
    ‘Shouting never helps,’ he had explained, much later. 
 
    Soon after their marriage he had freely confessed that the worst moment of his life, had been on the morning after the night of the October War when he had had to order civilians, under his protection, to disembark from HMS Dreadnought, then still in dry dock.  He had been following orders but still it troubled him; as if he had a higher duty that he had, in some way, betrayed. 
 
    She knew that Simon kept that moment with him always. 
 
    Yelda and Yannis skittered around Maya’s skirts. 
 
    Both Maya’s adopted children, distant cousins, knew the drill when there were big cars parked outside the house.  They were allowed to present themselves; thereafter, they were permitted to observe the comings and goings through the bannisters at the top of the stairs.  Otherwise, invisibility was required. 
 
    However, in the excitement of the moment they always forgot… 
 
    Of course, when their father got home, briefly, complete chaos ruled! 
 
    Ridiculously, initially Maya had worried about how things would be for a man from another world fathering another man’s offspring.  In the event he was unconditionally, devotedly proud of all his children. 
 
    As was customary his cap went flying as he swept Yelda up in his arms and ran his hand through Yannis’s tousled hair, grinning a little sheepishly as the First Sea Lord appeared in the doorway to the parlour. 
 
    Maya quickly rounded up the kids and herded them upstairs, leaving the men to speak in private. 
 
    “Good to see you again, Jock,” Simon Collingwood nodded to his chief’s flag lieutenant. 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “I heard you were angling for a proper sea-going berth?” 
 
    Peter Hill Norton guffawed at this: “We’ll change that third half-ring of his into something solid soon enough.  I’m sure we’ll find a suitable berth for the boy!” 
 
    Simon Collingwood remembered his manners. 
 
    “Do you have time to stay for dinner tonight, Peter?”  Collingwood asked the First Sea Lord. 
 
    “Yes.  But I’ve got to be back in Oxford tonight, I’m afraid.  The Argentines have really rattled the Lady’s cage this time!” 
 
    Few people outside of the Submarine Service knew that, within weeks of the Argentine seizure of the Falkland Islands Dependencies in April 1964, thereafter there had always been at least one Royal Navy submarine, a super-quiet, long-range Oberon or Porpoise class diesel-electric boat, or a US Navy or, more rarely, a British nuclear-powered boat (SSN) on patrol in the Southern Ocean.  With the election of President Brenckmann in November last year, whose Administration had signalled that it was seeking a post-Nixon ‘reset’ with the countries of Central and South America, including the Argentine, the submarine ‘watching duty’ had been entirely assumed by the Royal Navy, with either Dreadnought, Warspite or Valiant on station in rotation, with the plan being that the new Churchill class SSNs would be added to the patrol roster throughout 1969. 
 
    In his extended spells at Auchtermuchty – three in the last three years – Jock Slater had spent countless hours reviewing the periscope photographs, and films, of ARA surface units trapped in the cross-hairs of the attack periscopes of 1st Submarine (Devonport-based conventional boats) Squadron’s and 3rd (Gare Loch-based SSNs) Submarine Squadron’s boats. 
 
    The Southern Ocean had become a vast playground for a new generation of Royal Navy submariners in the last few years.  Unknown to the Argentines, SSNs and conventional diesel-electric boats had practiced ‘staking out’ the approaches to the Estuary of the River Plate, likewise, at Puerto Belgrano, off Rio Gallegos and in the far south, Ushuaia; in addition, Royal Marines Special Boat Squadron (SBS), and Army Special Air Service (SAS) detachments had become standard elements of the crews of every boat ‘going down south’, methodically reconnoitring possible landing beaches on the Falklands, and on the mainland. 
 
    Moreover, it had become routine for special forces troops to go ashore for up to ten or twelve days, one Royal Marines Special Boat Squadron (SBS) detail had operated undiscovered on Isla Gran Malvina – West Falkland - for over a month before being extracted by HMS Cachalot, and a Special Air Service (SAS) observation party landed near Rio Gallegos, the location of the big air base responsible for maintaining the civilian ‘air bridge’ to Stanley Airport, and the home of no less than seven squadrons of the Argentine Air Force (FAA), had been inserted undetected for nearly a fortnight before being extracted by the Olympus, one of the Oberon class boats. 
 
    The British had never really left the Falklands. 
 
    Eight hundred miles east of the Falklands, submarines came and went from the waters around South Georgia as they pleased, nosing into the bottomless fjords and sounds; watching the sad attempts of the Argentine Navy (ARA) to maintain a presence in those distant waters with something verging on contempt, and putting men ashore at will, with the occupiers seemingly never any the wiser. 
 
    With the door closed, Simon Collingwood and his guests sank into arm chairs.  They exchanged thoughtful looks. 
 
    “Jock tells me that all the stories about the treatment of the Kelpers in the Argentine is hogwash, Simon,” the First Sea Lord announced. 
 
    The submariner looked to Slater and shrugged. 
 
    “I think we knew that two or three years ago, didn’t we, Jock?” 
 
    “Yes, and no, sir,” the younger man replied.  “Stories of unpleasantness, atrocities if you like, keep emerging but there’s never any real substance to them.  As you know, originally the SAPG spent an inordinate amount of time and energy chasing down every allegation.  Sandy Woodward has warned me that his final report,” he went on, creasing of his lips into a half-smile because he knew that Collingwood had already decided where his friend’s next career move would take him, SSN command, “will debunk a lot of the propaganda nonsense that’s flying around in political circles.  That’s not to say that we’re not on firm ground when it comes to the crimes committed during the actual invasion in 1964, and in the guerrilla, mopping up phase of the occupation.  I don’t buy all this rubbish about every single one of our chaps fighting to the death, although some of them must have once they realised the Argentine Army wasn’t taking prisoners.  As for all that tosh that unspeakable cad Anaya put in his public report about the fighting on South Georgia and his subsequent Antarctic cruise around our civilian island bases down in the Antarctic, well, we hung Germans for a lot less after the Second War.  But,” he emphasised, coming back to his central thesis, “once they were removed to the Argentine, all our people were treated with kid gloves.  Dammit, there are as many as sixty or seventy of them still living, apparently, perfectly happily in Patagonia and up in Cordoba Province.  All the surviving Kelper’s were offered full Argentine citizenship, more than that, in fact, privileged status, accommodation to the standard of officer married quarters, and by local standards, very generous pensions.  By most accounts, the only thing the Kelpers could not get their heads around, was being treated like prodigals returned to the fold wherever they went.” 
 
     The First Sea Lord sighed. 
 
    “I don’t see the papers printing any stories about that, Jock!” 
 
    Simon Collingwood waited. 
 
    Sir Peter Hill Norton decided it was time to get to the point. 
 
    “I won’t pretend that there is not a deal of disquiet in certain quarters about the way things are going Simon,” he confided.  “If we are to put together a South Atlantic Task Force this year, preparations will need to be in hand within weeks.” 
 
    The submariner nodded. 
 
    The atrocity stories had been, and were what still enraged the British people but underlying it, there was the knowledge that the Argentine Republic had stabbed the country in the back in its darkest hour.  That part of the narrative was unambiguous.  In the spring of 1964, British influence in the Mediterranean and the Middle East had been on the verge of collapse; every available ship, war plane and fighting man had been mobilised to hold back the evil tide of Red Dawn-Soviet aggression.  Yet, while British servicemen had been dying in their hundreds to preserve what was left of western prestige, values and honour, those bloody cowardly Argentines had stabbed the country in the back! 
 
    “I’m sure the Secretary of State for Defence has explained the difficulties inherent in mounting OPERATION GARDEN CITY, to the Prime Minister,” he suggested. 
 
    Even though Simon Collingwood hated that name; he had to concede that as a cover for the preparations in hand – a more sensible name would be applied to the endeavour later if the worst happened - for the despatch of a task force to the South Atlantic, it had its merits. 
 
    The London Garden City Project, the brainchild of Miriam Prior-Bramall, the only cross-bench member of the Cabinet and the wife of the Director of Operational Planning at the Ministry of Defence in Oxford, Major General Edwin Bramall, had become a beacon of hope, a thing every schoolboy and girl learned about, and increasingly tens of thousands of people travelled to see it in action for themselves.  The ruins of the former capital were greening anew, a jungle of vegetation cut by the few cleared roads, mainly to maintain access to the docklands of the old East End.  Otherwise, all the new settlements had been planted on the higher ground, well above the mercurial flood plains of the former metropolis because the River Thames, and all the other forgotten, buried rivers of London were slowly, surely re-finding their true courses, carving new channels and laying silty banks, blocking the old channels, inundating much of the land reclaimed down the centuries. 
 
    The Chiefs of Staff had in fact, already authorised three separate planning exercises.  OPERATION SOMERVILLE was the umbrella under which the entire campaign to reconquer the last South Atlantic territories would be mounted.  OPERATION LEITH was the seizure, of a base for forward operations, specifically South Georgia (renamed Isla San Pedro by the Argentine).  OPERATION GRANDSTAND would follow, wresting the Falklands Archipelago (Las Malvinas) from the invader’s grasp.  Additional, as yet un-labelled operations would thereafter re-assert British sovereignty over its former Antarctic dependencies. 
 
    “Indeed, he has,” the First Sea Lord agreed.  “Nevertheless, I am informed that the Prime Minister means to put the matter to her colleagues as soon as the 5th of June.  And presumably, to go to Parliament the following week.  So, we may well be in business in a fortnight!” 
 
    Simon Collingwood absorbed this poker-faced. 
 
    “Conqueror is about to follow the Courageous onto the order of battle,” he reported, a little redundantly because the First Sea Lord always knew where his SSNs were.  More or less.  “Churchill, will be released from dockyard hands in the coming weeks,” he went on.  Despite an edict that as many of the Navy’s ‘super weapons’ – the growing SSN fleet - should be available for operations in the second half of 1969, Collingwood had authorised several post completion modifications to the lead ship of the four-boat class.  Having commissioned early last year, the Churchill was currently back in dry dock, the ‘modifications’ having in effect, put her out of action for the last six months.  Both Conqueror and Courageous had experienced design-related engineering ‘issues’ and in an ideal world, they would follow Churchill into dockyard hands later this year.  In this matter he had already confessed his sins to his friend, so there was no need to flagellate himself further today.  “The Cassandra,” the fourth ship of the class’s build had been far enough behind her sisters to have had corrective modifications incorporated during her construction, “reports no major defects or failures on her recent trials.  Dreadnought, as you know, is due in dock again, just routine maintenance, on her return from the South Atlantic while Valiant and Warspite are fully operational.” 
 
    Collingwood did not care about the politics. 
 
    And that was why he doubted he would ever sit in Peter Hill Norton’s seat on the Board of Admiralty. 
 
    Five years ago, he had promised the Prime Minister an undersea fleet that would be the guarantor of Great Britain’s place in the world for a generation and he was within an ace of delivering that promise.  Presently, the pressure hulls of the first two British-built Polaris Submarines, the Hood and the Nelson were rising above the slipways of the largest covered shipbuilding complex in the world, at Barrow-in-Furness, in Lancashire. 
 
    There had been an interregnum while the four Churchills were brought into service; but soon the first two hulls of the next class of SSNs (essentially slightly larger Churchills) would be laid down at Rosyth, officially unnamed as yet but Superb and Surprise, had been mooted as possibilities among Collingwood’s band of brothers.  The third and fourth boats of the class – speculatively named Swiftsure and Splendid - would be laid down in 1970 and 1971, and when the first two Polaris boats, the Repulse and Resolution were launched, the construction of the second pair – Renown and Revenge - would commence. 
 
    The submariner knew exactly what his chief, and latterly, his friend really wanted to talk about that evening. 
 
    “As you know, as time has passed and we learned more about what actually happened in 1964,” Collingwood sighed, “I’ve become increasingly agnostic about the Falklands problem,” he reminded the other man.  “I confess, I’m still decidedly agnostic, in this, as in other things.  If we’d been able to charge off down to the South Atlantic in 1964 and throw the beggars out, to me, that would have made sense.  Now,” he spread his hands, “Jock will bear me out on this, he’s talked to a lot more Kelpers than I have; even if we chuck out every last Argentine, how many of the islanders would actually want to go back?  Some, presumably.  But even if half of them wanted to restart again down there – which I doubt - is the place remotely viable?  And are we really willing to meet the bill for keeping a large garrison, aircraft, and ships down there to deter those chumps in Buenos Aires doing the same thing all over again in ten years?  That said, I’m aware that the Government has just been re-elected on a platform to ‘resolve’ the Falkland Islands ‘issue’ by ‘any means possible.’  I’d ask the Prime Minister what that means but frankly, I’m not entirely sure I want to know.  All I do know, is that if we get into a fight down there in the South Atlantic; we’d better not let the politicos tie our hands behind our backs.  All or nothing has to be the ticket.  Those islands are a bloody long way away.”  He shook his head.  “Yes, I’ve heard we might have the South Africans on board but Stanley, forgive me, Puerto Argentino, is still the best part of four thousand miles from the Cape!” 
 
    The First Sea Lord was silent. 
 
    “All or nothing,” Collingwood continued.  “If we muck about, or if the politicians tie our hands, well, I for one would find myself considering my position.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord waited patiently.  He said nothing. 
 
    “No,” Simon Collingwood groaned, answering the unspoken question which had brought Peter Hill Norton to Hampshire.  “I shan’t be throwing my toy duck out of the bath as Yannis used to do when he was of the opinion that he ought to accumulate another couple of days’ worth of grime before he was dunked in the soapy water again,” he remarked wearily. 
 
    He half-smiled wanly at Jock Slater, knowing the younger man must be feeling horribly uneasy.  But then both admirals understood that this was one of those conversations neither of them could have without at least one, very reliable witness in the room whom they both trusted, implicitly. 
 
    “I also understand,” Simon continued, “that the Chiefs of Staff may soon be faced with a difficult situation.  It goes without saying that I will be duty bound by the command decisions notified to me in this matter, as in every other aspect of my responsibilities as Flag Officer Submarines.”  He nodded to Peter Hill Norton.  “Sir.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord pursed his lips. 
 
    “Thank you, Simon.” 
 
    Collingwood suspected the other man was about to offer an apology for having implied the question in the first place. 
 
    But he was having none of that. 
 
    “Right, I think Maya said we were having a joint of lamb this evening,” he recollected.  “Let me recharge your glasses, gentlemen.” 
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 Chapter 2 
 
      
 
    23:02 Hours (GMT) 20:02 (Local) 
 
    Falkland Sound, Argentine occupied Falkland Islands 
 
      
 
    A storm was beginning to batter the rocky islets and shores of West Falkland.  It was the leading edge of a weakening Austral gale that would sweep across the southern shores of the remote archipelago in the coming days.  However, here in the waters of the great sound between East and West Falkland, the seas were relatively calm, with the swell only running at a foot or two inside the northern and southern mouths of the deep, broad rocky canal that bisected the windswept, islands which might, to all intents, have been at the ends of the Earth, lost in the fastness of the South Atlantic. 
 
    The invasion fleet had gathered around the Falklands, over forty ships large and small, from the mighty Ark Royal spitting Mach 2 McDonnell Douglas Phantoms and heavy duty Blackburn Buccaneers off her catapults, to the twenty-two thousand ton commando carrier Bulwark with her two squadrons of Westland Wessex V troop carrying helicopters and her hundreds of Royal Marines, to the destroyers, frigates, transports, oilers and ammunition ships, and the two sister twelve thousand ton amphibious assault ships, Fearless and Intrepid. 
 
    The waiting was over. 
 
    The re-taking of South Georgia had been, from the British point of view, a bloodless walkover and up until the torpedoing of the frigate HMS Rhyl in the northern approaches to Falklands Sound a few days ago, everything had gone to plan; if not like clockwork, then well enough despite all the problems inherent in operating at a range of the best part of eight thousand miles from home.  On South Georgia, the sites of the old, abandoned whaling stations of Stromness and Cumberland Bays had become the assembly areas and launch pads for operations in the South Atlantic eight hundred miles to the west, and the fleet logistics train, that vital umbilical cord that linked the great invasion armada to its distant home ports, now stretched thousands of miles north east to the Cape, even as reinforcements and the troop ships carrying the second wave of troops sailed south from embarkation ports in England.  Over two-thirds of the active ships of the Royal Navy were already involved in OPERATION GRANDSTAND, the reconquest of the Falkland Islands, and more ships and men were coming, committed to a death or glory amphibious assault without parallel in British maritime history other than that which the Royal Navy had participated in in June 1944. 
 
    On board HMS Liverpool, the modernised Second World War-vintage former Baltimore Class heavy cruiser USS Fall River, the Task Force’s one big gun ship, the looming bulk of Fanning Head to the north blocked a quadrant of her radar plot.  To the south on the other side of the entrance to San Carlos Water, Chancho Point – only rising to a little over two hundred feet, thankfully, hardly impaired the view of the ship’s starboard radar ‘horizon’.  As for the destroyers, similarly blacked-out, gliding in the big ship’s wake with their lower-mounted aerials, they would soon be blind as the pathfinder flotilla moved deeper into what was the archipelago’s best and most sheltered deep-water anchorage. 
 
    Even had the men on the Liverpool’s bridge not known that the enemy had recently emplaced artillery to defend the narrow waters into which, every second, they were steaming ever farther – like men easing their heads into a noose – they would have anticipated as much.  Indeed, after the fall of South Georgia the Argentine ships in the vicinity of the Falkland Islands had themselves, sought shelter in this very inlet…before running for home like scalded cats in that period of the war when the British submarines patrolling the surrounding seas had still been on a tight leash.  Those days were over; and now those steel sharks would soon have a license to kill… 
 
    However, Captain Sir Peter Christopher, RN, VC, had other things on his mind as he conned the old heavy cruiser into waters where his ship’s state of the art electronics suite, modern fire control system and still formidable turn of speed were wholly negated by the surrounding mountains and the claustrophobic confines of the fjord into which he was leading his accompanying destroyers. 
 
    Supposedly, by now the Bulwark’s Wessex V helicopters had landed Royal Marines Special Boat Service (SBS) men to ‘take out’ at least some of the enemy’s guns - thought to be positioned on Fanning Head, and on the heights guarding the shoreline west of the settlement of Port San Carlos - and a second raiding team had been put ashore from a submarine ought to have taken possession of Chancho Point but there were no guarantees in this…game. 
 
    The Intelligence Staff’s assessment had been cautionary: “The Argentines are known to have been reinforcing and presumably, fortifying their positions in the northern areas of the San Carlos Water sector.  We think they have probably installed artillery, possibly 3- or 4-inch field guns, or anti-tank guns, and 20- and 37-millimetres calibre anti-aircraft autocannons… it is likely, therefore, that the first ship which forces entry to the anchorage must expect a rough handling; frankly, the sort of handling none of our destroyers or frigates can reasonably be expected to survive…’ 
 
    Which was exactly why the Liverpool was leading the line. 
 
    Peter Christopher smiled grimly in the darkness. 
 
    In this brave new age of thin-skinned, missile-armed ships that were technological marvels, designed to fight over-the-horizon battles with enemies which never came within the range of human sight; it seemed that there was still a role for an old-fashioned, ironclad dinosaur like the old Baltimore class throwback after all! 
 
    As his friend Jack Griffin had observed the day that they had first laid eyes on her, high and dry and mightily intimidating in Brooklyn Navy Yard, the Liverpool was nothing if not a very impressive lump of ‘heavy metal!’  Rugged hardly began to do justice to the robustness of her design, or the thickness of her armoured carapace.  One of her sisters, the Pittsburgh, had had her bow torn off in a hurricane in the latter stages of the Pacific War – poor welding was to blame, nothing to do with her design – and thereafter, she had steamed to a safe port under her own power. 
 
    Notwithstanding, at point blank range even a 4-inch artillery shell was going to do a lot more than just scratch her paintwork, and the cruiser’s commanding officer was very, very aware that the men manning the batteries of the 40- and 20-millimetres cannons, and in the lightly armoured 5-inch secondary battery gun houses were going to be very, very vulnerable in any sort of stand-up gunfight with shore batteries. Moreover, it would have been odd if, right now, as the Liverpool nosed slowly into harm’s way, if his thoughts had not flashed back to that dreadful night off Lampedusa when David Penberthy had conned the Talavera inshore, supposedly to intimidate the defenders into surrender and subsequently, all Hell had broken loose.  But Liverpool was not a fragile Battle class destroyer; fully-loaded she was nearly seventeen thousand tons of very, very ‘heavy metal’. 
 
    Or that was what he told himself. 
 
    The weight of his US-style combat ‘flak jacket’ and steel helmet weighed him down without actually making him feel any safer than he had been in shirt sleeves and his service cap, during that fight off Lampedusa, or a couple of months later, charging at those big Russian ships off Malta.  Of course, in those fights there had been no time to think, just to act, he had been inciting the fates to do their worst, knowing that the outcome of those battles had never, at any time, been in his hands. 
 
    This was different; or at least, he hoped it was. 
 
    The darkness of the night was perfect. 
 
    Positively Stygian as the Liverpool idled farther into the fjord. 
 
    Coming abreast of Fanning Island, Peter heard the Liverpool’s Pilot, Lieutenant Commander Calum McNish order: ALL STOP ON TWO AND THREE! 
 
    The cruiser was manoeuvring only on her two outer shafts. 
 
    Then:  SLOW ASTERN ON ONE AND FOUR. 
 
    This was to arrest the ship’s forward momentum; better by far not to carry overmuch speed into such enclosed waters.  Left to its own devices the inertia of over sixteen thousand tons on the move took an awful lot of stopping, and for all that there was presently around seventy feet of water beneath the Liverpool’s keel the anchorage was nowhere wider than two to three miles, and to the south narrower by far as the water began to shoal. 
 
    Captain James Watkins, USN, the Senior Operations Liaison Officer attached to the Assault Group element of the South Atlantic Task Force, stood impassively by Peter Christopher’s shoulder. 
 
    The bridge was more crowded than usual tonight, Peter having invited – well ‘ordered’ actually, albeit very politely - the Liverpool’s ‘embedded’ BBC crew ‘inside’ when the cruiser’s Executive Officer had discovered that Barry Lankaster and his merry men had been planning to ‘nest’ in an exposed position in the aft superstructure.  This was not a night that any man who did not absolutely have to, sheltered behind an eighth-of-an-inch of tempered steel masquerading as ‘splinter’ plate. 
 
    Astern of the cruiser the four old former Fletcher class destroyers Berwick, Dunfermline, Inverness and the Perth had followed the Liverpool, creeping silently beneath the heights of Fanning Head, with less than a ship-length between them. 
 
    Jim Watkins knew he was going to remember Peter Christopher’s words to his captains before tonight’s operation the rest of his life. 
 
    ‘The enemy may have emplaced as many as a dozen medium-calibre field guns in the hills around San Carlos Water…there are plans afoot to take out some of those guns by SAS and SBS raiding parties.  Royal Marines of 46 Commando are to be air-lifted onto Fanning Head and the high ground above Port San Carlos during the night…it is unlikely the enemy will have mined the entrance to San Carlos Water…but if we encounter mines then, well, we’ll just have to make the best of it.’ 
 
    Damn the torpedoes and carry on carrying on! 
 
    None of Peter Christopher’s captains were old enough to have fought in the Second War but their fathers had, and to a man they now subscribed to the school of thought invoked by Admiral Cunningham, the man in charge in the Mediterranean in 1941 who, when asked if he planned to abandon the ruinously costly evacuation of British and Commonwealth troops from Crete had famously retorted: ‘it takes the Navy three years to build a new ship; it will take 300 years to build a new tradition!’ 
 
    James Watkins knew that he ought not to have been surprised that the man who had conned his ship on that death run against a Soviet cruiser and a Turkish dreadnought off Malta, had few illusions about the job in hand.  That said, for a man with such a flair for the technology of modern war, it was odd how Peter Christopher so effortlessly embraced the spirit of a former age, he would probably have been just at home on the quarterdeck of one of Nelson’s ships-of-the-line at the Battle of the Nile as he was on the Liverpool’s Compass Platform. 
 
    ‘Liverpool will be leading the line,’ Peter had told his captains.  ‘If the fighting gets hot…damaged ships unable to withdraw will place Liverpool between themselves and the action.  Liverpool is a tough old battle-horse, your Fletchers are not.  If this turns into a pell-mell roughhouse…use your commands’ greater manoeuvrability and fleetness of foot to mop-up…do not go toe-to-toe with enemy shore batteries at point blank range.  There will be no shame, or blame attached to any captain who shelters in the lee of the Liverpool.  We are a very, very long way from home, gentlemen.  While if we fail, other ships will fill the gaps in the line…Our dead will be dead forever.’ 
 
    A red flare, then another climbed high above Hospital Point, the headland on the southern side of the outflow of the San Carlos River opposite the old settlement on the northern shore about two miles almost due east of the Liverpool. 
 
    A dazzling white flare floated down in the distance somewhere over Doctor Point, about a mile to a mile-and-a-half south west of the red flares. 
 
    “INCOMING!  INCOMING!” 
 
    This from the Yeoman Radar Talker. 
 
    Peter Christopher glanced at the air search repeater; it was returning mostly ‘mush’ from the nearby high ground.  Fortunately, the gun director systems were less prone to ‘snowing’ this close inshore. 
 
    Everybody heard the whistling of rounds passing over the ship. 
 
    And the loud CLANG of what was probably solid shot smashing into the hull somewhere far below their feet. 
 
    There was an explosion forward, a brilliant split-second flash of light, and the ship reverberated as she absorbed the shock of the hits. 
 
    Tracer spewed from the north from several guns, looping, spitting yellow and red rounds through the night; anti-aircraft autocannons searching for the range, walking across the millpond, glassy waters within San Carlos Water reaching out into the night before suddenly clattering inboard. 
 
    That was when the Liverpool’s main battery opened fire. 
 
    In a pre-planned rolling broadside, with her nine 8-inch 55-calibre rifles discharging at one-second intervals, with each gun’s first round leaving its muzzle at an elevation of minus one degree.  Armour-piercing rounds with a standard propellant charge, intended to kick up a wall of spray before crashing onshore; the next broadside would be high explosive, launched at zero elevation while the enemy gunners were trying to re-fix their ranges. 
 
    The cruiser’s four port-side 5-inch 38-calibre secondary guns barked. 
 
    Astern, all four destroyers opened fire, for the initial salvoes their main batteries’ directors were slaved to the Liverpool’s 5-inch DP gun table. 
 
    In an instant a semi-circle of hills and cliffs over three miles long from north to east erupted in a maelstrom of fire, pulverised rock and smoke. 
 
    The cruiser’s 40-millimetre anti-aircraft cannons began to pump shells into the smoke. 
 
    The salvo bell rang. 
 
    And moments later, the big guns fired again. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 3 
 
      
 
    23:05 Hours (GMT) 
 
    Foreign Secretary’s Rooms 
 
    Christchurch College, Oxford 
 
      
 
    Lord Thomas Harding-Carlyle had got to that stage in life where he was increasingly thankful for mercies that were so small that others hardly noticed them.  The fact was that since he had lost his wife, Pat, at the beginning of September he had felt utterly disconnected with things at exactly the moment he badly needed to be at his most…connected.  He knew it, everybody knew it and much as his long-time loyal deputy, Sir John Kershaw enjoyed the Prime Minister’s respect and trust – in most matters – he simply did not have, when he chose to or had the energy to exercise it, the influence that he had once exerted over the Lady. 
 
    And that was why things were falling apart. 
 
    The trouble was that a man could only state the perils of a self-evidently foolish – and likely self-destructive - course of action so many times; then one began to sound like a record player with the stylus stuck in a groove playing the same bar over and over again until eventually, the music became noise, and everybody in the room tuned what one was saying…out.  A couple of years ago, he would have put his foot down and that would have been that.  However, he was older, very tired now and the Prime Minister, whom in earlier times had listened to his counsel as if she was a dutiful daughter at his knee, thought – actually, she was convinced – that she knew best and frankly, now that Philip De L’Isle was sadly gone, and Airey Neave had come to the conclusion that Margaret could only be pushed so far, he had rather retreated into his bunker to ponder what he had created, like the tragic hero of Mary Shelley’s little Gothic horror story… 
 
    Moreover, by rights, while several other senior ministers ought to have raised their heads above the parapet, Ian Gilmour at Defence had done exactly that and practically got de-capitated for his troubles, and apart from that other redoubtable feminine force of nature, the Minister for Reconstruction, Dame Alison Munro, nobody had really had the wit or the inclination to stand up to the reincarnated Angry Widow that autumn. 
 
    Tom Harding-Grayson blamed himself.  In retrospect the rot had set in when the Lady’s second husband, that old rogue Frank Waters, had been killed by that roadside bomb in France in February 1967.  As if broken and re-made in a different mould, she had been a different person after that.  The October War and the vicissitudes of the wars the country had been forced to fight in its aftermath had taken everybody she had ever loved – the twins, Carol and Mark apart – from her.  While the Foreign Secretary’s wife, Pat, had been alive, a restraining maternal presence, the Prime Minister’s feet had stayed on the ground, most of the time.  But now, well, those clowns in the Casa Rosada in Buenos Aires had come to represent all the ills of the age to Margaret Thatcher and there was, literally, no reasoning with her.  It was not as if he and others, quietly behind the scenes, had not tried! 
 
    It had been left to the Chief of the Defence Staff, Field Marshal Sir Michael Carver to patiently argue that the Government’s South Atlantic policy risked making the country an international pariah.  Problematically, the time when cogent expositions of the radically changed vital geopolitical interests of the United States cut no ice with the Prime Minister, was long gone.  She seemed pathologically unable to grasp that it did not matter who was in the White House, Europe was still wrecked and the indefinite demilitarization of the wastelands of Germany and much of the former Soviet Central European empire under the terms of the Malta Accords, inevitably meant that America was now focused on its relations with Latin America, Africa and the Far East.  NATO, insofar as it meaningfully existed any more, was a sideshow, the North Atlantic was an American lake, and the United Kingdom a valued but nonetheless, client state.  For all that Walter Brenckmann might well be the best friend the country had ever had in the White House in the whole history of that building, he had already leaned over backwards to accommodate what he, and his advisers viewed as outrageous British intransigence over the Falkland Islands, and Tom Harding-Grayson did not need to be told that the US President’s patience was well and truly exhausted. 
 
    ‘Walter will be with us through thick and thin!’  The Prime Minister had assured him at the last Cabinet Meeting while all around the table her ministers had rolled their eyes.  She had been oblivious to news from across the Atlantic that the mood of the American people had shifted from being broadly, albeit disinterestedly supportive of the ‘English’ position in the South Atlantic to marginally ‘hostile’ when film of the Liverpool firing into the old whaling station at Grytviken had been splashed across their TV screens and the front pages of every newspaper.  ‘It is the good opinion of the British people that I care about!’ 
 
    Supposedly, right up to the moment public sentiment at home began to shift, that was.  Worryingly, if the private polling undertaken by the Party, and by a couple of Press barons was to be trusted, this had already begun to happen and the mood of ‘the people’ was hardening.  Tom Harding-Grayson was confident that he was not the only person who had mentioned that to the Lady. 
 
    Unfortunately, to no avail. 
 
    ‘We must be right behind our brave boys down there!’ 
 
    These days, anybody who disagreed with the Prime Minister or who showed the least sign of faltering resolution was dismissively, if not scornfully, branded a ‘wet’ or accused, in so many words of ‘letting down our fighting men!’ 
 
    Only last week in the House of Commons, she had accused otherwise staunchly loyal back bench members of Parliament who dared to inquire what the Government’s ‘exit strategy’ was, if ‘things went badly’ in the South Atlantic, as ‘back-stabbers!’ 
 
    The Party had been growing more fractious ever since the last election.  Now that the disparity between the National Conservatives and the Labour Party in the Commons was much reduced, ordinary MPs had realised that they actually had some small measure of power to question and if they were lucky, to influence Government policies in favour of their constituents.  To the new grandees, those who aspired to Cabinet or senior ministerial posts, many of whom had entered politics late in a pre-cataclysm age of deference, the constant low-level unrest and lobbying on the back benches was creating a distinctly uncomfortable backdrop in the metaphorical streets around their comfortable ivory towers. 
 
    The more discontent simmered, the more the Prime Minister elected to distance herself from ‘all that nonsense’ and was increasingly unsympathetic to colleagues who bemoaned their troubles in her presence.  Ministers were appointed to get the job done; not to turn into ‘Moaning Minnies’ at the first sign of trouble. 
 
    The Foreign Secretary looked up when a secretary reported that: “the conference line to Churchill House is connected, sir.  All you need to do is pick up when the blue phone rings.” 
 
    The young woman had brought him a fresh cup of tea and a digestive biscuit, for that at least, he was grateful as he waited, patiently and a little resignedly, for the sky to fall in upon all his works… 
 
    Apparently, Michael Carver had opted to sit out this call. 
 
    That was fair enough; it must be intensely galling for the greatest British general of the age to be lectured on tactics by a woman who was, by training an industrial chemist! 
 
    Philip De L’Isle had insisted, and on occasions been quite bloody about it, in a gentlemanly sort of way, when the Lady attempted to deal directly with his generals, admirals and air marshals.  Notwithstanding that Ian Gilmour had attempted to hold the line, these days the Prime Minister was a law unto herself; often only discovering that – essentially, behind his back - she had bearded one of the Chiefs of Staff, or for example, C-in-C Fleet, from junior officials or from the somewhat ‘cheesed-off’ officer himself. 
 
    And now the White House had specifically requested a ‘clear the air’ transatlantic conference call. 
 
    And that was never a good thing. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 4  
 
      
 
    20:08 Hours 
 
    Camino Xavier Lombardi, Puerto Argentino 
 
    Isla Soledad, Las Malvinas 
 
      
 
    The telephone rang about an hour after Elena Bonham-Garcia’s husband had wearily come to bed.  In the last few weeks, it had been rare for anybody in Puerto Argentino to enjoy an undisturbed night’s sleep; even when one moved on past the constant, nagging little voice in one’s head that whispered ‘the English are coming’, they were under siege, and the ground might shake with the explosion of bombs or shells at any moment. 
 
    Mainly, the English bombarded the air base – what remained of it – on Cap San Felipe, or as the attackers had known it up until 1964, Cape Pembroke, or defence works and depots to the south and the west of the capital of the colonia, and across the harbour.  Surprisingly, the enemy had not targeted the big Moody Brook complex, possibly, her husband had speculated, because it was surrounded on two sides by new-built housing and thus far, at least, the besiegers had been meticulous – the almost certainly accidental bombing of the hospital aside, in the first air raid – in avoiding civilian casualties. 
 
    Elena’s husband had intimated that when the English were not harrying Puerto Argentino, their aircraft ranged across the archipelago on hit and run missions, and ships raced over the horizon to conduct short, sharp bombardments on ports and settlements occupied by his troops. 
 
    ‘Sadly, they command the air,’ he admitted philosophically, ‘and we can conceal very little from them.’ 
 
    The Air Force had withdrawn its fast jets from the archipelago before the destruction of Puerto Argentino’s only tarmac air strip.  If and when the weather was kind, it was possible to operate the handful of propeller aircraft, Second War vintage F4U Corsair fighters and North America T-28 Trojan ground attack aircraft, dispersed to the heavily camouflaged emergency grass airstrips at Pebble Island and Ganso Verde – Goose Green – but the weather was rarely kind, and several aircraft had been written off already in landing accidents. 
 
    Ignoring the objections of the rump Fuerza Aérea Argentina – Argentine Air Force – command group left behind when the fast jets were recalled to the Mainland, Hugo planned to unleash every available aircraft against the invader the moment he set foot on the Malvinas. 
 
    They had known that the English were coming for well over two months now; many of them had always known that the English would come one day.  It was not as if the Angry Widow, that dreadful Thatcher woman had made any bones about the fact that she would not rest until the Union Jack flew again over Las Malvinas y Territorios del Atlántico Sur.  Many of the other military wives were convinced that she had lost her mind when her husband was killed in that bombing in France last year; and that afterwards she blamed the Argentine people for all the woes that afflicted her faraway country.  On one level, Elena admired the Angry Widow’s obduracy, the way she never surrendered.  As for losing one’s mind when the man one loved was…suddenly gone.  That was hardly to be wondered at; what wife would not be distraught, lost in the world for however long it took for her to re-find herself? 
 
    However, knowing that the English were coming and reconciling oneself with the reality of it, were two entirely different things.  Mercifully, if the first air raids had been a horrible shock, then everything else had come upon them all little by little. 
 
    Many of the troops had moved out of Puerto Argentino, and the big ships had long gone and thus far, the introduction of rationing had not been anywhere near as problematic as they had feared; possibly, because the new Governor of the Colonia, Lieutenant General Horacio Calvi Mendoza, had sensibly decreed that for the non-military population the thorny issues of ‘setting the ration scales’ and the day-today administration of the system would be, lock, stock and barrel placed in the hands of the existing voluntary welfare and family support charities, run almost exclusively by the sisterhood of the ‘settler wives’ of which Elena, and increasingly, her friend Doña Francesca Ibarra de Madrid, the wife of the late Governor of the Malvinas, who had become a local folk hero when she refused, categorically the opportunity to accompany her deposed husband home, were the leading figures. 
 
    Well, actually the leaders, if not in title, then assuredly by acclamation. 
 
    It had been possible to sustain that most fragile of commodities, hope until now.  Life had been good on the archipelago before that fateful day the English Task Force sailed.  Elena chose to believe that life would, one day, be good again. 
 
    But not for a while. 
 
    Their lives had changed by degrees, and once the fright of the first bombing raids had passed, new daily routines had developed.  Food was precious, increasingly scarce and waste had become a mortal sin.  Every minute of every day mothers needed to know where their sons and daughters were.  Everybody slept with a warm coat and sturdy shoes, or better, boots by their bedside for the inevitable rush to the nearest bomb shelter.  Oh, and everybody had had to learn exactly what to do when they heard the air raid sirens; getting off the streets was mandatory.  It was as if, day by day, they were tightening their belts and gathering their courage for what was to come. 
 
    Elena could not help but worry about her sons. 
 
    Sixteen-year-old Carlos, granted he was almost a man now, had been on Isla San Pedro when the English had destroyed Grytviken and massacred the garrison.  He had survived, only lightly wounded and by all accounts, the English had treated him and his other, surviving cadets well but she had no idea if he was on his way home to the Argentine yet.  The English had promised to take him to Cape Town, there to place him and the other boys in their custody into the hands of the South African authorities who, in turn, would make the necessary arrangements to send him…home, wherever that was at that moment for the Bonham-Garcia family in the middle of this stupid war. 
 
    Juan, now twenty-three, was on board the aircraft carrier Veinticinco de Mayo.  Hopefully the Armada de la República Argentina – the ARA – would have the good sense to stay in harbour, nobody was overly optimistic about the chances of the Navy’s old American ships against the English nuclear submarines, missile-armed ships, Phantoms, Sea Vixens and Buccaneers. 
 
    More immediately, Elena had responsibility for her twelve-year-old daughter Lucia, and Francesca Ibarra de Madrid’s niece, sixteen-year-old Rosa, the latter staying in what had been Carlos’s old room.  Rosa was a lovely girl, a little shy who turned wistful at the mere mention of Elena’s younger son’s name.  Her aunt and she had briefly been homeless, declining Horacio Mendoza’s, invitation to continue to lodge at Government House.  Francesca had wanted to be rid of the ‘ghastly place’ and besides, everybody assumed the whole complex, situated in the middle of the town abutting onto and over the site of the old Stanley Race Course, must have a big bulls-eye target marker on it on every British map!  Francesca was now convivially installed at the residence of one of Elena’s sister military wives, and Rosa under Elena’s wing. 
 
    As if to demonstrate its pig-headed stupidity, at the outset of the emergency triggered by the sailing of the English armada, the Junta in Buenos Aires had forbidden the repatriation - the words ‘rescue’ or ‘evacuation’ were banned in the Defence Ministry, according to Hugo - of the women and children, and of civilian contractors or employees of the Armed Services living on the archipelago.  Apparently, the great men of the Republic had believed this would make the garrison more likely to fight to the last man. 
 
    Well, so far as she knew, neither Horacio Mendoza or Elena’s husband had any intention of getting into that sort of a fight; and besides, neither of them regarded the expression of those kinds of infantile sentiments appropriate or in any way helpful.  If the English were prepared to expend the requisite amount of blood and treasure they could, probably, retake the Malvinas and there was only so much they could do about it.  To them, the conundrum had become: how much were the English willing to pay for owning what to them had never been, other than in time of wars fought in another age, more than a collection of windswept islands thousands of miles from the British Isles of which most Englishmen and women knew little, and cared less? 
 
    As always, when her husband crept into their bedroom in the middle of the night, he tried very hard not to wake Elena.  Nevertheless, she had sleepily pushed back into his arms. 
 
    The telephone had rung a few minutes later. 
 
    And then, the air raid sirens had begun to wail. 
 
    Husband and wife had groaned in unison. 
 
    The handset was on Elena’s side of the bed, she reached for it and handed it to her husband who said, groggily: “Bonham-Garcia…” 
 
    Major General Hugo Bonham-Garcia, the Commandant of the Malvinas Lucha Contra las Fuerzas Terrestres de la Guarnición – MLFG - and the Deputy Military Governor of the Malvinas was instantly awake and swinging his legs, albeit stiffly and a little painfully, over the side of the bed. 
 
    Meanwhile, Elena was already on her feet, dressing in the slacks and woollens kept ready for the rush to the nearest air raid shelter, and heading for the door to rouse Lucia and Rosa. 
 
    Her husband caught up with her in the living room, buttoning his battledress tunic. 
 
    “Something’s going on around San Carlos, I think this may be the invasion,” he explained calmly.  “Pablo’s coming to pick me up.  I don’t think the English will attack Puerto Argentino.  Not tonight, but take the girls to the shelter anyway, my love.” 
 
    They kissed and parted. 
 
    In recent weeks the tactical command and control functions of the big Moody Brook complex had been dispersed around the port and the surrounding hills, likewise, vital war supplies caches had all been moved to smaller, easily camouflaged depots outside the urban sprawl of the port capital of the colonia.  Its command bunker apart, Moody Brook now operated in the same way as the sorely battered air base at Cape San Felipe, the armoured vehicles parked around it were mock-ups, decoys and its barracks were empty.  To maintain appearances, men of the Headquarters Company patrolled and performed sentry duties as if the base was fully-manned.  Thus, in exactly the same way the Cap San Felipe air base was populated with wooden aircraft, and the runways ‘painted’ with bomb craters to confuse the enemy’s regular photo-reconnaissance over-flights, and was kept open only for night flights, almost entirely supply runs backwards and forwards to the mainland, Moody Brook had already been written off as a sustainable military asset. 
 
    However, tonight he went straight to the command bunker. 
 
    Major Pedro Morales, the MLFG’s Adjutant, was waiting for Hugo in the Situation Room.  Around him the much-reduced operations staff was moving out. 
 
    “The radar at Pebble Island is reporting many ships in the northern reaches of the Estrecho San Carlos and a lot of air activity.  We’ve lost contact with practically all our ground forces at the northern end of the San Carlos sector; there were reports of helicopters, then nothing.  The observation post at Ajax Bay reported naval gunfire at the head of the anchorage before it went silent.  As we expected, most of the east-west landlines have gone dead.”  Philosophically, he added: “Also, as expected, the English are jamming our command frequencies almost as soon as we switch channels.” 
 
    Hugo absorbed this. 
 
    “Gunfire?”  He grimaced.  “Gunfire?  Not ships hitting the mines the Massera’s Squadron claimed to have laid before it scuttled back to the mainland?” 
 
    “No way of knowing, sir,” Pedro Morales grunted noncommittally.  They were Marines, Navy men but far from feeling betrayed when the big ships had pulled out, they had breathed a sigh of relief.  Neither of them needed old sea dogs telling them how to go about their business. 
 
    “To early to know,” the older man murmured.  “San Carlos Water then,” he added, musing aloud. 
 
    Hugo and his chief, Lieutenant General Horacio Calvi Mendoza, the Governor had both decided that San Carlos was an obvious place the enemy would come ashore. However, Mare Harbour at the eastern entrance to Choiseul Sound, a relatively deep-water anchorage sheltered by Fox Point, or Fitzroy or Bluff Cove nearer Puerto Argentino, or one of several beaches around Berkeley Sound, or Salvador Water-Teal Inlet on the northern coast of Isla Soledad were all viable candidate landing sites, each had many merits and crucially, all were a lot closer to Puerto Argentino.  So, the problem had always been that notwithstanding San Carlos Water had much to recommend itself for a landing site, and as a general locale in which to build-up a bridgehead from which to conduct further operations; it was not by any means the only ‘obviously suitable place’ and they did not have an infinite number of fully-mobile troops.  Because of this they had consciously focused resources on the ‘obvious’ landing areas closest to the one key town on the archipelago, Puerto Argentino. 
 
    The only land battle that they could not afford to lose was the battle for Puerto Argentino; logically, this had meant the preparation for the defence in depth covering the south coast around the Bluff Cove-Fitzroy Sector, the approaches to the western mountains from the Teal Inlet Sector, and ensuring that despite the bombing and regular naval bombardments that the Cap San Felipe airport peninsula was securely held and that any landings north of the port were at least initially, ‘blocked’.  Moreover, always in the back of their minds had been the requirement to garrison Isla Gran Malvinas – West Falkland – to prevent it and its ports becoming staging posts and forward bases for a possible multi-season campaign to re-conquer Isla Soledad.  Their thinking had been that even if the English successfully established a bridgehead on Isla Soledad, by garrisoning Isla Gran Malvina, they would know that there was a substantial Argentine presence at their backs denying them complete freedom of movement through the Estrecho San Carlos. 
 
    In fact, additional artillery, anti-aircraft and infantry units had been sent to reinforce the San Carlos sector in recent weeks.  Some of which was still awaiting trans-shipment across to Bahia Zorro due to the unavailability of shipping in the Darwin-Verde de Ganso Sector south of San Carlos Water. 
 
    “We need to know what’s going on over there,” Hugo declared, trying not to seem overly pensive.  “Is the land line to Darwin still up?” 
 
    Pedro Morales confirmed that it was. 
 
    Both men knew this might only be the case because the enemy had found some way of ‘tapping’ into it but right now, that was the least of their troubles. 
 
    “See if we can still raise the airfield at Darwin,” Hugo decided.  “Order them to overfly San Carlos with a couple of helicopters.” 
 
    “I’ve alerted two communications teams, sir,” Morales said, anticipating Hugo’s next order.  “The Air Force are making difficulties…” 
 
    The older man brushed this aside. 
 
    “Once they’ve reconnoitred San Carlos Water, they can transport one comms team to the Green Mountains and the other to Campito Hill on the eastern side of San Carlos Water.  If the Air Force says they don’t have helicopters available arrest whoever claims to be in charge over at the dispersal base.” 
 
    Four helicopters, including two former US Navy Sikorsky H-19 Chickasaws, had been based in the Camp west of the mountains, hidden away for just this moment.  Hugo needed eyes and ears on the ground in the San Carlos Sector to tell him what was going on.  He could not afford to lose those aircraft but he had to know if this was the main English amphibious assault. 
 
    Pedro Morales paused for thought. 
 
    He had never, ever heard that cold, quietly brutal note in his commanding officer’s normally urbane, gentlemanly voice. 
 
    Hugo guessed what he was thinking. 
 
    “That’s the way it is going to be,” he said sadly.  “Or,” he sighed, “the English,” he thought about it, “the British will roll straight over us.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 5 
 
      
 
    00:55 Hours (GMT) 
 
    Prime Minister’s Rooms, Churchill House, Oxford 
 
      
 
    “HMS Liverpool entered the San Carlos anchorage some twenty minutes ago, and is presently engaging enemy shore batteries, Prime Minister,” the First Sea Lord, Sir Peter Hill Norton reported as Margaret Thatcher looked up from her papers.  Oxford was three hours ahead of Falkland Island time; it was the middle of the night in England but the Prime Minister had not even considered trying to snatch the briefest of naps.  Her boys were going into action and she could barely keep still, her every nerve ending jangling.  “C-in-C Fleet says that it is a hot fight.” 
 
    “I should be at Fleet Headquarters,” the Prime Minister declared, her expression momentarily anguished. 
 
    Although sorely tempted, the First Sea Lord managed not to roll his eyes.  That did not work with the Lady and besides, notwithstanding she could be the most maddeningly stubborn person he had ever worked for much to his surprise once he had got to know her a little better, he too had become more than somewhat devoted to her.  Oddly, until the last few months he had not ‘got it’, as the young people said these days; nowadays, he was wiser.  It was not just that she was a leader who actually ‘led’; no, it was more than that.  True, she could be recklessly Boadicea-like, racing to vault over the parapet to get to grips with her foes and detractors but she could also be unnervingly adroit, bait traps with positively feline patience for her prey to make a fatal, unwary footstep before snaring them and casually clawing them into submission. 
 
    Hill Norton was aware that others would be listening in to that evening’s call from the White House, wisely in the comfort of their own offices surrounded by their own advisors.  There were times when he yearned for the old days when technical limitations obliged everybody had to assemble in the same room, straining their ears to hear what the parties to a call were saying to each other.  At least then, one could look the others in the whites of their eyes and intuit some idea of the mood of the gathering. 
 
    The First Sea Lord guessed that Airey Neave, the Secretary of State for National Secretary, or Ian Gilmour, the Minister of Defence would be near at hand, like him, ready to attempt to restrain the Lady if she got a little bit too caught up in the excitement of the moment.  Not so Michael Carver, the Field Marshall was a creature of habit and he would be tucked up in his bed right now, sleeping the sleep of the just and the pure at heart.  Which was fair enough, before Hitler’s War, the Chief of the Defence Staff had been so bored with life in the peacetime British Army that he had contemplated emigrating to New Zealand to study to take Holy Orders.  Peter Hill Norton envied him; the greatest living battlefield tactician of the age accepted that he needed to leave the men on the spot – Henry Leach in command of the South Atlantic Task Force, David Penberthy, flying his flag on the Bulwark, and Ian Gourlay, the Commandant-designate of the Royal Marines, the Ground Forces Commander, managing the landings at San Carlos Water – to get on with the job.  The last thing they needed was somebody in England, eight thousand miles away from the action, tinkering around the edges or double-guessing their decisions. 
 
    So far as the First Sea Lord was concerned, regardless of his occasional lapses into fascination with the Lady, simply hoped that this summons was not just another one of those sessions dominated by the arcane whys and wherefores of the designs of the tempered steel flukes of HMS Hermes’s Parsons turbines.  It was not as if he had not, as tactfully as possible explained numerous times – until he was a little blue in the face, actually – that the underlying reason the Navy’s big ships were so prone to breaking down, and had been mechanically ‘found out’ time and again since the October War, was that successive Governments, mostly of Conservative hue since the 1945 war, had failed to fund the armed services properly.  Thus, it sat poorly for any post-war Prime Minister to berate the Navy, or any of the other services for the shortcomings of their equipment.  It was not his fault that his predecessors had had to make the best of a mix and match, cannibalisation policy to keep the Fleet at sea because of Governmental parsimony.  The Navy had done, and was doing, its best.  Goodness, the Victorious was well on her way to the South Atlantic with one of her turbines locked down but nevertheless, with a hangar deck packed with Kestrels; granted, those aircraft were not Phantoms, or Sea Vixens and they were certainly not Buccaneers but they were as good as, in fact a lot better, than practically anything the Argentines were liable to put into the air anywhere near the Falklands.  The Grey Funnel Line had – whatever his and many of his admirals’ reservations – pulled out all the stops, and some, they had not known they had this time last year to get the South Atlantic Task Force down to those bloody islands! 
 
    In any event, the problem was not the Hermes or her dodgy turbines, or whether the Victorious would stay afloat long enough to deliver her Kestrels; it was what the Argentine Fleet was up to.  With both Ark Royal and the Hermes on station with some thirty to forty modern jets between them the outcome of any fleet action would have been a long-range foregone conclusion.  Moreover, with three SSNs now ‘in theatre’; the Churchill in company with the Ark Royal Battle Group, Warspite on the south western station between Ushuaia and West Falkland, and the Valiant patrolling off Puerto Belgrano, and at least three other diesel-electric O and P class boats lurking in and around the Falklands, mainly on listening briefs or ferrying around SAS and SBS teams, the chance of an Argentine warship getting within a hundred miles of the contested archipelago was negligible to nil. 
 
    However, the Hermes was temporarily hors de combat and that might change the whole calculus of the coming campaign.  The fact that Hermes was still at Leith Harbour ought not to have surprised anybody; it certainly had not surprised Fleet HQ. 
 
    Sooner or later if one tried to run a Navy on a wing and a prayer, things broke, and it was not as if the Army and the Royal Air Force were not in more or less the same, metaphorical boat! 
 
    Michael Carver had tried to explain the concept of ‘strategic over-stretch’ to the Prime Minister last month; but the Prime Minister had not understood that the corollary to strategic over-stretch was inevitably most keenly felt at the tactical level.  Which was exactly what was being experienced by the men and the vessels of the 3rd Submarine (SSN) Squadron.  Seven-strong on paper a rational operational deployment would be three boats available for operations, two training and two in dockyard hands undergoing routine refitting and repairs; inevitably, the Prime Minister wanted all her ‘toys’ in the South Atlantic! 
 
    Plans for up to five of the boats to be sent south had begun to go badly awry; Conqueror having to abandon her patrol off the River Plate was in one respect, just the icing on the cake! 
 
    She was limping home ‘sounding like a bag of nuts and bolts’ after a flash fire in her turbine room.  Two men had been killed and multiple systems shorted-out, preventing the boat diving deep, running fast or silent anytime this side of a lengthy period in dry dock.  There had been no radioactive contamination during the incident but the boat had had to surface for several hours.  Conqueror was a long way from home – damned nearly six thousand miles - and had she suffered a critical failure, and horror of horrors, been lost they might never have known what had befallen her.  Instantly, any possibility of implementing the ‘five SSN Plan had’ had suddenly become a 3-boat exercise; given that Sandy Woodward’s Cassandra had been delayed setting off for the South Atlantic and was unlikely to be on station mid-way between West Falkland and Puerto Belgrano for at least another thirty days. 
 
    “What’s gone wrong with our submarines these days, First Sea Lord?”  The Prime Minister inquired, tetchily in the manner of a spouse whose life-partner has forgotten her birthday, or a significant anniversary. 
 
    This interrogative assailed Peter Hill Norton as he took a chair in front of Margaret Thatcher’s desk. 
 
    It was at times like this that the First Sea Lord regretted that Flag Officer (Submarines) had lately stumbled into the Lady’s bad books.  Unfortunately, Admiral Sir Simon Collingwood, the architect of the Royal Navy’s nuclear-powered undersea fleet, of which only the uncompleted Dreadnought and the yawning skeletons of the Warspite and the Valiant had existed at the time of the October War, had been moved to communicate to the Prime Minister what he thought about Her Government’s South Atlantic Policy and because he was, who he was, he had done her the courtesy of telling her that he really ought to be put in a position where he was having to tell her about it.  The situation was not his fault; it was hers. 
 
    Peter Hill Norton could still not believe that she had asked Simon the question in the first place; but he had given her, as was his wont, an entirely frank and honest answer.  As he had later observed to the First Sea Lord: ‘If she didn’t want to know the answer; she shouldn’t have asked me the bloody question!’ 
 
    The Chiefs of Staff had been uniformly unimpressed by the Prime Minister’s subsequent, and month-long ongoing ‘sulk’ about what was, after all, the considered professional opinion expressed by a man who would not dream of doing anything other than carrying out her wishes to the letter. 
 
    “As you know, Prime Minister,” the First Sea Lord replied, “Flag Officer (Submarines) has no sense that there is a generic, or systemic problem with the general design, or the commissioned engineering execution of any of our boats.  Dreadnought apart; but she was a prototype, so it was to be expected that she’d have teething problems.  I think the problem, if there is a problem, is simply that we are steaming our boats too hard for too long.  They are hugely complicated machines, components fail periodically…” 
 
    “Ummm…” 
 
    There was a knock at the door and the Prime Minister’s Chief of Staff, Ian Gow, MP, entered the room nodding acknowledgement to the First Sea Lord. 
 
    “The President will be on Line One in approximately three minutes, Prime Minister.” 
 
    President Brenckmann was an old Navy man who had served on convoy escorts in the Battle of the Atlantic and commanded a destroyer in the first Korean conflict in the early 1950s.  Margaret Thatcher always liked to have one of her own Navy men to hand when they spoke over the North Atlantic hotline. 
 
    The First Sea Lord suspected that his presence in Churchill House, the Prime Minister’s official residence inside the Headington Quarry Secure Government District, and the meeting place of the Cabinet and its numerous sub-committees, had been ‘organised’ by Ian Gow and his opposite number in the White House. 
 
    The First Sea Lord cleared his throat: “Might I inquire as to who else will be listening in on this conversation, Prime Minister?” 
 
    “The Foreign Secretary.” 
 
    Peter Hill Norton frowned, knowing he had been ambushed.  He had heard that when Mrs Thatcher first became premier she had been most punctilious about respecting the chain of command and not meddling in, or stoking inter-service rivalries.  All that had gone out of the window after the French campaign, and as the eyes of the government shifted to the South Atlantic, politics had begun to rub ever more uneasily alongside purely military affairs.  The people around the Prime Minister had not taken kindly to the undercurrents of dissent circling the whole Falklands debate. 
 
    “Ian Gilmour and I should image at least one of his Ministers of State will be listening in.” 
 
    “And at the White House end of the line?”  The First Sea Lord asked, as if he was simply making polite conversation. 
 
    “Doctor Kissinger and Admiral McCain.” 
 
    Ambushed! 
 
    I’ve been jolly well bushwhacked! 
 
    “Very good, Prime Minister,” the First Sea Lord said, not for an instant betraying his displeasure.  He looked around; Ian Gow had pulled up a chair. 
 
    “We’ve got one of the new speaker-phones,” the Prime Minister’s gatekeeper and jack of all administrative, and numerous executive tasks, the one man – with the possible exception of Airey Neave – whose office no up and coming Tory Member of Parliament, functionary, or junior minister ever wanted to have to report to in possession of a guilty conscience. 
 
    People said that Ian kept a loaded Browning 9-millimetre semi-automatic pistol in the top drawer of his desk.  If it was true, nobody in their right mind imagined he would hesitate to use it – if not in his own defence – then certainly in defence of his Prime Minister.  Peter Hill Norton had still not made up his mind whether Ian Gow regarded himself as the Lady’s first counsel, a sort of administrator-personal solicitor to her, or if he was just so besotted with her that in his eyes, she could literally do no wrong. 
 
    ‘Why wouldn’t he be besotted with her?’  Simon Collingwood had once remarked.  ‘I’d be if I was with her all the time; there’s something about her that gets inside a man’s head.  Don’t you find?’ 
 
    The First Sea Lord did, as it happened. 
 
    The only man he had ever met – of those close to the Lady – who seemed utterly immune to bewitchment was Michael Carver.  The CDS’s wife, Edith, and two youngest children had been in Germany at the time of the October War, where he had commanded 3rd Division.  They had perished, consumed with no known grave in the holocaust he had by chance escaped, visiting Cyprus where it was mooted that his division would be transferred in either 1963 or 1964.  His eldest daughter had recently married a doctor at the John Radcliffe Hospital, and his surviving son was a boarder at Winchester College. 
 
    The First Sea Lord usually dined with Michael Carver once a month; but the Army man hardly craved company.  He was forever content in his own thoughts, with his own company, preoccupied with the impossible task of defending his country and the Commonwealth from all evil. 
 
    And the bright ideas and obsessions of the politicians… 
 
    People tended not to speak of their families, or of the people they had lost.  Most families were fractured, damaged by the October War.  Men of Carver and Hill Norton’s age, a generation which had fought in the 1945 war, survived the cataclysm only to discover that the war to end all wars had been no such thing, knew themselves to be scarred, and their perspectives warped.  If there was hope it was in their children.  The First Sea Lord’s son, Nicholas, had recently joined the guided missile destroyer Norfolk, the ship’s new executive officer at the tender age of just thirty. 
 
    The Norfolk had been launched as the Kent, a sister ship of the Devonshire and the Hampshire, a light cruiser-sized destroyer; but unlike her sisters she had been sent – barely half-completed – to Norfolk, Virginia where she had been fitted out with an electronics and weapons suite similar to that which was standard on the US Navy’s Farragut class ships.  Thus, instead of her designed 4.5-inch guns and obsolete Seaslug missile launcher she had a single semi-automatic 5-inch gun, and an eight-tube ASROC – Anti-submarine Rocket launcher – forward of her bridge, a triple 12.75-inch torpedo launcher for the modern Mark 32 anti-submarine homing torpedo amidships, and a twin-rail RIM-2 Terrier surface-to-air system at her stern. 
 
    “Might I inquire as to why the CDS is not with us?”  He asked respectfully, although he could guess.  He would already have informed the Prime Minister that he was not going to interfere, or allow himself to be put a position where it might seem as if he was interfering in ongoing operations.  If the government wanted one of the Service Chiefs on call, it would have to be Hill Norton. 
 
    Fair enough… 
 
    Given the recent sad death of Lord De L’Isle, the Lady’s long-suffering indefatigable Defence Secretary and the sense of grim foreboding which seemed to have settled over Oxford in recent weeks as the bloodshed in the South Atlantic had suddenly become more than just hyperbole, all three Service Chiefs of Staff were rightly sensitive about being ‘separated out from the herd’ by politicians increasingly coming under attack for allowing things to have come to this sad pass in the first place. 
 
    That was the thing about war-mongering; it was fine right up until the point people started dying, which was one of the main reasons Peter Hill Norton, and many of his closest allies had hoped OPERATION UPLAND GOOSE, an exercise planned to highlight the problems that the Royal Navy – appallingly overstretched and frankly, exhausted after the travails of recent years – would face in any campaign to re-take the Falkland Islands, would finally make the Government come to its senses.  The whole thing had been a fiasco, painting the Navy in an even worse light than anybody could have anticipated. 
 
    And yet, here they were, eight months later about to invade East Falkland. 
 
    On what amounted to…a wing and a prayer. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 6 
 
      
 
    21:20 Hours 
 
    ARA Santiago del Estero (S-12) 
 
    Port Howard, Isla Gran Malvina 
 
      
 
    Thirty-nine-year-old Lieutenant Commander Alberto Castro Fox leaned on the edge of the cold steel edge of the cockpit at the top of the submarine’s sail, listening to the thump of gunfire, eying the flashes reflecting off the patchy overcast to the north east. 
 
    Once the old Balao class submarine had been warped inshore until she grounded each low tide, and camouflaged as best as was possible with netting – which hopefully broke up and lost her ‘flooded down’ silhouette – against the land, he had sent over thirty men, nearly half his crew, ashore to be billeted in the houses of the nearby settlement.  Conditions on land were crowded; but a lot better than they were on the boat.  Down below it was cold, clammy and the faint taint of chlorine hung in the air a lot of the time.  Providing his people kept out of sight, on land, they were a lot less likely to get strafed or bombed by passing British aircraft, or shelled by one of the frigates or destroyers which seemed to treat the northern waters of the Estrecho San Carlos as their personal nocturnal playground. 
 
    Much as he hated to admit it; the Santiago del Estero’s war was probably over.  Right now, she was just another one of the wrecks, derelicts littering the inlets and coves of the archipelago.  It had been impossible to more than patch up the worst of her damage at Puerto Argentino; unsurprisingly, the boat had started coming to pieces again almost as soon as she had put to sea again.  Then, shortly after torpedoing that British frigate in the northern approaches to the Sound, the boat had touched bottom not once but twice and started leaking again. 
 
    There were tall hills, and real mountains too, shielding the Port Howard anchorage, and practically speaking, as an afterthought he had turned the submarine to point south down the length of the inlet towards the narrows opening out into the main channel between Isla Gran Malvina and Isla Soledad.  His forward torpedo tubes were loaded; if an enemy steamed unwarily into his sights; he would do his duty.  Otherwise, for the Santiago del Estero, the war was probably over. 
 
    A crewman had brought Castro Fox a mug of what purported to be coffee a few minutes before the distant gunfire had started.  Men had gathered on the aft casing to stare at the sky and listen to the faraway battle. 
 
    It was only caffeine that was keeping Castro Fox going. 
 
    The boat was falling to bits around him. 
 
    It was only a matter of time before he had to admit to the inevitable and abandon his command, knowing that if he ever tried to take her to sea, he would probably be condemning his crew to a watery grave.  He had already ordered the boat’s code books and enciphering ‘writer’ bagged and weighted in case they needed to be thrown overboard at a moment’s notice. 
 
    “There’s a boat approaching from the ferry jetty, sir!” 
 
    Castro Fox heard, and did not hear this report although he had acknowledged it cursorily, automatically.  He was buried, submerged in his thoughts, thinking of all the men he had killed on that English frigate.  Her back broken, that ship had gone down quickly.  No man survived long in these freezing southern waters. 
 
    Had the enemy attributed the sinking to a mine? 
 
    Possibly.  They might not even know the Santiago del Estero existed; or was that just wishful thinking? 
 
    The chug-chug-cough-chug of the approaching boat’s ancient diesel preceded it across the calm waters of the inlet.  Even with the faraway thunder of big guns it was oddly, almost ethereally quiet all around the submarine.  Like it had been on Isla San Pedro – South Georgia to the English – before the enemy had steamed into Cumberland Bay. 
 
    Distracted, Castro Fox searched for the small boat, an old ship’s whaler that was usually tied up alongside the ferry jetty during the day.  In the mists of time somebody had fitted it with a tiny engine so feeble it could barely hold the craft against the tide if it strayed too close to the narrows at the wrong time of day. 
 
    He could tell there were several people in the boat. 
 
    Irritated, he clambered down the sail ladder, and exited at deck level through the port hatch.  The water lapped at the near submerged hull of his command as he joined the other men standing on the aft casing. 
 
    “Captain on deck!”  One man hissed. 
 
    “Stand easy, lads,” he said, affecting something which might, in the darkness be mistaken for cheerfulness.  “I’ve only come down to see who our visitors are.” 
 
    The whaler bumped against the casing. 
 
    “Who is in charge here?”  Demanded the tall man in what appeared to be a heavily flocked Army battledress jacket as a couple of other men, presumably flunkies, struggled onto the deck behind him. 
 
    “That would be me,” Castro Fox announced, stepping forward. 
 
    It was far too dark to see anything much. 
 
    The taller man’s eyes were black pits in the night, his intimidating bulk seemingly leaning in towards the Navy man. 
 
    “Who are you?” 
 
    The newcomer was clearly taken a little aback by this. 
 
    Forty-three-year-old Lieutenant Colonel Leopoldo Fortunato Galtieri Castelli, the commanding officer of the 107th Combat Engineering Battalion, stiffened, vented a grunt of vexation and introduced himself. 
 
    “I came across the Sound yesterday to survey billets and camp sites for my battalion,” he added, by then acknowledging that he needed to tone down his pushiness. 
 
    “Lieutenant Commander Alberto Castro Fox,” the submarine’s captain replied. 
 
    “I need to get back to Darwin as soon as possible,” Galtieri demanded without further preamble. 
 
    “Darwin?” 
 
    “Yes.  Across the other side of the Estrecho San Carlos.” 
 
    Castro Fox refrained – but only just – from informing the other man that he knew exactly where Darwin was. 
 
    “I suggest that you and I speak privately, Colonel,” he suggested respectfully.  “My boys will keep your companions company topsides.” 
 
    This said, before the visitor could object, he turned his back on him and headed for the hatch. 
 
    “I hope you’re not claustrophobic, Colonel?”  Castro Fox asked solicitously after the two men stepped into the control room. 
 
    He stepped into his tiny cabin, not attempting to shut the hatch behind Galtieri because, well, there was no room and non-submariners tended to panic in such a small space.  Although, to be fair to the man, this particular Ejército Argentino officer did not seem to be the panicky type.  The two men remained standing for the good reason that apart from Castro Fox’s bunk there was nowhere to sit. 
 
    “Getting you across the Estrecho San Carlos is going to be somewhat problematic, Colonel,” he explained. 
 
    “Nevertheless, I need to be at Darwin.” 
 
    Okay, the guy was about to try to pull rank! 
 
    The atmosphere in the submarine, well-ventilated in the last forty-eight hours to ensure that there was no chlorine build up, only retained a suggestion of its normal ‘pig boat’ stench; but for a stranger, the air was still…pungent. 
 
    Galtieri was wrinkling his nose. 
 
    “Without troubling you with the technicalities, or wishing to speculate about the local tactical situation, Colonel,” Castro Fox re-joined, respectfully or rather, as respectfully as he could summon the enthusiasm to be right then, which might not have been the same thing, “the English pretty much wrecked my boat off Isla San Pedro, and the limited repairs we were able to make at Puerto Argentino just about got us this far.  As for going to sea, again,” he shrugged and spread his arms as wide as the bulkheads, pressing in from every side, allowed, “even if the English don’t sink us, the boat might just sink under our feet, anyway.” 
 
    The Army man thought about this. 
 
    But not for very long. 
 
    “I still need to be in Darwin by first light.” 
 
    “Forgive me,” Castro Fox groaned, “but why the crashing hurry, Colonel?” 
 
    “Do you have a map?”  It was not asked sarcastically, quite the opposite.  So, the two men returned to the control room where a chart of Falkland Sound - it was a British Admiralty chart, so probably to be trusted – was spread across the plot table. 
 
    Galtieri’s right forefinger stabbed at San Carlos Water and then traced a line through Ajax Bay down past Campito Hill until he reached Sussex Mountain, nearly three hundred metres high several kilometres to the south. 
 
    “We have forces to the north and the east of San Carlos Water but no real strength in depth north of the Darwin-Goose Green position.  If we move north to take control of the Sussex Mountain, or even, failing that, the passes either side of it, then the English will be bottled up in their bridgehead around that bloody fjord which the ARA abandoned as soon as the first shot was fired in anger at Isla San Pedro!” 
 
    Castro Fox bridled at this. 
 
    If Captain Emilio Eduardo Massera had remained bottled up in the anchorage, the cruiser General Belgrano and her escorts would have been sitting ducks; only an Army officer would be ignorant of this salient fact.  He let it pass.  
 
    “Why not just send a signal to your people at Darwin?”  He asked.  It seemed logical; the radio was one of the few pieces of kit on board the Santiago del Estero that actually still worked…most of the time. 
 
    “Because nothing will happen if I am not there!” 
 
    Castro Fox must have given Galtieri a blank look at this juncture. 
 
    The Army man turned on him. 
 
    Galtieri was a handsome man with a full head of hair, his physical presence hugely enhanced by the padded battledress parka he wore.  However, none of that impressed Albert Castro Fox; no, it was the light of battle in the man’s eyes that seized his attention. 
 
    “If we let our boys sit in their trenches, they will never get out of them again!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 7 
 
      
 
    19:56 Hours (EST) 
 
    The Oval Office, The White House, Washington DC 
 
      
 
    While it was true to say that Anglo-US relations had been in relatively good order earlier in the year, in retrospect much of this was in the eye of the beholder and there was a great deal more appreciation in some quarters, than others, that the British Government ought to have been aware that the specialness of the special relationship between the two countries, was anything but intrinsic.  President Walter Brenckmann and Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher were friends who, one way and another, shared an approximately not dissimilar world view, and had been through a lot together since October 1962 but not even this could paper over the widening cracks in the apparent transatlantic détente of the last year. 
 
    One man who was under no illusion that both the special relationship, and the friendship between the leaders was under no little strain – and had been since the spring – was the British Ambassador, Sir Nicholas ‘Nicko’ Henderson.  In fact, he had expressed his mounting concerns to his boss, Foreign and Commonwealth Secretary Lord Thomas Harding-Grayson in less than wholly diplomatic language for several months.  Knowing that his chief had never been any kind of adherent to or believer in the mythical ‘special relationship’ so worshipped by a clique in the FCO, he had hoped that he perhaps, might be able to warn the Prime Minister that she was steering the ship onto the rocks but…apparently, he had been wrong about that too. 
 
    Unfortunately, much though he understood Tom Harding-Grayson’s distraction in the wake of his wife’s sad death; he was aware this was exactly the moment the United Kingdom needed its Foreign Minister to be most engaged with global realpolitik, particularly as the Prime Minister seemed deaf to reason.  Thus, he was not in an overly optimistic frame of mind when he was ushered through the West Wing into the Oval Office that frigid November evening. 
 
    President Walter Brenckmann had been in conversation with Henry Kissinger and Jack McCain; he smiled sternly and rose to his feet, walking around the Resolute Desk to greet the British Ambassador. 
 
    “Good to see you, Ambassador,” the President declared, with the gravelly gravitas that still beguiled practically all the Americans who had voted for him, and sent him to the White House in a near unprecedented landslide in November last year. 
 
    Henderson was now into his fourth year as Margaret Thatcher’s man in Washington.  A career diplomat he had always been more finely attuned to the threads, and nuances of the politics of the Americas than his illustrious, and he readily confessed, rather more charismatic predecessor.  Peter and Marija Christopher had charmed the socks off the Kennedys, the Johnsons, the Nixons and through their friendship with that scarcely rivalled force of nature, Gretchen Betancourt, the President’s heiress daughter-in-law, would, inevitably, have opened doors into the current Administration, too.  As it was, Henderson had adroitly navigated the tumultuous Nixon years and worked out very quickly that just as there was nothing flashy or impetuous about the thirty-ninth President, the former Boston attorney and behind the scenes fixer par excellence, ought to have been a man his principals could have done business with.  Moreover, Walter Brenckmann was a man who clearly understood exactly how hard it sometimes was for him to diplomatically represent his government’s case in the court of American public opinion. 
 
    Regardless of Nicko Henderson’s private thoughts on the rightness or the wrongness of his country’s stance on the South Atlantic question – personally, he thought those islands were not worth the candle, and he strongly suspected his chief, insomuch as he cared any more about anything in particular, felt the same way – he had tried to limit the damage.  The trouble was that the Prime Minister seemed to have no idea, or care how much political and diplomatic capital the Brenckmann Administration had already expended in the Americas to support what, to many Americans, was a British colonial war against a country, the Argentine, which by rights ought to be a natural anti-communist bulwark and ally. 
 
    Yes, Oxford was right to think that the Special Relationship mattered to the White House.  And, yes, the President undoubtedly valued his friendship with Margaret Thatcher. 
 
    But no, the fate of a few windswept islands in the South Atlantic that most Americans would never have heard of but for the constant British sabre-rattling, was not any kind of Brenckmann Administration foreign policy priority.  At a time when the President was trying to put an end to the worsening civil war-insurgency which had wracked Cuba since the October War and if necessary, buy democracy for the peoples of Central and Southern America, while at the same time setting in stone the Central European De-Militarised Zone and a lasting peace with the new Soviet Union, he did not want to alienate the whole of Latin America – for a generation possibly - by standing shoulder to shoulder with the British.  Unfortunately, although Nicko Henderson knew that at some level at least, his Prime Minister understood this, she seemed to have no scruples placing ‘her friend’ in the White House in an impossible situation.  Or, for that matter, lacked a meaningful appreciation that no British Premier could afford to put an American President in such a position because, whoever he was, he was never going to put up with it.  This was why, today, Nicko suspected that – his patience abused to, and beyond breaking point – it was going to be Walter Brenckmann who was the one who was going to be delivering the ultimatums. 
 
    ‘Most Americans do not give a fig about what goes on overseas, Nicko,’ Margaret Thatcher had rebuked her man in Washington.  ‘President Brenckmann had a great deal of flexibility in this matter…’ 
 
    No, he did not! 
 
    Not when ‘what went on overseas’ impinged on American business, and the jobs and the wealth of voters on Main Street.  The people who had voted for Walter Brenckmann were okay, to a point, about their country being the world’s policeman; just not if it involved shooting, and especially not if it involved ‘propping up’ the Brits…again! 
 
    But the Lady had not wanted to hear that. 
 
    In her mind she had convinced herself that the American taxpayer understood that the Brits had had a hard time, remembered the Second War, Churchill and all that, and that they got it that the United Kingdom deserved a second Marshall Plan, or something like it to help it get back onto its feet.  She took it for granted that they – the eponymous right-thinking Americans who had voted for her friend, Walter Brenckmann in November last year – were not ecstatic about sending their young men abroad to fight in other people’s wars; but she did not get it at all that although Americans, per se, were happy enough to help the Old Country defend itself, and justified the old ships, the aircraft and the technology Uncle Sam sent across the Atlantic because it helped keep the Commie’s out of what was left of Western Europe, that hardly anybody in North America was remotely happy about subsidising British attempts to cling onto what was left of the British Empire. 
 
    America had finished with all of that in 1776! 
 
    These days, whenever Nicko called on the President, or met one of his senior Cabinet colleagues, like the Secretary of State and the Secretary of Defense it was like encountering old friends desperately wanting to avoid having to intrude upon his grief. 
 
    Oh, dear… 
 
    Jack McCain anticipated, and answered Nicko’s next question. 
 
    “The VP’s running distraction at one of Kay Parker’s soirees in Georgetown tonight.” 
 
    Kay was the owner and publisher of The Washington Post and Newsweek Magazine, so when the man who was a heartbeat away from the Presidency went to one of her ‘at homes’, that got an awful lot of attention. 
 
    This is not looking good… 
 
    The ‘hot line’ connection to Oxford was established at a little after eight o’clock local time, one o’clock in the morning in England.  The President and Margaret Thatcher exchanged well-meant pleasantries and the primary ‘listeners’ were identified.  Nicko could not help but wonder why Sir Ian Gilmour, the new Secretary of State for Defence would not actually be in the room with the Prime Minister at a time like this. 
 
    It was another bad omen. 
 
    And why was the First Sea Lord – fine fellow that he was – and not Sir Michael Carver, the Chief of the Defence Staff alone with the Lady? 
 
    What on earth is going on in Oxford? 
 
    The President was most solicitous about Tom Harding-Grayson; who chimed in to assure him that he was ‘bearing up’, and observed, pithily but oddly a little glumly, ‘that great moments wait for no man.’ 
 
    In typical fashion Margaret Thatcher jumped straight into the meat of the discussion – or rather, the discussion that she wanted to have – reporting, rather stridently as was her wont of late, that OPERATION GRANDSTAND had commenced. 
 
    Of course, the Americans knew this. 
 
    How could they not know this?  There was, after all, a two-star admiral and a supporting staff based at Fleet Headquarters in England, reporting back all the time to the Pentagon, and the White House Situation Room in real time twenty-four hours a day. 
 
    Nicko Henderson winced, in sympathy, with his American hosts as the Prime Minister gloried in the ‘gallant role HMS Liverpool’ had played, and at that moment was playing, in the campaign to date.  Notwithstanding that at one level the President, Henry Kissinger and Jack McCain sympathised with the British position, the reality of yet more movies of a quintessentially American heavy cruiser, of the type John Wayne and Hollywood had featured in practically every war movie in the 1950s, prominently flying a British flag as it imperiously knocked seven kinds of Hell out of the armed forces of a country which had been an ally, and a client of the United States for most of the post-second war era, flashing around the globe in the coming days, was a diplomatic nightmare abroad and a red-rag to a lot of right-thinking voters on Main Street. 
 
    American GIs were dying every day on Cuba because the Organisation of American States refused to entertain the Administration’s ceasefire resolution – a more than equitable settlement including generous reparations – which might just bring peace to that ravaged country.  And that was just one impasse in a diplomatic logjam that was threatening once again to stymy any hope of an accelerating domestic economic revival founded on the re-opening of all surviving overseas markets on the basis of pre-October 1962 rules of engagement. 
 
    How many times had the President talked about the price of friendship, of debts owed to allies abroad?  Did the Lady not understand that there was a limit to his patience and the largesse that he was prepared to force through Congress?  For goodness’ sake: the aphorism that applied was the one about not burning all one’s bridges, etcetera! 
 
    “Margaret,” Walter Brenckmann said, judiciously waiting for an opportunity to get a word in edgewise.  As Nicko Henderson could attest, this was sometimes a less than straightforward business. 
 
    The British Ambassador was immensely impressed by the way the President had a knack of disrupting the Lady when she was in full flow without ever, it seemed, offending her. 
 
    Peter Christopher had once confided to him that reputedly, there was a tape somewhere in the Secret Service archives in which the Prime Minister had, not to put too fine a point on it, put what amounted to a curse on JFK.  Mind you, that was just after she had learned that the US Navy had sunk one of her aircraft carriers, and three frigates…without warning back at the beginning of July 1964; so, on that occasion she probably had a right to feel a tad aggrieved.  Of course, that was the last time HMG had gone to war with the United States, so it was probably best not to go there again at a time like this… 
 
    That had certainly been Peter and Marija’s take on the whole dreadful business anyway, then, and now. 
 
    “Margaret,” the President said with gentle, reasonable sorrow that was probably completely lost on her.  “I mean this with no disrespect, and you know I’m on your side…” 
 
    “I know, that’s been a great source of strength to me, Walter!” 
 
    “So, I don’t want you to take what I’m about to say to you the wrong way.  You know I’m not one of those guys who sits in this chair and plays fast and loose with the truth.  I know that you know that.” 
 
    “I do indeed.  You have always been a true friend to me, and to my countrymen and women.” 
 
    “And before I say any more,” the President went on.  “You should know that it gives me great pride to be sitting at the Resolute Desk, reminded every minute of every day of the long, sacred links between our two peoples.” 
 
    Nicko interpreted his Prime Minister’s silence as a first, remarkably belated, inkling that she might, just might be beginning to suspect that this was not going to be the conversation she had thought she was going to be having with her old friend Walter.  However, on this occasion at least, she was not about to fly off the handle. 
 
    “When you visited me shortly after the inauguration this spring,” the President reminded her, “I showed you the inscription on this desk.” 
 
    “I remember it well, Walter.” 
 
    That was when reality hit her. 
 
    Squarely between the eyes, Nicko Henderson gauged judging by the way the transatlantic line went quiet. 
 
    The Lady was oddly reflective, reflexively starting to gird every implacable sinew in her body because she sensed now that she was in trouble, possibly lost.  Not that a little thing like that had ever daunted her before. 
 
    Walter Brenckmann went on: “It says HMS ‘Resolute', forming part of the expedition sent in search of Sir John Franklin in 1852, was abandoned in Latitude 74º 41' N. Longitude 101º 22' W. on 15th May 1854. She was discovered and extricated in September 1855, in Latitude 67º N. by Captain Buddington of the United States Whaler 'George Henry'. The ship was purchased, fitted out and sent to England, as a gift to Her Majesty Queen Victoria by the President and People of the United States, as a token of goodwill & friendship. This table was made from her timbers when she was broken up, and is presented by the Queen of Great Britain & Ireland, to the President of the United States, as a memorial of the courtesy and loving kindness which dictated the offer of the gift of the 'Resolute'.” 
 
    The men in the Oval Office were holding their collective breath, bracing themselves for the outpouring of existential angst in Oxford. 
 
    “Yes,” Margaret Thatcher murmured, “I remember that day well.  I recollect that Dan,” the President’s second son, the man everybody in DC called ‘Mister Gretchen’ while wondering how such an unprepossessing, decent, quiet man could have found the time to clerk for Chief Justice Earl Warren, draft the final Report on the Causes and Conduct of the Cuban Missiles War, and to woo and wed the heiress to the Betancourt fortune, “waxed lyrical over the story of that desk, Mister President?” 
 
    “Yes, he did, didn’t he,” her friend agreed, betraying for the first time his own uncharacteristic discomfiture. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 8 
 
      
 
    22:00 Hours 
 
    ARA Veinticinco de Mayo, Bahia Blanco. off Puerto Rosales 
 
      
 
    Vice Admiral Jorge Anaya had called the briefing soon after the twenty-seven-thousand-ton carrier had anchored in the deep-water channel south of the old, largely disused port of Puerto Rosales, awaiting the sailing of her sister ship, the Indepencia II and the old cruiser Nuevo de Julio on the morning tide. 
 
    Lieutenant Juan Bonham-Garcia had been surprised to hear his name among those summoned over the ship’s Tannoy.  He soon discovered that his immediate superior, Lieutenant Commander Adolfo Griezmann, the carrier’s Senior Landing Deck Safety Officer – the man who was supposedly responsible for the ‘safe’ and the efficient launching and recovery of the ship’s aircraft – was not just surprised but incensed about his summons. 
 
    ‘It must be a mistake,’ the other man had sneered.  ‘I will represent the LDSO Division alone.’ 
 
    Shortly thereafter a winded rating skidded to a halt outside the open bulkhead door to Juan’s cabin. 
 
    “Admiral Anaya orders you to immediately attend him in the Wardroom, sir!” 
 
    Thus, Juan had doubled along passageways, up a deck and reported, very nearly breathlessly to the Fleet Commander.  Whom he found glowering at Griezmann, who was visibly wilting in front of a room filled with the Veinticinco de Mayo’s senior officers and their deputies. 
 
    It was the carrier’s Captain, Massimo Herrera, a large, greying man with a hooked nose and a perpetually querulous stare who suddenly blocked Juan’s path. 
 
    “You were ordered to report to this place, Mister Bonham-Garcia?” 
 
    “Yes, sir.”  Juan straightened, wishing he had paused outside the Ward Room to check his appearance.  “Commander Griezmann countermanded the broadcast call.  He said it was a mistake and ordered me to return to my normal duties.” 
 
    Herrera’s gaze bored into the younger man’s face. 
 
    Juan did not flinch.  If he survived whatever madness – or cowardice – his superiors had planned for the coming days he planned to resign his commission.  Life in the Argentina of the Junta held little or no appeal to him, and besides, while he was training with the US Navy in Florida, he had met the woman he meant to marry. 
 
    He ought to have been intimidated, defensive. 
 
    Instead, he saw the funny side of the ridiculous scene playing out around him.  However, recognising the murderous expression on the Veinticinco de Mayo’s CAG’s – Combat Air Group Commander’s – face, standing directly at the carrier’s captain’s shoulder, he refrained from smirking. 
 
    “Herrera,” Jorge Anaya’s voice sliced through the air-conditioned coolness, “this is not the time or the place to resolve your ship’s internal organisational problems.” 
 
    Juan was blinking by then. 
 
    What…the fuck was going on? 
 
    Another moment and he realised what was going on. 
 
    Nobody was in command… 
 
    The carrier’s CAG was in his face: “Griezmann says we can operate all aircraft safely at night!”  He raged.  “I know for a fact that he’s never been down in the LDSO pit, and,” he hesitated for a moment, before his anger carried him forward, ‘I have no idea if he even knows what you and all those boys his Cordoba Faction friends tried to get transferred to the Indepencia last week, do!” 
 
    Juan just looked at the older man in blank incomprehension. 
 
    “Well, can we?”  The Veinticinco de Mayo’s CAG demanded, like Juan already knowing the answer.  “Operate all aircraft safety at night?” 
 
    “Er, no, sir.  Not unless we light up the ship like a Christmas tree and commence an emergency training program for the ship’s crew and your pilots, sir!”  Juan had come to attention.  “Them after a few weeks we might be in a position to form an opinion as to the Air Group’s readiness, or otherwise, to begin night operations…” 
 
    What had these people been talking about before I got here? 
 
    Jorge Anaya was scowling now. 
 
    The Fleet Commander had a filthy reputation in the ARA, he did not tolerate fools or anybody else, gladly or otherwise, and he always had one eye on the manoeuvring of his adversaries; which to him was probably everybody else in the Navy. 
 
    He took a step towards the newcomer. 
 
    “Several of your key men were transferred off this ship last week?”  He asked, to Juan’s surprise Anaya was clearly astonished, not to mention horrified. 
 
    “Yes, sir.  Against my objections; which were over-ruled by Mister Griezmann.”  He added: “I was cautioned that my disloyalty to him had been noted, and that a censure would be recorded on my service jacket, sir.” 
 
    Juan’s superior had refound his voice. 
 
    “That’s a lie!” 
 
    But Anaya had worked out where all this was heading. 
 
    OPERATION RIVADAVIA was built around the Veinticinco de Mayo’s aircraft; everything depended on them all getting into the air at the right time – and as many as possible of them landing back on the carrier after they had accomplished their first strike - and now he had just discovered that even before he had stepped on board his flagship, somebody whom he knew to be transparently aligned with the minority Cordoba Faction within the ARA – had mendaciously sought to sabotage his mission. 
 
    Juan, and everybody else in the Ward Room thought Anaya was going to strike Adolfo Griezmann; and so, did he, because he half-raised his arms in self-defence. 
 
    Of course, many things, possibly the majority, were not and could not be known to relatively junior officers like the Veinticinco de Mayo’s deputy Landing Deck Safety Officer.  For example, at that moment he had no way of knowing, or guessing, that Jorge Anaya – known as ‘the Black Man’ on account of his native blood and resultant dark complexion, and his vindictiveness – a prime architect of Operation Southern Justice in 1964, the ‘Butcher of Leith Harbour’ and the man who had ruthlessly ‘tidied up’ the outlying bases and remote stations of the British Falklands Islands Dependencies, and for this and his work since been rewarded by three promotions and his current post as Deputy Chief of Staff of the ARA, had been looking over his shoulder with near-feverish angst ever since the English Armada had set sail from Portsmouth in September. 
 
    He was a man who knew that the knives were well and truly out for him in Buenos Aires.  Moreover, he was uncomfortably aware that his many rivals in and around the fringes of the Junta saw nothing but the prospect of personal profit – career-wise and financial – in his downfall and perhaps, even in the eventual loss of the Malvinas, which unknown to the Argentine people technocrats within the ruling elite had always viewed as an expensive post-colonial foible, and a totally unnecessary drain on the forever ailing national economy. 
 
    Anaya’s informants had reported that his enemies viewed the possibility of his demise with no little relish, and the likelihood of the destruction of the ‘old and obsolete’ ARA in battle with the English, with treacherously mixed feelings.  Even if the worst happened, obviously it would be a calamity and a tragic humiliation for the Republic; but afterwards, there would be a period of new politics and reconstruction – for which one ought to read ‘big contracts’ – and the timeless principle that one man’s misfortune was always another’s good fortune, would surely apply.  That, after all, was the way Argentine politics had always worked; regardless of the generals or the admirals pulling the strings behind the pink façade of the Casa Rosada. 
 
    “Captain Herrera,” Anaya said, lowly, spitting the words, “lock that man in the brig.” 
 
    Still suspecting that Anaya might be talking about him, Juan was about to protest; he had done nothing wrong.  He opened his mouth, shut it again in an instant. 
 
    Everybody was looking at Adolfo Griezmann. 
 
    Captain Herrera, the carrier’s commanding officer was bawling at the Marines standing guard in the passageway outside. 
 
    As with all things in the ARA, it took several minutes for more Marines to arrive but in the meantime, Griezmann was in no state to put up any resistance, having slumped lifelessly onto a nearby chair.  He almost had to be carried out of the Wardroom, his limbs transformed to near jelly.  He was so far gone in his well of personal misery that as he was dragged past Juan, he was unable to summon the energy to give him a passing glare. 
 
    In the horrible silence after Griezmann had departed, Juan was nudged to move forward. 
 
    “You’re Hugo Bonham-Garcia’s boy, I gather, Lieutenant?”  Jorge Anaya asked him. 
 
    “Yes, sir!” 
 
    Juan was not to know what the older man was ascertaining was whether he was the son of the Bonham-Garcia who was the Marine hero of the recapture of Puerto Argentino, or if he was a relative of a distant cousin, who was known to be a disaffected member of the former Blue Faction and now thought to be affiliated to the newer, Cordoba Faction within the middle-ranks of the Junta, and thereby, tainted by association. 
 
    Anaya nodded, took a look around the Wardroom. 
 
    “You are promoted acting Lieutenant Commander with immediate effect in command of the LDSO Division.  In future you will attend all Command Group briefings and conferences.  Submit a list of all personnel to be returned to the Flagship from the Indepencia II to Captain Herrera at the conclusion of this meeting.” 
 
    And that was it, Juan was suddenly the youngest Lieutenant Commander in the ARA, and for his troubles, gifted a ringside seat at what he fully expected to be an unmitigated, and very bloody disaster. 
 
    This done, Anaya got down to business. 
 
    While men were taking their seats, he announced: “The invasion of Isla Soledad has begun.  The English have landed troops by helicopter in the San Carlos Sector and sent ships into the anchorage to suppress shore batteries.  The final battle for the Malvinas has begun.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 9 
 
      
 
    01:05 Hours (GMT) 22:05 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Ark Royal, 155 nautical miles NE of Pebble Island, West Falkland 
 
      
 
    When the Commander-in-Chief of the South Atlantic Task Force (CINCSATF), Vice Admiral Sir Henry Conyers Leach, had received the news that ‘the bloody foghorn is on the blink again, sir,' he had patted his pet cat, Bantu, on the head and without undue angst retorted: ‘Very good,’ and looking down at his black and white feline companion suggested, more than a little tongue-in-cheek: ‘perhaps, I should send this little chap up to the bridge to keep a look out?  He’s got jolly good night vision.’ 
 
    The story was all around the flagship inside the hour; we can’t see where we are going but the Admiral is in good form! 
 
    In any event, the huge thirty-ton searchlight-like Type 984 3D S-band radar ‘foghorn’ was not wholly broken, it was fine for local air traffic control and in any event most of the Flagship’s screening destroyers and frigates were equipped with trusty old Type 965 sets, so nobody was suddenly going to come out of nowhere to surprise the battle group. 
 
    Well, unless they roared in at wave-top height but even then, one of the pickets, patrolling twenty to thirty miles to the west would probably catch a sight of the blighters long before they got anywhere near the Ark Royal. 
 
    Of course, the men for whom the foghorn ‘going down’ again was bad news, were the crews of the aircraft of 849 Naval Air Squadron, because it meant that their three turboprop Fairey Gannet AEW3s were going to be worked into the ground in the coming days, weeks and for all anybody knew, months unless emergency repairs could be ‘lashed up’ at sea. 
 
    However, nobody was panicking.  In the unlikely event an enemy aircraft got anywhere near ‘the Ark’, the Flagship’s much-modified goalkeeper, the County class destroyer Devonshire, her original obsolete Seaslug missilery and beam-riding radars replaced by twin RIM-2 Terrier rails and all manner of frighteningly sophisticated US fire-control magic was never far away.  It was not as if the Ark Royal was in any way naked out here in the fastness of the South Atlantic north of the Falklands Archipelago. 
 
    Had Henry Leach been a man unduly concerned with the slings and arrows which inevitably, beset any major human endeavour, especially, those at sea in time of war, he would never have been given command of the South Atlantic Task Force.  In fact, if the pressure of commanding the largest agglomeration of British sea power since 1945 weighed upon his narrow shoulders – for he was not a big man physically – he never, ever betrayed any sign of it.  As a very young man he had been in the Situation Room at the Sembawang Naval Base in Singapore the day his father’s ship, HMS Prince of Wales, had been sunk by the Japanese in the South China Sea in December 1941; after that, life had always been too precious to waste time fretting over things beyond his control.  In his book, whatever happened, one just got on with it.  Whatever ‘it’ was; because one was only alive once.  That said, he was not by nature one of life’s gung-ho warriors, for deep inside, a part of the heart-broken young midshipman wandering lost, disconsolate on the quayside as the survivors of the Prince of Wales and the battlecruiser Repulse, disembarked from their rescuing destroyers the day after that disastrous battle in December 1941, was always with Henry Leach.  He for one, was never going to forget that the only thing worse than fighting a war; was losing a war. 
 
    That night he had resisted the temptation to pace the Ark Royal’s bridge, or to loiter – in the fashion of a distracting ‘bad smell’ – in the carrier’s Combat Information Centre.  Great affairs were in motion and now, he could only wait.  He had laid his plans, pressed the ‘start button’ and whatever his private qualms, he needed to let his people to get on with their jobs.  So, he was attending to the paperwork generated by his Staff, receiving regular reports and managing his masterfully concealed existential angst by periodically tickling Bantu’s ears, which from the little fellow’s contented purring, was working its magic for him too! 
 
    He guessed that C-in-C Fleet, Nigel Grenville, his immediate superior must have been under immense political pressure to kick off the invasion of the main archipelago as soon as possible.  Had he wanted to, Leach knew he could have delayed, and delayed, simply on account of his second carrier, the Hermes still being sadly hors de combat with her gammy port turbine set, laid up at South Georgia.  Certainly, there were cogent arguments for simply blockading the Falkland Archipelago, particularly East Falkland where the majority of the enemy population and ninety percent of his troops were presently ensconced.  All things being equal, that would have been his first choice, if only because like most professional men at arms, Henry Leach viewed warfighting as an evil one indulged in at one’s peril and only as an absolute last resort.  All along he had hoped that the Argentines would do the sensible thing; surrender, ask for honourable terms or just, dammit, return to the bloody peace table.  Goodness, even now if the idiots offered to demilitarize the Falklands, or to allow a United Nations peacekeeping force to take over in Port Stanley-Puerto Argentino, they could all go home, no further harm done, and no more lives wasted! 
 
    The problem was that Henry Leach knew that neither the Royal Navy could sustain it, or his government afford to sustain the gargantuan military effort and expense of maintaining practically the whole Fleet, and a goodly proportion of the best fighting units of the British Army, eight thousand miles from home indefinitely.  Illustrating the reality of the situation, one of his two fleet carriers had already broken down just on the passage south, and it was not as if ‘the foghorn’ was the only important defective piece of kit on the Ark Royal, one of her new American-installed bow catapults was already held together with the modern engineering equivalent of string and glue, operating at about three-quarters efficiency and the ship’s best sustainable speed was significantly less than her designed thirty-one knots.  Moreover, even at this season of the year – it was late spring-early summer down in these Austral latitudes, although a casual observer would not know it from the evidence of his eyes or the motion of the ship under his feet – the weather was hardly ever balmy.  His political masters might not accept it but he knew that there was a limit to what tired ships crewed by men, many of whom were reservists rudely yanked out of their civilian occupations, could reasonably achieve particularly if the campaign dragged out much beyond the end of the year. 
 
    Above Leach’s head there was a thumping crash, and the thunder of jets spooling up and then as quickly, down again.  That would be an F4 Phantom II coming home to mother… 
 
    The tragic loss of HMS Rhyl had given them all a very timely jolt.  Up until then everything had been going, if not like a superbly-engineered Swiss watch, then pretty much according to plan and from the Task Force’s point of view, more or less bloodlessly.  A few special forces, and naval reconnaissance team personnel apart, missing, killed or injured in accidents, or in small-scale firefights on East Falkland, casualties had been negligible.  The torpedoing – two survivors had reported the ship manoeuvring to attack a submarine on the surface – of the Rhyl had snapped everybody out of any lingering false sense of security, or of superiority.  As the Royal Navy had learned in the years since the October War, very bad things could happen very fast in modern war. 
 
    Once Leach had learned that the Victorious was on her way to the South Atlantic packed from stem to stern with Kestrels, he had bitten the bullet, accepting that if Hermes was to join the fight that it was patently unacceptable for every take-off and landing of her Sea Vixens and Buccaneers would be a lottery – more like Russian roulette - if she could only make twenty knots on one shaft.  She might she might easily lose an aircraft, possibly two, or three, in every operational cycle.  Thus, for the moment, Hermes was out of the fight.  Another man would have hesitated, wrung his hands but Leach had determined to get on with the job in hand without further delay. 
 
    The Victorious and her Kestrels had always been his insurance policy, and Hermes and Bulwark had each both already carted another five of them down to South Georgia.  In recent days those aircraft had been flight tested, in the next couple of days Hermes would unload all her Buccaneers and half her dozen Sea Vixens and take on board the nine reactivated, serviceable Kestrels, and at need, thereafter be tasked to steam at her best speed to join the fight for East Falkland. 
 
    At need… 
 
    Hermes would need time to master the operational realities of operating Kestrels; consequently, ‘at need’ probably encapsulated a contingency that would only be activated in the direst extremity.  One had to be practical about these things.  There was no room for wishful thinking in modern combat and Hermes might as well stay at Leith Harbour until such time as she could efficiently deploy those Kestrels… 
 
    Besides, the Victorious would still not be in theatre for the best part of a fortnight, and inevitably, it would take several more days to ‘wind-up’ her mothballed cargo of thirty or so Kestrels.  Realistically, they might not be ‘in play’ for three to four weeks; there was nothing he could do about that, whereas Hermes ‘at need’ might be in the fight sometime within the next seven to ten days.  By then the Ark and her aircrews would be at the end of their tether, he suspected.  But again, there was nothing he could do about that except get on with it. 
 
    Another message flimsy was delivered. 
 
    The Bulwark’s Wessex Vs had landed the first assault company of 46 Commando on the northern hills overlooking San Carlos Water and Fanning Head was in the hands of the Royal Marines. 
 
    Sporadic resistance encountered… 
 
    Light casualties to date… 
 
    Two helicopters damaged by enemy ground fire… 
 
    The handset on the nearby bulkhead rumbled, demanding attention. 
 
    “Leach speaking!” 
 
    “CIC, sir,” announced the Senior Fleet Staff Operations Officer.  “Liverpool reports enemy resistance on the north shore has ceased.  Liverpool has sustained damage and casualties but is operationally unimpaired.  She has anchored three cables off Doctor Point.” 
 
    “Thank you.” 
 
    The entrance to San Carlos Water was not mined! 
 
    That probably meant nowhere else had been mined either.  It would be a different kettle of fish on land, he suspected if the reports of the raiding parties were to be extrapolated across the other likely lines of advance across East Falkland from west to east.  All roads – such as they were down in this part of the world – led to Stanley-Puerto Argentino. 
 
    Now, if it had been me…I would have mined Falkland Sound in general, and San Carlos Water in particular!  Even if I had ignored everywhere else, here I would have piled the bloody things on top of each other on the sea bed if I had to! 
 
    Another development was that the Intelligence Staff at Fleet Headquarters was opining that Jorge Anaya, the Butcher of Leith Harbour – and other places – had come to the top, much in the fashion of scum in a pond, of the latest bunch of nincompoops, the faction, or whatever, running the ARA.  Nobody could quite work out if he was the sort of chap who was liable to sit out the war in harbour lecturing everybody about how vital it was to maintain the fleet in being; or actually do something unbelievably stupid, for example, like coming out to fight with all guns blazing. 
 
    Henry Leach recollected conversations he had had with James Watkins, USN, who had forsaken the stately comfort of the Ark Royal for the convivial surroundings and good fellowship of Peter Christopher’s ‘battleship’ wardroom to exercise his OLO duties. 
 
    Watkins and Jock Slater, a man whom Leach had met several times – and been impressed with on each occasion – in the last eighteen months, had recounted the salutary experience of the guided missile destroyer USS Lynde McCormick (DDG-8) running rings around an ARA squadron prior to paying a goodwill call on Port Stanley last year. 
 
    ‘Actually, it was a little embarrassing,” Watkins had concluded.  “We conducted the entire exercise in slow-motion; and frankly, if it had been for real, none of the Argentine DDs engaged would have laid a finger on us.  Given that many of the ARA’s officers will have spent time in the US; it must have been humiliating for them…’ 
 
    The trouble was that as anybody who has ever been in a real battle knows, uncannily that something can and often does go wrong.  The same principle that stated ‘no plan survives first contact with the enemy’ was the one that applied, regardless of how inept or anti-diluvian the Intelligence fraternity or certain politicians sitting in front of their hearths at home, had decided the enemy was! 
 
    The loss of the Rhyl – and two-hundred-and twenty-three men, now listed as drowned or missing in action - was painfully fresh in Henry Leach’s mind.  It was likely that she had been torpedoed by a submarine that ought not to have been there.  They had supposedly sunk one submarine off South Georgia and the ARA’s only other old Balao class Second War dinosaurs were supposed to be tied up alongside at Puerto Belgrano! 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 10 
 
      
 
    22:17 Hours 
 
    Camino Xavier Lombardi, Puerto Argentino 
 
    Isla Soledad, Las Malvinas 
 
      
 
    Elena Bonham-Garcia and her two girls – she had quickly come to think of Rosa as if not an honorary daughter, then her ward for the foreseeable future – had soon been joined in the shelter by Francesca Ibarra de Madrid, the wife of the late unlamented, especially by her, Governor of the Malvinas y Territorios del Atlántico Sur.  The women had hugged and exchanged pecking kisses before the newcomer had begun to gush over Elena’s girls.  Which was yet another oddity; prior to her husband’s dismissal and subsequent demise in an air raid, while being transported off the island to the mainland where presumably, a prison cell had awaited him, Francesca, although she had been pleasant enough with her niece, Rosa, had never really been in any way maternal towards the now sixteen-year-old teenager on the cusp of womanhood. 
 
    For Rosa, of all the adjustments in her life in the last few weeks; the death of her uncle, whom she had hardly known and who had had no interest whatsoever in her – and moreover had been contemptuous about her side of the family, whom he regarded as little better than a bunch of parasites – her innocent first-love tryst with Carlos Bonham-Garcia, who had disappeared off on that ill-fated training cruise to Isla San Pedro and fallen into the hands of the British, and then her welcome into the Bonham-Garcia household as if she was a daughter, Lucia’s big sister, perhaps the hardest thing to come to terms with was the change in her Aunt. 
 
    Frankly, the Aunt Francesca she had known back on the mainland had been a complete bitch but the Malvinas seemed to have worked some kind of unholy transformation.  Or possibly, it had more to do with her friendship, which was positively sisterly, with Doña Elena.  Either way, Rosa’s Aunt was a changed woman.  At first Rosa had suspected her Aunt’s changed persona was an act but recanted, finally persuaded by the evidence of the last few days. 
 
    She still believed it was Doña Elena who had brought out the best in her Aunt; but knew now that the two women had been friends even when their husbands were at cross-purposes after the fall of Isla San Pedro.  Long before it became known that Doña Francesca had refused to be repatriated to the mainland with her disgraced husband, - ‘I will not run away like that little weasel!’ – overnight she had been rehabilitated.  She and Doña Elena were pillars of civil society of Puerto Argentino, the leading figures on the Women’s Board overseeing the rationing system, and tireless in their work with the Garrison Families Committee.  In fact, Rosa often wondered how on earth anything would ever get done but for the work of the two women? 
 
    The menfolk were too busy doing soldierly things; and anyway, a lot of husbands had moved out of Puerto Argentino, taking with them their heavy equipment to bolster forward defence posts in the mountains and the coastal emplacements guarding the eastern end of Isla Soledad.  Recognisable military installations within the port-town had been evacuated, or left in the hands of skeleton care and maintenance staffs.  Every day more buildings’ roofs were painted white, and big red crosses daubed across them.  Rosa had no idea if the Governor planned to declare the town a de-militarized zone, and neither Lucia’s Mama or her Aunt had said anything to confirm or deny it but throughout the last few days all the anti-aircraft guns had been hauled out into the Camp, and the majority of the men in uniform remaining in the town were Army or Marine corps military policemen. 
 
    It was damp, and the air chilled as the minutes ticked by. 
 
    Unlike during previous air raid alerts no enemy aircraft had flown over Puerto Argentina.  In fact, apart from a very, very distant roaring of jet engines far to the north which had soon been lost in the wind that gusting fitfully down off the western mountains, the harbinger no doubt of one of the season’s mostly brief storms, the sky had been eerily quiet.  But tonight, was different to all the other nights the women and children had filed into the bomb shelters. 
 
    Vienen los ingleses… 
 
    Because everybody knew that tonight, the English were coming. 
 
    That they had been ‘coming’ for several months, and it was several weeks since they had brutally announced their presence in the South Atlantic at Isla San Pedro with the massacre at Grytviken, and repeatedly bombed and shelled the Cap San Felipe airfield and targets all around the port town, had been one thing.  Now, the English were actually invading Isla Soledad.  No matter that they might be landing over a hundred kilometres away, or that between them and the enemy lay mountains, bogs, and the tussock-grassed wilderness of the Camp; the English were coming and the real battle for Las Malvinas was about to begin. 
 
    Like the other wives and mothers Elena kept a pile of blankets by the door of the residence, insisting her girls wrapped themselves against the cloying chill that always settled in the shelters as the hours passed.  The weather had been unnaturally dry in the last few days so there was hardly any water on the floor of the shelter, that was a mercy. 
 
    On other nights they would not be so lucky. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 11 
 
      
 
    01:20 (GMT) 
 
    Churchill House, Oxford 
 
      
 
    With a sinking heart Admiral Sir Peter Hill Norton knew exactly where the conversation was going and guessed, although the Prime Minister’s previous demeanour had betrayed little or no concern, that when President Brenckmann hung up, he was going to have a daunting and, in many ways, impossible to answer question put to him.  However, for the moment the First Sea Lord understood that his role in the night’s drama was simply to sit, and listen until such time as he was invited to speak. 
 
    The Resolute Desk… 
 
    All cadets learned of the fate of HMS Resolute, trapped and abandoned in the ice of Melville Sound in 1854 while searching for Franklin’s lost ships, which had gone missing searching for the fabled North West Passage.  The Resolute had been discovered drifting in the Davis Strait a year later, salved by the whaleship George Henry to serve another two decades under the White Ensign.  Broken up at Chatham in 1879-80, in reciprocation for the return of the vessel by the US Government in 1855, oak timbers from the old ship had been saved so that Queen Victoria could present the then President, Rutherford B. Hayes, with a half-ton, partner’s desk as a symbol of thanks and fellowship between the two countries. 
 
    For much of its life the desk had been either in the President’s office, or his study, although when the White House was rebuilt during the Truman Administration it had gone into storage, and when recovered, been placed in the Studio Room, from which Dwight Eisenhower had made his addresses to the nation.  Prior to that, FDR had had the table modified; but in the way of these things, the requested kneeboard to hide his leg braces, was not actually fitted until the last year of his life. 
 
    Legend had it that Jacqui Kennedy had found the old desk forgotten in a storage room in 1961 and that it had been her decision to have it re-installed in the Oval Office, where it had remained ever since. 
 
    “Let it never be said, or thought,” President Brenckmann was saying, “that the United States does not stand ready to support, in all possible ways, its friends.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord’s heart sank. 
 
    “Perish the thought,” Margaret Thatcher observed enthusiastically, presumably electing to see a ray of light where in fact, there was none.  Leastways, not light emanating from a part of the electro-magnetic spectrum visible to the human eye. 
 
    It was the Foreign Secretary’s polite cough over the conference speaker in the middle of the Cabinet Table that presaged a return to reality. 
 
    “Forgive me.  If we are remembering comradeship, good fellowship and acts of unity long past, things must be about to get somewhat bloody, Mister President?”  This he remarked with a rueful half-smile in his voice. 
 
    “That would not be the way I’d choose to describe it, Tom,” Walter Brenckmann retorted, his tone similarly, albeit sadly wry as if to say: ‘We’re all grown-ups; we know how this works.’ 
 
    The First Sea Lord could tell that the Prime Minister was straining at the leash, trembling like a volcano that was ready to erupt.  Granted, she must have known that at some point Washington would be obliged to look to its own interests; perhaps, she had not imagined that moment would arrive at such a key juncture in the course of OPERATION SOMERVILLE, certainly not when GRANDSTAND was kicking off. 
 
    Peter Hill Norton was of the view that she ought not to have been surprised and he seriously doubted if Tom Harding-Grayson had, for a single minute, sugar-coated the pill for his friend and Prime Minister. 
 
    Hill Norton’s own contacts in the USN had been warning him that the writing was on the wall ever since the re-taking of South Georgia.  The ease with which, and the apparent brutality of that short, sharp campaign had concluded, had reverberated throughout Latin America and was beginning to echo around Capitol Hill.  Suddenly, Main Street America was glimpsing visions of a bloodbath on East Falkland carried out, in the main, with US-supplied ships and aircraft. 
 
    “Our position has always been,” Walter Brenckmann continued, “that the Argentine seizure of the islands in the South Atlantic was a prima facie breach of international law and cannot be allowed to stand.  Further to this, it has always been my Administration’s stated policy that the Falkland Islands’ dispute, as with other pressing international matters, ought to be resolved peacefully…” 
 
    “The bloody Argentines will not negotiate, Walter!”  The Prime Minister objected tartly. 
 
    “They have not negotiated in good faith yet,” her friend agreed. 
 
    There was a terse silence. 
 
    “Margaret,” the President said, having reluctantly concluded that sweet reason was not going to cut it.  “There is no meaningful international consensus supporting the lawfulness of the declared Total Air and Maritime Exclusion Zones around the Falkland Islands.  Therefore, if your surface ships, aircraft or SSNs attack ARA vessels not self-evidently about to or in the process of attacking your military assets at sea, in the air or on the land, it is likely that the United Kingdom will be acting outside the norms of accepted international law.  We,” he let the pronoun hang in the air, before correcting himself, just so there could be absolutely no misunderstanding, “I,” he emphasised, “cannot support that.  Either privately, in any way confidentially, or publicly.  I believe you once told one of my predecessors that in some situations, one had to draw a line in the sand,” he sighed, “well, just so there can be no misunderstanding, this is my line in the sand.” 
 
    Peter Hill Norton became aware of a horrible silence. 
 
    He blinked at his Prime Minister, who, for her part, was just staring, aghast, at the speakerphone on her desk. 
 
    The First Sea Lord knew she must be remembering that awful day in July 1964 when she and Jack Kennedy had faced off in the aftermath of the destruction of the Centaur and her escorting frigates in the Persian Gulf.  Within forty-eight hours of that disaster the USS Kitty Hawk and her seemingly invincible battle group had been shattered and thousands of men were dead… 
 
    He told himself that this was not 1964; but still there was a chill of apprehension in his soul. 
 
    “We are already committed,” Margaret Thatcher said with quiet dignity.  She looked to the First Sea Lord.  “Peter,” she murmured, “if you would speak to the tactical situation, please?” 
 
    “Very good, Prime Minister,” the First Sea Lord responded, skilfully concealing his roiling emotions.  “Might I proceed, Mister President?”  He inquired, respectfully. 
 
    “Carry on, Admiral.” 
 
    “You will know that the ARA’s Southern Group, a force comprising several cruisers and miscellaneous smaller escorts, has sortied from Ushuaia.  Currently, this squadron is marked by HMS Warspite.  The ARA’s Northern Group, including both their Essex class carriers with as many as a hundred warplanes embarked, including, possibly several A-4 Skyhawks and escorted by at least two cruisers and several DDs and frigates, is assembling in Puerto Belgrano Roads, presumably with a view to putting to sea in the next twenty-four hours, forming the northern jaw of a pincer closing on the Falklands.  Currently, the Valiant is patrolling off Puerto Belgrano.  SITREP digests having been shared with the USN in real time as per OLO protocols; this being the case, you will be aware that Conqueror was forced off station at the mouth of the River Plate by serious mechanical issues.  You will also be apprised of the status of the Hermes and that her unavailability for standard fixed-wing flight operations means that we are heavily reliant on our screening SSNs…” 
 
    “I get it,” Walter Brenckmann confirmed.  “Jack and I have lost a lot of sleep over this, Admiral.” 
 
    The one man that Peter Hill Norton did not want to get into an arm-wrestle with was Jack McCain, the Second War submarine ace and Cold War ‘Mister Sea Power’ of the Pentagon! 
 
    When nobody else interjected, the President unilaterally determined to reset the terms of the discussion. 
 
    “Okay, there are things we are not going to agree about tonight.  Trust me, I know that and I respect it.  The bottom line is that we are all friends on this call.  However, I’ll tell you this straight, no messing.  If your SSNs attack any ARA ship not already defensively engaged by your forces it amounts to unrestricted submarine warfare on the high seas.  The United States cannot and will not support that.  I know this has been chewed over between us before; certainly, at senior OLO level.  Dammit, we established that liaison system to avoid ever having to have this sort of conversation!” 
 
    It was unlike Walter Brenckmann to allow testiness to surface, let alone anger.  Instantly, he was back in control of his temper. 
 
    “Margaret, I told you that this isn’t the Mediterranean, or France or the Gulf War all over again.  That was still World War Three, just like Korea was for us.  What you’ve got in the South Atlantic is not all-out total war; it is a territorial dispute between you – and some of us elsewhere in the world who still believe in the rule of international law – and a fascist dictatorship over an archipelago mainly inhabited by sheep.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord watched the Prime Minister. 
 
    He did not doubt that the President, and many of her closest advisers had told her this in recent months; the problem was that she just had not listened. 
 
    “We were with you every step of the way,” Walter Brenckmann continued, coolly collected again, “with sending off the Task Force.  We were with you in your right to re-take South Georgia, the Argentine has never had a legitimate claim to it, or to the South Sandwich Islands.  But dammit, I’ve got historians in DC who tell me that even we, in these United States have a substantive claim to sovereignty over the Falklands.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord would have voiced an objection to this in any other arena.  True, the USS Lexington had visited East Falkland in 1831, rooting out a nest of pirates, prompting both British and Argentine (although there was no such thing as modern Argentina in those days) attempts to reassert dominion in 1832 and 1833. 
 
    “This is not just about those islands, Margaret,” the President said, clearly weary of belabouring the point.   “My Administration has problems over islands a lot closer to home.  Cuba, for example.  The US Navy is all that is holding the line in the Mediterranean and the Persian Gulf, in the latter case mainly guarding British sovereign interests in Iran and Arabia which American taxpayers think they ought to have a piece of.  And while we’re on the subject, it is the Seventh Fleet that’s holding the line in South East Asia and the Pacific protecting all those Commonwealth islands in the middle of nowhere, and Australasia from Indonesian Communist aggression.  And have you thought what happens next if you destroy the ARA and Chile decides now would be a good time to settle all those century-old territorial disputes with its neighbour?” 
 
    Peter Hill Norton’s ears were burning; he could only imagine what the Lady was thinking. 
 
    The President had not finished. 
 
    “JFK once tried to hold a gun to your head, Margaret.  He threatened to cut off humanitarian aid; that is not going to happen whatever you do in the South Atlantic.  No Administration of mine will cut credit lines or institute civil sanctions against British interests that would see people starving in the Old Country.  However, if you start torpedoing ARA ships going about their lawful business in international waters, in this regard we will allow the twelve - not the universally recognised three-mile - limit to be our yardstick, or bombing targets on the Argentine mainland, or directly targeting the leadership of the Junta, then all military support for the British Government will cease indefinitely.” 
 
    “Walter,” the Prime Minister appealed, shutting her mouth in the next moment. 
 
    “And that,” the President said with a heavy heart, “is what I plan to tell the American people.  Tomorrow evening, I will address the nation appealing for an immediate ceasefire in the South Atlantic pending the arrival of a US Peacekeeping Task Force within the next thirty days.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 12 
 
      
 
    01:25 Hours (GMT) 22:25 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Warspite, 55 degrees South 
 
      
 
    Captain Max Forton felt fit to burst into song.  Which, had he stopped to think about it, was odd.  He was, after all the commanding officer of a four-thousand-two-hundred-ton nuclear-powered hunter-killer submarine operating in hostile waters over eight thousand miles from home, earnestly contemplating which enemy cruiser to sink first. 
 
    Like any apex predator he knew, pragmatically, he ought to pick off the hindmost prey, in this case the aging, and from the fact she was struggling to keep up with the other ships of the ARA’s Southern Strike Group, increasingly decrepit, La Argentina.  However, unlike a Lion roaming the Serengeti, he was not overly worried about bringing down a big beast for his supper; he was thinking more in terms of wiping out the whole herd and that meant, ideally, he needed to stop the other ships scattering to all points of the compass.  This meant that there was a strong case for overhauling the leading ship and sinking it first; hopefully driving the survivors back towards the mainland, preventing them escaping into the lee of the forty-mile-long Isla de los Estados, the easternmost cape of which was presently passing some fifteen miles to port. 
 
    Strictly speaking, his hands were still tied. 
 
    So, he had had an inordinately long time to think about how to proceed.  He had learned from Simon Collingwood that it often helped to open such questions up for – albeit closely confined – debate among his command team.  He, his executive officer, thirty-three-year-old Lieutenant Commander Timothy ‘Tim’ Dunbar-Naismith, the boat’s pilot – Navigation officer - and torpedo officer had stood around the Control Room plot, as Warspite held position approximately four miles behind La Argentina as she clanked and rumbled eastward at fourteen knots, sounding very much like a ‘great big bag of nuts and bolts’ to the men manning the hydrophones, briefly gaming the tactical situation.  Topsides, it was blowing force six, gusting to force nine and the seas, stirred by the storms of Tierra del Fuego were short and cruel, threatening to break over the old cruiser’s quarterdeck. 
 
    The brains trust around the plot had been on one mind; sink the hindmost ship first, driving the others to the east, farther from their mainland bases and then, as they dealt with the storm raging on the surface, employ the boat’s vastly superior speed and mobility to hunt each victim down in turn.  There was nowhere for the Argentine ships to run, nowhere to hide and Warspite, capable of twenty-seven or eight knots submerged could easily run-down surface ships slowed to a crawl by the storm. 
 
    In passing, the men around the plot table remarked on the apparent lack of tactical acuity of their foes.  Not in a derisive way, simply making didactic professional observations about how, had roles been reversed, they might have played the game thus far. 
 
    Max Forton could not for the life of him, understand why the Argentines had not opted to steam directly north through the relatively sheltered seventeen-mile-wide channel – Le Maire Strait - between the mainland and the western tip of Isla de los Estados.  There were mountains over two thousand feet high on that archipelago, and for most of the last three or four hours the ragtag fleet would have been steaming in the comparatively calm waters of the lee of the land.  In olden days, sailors had avoided the waters east of St John Cape overlooking Le Maire Strait for fear of its powerful, unpredictable currents but navigation presented none of the hazards for modern ships it had for the crews of old-time clippers steeling themselves to tack around Cape Horn. 
 
    He glanced at the bulkhead chronometers. 
 
    Any time now the signal should come in. 
 
    His present rules of engagement still forbade him to attack – without warning – enemy warships outside the two-hundred-mile TAMEZ.  For vessels operating to the west of the Falklands Archipelago that was measured as being two-hundred miles from a point on the chart located just north of the Fox Bay Settlement on West Falkland.  That was about to change; everything changed when the first troops, excluding the special forces raiders and scouts who had been coming and going as they pleased for most of the last three or four years, went ashore on either of the two main islands. 
 
    Once the invasion started the gloves came off! 
 
    Max Forton forced himself not to check the chronometer again. 
 
    They were streaming the aerial; they ought to have received the general ‘weapons free’ war order by now.  Perhaps, there was an atmospheric problem.  If so, another ship or shore station would relay the message.  That would build-in a thirty- to sixty-minute delay. 
 
    “Take us down to one-five-zero feet, if you please!” 
 
    It was hard work holding the boat at periscope depth in these seas. 
 
    As soon as the expected alterations to his rules of engagement were received, he had decided that the La Argentina would be sunk first.  Always do what one’s enemy wants one to do the least: so, he would block their way home.  Thereafter, the hunt would begin in earnest.  Even in flat calm weather he doubted any of the ARA ships could sustain more than twenty-two or three knots; Warspite would soon overhaul them… 
 
    If the sea state remained unchanged, he was probably going to have to rely on his trusty Mark 8 Mod 4 torpedoes.  In their first incarnation they had gone to sea with the Fleet as long ago as the late 1920s, and been the mainstay of the Submarine Service in the Second War.  With modifications, the type remained the most reliable heavyweight fish in the Navy’s arsenal.  Weighing in at over one-and-a-half tons, nearly twenty-two feet long with an 805-pound Torpex warhead each one was an out and out ship-killer, always assuming one got close enough to power one of the trusty old missiles into the side of one’s target.  Theoretically, a Mark 8 had a range of four miles – about 7,000 yards – at its lower power setting, and a little shy of three miles at maximum speed, around forty-five knots; but Max Forton planned to get in a lot closer than that! 
 
    Warspite had six 21-inch torpedo tubes, all in her bow and the capacity to carry twenty-four fish.  On this patrol she was equipped with sixteen Mark 8 Mod 3s and 4s fitted with combination impact/magnetic detonators, and eight Mark 20 S Mod 62 homing torpedoes. 
 
    These latter were the one torpedo in the Royal Navy’s armoury that had been significantly developed and upgraded, incorporating wire-guidance and a new active-passive sonar homing system since the October War, hence its ‘Mod 62’ designator.  Only running at about half the speed of the Mark 8, it was a stealth precision weapon rather than a blunderbuss, bearing only a 196-pound warhead.  However, exploding beneath a large ship’s keel it would be every bit as lethal as a Mark 8 slamming into the side of a battleship! 
 
    Presently, tubes 1 to 4 were loaded with Mark 8s, and number 5 and 6 with Mark 20s.  To Max Forton’s way of think that seemed like a nice balance! 
 
    The hunt would be all the sweeter for the wait. 
 
    The Argentines had straggled out of the Beagle Channel sounding loudly several hours ago; with Warspite surreptitiously manoeuvring, first to within about two thousand yards of a frigate struggling to hold station.  The lead ship, whose unmistakeable balanced silhouette identified her as one of the two old Cleveland class light cruisers transferred to the Argentine by the Nixon Administration, had zigzagged ahead of the other ships. 
 
    She was likely the Santissima Trinidad (the ex-USS Amsterdam, CL-101), her sister, the Hercules (the ex-USS Wilkes-Barre, CL-103), was believed to be laid-up at Puerto Belgrano.  The ships had been transferred to the ARA during the US’s shameless post-Operation Southern Justice rapprochement of 1965-66.  Those ships, like the last two unmodernised Essex class carriers in Christendom handed over to the ARA at around the same time, might otherwise have been scrapped by now. 
 
    The Clevelands had always been a little top heavy even before war experience in the Pacific necessitated a drastic upgrading and up-gunning of their anti-aircraft batteries.  That had forced the Americans to rip out a lot of weight topsides, to skimp on armour above the waterline, and generally compromise what otherwise were very robust, and in most other ways, respectable ‘big’ light cruiser hulls.  Well-handled, those ships could be Hell on wheels in a surface action.  For example, on paper, well-handled two of them ought easily to be able to ‘mob’ even a big beast like the Liverpool, assuming they could get within range.  Although, that was never going to happen because either Warspite was going to torpedo them, Ark Royal’s Buccaneers were going to eat them for breakfast or the Channel Fleet’s champion gunnery ship was going to shoot them to pieces before they laid a finger on the old Baltimore class heavy cruiser. 
 
    If the Cleveland class cruiser was the Santissima Trinidad; the other big ship could only be the General Belgrano, visibly older, angular, her lines spoiled by the third turret forward of her superstructure.  She was the former USS Phoenix (CL-46), a survivor of Pearl Harbour, a pre-Second War Brooklyn class light cruiser built to the strictures of the Washington Naval Treaty limiting her displacement to only 10,000 tons.  All ship designs were compromises but those ‘Treaty’ ships were often under-protected, or over-armed for their tonnage and offered little scope for extensive modernisation later in their careers. 
 
    The Warspite’s captain settled in his command chair. 
 
    Gallingly, in the war to date, twice he had had Argentine cruisers in the cross-hairs of his attack periscope; and both times, off South Georgia and again, off West Falkland he had been called off but soon he planned to make up for lost time. 
 
    Minutes ticked by. 
 
    He began to mull the broader tactical picture, running scenarios through his head.  His initial reaction when he realised that the entire ARA Southern Group, every single ship hiding at Ushuaia had emerged from the Magellan Strait had been…surprise.  If only because it spoke to an aggressive intent not previously observed in his foes.  He understood the logic of the General Belgrano, which had hidden away in San Carlos Water for a while, and her screening destroyers running for the shelter of the waters around Tierra del Fuego before the Task Force arrived to block both ends of Falkland Sound.  There was a logic to that.  However, that the Santissima Trinidad and La Argentina, which had been ideally placed to interdict OPERATION LEITH, the re-taking of South Georgia, had turned down the opportunity to go two-to-one against the Liverpool, had well, appalled him.  If those two ships, escorted by several destroyers, had got their act together – and found a little spine from somewhere – they might conceivably have engaged the old Baltimore class cruiser under advantageous conditions, trapping her or commencing the fight against a lee shore or within the confines of the Cumberland Bay. Who knew how that might have turned out?  A British commander in the place of whoever was in charge of those ARA ships would have been court-martialled the moment he stepped ashore for declining battle under such advantageous circumstances.  Not least because that failure to engage had had dire consequences.  Shortly afterwards, the Liverpool had levelled Grytviken and South Georgia had fallen within a day.  Since then, the self-same ship the ARA had had the chance to knock out of the fight had participated in several bombardment missions against targets in and around the Stanley-Cape Pembroke sector of East Falkland, and presumably, about now was, battering her way into San Carlos Water, clearing the way for the big assault ships, Fearless and Intrepid to get the invasion under way! 
 
    Oh, well, the blighters had had their chance and fluffed their lines.  Right now, those old cruisers belonged to Warspite… 
 
    He came to a decision. 
 
    Much though he would have preferred to have completed the paper trail before he went about his business, it was clear that the General War Order was almost certainly tied up in the peculiar atmospheric conditions of the Southern Ocean.  He would leave it to Fleet HQ to tidy up the niceties later.  In the meantime, he had all the authority he needed to get on with the war. 
 
    Specifically, a little over twenty-four hours ago he had been ordered to commence operations against enemy naval forces at 01:00 Hours GMT this day, and that time had come and gone.  He would have been justified in waiting for the confirming executive command sometime in the last few hours but actually, that was just a formality. 
 
    He turned to his executive officer: “Number One, please confirm receipt of the execution command to proceed with OPERATION GRANDSTAND.” 
 
    “I copy and confirm that, sir!” 
 
    “Very good.  That signal having been confirmed at,” he hesitated, glanced at the Pilot. 
 
    “Twelve hundred hours GMT Zulu this day, sir.” 
 
    “Thank you, at noon today GMT, effective immediately, having been authenticated in the normal way, Warspite will operate accordingly.  Therefore, in the absence of further communications from Fleet HQ, we will proceed on the basis that the Task Force Rules of Engagement have altered as per the OPERATION GRANDSTAND execution order previously received.” 
 
    Max Forton’s teeth flashed momentarily as his expression became predatory and around him the very air in the Control Room seemed to tingle with electricity. 
 
    He looked to his second-in-command. 
 
    “Number One,” he drawled laconically, “Warn the torpedo room to engage the enemy.  Check status of the Mark 8s in tubes 1 to 4, and run pre-launch diagnostics on the Type 20s in Tubes 5 and 6, if you please!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 13 
 
      
 
    22:50 Hours 
 
    ARA Veinticinco de Mayo, Bahia Blanco. off Puerto Rosales 
 
      
 
    One of the many things which had struck, and soon begun to irritate and then increasingly vex Juan Bonham-Garcia on his return from LDSO training with the US Navy in Florida, was the ARA’s lackadaisical, frankly disorganised command group and operational planning protocols.  Too often, such conclaves turned into rambling, disjointed sessions at which the senior officer in the room instead of co-ordinating, spent most of the time talking about what he thought should happen, and rehearsing his excuses and identifying the officers and men he was going to blame if it all went wrong.  Basically, there seemed to be only lip-service to the concept that brave and warlike words did not compensate for lack of competence, or the patience to get the one-hundred-and-one small things – the details – that real navies, like the USN and the Royal Navy, understood to be the fundamental secret of success. 
 
    Practically everything to do with OPERATION RIVADAVIA was wholly reliant upon hoping for the best and an implicit expectation that the enemy would be fast asleep for the next seventy-two hours. 
 
    Jorge Anaya, having marched aboard his Flagship with no little fanfare minutes before the tugs had begun to edge her out of the main basin, had subsequently gone into hiding, and thereafter, everything had seemed to be happening at a snail’s pace. 
 
    The semi-operational Hercules, a Cleveland class sister ship of the Santissima Trinidad, had crawled out into the main channel and anchored an hour before high tide but no attempt had been made by the Nuevo de Julio, an even older ship, the former Brooklyn class light cruiser USS Boise (CL-47), which had belatedly raised steam, to join the Veinticinco de Mayo and the Hercules at anchor in the estuary downstream.  Likewise, the Indepencia II, which had been moored inboard of the Flagship in the tidal basin of the Puerto Belgrano Naval Base, had remained in harbour, awaiting the next flood tide meaning that the Northern Strike Group would not be able to sail until later that evening, or tomorrow morning. 
 
    That the squadron was incapable of leaving port on a single tide spoke volumes for the ARA’s lack of basic ship-handling experience, and the state of repair of the individual ships, several of which were manned by three-quarters green conscripts and reluctant reservists.  Morale was so low that rumour had it that heavily armed guards had been at every gangway and patrols had been scouring the town and the countryside around it searching for deserters even as the Veinticinco de Mayo cast off. 
 
    OPERATION RIVADAVIA required both the Southern and the Northern Groups to steam east, remaining outside the British Total Air and Maritime Exclusion Zones, awaiting news of the British fleet’s dispositions, before moving at their best speed to approach the Malvinas archipelago in a ‘pincer movement’ designed to ‘bind the main part of the enemy fleet’ to coastal waters in defence of the northern and southern approaches to the Estrecho de San Carlos to protect its already landed invasion force.  Apparently, the idea was to hit the British at the moment they were, theoretically, at their most vulnerable; notwithstanding, every instinct screamed that this was the moment that they would be at their most alert to danger. 
 
    Every available seagoing vessel in the ARA was to participate in OPERATION RIVADAVIA.  The British ‘submarine menace’ was largely discounted.  Or rather, denied because there was nothing anybody could do about it.  The sinking of the first Indepencia in 1964 had proved that, conclusively! 
 
    In any event, the Indepencia II’s, the Nuevo de Julio’s, La Argentina’s and if necessary, the Hercules’s main value to OPERATION RIVADAVIA was going to be as ‘decoys’; although it was unclear how the three thousand men on board those ships felt about that, or if anybody had let them in on the secret.  Probably not, Juan guessed, since there had been no reports of mutiny as yet.  The key ‘operational concept’ was that their ‘gallant sacrifice’ would ‘preserve’ the Veinticinco de Mayo, the General Belgrano, and hopefully the Santissima Trinidad long enough - and any of the other smaller vessels which escaped the ‘submarine blockade’ - to get to grips with and to do harm to, at least one part of the British armada. 
 
    Rather optimistically, belying her primary role as a ‘decoy’ the Indepencia II was supposed to fly off her ad hoc air group, which, as if by magic, would in unison with the Flagship’s air wing, contrive to mount a single, overwhelming strike on at least one of the enemy aircraft carriers.  Between them, the two ARA carriers might be able to put as many as sixty or seventy – mainly Second War-vintage - aircraft into the air, two to three times the number of faster, modern aircraft that either the Ark Royal or the Hermes could launch against them. 
 
    Juan recollected a staff college lecture in which the topic was ‘the significance of morale’, in which the instructor had spoken of the German High Command’s decision in November 1918 to attempt to send the High Seas Fleet out into the North Sea to confront the mighty British Grand Fleet.  Understandably, the men of the High Seas Fleet had had less than patriotic sentiments about the prospect of one final ‘death ride’ to assuage the ‘honour’ of a bunch of idiots back in Berlin, who had come to the conclusion that the only option left was to bet the house on Red 13! 
 
    Unsurprisingly, the High Seas Fleet had mutinied. 
 
    The great men of the Argentine Republic had learned at least one lesson of history.  Submachinegun-toting troopers guarded the gangways, ready most likely, to storm on board the ships of the Northern Group at the first hint of trouble, and a good number of the same thugs had sailed with each of the ships of the Northern Strike Group. 
 
    It was apparent to Juan – and if he could tell as much, he had little doubt many of the more senior officers on the carrier knew it also - that Admiral Anaya and the tactical realities of the ARA’s situation were not in any sense, intimately acquainted with each other.  The enemy had nuclear submarines and McDonnell Douglas Mach 2 Phantoms; their ships were manned by professionals, the ARA had old ships, decoys and a Flagship hosting a pack of propagandists larger than the Fleet Planning Staff but the thing that most irked Juan was that somebody, surely, had decided it was a good idea to advertise the fact that the Veinticinco de Mayo had – with those A-4B Skyhawks prominently parked on her bow – real teeth.  Surely, in a sane world, wooden mock ups of those aircraft could have been placed on the Indepencia II’s deck, while the flagship’s most potent weapons were stowed safely, invisibly below? 
 
    Which carrier was supposed to be the decoy again? 
 
    Juan wondered how seriously the English, with their Nelsonian traditions and recent hard-won warfighting experience took the ARA.  From a distance the ARA must seem to them like a Ruritanian farce, he imagined. 
 
    The Piedrabuena and the Azopardo, two twelve-hundred-ton frigates built by the Astillero Naval Dockyard at Santiago, had anchored beyond the Hercules.  They were ships ordered as long ago as 1940 but only commissioned in the 1950s long after they were obsolete, general purpose frigates only in that they had a very limited anti-submarine capability as well as carrying 4-inch, 40- and 20-millimetre guns.  The ships were so antiquated that they still had their original 1940s-vintage ‘Hedgehog’ ASW mortar launchers sonar equipment; moreover, with a best speed of less than twenty knots neither ship was fast enough to keep up with the Veinticinco de Mayo when she worked up to twenty-five plus knots to conduct flight deck operations. 
 
    The rest of the flagship’s ‘screen’ was hardly any more impressive.  Patrolling the mouth of the Bahia Blanco were the minesweepers Robinson and Granville, four-hundred-and-fifty-ton ships armed with 40-millimetre cannons; vessels launched in the later 1930s which had wheezed unhappily out to sea with their pumps working overtime, supposedly to ‘deter’ British submarines from reconnoitring the approaches to Puerto Belgrano.  The ARA had almost sold the Granville to Peru in 1963. 
 
    Standing out to sea was the destroyer Entre Rios, a fourteen-hundred-ton near copy of her pre-Second War British contemporaries, built by Vickers-Armstrong at Barrow-in-Furness in 1937-38. 
 
    Back in the outer basin the República, a Canadian-built Flower class corvette which had been sold to the Argentine in 1946 – more or less for her scrap price – which had been rusting forgotten in the Reserve for several years had been trying to raise steam as the Veinticinco de Mayo passed her.  It was likely that her ancient triple-expansion engine had not turned over for so long that it had seized up… 
 
    Details, details… 
 
    Details were where hope and reality collided. 
 
    Sadly, Vice Admiral Jorge Anaya did not seem to have any kind of grasp for detail.  Political officers tended not to, which was why they were so dangerous at sea.  That much was readily apparent within the first minute of the OPERATION RIVADAVIA briefing.  In a real navy at least one of the senior officers in the compartment, the carrier’s Ward Room, would have coughed politely, respectfully, and started asking for clarification of one or more of the general, ludicrously optimistic clauses spilling from the Fleet Commander’s lips.  Needless, this did not happen.  Instead, the men around Juan either did not understand the problem – unlikely, because Juan knew that there were good men in the room – or they understood that Anaya would be deaf to reason. 
 
    Or that, at least, was what Juan was afraid of as the conference proceeded right up until the Veinticinco de Mayo’s CAG elbowed him in the ribs. 
 
    “Back me up, son,” he said gruffly as he stuck up his right arm. 
 
    The flagship’s Combat Air Group Commander, Commander Martin Bauer, was a lean, balding man his mid-forties who had learned his trade, as had Juan, on board US carriers.  He was a survivor of the torpedoing of the original Indepencia back in 1964 and everybody knew that he planned to be in the first Skyhawk that blasted off the Veinticinco de Mayo if and when, the Northern Strike Group got within range of the enemy. 
 
    Juan guessed that it was ‘the German’, as Bauer, the great grandson of European emigres, who must have put if not the first, then at least the second and third knives into Adolfo Griezmann’s back prior to his own summons to the War Room.  This was a not unreasonable assumption, given that Bauer and his fliers’ lives depended on the competence of the LDSO operation. 
 
    “Sir!”  Bauer observed respectfully as all eyes turned to him.  “I don’t give a shit about cruising stations, squadron standing orders about which flags ships ought to be hoisting, I just need somebody to tell me how this ship can get close enough to the English so my boys can sink them and still have a fifty-fifty chance of getting back to mother!” 
 
    Anaya was scowling his annoyance, not immediately working out that when Bauer said ‘mother’ he was actually talking about the Veinticinco de Mayo. 
 
    “So far all I’ve heard is strategy.  None of that is going to happen until somebody starts talking about tactics,” Bauer complained.  “This ship does not have big enough catapults to launch most of my aircraft.  We’re going to have to find a strong wind and steam into it with all the taps open if you want my kites to get off the deck carrying bombs and torpedoes.  If that is going to happen in twenty-four hours, or forty-eight hours, or whatever, I need to be hearing what the fleet meteorological officer has to say about it.  And,” he added sarcastically, “somebody needs to light a fire under the asses of the Hangar Deck crew to start sorting out the fucking ordnance we’re going to need right now!” 
 
    Anaya was looking at the carrier’s CAG like a snake undecided as to when to bare his fangs and strike. 
 
    “This briefing,” Bauer went on, angrily, “ought to be being run by my people because everything else we’ve been talking about is irrelevant.  I don’t give a shit about the Honour of the Navy or our glorious fucking historical destiny; all I’m interested in is fighting the fucking war!  Don’t you people realise that most of us are going to die out there?” 
 
    This Bauer said waving his arm to the east where the broad sweep of the Atlantic awaited them. 
 
    “For fuck’s sake; let’s make it mean something!” 
 
    The Veinticinco de Mayo’s CAG sat down. 
 
    Juan was on his feet before he knew what he was doing. 
 
    He was rather more circumspect, diffident in fact. 
 
    “Respectfully, sir,” he muttered.  Added: “Sirs,” because everybody in the compartment was at least one and mostly two ranks or more his senior, “we are going to have a lot of trouble launching all our aircraft.  The crew has never exercised with a full air group on board.  Everything will take longer than it should; and if we attempt to improvise in the middle of a battle well,” he shrugged, “I don’t think, with all respect, the crew of this ship is up to it.  I need to know which aircraft, carrying which ordnance will be on my flight deck.  Commander Bauer will tell me what order he wants his aircraft to get airborne, then I’ll work with him to make it happen.  The cruisers and destroyers just need to lay their guns on a target, or simply steam towards the sound of the guns.  What happens on this ship, and the Indepencia II is, well, more…complicated.” 
 
    A part of him did not believe that he was having to explain this to these people.  But he knew that many of the men in the Ward Room did not get it, they had no better an understanding of the basics of carrier operations than his little sister Lucia, bless her… 
 
    Bauer was on his feet again. 
 
    “We get one shot at this, sir,” he reminded Anaya, whose coterie of staff officers were squirming in abject impotence in the background.  “We have to get close enough, and we have to get as many aircraft in the air as possible and swarm the enemy’s defences.  The object of the exercise is to sink the English aircraft carriers before they sink ours.  We’ve been talking about anti-submarine tactics, zigzagging and all that shit.  That’s a waste of time, all we can do is have aircraft in the air around the fleet keeping the English SSNs’ from putting up their attack periscopes and pray, because with the crappy sonars and hydrophones equipping our escorts, they aren’t going to detect a nuclear submarine unless they collide with one!” 
 
    Juan had put forward a similar suggestion about mounting patrols using the T-28s – which had longer endurance than the ship’s F4U Corsairs – on anti-submarine patrols during the hours of daylight, to Adolfo Griezmann, who had scoffed contemptuously at the idea. 
 
    Jorge Anaya, scowling darkly, called a halt to the conference shortly afterwards. 
 
    “With me!”  Martin Bauer growled, taking Juan aside. 
 
    The two men went onto the hangar deck. 
 
    “We’re fucked if we don’t get killed in the next few days,” the older man warned Juan. 
 
    “I planned to resign my commission when, if we get back,” the younger man shrugged. 
 
    Bauer grinned, shook his head. 
 
    “Look, Captain Herrera is a good sort.  He’d be running this show if he was political.  I don’t think Anaya has a clue; all that shit about death or glory…  He doesn’t get it that the only way this is going to work is if we charge straight at the English, no pissing about, launch everything we’ve got and hope that we hit their carriers.  If they lose their carriers; they lose the war.  They know that, we know that.  Nothing else matters.”  His angst dissipating, Bauer sobered.  “It’s a complete fuck-up,” he sighed before counter-intuitively, brightening.  “Still, as I learned a long time ago, any crash that doesn’t kill you is a good one!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 14 
 
      
 
    01:40 Hours (GMT) 22:40 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Liverpool, San Carlos Water 
 
      
 
    The cruiser’s Executive Officer, Commander Adam Canning came to the bridge to make his abbreviated report.  The indications were that a number of either 3- or 4-inch rounds, possibly anti-tank solid shot had clanged off the Liverpool’s armoured port flank at oblique angles causing relatively little damage.  It was likely that virtually all the ship’s casualties had been caused by two direct hits by 76-millimetre mortar rounds, and the scores of 40- and 20-millimetre cannon shells striking the ship on or above the weather deck level.  Needless to say, the cruiser had given a lot better than she got and the duel between her 8-inch rifles and the smaller calibre weapons onshore had not lasted long. 
 
    “Two dead, three other men seriously wounded and a dozen with minor injuries.  Splinters mostly,” Canning reported.  “Number 7 Bofors mount and a two of the 20-millimetre stands took hits.  The twin 40-millimetre is unrepairable, the twenties will be back in operation shortly.” 
 
    The ship had been so close inshore that at least two heavy machine guns had peppered her bridge, thankfully resulting in no casualties but parting several electrical lines and damaging externally routed cabling conduits, all of which were in the process of being patched or re-directed as Peter Christopher heard out his second-in-command. 
 
    Liverpool had dropped a bow anchor and was holding position and her relative orientation – broadside on – to the northern shore of the anchorage with periodic slow turns of her outer shafts as the tide tugged at her sixteen-thousand-ton deadweight. 
 
    “Very good,” he acknowledged.  He quickly updated the other man on the evolving tactical situation.  “I’ve despatched Berwick out into the Sound to escort Fearless into the anchorage and down to Ajax Bay.  Perth will do the same job off Fanning Island with the Intrepid once 46 Commando signal the north shore is secured.  In the meantime, A and B turrets are trained on the ground west of San Carlos Settlement.  C turret is covering the southern sector.  Dunfermline is scouting as far south as safe navigation allows.  Inverness is holding station half-a-cable off our starboard stern quarter.” 
 
    HMS Inverness was the only one of Liverpool’s four escorting Fletcher class destroyers to have been directly engaged during the initial, short, vicious firefight.  A medium calibre round had struck her forward and exited the ship through a vacant berthing compartment without exploding, and shrapnel from 20-millimetre shells hits had wounded two men on her bridge. 
 
    “Thank you, Number One,” Peter concluded, allowing the other man to get about his business.  “Carry on.” 
 
    Battle damage had to be made good, dead and injured men replaced, the ship restored to A-1 fighting trim as soon as possible; all that was Adam Canning’s job and he did not need his captain wasting his time detaining him on the bridge. 
 
    The ship was still closed up at action stations. 
 
    The immediate fight seemed to be over but one never knew what to expect next.  It was thirty minutes since the last shot had been fired and the Compass Platform plot, a sketchy representation of the detailed picture viewable down in the cruiser’s CIC, was as yet uncluttered. 
 
    The threat board was blank. 
 
    The Liverpool’s commanding officer took this with a very large pinch of salt.  Right now, he felt a little bit like one of those besieged characters in a Western movie waiting for the next attack by the Indians.  As if to say; ‘Everything’s a bit quiet at the moment,’ was to tempt fate and to invite a flurry of incoming arrows. 
 
    He moved to the communications board. 
 
    “I’ll speak to the ship.” 
 
    The yeoman manning the board flicked the toggle for CC2, the ship-wide circuit: “NOW HEAR THIS!  NOW HEAR THIS!  THE CAPTAIN WILL ADDRESS THE SHIP!” 
 
    Peter took the handset. 
 
    “This is the Captain,” he drawled laconically, listening to his voice boom and echo in nearby compartments.  “All the signs are that the enemy has given up the fight or he is lying low in the surrounding hills.  The ship has suffered only minor damage, although, sadly several of our crew mates have been wounded.  The ship will remain closed up at this time.  Liverpool acquitted herself well, as I would expect.  Now is the time that everybody must be on their toes.  For the next few hours, it is our job to hold this anchorage.  We must be ready for the enemy to get his act together.  I will keep you informed.  In the meantime, well done.  That is all.” 
 
    The circuit went dead. 
 
    Peter was surprised – although after the last year he ought not to have been – to discover Leading Steward Carmelo Boffa at his elbow bearing a tray bearing an improbably large number of steaming mugs. 
 
    “Chai, sir!” 
 
    Hot, sugary chocolate invariably laced with something alcoholic, which his Maltese steward must have concocted in the tiny, broom cupboard-sized galley adjacent to Peter’s sea cabin situated at the rear of the Compass Platform. 
 
    Carmelo had joined the ship when she returned to England ahead of OPERATION UPLAND GOOSE soon after Liverpool had returned to the United Kingdom from her American modernisation.  Marija had recruited him; reasoning that somebody had to look after her husband in her absence.  Carmelo had lived and worked in London for many years, earning his living in the restaurant trade before the October War, surviving that catastrophe only by the tragic circumstance of having returned to Malta for his father’s funeral two days before the madness fell upon the world. 
 
    Peter had soon given up attempting to improve his schoolboy Maltese; much though he was a scion of tact and diplomacy, Carmelo struggled to keep a straight face whenever he tried to practice his command of what was still, despite his wife’s coaching, a really foreign language to him. 
 
    He was informed that CIC was having trouble maintaining the communication uplinks with both the Task Force Command CIC (on the Ark Royal) and Assault Group Command Room (on the Bulwark). 
 
    “It might just be the surrounding topography, sir,” he was informed.  “Or the peculiar atmospherics we’ve encountered in the last week, perhaps, something to do with the Southern Aurora …” 
 
    Peter could easily believe either explanation.  The hills circling San Carlos Water rose from several hundreds to a thousand feet in height to the east and in places, to the north.  The ‘topography’ was not quite fjord-like but it almost certainly had similar properties when it came to radio transmissions; nor, unlike some ‘experts’ had he ruled out the possibility of Argentine jamming.  As for the general ‘radio environment’ in these waters, he was learning about its oddities all the time. 
 
    “Are we still squawking to the ships out in the Sound and off Race Point?”  He checked. 
 
    “Yes, sir. TBS is ‘noisy’ but still functioning.” 
 
    By training Peter had been one of the Navy’s new technical officers first, and a deck officer second.  An Electrical and Mechanical Engineering graduate who had taken a mathematics and physics post graduate module after gaining his degree, there had been an unexpected, and thoroughly refreshing logic to his posting to HMS Talavera back in the spring of 1962; the Navy had needed somebody who understood the conversion work in progress at Chatham better than the locals, if it was ever going to successfully commission the old destroyer’s new radar suite. 
 
    TBS working but longer-range uplinks not? 
 
    That did not sound like jamming. 
 
    Perhaps, as more than one old salt had cautioned him, the ‘atmospherics’ down in these latitudes really were going to be a problem.  More likely, whatever was playing tricks tonight was a passing phenomenon.  They were not far enough south for the aurora to be a significant factor; goodness the ruined southern suburbs of London were as far north of the Equator as San Carlos Water was to its south, and Polar interference had never been a notable issue for enthusiasts toying with radio equipment on the Downs! 
 
    Not for the first time he wished he had Dermot O’Leary on the bridge beside him; that man was a font of wisdom about the eccentricities of the Southern Ocean.  He was sure the Canadian would be able to shed a little light on the comms issue… 
 
    “DUNFERMLINE IS UNDER FIRE, SIR!” 
 
    The Bridge Talker’s warning snapped Peter out of his reverie. 
 
    “Put her Captain on the command circuit!” 
 
    Peter took a headset as he stepped to the starboard side of the bridge.  He gestured for the armoured bulkhead door to be opened so he could go outside onto the starboard bridge wing to get a better view to the south. 
 
    He guessed the bigger flashes were Dunfermline’s 5-inchers blasting away at targets in the vicinity of Ajax Bay on the south-eastern shores of the anchorage.  Practically all the tracer from smaller calibre weapons seemed to be going in one direction, from ship to shore. 
 
    “Dunfermline, sir!”  The destroyers captain said briskly. 
 
    “Liverpool speaking,” at sea captains were always identified by the name of their ships.  Peter had observed that in the US Navy commanding officers often appended the word ‘actual’ after the name of their ship but he had never seen the point of that.  “What’s your trouble, Nick?” 
 
    Commander Nicholas Laforey was distantly descended from one of Nelson’s captains at Trafalgar.  Like most of Peter’s ‘captains’, Dunfermline’s was many years his senior. 
 
    “I think somebody was shooting off Bazooka rounds at us,” the other man explained.  “Then a couple of MGs opened up from within the old factory buildings next to the bally landing beach!” 
 
    “How far are you offshore?” 
 
    The other man instantly understood why the question was framed so tersely.  Peter was asking him if he needed Liverpool’s big guns to suppress enemy fire. 
 
    “I should imagine I’m obstructing your line of fire,” Nick Laforey retorted.  “Thanks for the thought,” there was a second or two of static, “sorry about that, I’ve just ceased fire.  I think the excitement’s over!” 
 
    “I copy that.  Liverpool, out!” 
 
    The Bridge Talker had repeated every word so there was no need for Peter to bring the watch up to speed. 
 
    “INCOMING!” 
 
    There was a sharp crack, then another. 
 
    Water spouts rose about fifty yards east of the bow. 
 
    Mortars, 3-inch at a guess, almost certainly fired from the reverse side of the Green Mountains to the south east, or from somewhere in the dead ground east of Doctor Point. 
 
    “Do we still have a live link to the Sector Air Controller?”  Peter demanded. 
 
    More mortar rounds were landing, walking closer. 
 
    A clang, a rain of splinters as a mortar went off in the water alongside the forward main battery turret. 
 
    “CIC is talking to the SAC!” 
 
    “Notify him we are under mortar attack from the Doctor Point and Green Mountain sectors….” 
 
    “Forces are being inserted into both sectors at this time, sir!” 
 
    Liverpool had no weapon system that would bear on targets located on relatively nearby reverse slopes; naval guns were not howitzers or mortars capable of shooting more or less straight up into the air to target relatively nearby shielded ground targets.  There were no inconvenient hills in the middle of the ocean – well, apart from islands, if one was being pedantic – so although, for example, the cruiser’s 5-inch 38-calibre DP secondaries could elevate to an extreme 85 degrees to engage aerial targets it was virtually impossible to tell where a given round would actually land if and when it eventually came back down to terra firma!  The other option was to fire salvoes of air blast munitions with short time fuses but given there no was reliable way the Gunnery Officer could reliably establish the range that was an indiscriminate way to go about things, and in any event, with friendly troops in the area that option was off the table. 
 
    Peter was about to order the forward chains lengthened when a three-round salvo straddled the ship.  There was a blinding flash that illuminated the darkened bridge and then the sound of splinters of steel showering, skittering down. 
 
    “THAT WAS A HIT ON B TURRET!” 
 
    Turret armour was always thickest on the face of the turret and the sides; but there was still 3- to 1.5-inches protecting the roof, tapering from the front to the back of each turret. 
 
    Standard 3-inch common high explosive mortar rounds had little armour-piercing capacity; they were not designed to burrow penetrate cemented armour plate but to dig into soft earth and blast the local area. 
 
    Peter heard the Gunnery Officer demanding a status update on B turret.  There was a short delay in which he flicked a glance at the main battery readiness display. 
 
    Three greens, locked and loaded… 
 
    More mortar rounds were dropping into the water; this time short and to port.  That was sloppy targeting or…whoever was on the other side of the hill was just shooting and hoping. 
 
    “B Turret is ready to shoot!” 
 
    “No damage!  No casualties!” 
 
    Thank God they built ships well in America! 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 15 
 
      
 
    23:05 Hours 
 
    Saturday 8th November 
 
    MLFG Command Post, Sapper Hill, Isla Soledad 
 
      
 
    Major General Hugo Bonham-Garcia remembered his emergency CP as being no more than a collection of muddy trenches and tents strewn about the hillside earlier in the year.  These days, it was dug deeply into the northern side of the hill south of the western sprawl of Puerto Argentino a couple of kilometres from the nearest building.  He had little doubt that if the enemy knew of its existence, they would target it shortly, and then he would have to move again but that was war, move and counter-move and other sites had been readied, awaiting activation in the mountains to the west.  However, for tonight, and possibly the next few days while the English were busy establishing a bridgehead – from the garbled reports he had received, probably around San Carlos Water – it was unlikely that they would be conducting anything other than nuisance incursions on this side of the island. 
 
    “Well, they’ve chosen a nice night for it!”  Lieutenant General Horacio Calvi Mendoza guffawed as he made his entrance to the low-ceilinged bunker. 
 
    The two friends exchanged relaxed salutes, then the Governor of the Malvinas joined the Marine Commander of the Malvinas Lucha Contra las Fuerzas Terrestres de la Guarnición (MLFG) – the Malvinas Fighting Garrison Ground Forces – at the map table. 
 
    “We think they dropped an assault force directly onto Fanning Head and the ridge above Puerto San Carlos.  The land lines in the whole San Carlos Sector are down which probably means the English also dropped air mobile forces on, or to the east of the Montañas Verdes and the enemy are jamming the VHF frequencies employed by our forward forces.” 
 
    Horacio Mendoza absorbed this. 
 
    “Sneaky bastards, aren’t they?” 
 
    This raised smiles around the bunker. 
 
    Even Hugo grinned for a moment. 
 
    “The Air Force were eventually persuaded to transfer a comms team to the Sector,” he remarked, not concealing his irritation.  “Unfortunately, nobody’s heard from it since it took-off over an hour ago.” 
 
    “I’m sure we’ll have a better feel for this by morning,” the Governor of the Malvinas decided with a confidence he had no right to feel.  Shortly afterwards, he and his deputy stepped outside into the darkness.  “Do we have any sense that the English will make a second landing somewhere else?” 
 
    Hugo shook his head. 
 
    “No, I honestly don’t think they’ve got the wherewithal to hit us in strength in two places at once.  Oh, sure, they own the skies but getting men ashore and supplying them is another thing.  Remember, they can’t be confident that we don’t have attack aircraft and helicopters hidden away around the archipelago.”  He shrugged.  “In an ideal world I’d counter-attack immediately,” another shrug, “which is where an air mobile cavalry regiment would be handy; unfortunately, we’ve got the men but not the helicopters.  So, I’m working on the basis of Plan B unless you order me otherwise, sir.” 
 
    His friend snorted disgustedly but not at Hugo.  As on more than one occasion in recent weeks, his ire was unambiguously, some thought melodramatically when he voiced his dissatisfaction in public, directed hundreds to kilometres to the west at the men who had marooned them out here in the middle of nowhere. 
 
    “The idiots in Buenos Aires expect me to advance upon the invaders from every direction,” Horacio Mendoza complained.  “They think the Camp is like a parade ground!  Not a swamp we could lose twenty regiments in and never find them again!” 
 
    When Hugo remained silent, he went on. 
 
    “I don’t think it occurs to those people that the enemy will have exactly the same problems we have in traversing the interior of the island, and of course, we are the ones holding all the high ground to the west of Puerto Argentino!” 
 
    “And to the south of San Carlos Water, too,” Hugo mused.  “That’s where we must counter-attack first, towards Ajax Bay.  The land line to Darwin is still up.  Which, by the way, is another reason I think San Carlos is the site for the main landings; if the enemy had been planning to come ashore at Fitzroy, or Bluff Cove or to flank the Darwin-Verde Ganso garrison by landing at Mare Harbour or somewhere else in Choiseul Sound I think he’d have taken out those telephone lines by now.” 
 
    Horacio Mendoza nodded; his face creased with unusual concentration. 
 
    “If the lines to Darwin are still up, I’m a little surprised our friend Leopoldo hasn’t been chomping at the bit to get into the action?” 
 
    Hugo grimaced. 
 
    “Pedro Morales tells me that Galtieri took half his regimental staff across to Isla Gran Malvina to quote, ‘survey possible locations for his unit’ yesterday.  “Apparently, he’s radioed that he plans to get back across to Darwin as soon as possible.  Pedro wasn’t clear about how exactly he planned to do that.” 
 
    The Darwin-Goose Green Sector was garrisoned by the 6th and the 9th Regiments, each about five hundred men-strong, both having detached under-strength – about 100-strong - infantry companies to reinforce the garrison at Bahia Zorro, across the other side of the Estrecho de San Carlos on Isla Gran Malvina in the last month.  Galtieri’s 107th Combat Engineering Battalion – about four-hundred-and-fifty, most of whom were regular soldiers – had limited mobility and no heavy weapons.  There were, however, two artillery batteries, detached from the 3rd and 4th Artillery regiments: the 302nd from the 3rd equipped with twelve 105-millimetre guns, and the 401st from the 4th, effectively an anti-aircraft unit responsible for the air defence of the garrison perimeter, with eight 30-millimetre Hispano cannons and a dozen 50-calibre machine guns.  Although the 107th CEB lacked its own artillery, it had a close support platoon equipped with 3-inch mortars and several light machine gun teams.  Also based at Darwin was the 411th Combined Aviation Battalion, some three hundred strong comprising FAA men evacuated from Cap San Felipe who were more than somewhat under-employed maintaining the three helicopters, and the three F4U Corsairs and two T-28 Trojans stationed on the isthmus.  The latter fixed-wing aircraft were so heavily camouflaged that they were virtually buried in the landscape.  Notwithstanding, they were supposedly fully-fuelled and armed for action; problematically, if there was any significant rain the relatively short turf runway at Darwin would almost certainly turn into a quagmire. 
 
    “The senior man in Galtieri’s absence is Hector Balza of the 9th,” Hugo observed, careful not to advertise his frustration. 
 
    “Ah, a good man,” Mendoza murmured.  “But not exactly a ball of fire.” 
 
    Balza had spent the last fortnight excavating several defensive berms and revetments at the north-eastern end of the Darwin-Verde Ganso position, and preparing dozens of alternative firing emplacements for his artillery.  He had had his men working with such gusto that at one point they had inadvertently severed the land lines connecting the garrison to Puerto Argentino!  Fortunately, that link had been repaired in time for the actual invasion. 
 
    Hopefully, he had also had his bulldozers out flattening and re-flattening the spongy airstrip, a task Balza, a haughty Army man had regarded Hugo’s – a Marine’s – authority over him purely notional until Horacio Mendoza had had a few choice words with him only last week. 
 
    “He says he won’t be able to send a reconnaissance force northward until tomorrow night,” Hugo went on.  “Basically, it is going to need a rocket under him to get him to move out in strength!” 
 
    Horacio Mendoza sucked his teeth. 
 
    “I bet you never thought you’d be wishing Galtieri had been at Darwin when the English arrived, Hugo?” 
 
    The tall Marine frowned into the darkness. 
 
    Many of the senior officers sent out to the archipelago in recent months had lobbied, or even, bought postings to the colonia, sadly some replacing significantly more capable men.  Hugo had been powerless to stop the insidious erosion of his command cadre because the then Governor, Ibarra de Madrid, had been only too keen to curry favour on the mainland by accommodating the ill-considered transfers. 
 
    Ironically, Hector Balza was not one of the men who had moved heaven and earth to win a ringside seat for the coming battle.  He was a sound, competent officer whose main fault was that he was wholly lacking in imagination, or predictably, any inclination to order his men out of their trenches to confront troops – given their recent war-fighting experience and prowess - of what was possibly the best, man-for-man, professional fighting Army on the planet. 
 
    As soon as the news from the San Carlos Sector had come in the units of the garrison of Isla Soledad had moved, purposefully to take up their war stations.  The priority had always been to preserve the home base – essentially Puerto Argentino and its approaches – the likely invasion beaches and the great mountain barrier to the west.  However, within the broader scheme, reinforcements had swiftly been despatched to Teal Inlet and to watch over Berkeley Sound north of the Puerto Argentino Sector.  There was a balance to be struck by trying to be everywhere at once while retaining concentration and mass at strategic points, especially until such time as it was evident that there would be no secondary enemy landings in force.  At one time, Hugo had hoped to be able to deploy air mobile cavalry against the enemy beachhead; but he had never really had sufficient helicopter lift to make that practical. 
 
    So, even before the invasion, recognising that he had lost the initiative; pragmatically, he had moved on to Plan B, knowing he had to fight a long war.  Granted, that would have been simpler had the idiots in Buenos Aires permitted the evacuation of the civilian population.  Nonetheless, given the lack of mobility of his ground forces, the absence of any meaningful air power and thus far, the impotence of the ARA, Plan B was what he was left with. 
 
    That said, he had to do something to stop the invaders calling the tune from day one; he needed to hit them hard enough to make them wary, and think twice about their next move. 
 
    “I’ve notified Command at Puerto Belgrano that I plan to counter-attack the beachhead as soon as possible,” he told his friend.  “The enemy will rip up the telephone lines to the mainland soon, I should imagine.  After that, we’ll have to assume that sooner or later they’ll be reading all our radio traffic.” 
 
    Horacio Mendoza reluctantly agreed with the premise. 
 
    “Right, I plan to be out and about in the town at first light.  Our people will be fed up with the sight of me before this is all over!” 
 
    The Governor patted his friend’s shoulder and turned to go. 
 
    “Stay safe, Hugo.  No heroics, what!” 
 
    Hugo smiled, seeing the reassuring bulk of Chief Petty Officer Pablo Finocchiaro emerge from a nearby sangar. 
 
    “Pablo would never hear the end of it from Elena and Lucia if he let me get captured or blown up, sir!” 
 
    “Yes, sir!”  The grizzled Marine barked, coming to attention. 
 
    

  

 
 
    Sunday 9th November, 1969 
 
      
 
   



 

 Chapter 16 
 
      
 
    02:16 Hours (GMT) 23:16 (Local) 
 
    HMS Warspite, 55 degrees South 
 
      
 
    Max Forton had manoeuvred the boat into a shooting position approximately fifteen hundred yards off La Argentina’s starboard bow.  An old Fletcher class destroyer making a disgracefully large amount of smoke from its aft stack had come crashing back through the steepening waves and circled the old cruiser, giving him brief-lived pause for thought.  He had described what he was seeing to the Control Room at large. 
 
    Warspite had ascended to periscope depth, sixty feet, give or take a foot or two.  This close to the surface with the storm sweeping up from the south the submarine’s crew could feel a little of the turbulence just above their heads and the planes man had to be extra-vigilant to stop the boat broaching. 
 
    ‘A Fletcher is trying to round up La Argentina, like an old, wet sheep dog,’ he said, the image seeming somehow piquant.  ‘She’s got a big D-20 on her forward hull…’ 
 
    ‘That makes her the Almirante Brown, the former USS Heermann, DD-552, skipper!’ 
 
    ‘It looks like they’ve removed one of her main battery gun houses aft, number four, I’d say,’ Max Forton had remarked.  ‘Probably so she can carry more drum depth charges.’ 
 
    The plan was to fire a single Mark 20S. 
 
    The beasts were not the most reliable fish so, if the first one ran rogue, failed to switch on, acquire the target or explode beneath the old cruiser’s keel, they would fire another.  From the look of her, La Argentina would fall to pieces if she tried to run away from a Mark 20 for all that the torpedo only had a maximum speed of 23 knots! 
 
    “Where’s that Fletcher?”  Max Forton demanded. 
 
    “Two miles bearing zero-eight-zero relative!”  A hesitation.  “Down doppler, red shift.” 
 
    The Almirante Brown was heading east, back to the leading ships of the squadron.  Meanwhile, La Argentina had increased her speed by a fraction under two knots in the last few minutes. 
 
    Warspite’s commanding officer looked at the plot anew. 
 
    The Argentine squadron was strung out across over six miles of sea: the three cruisers, and four escorts, two of them old Fletchers, and the others even more ancient British-built pre-Second War Buenos Aires class ships. 
 
    It really was an odd, somewhat antique little flotilla. 
 
    La Argentina, struggling along through the grey-green seas had been built as a training cruiser by Vickers Armstrong at Barrow-in-Furness, on a construction slipway barely a stone’s throw from where the Warspite had been born a quarter-of-a-century later.  History was a funny old thing… 
 
    La Argentina was essentially an enlarged version of the pre-1939 Royal Navy Arethusa class of light cruisers, thirteen hundred tons heavier, a little lengthier and beamier, armed with a main battery comprising three triple 6-inch 50-calibre turrets rather than the twin-gunned turrets of the original Arethusas, with extra berthing space to accommodate around sixty cadets.  She had been completed in January 1939.  With a machinery set generating over ten thousand shaft horsepower less than that of the smaller, better handling Arethusas, La Argentina had never sustained her design speed of thirty knots, and nowadays, judging by the way she was being out-reached by her companions, her captain would have been glad to be making twenty knots! 
 
    Of course, the old Arethusas were gone, Galatea and Penelope had been sunk by U-boats, and after very, very busy wars, Arethusa had gone to the breakers in 1950 and the Aurora, given to the Nationalist Chinese in 1948 had fallen into the hands of the Communists not long afterwards.  One look at La Argentina’s silhouette told any Navy man that her day had come and gone; fate could be very cruel. 
 
    The attack periscope broke the surface, over-washed by big rollers, allowing only glimpses of the target. 
 
    “Mark that!” 
 
    “Speed one-seven! 
 
    “Course estimated constant at zero-eight-five magnetic!” 
 
    The periscope came down. 
 
    “Range seventeen hundred yards, speed sixteen point five, target’s heading is zero-eight-three magnetic,” the torpedo officer reported, standing up from the plot.  “We have a firing solution, sir.” 
 
    “Very good.” 
 
    That firing solution would constantly update according to Warspite’s movements. 
 
    “That Fletcher has turned back again, sir!” 
 
    “Designate Target Two, confirm La Argentina as Target One,” Max Forton demanded, stepping over to the plot.  Target Two, the Almirante Brown was going to pass down the port side of the cruiser on the opposite side to that from which Warspite was attacking.  She was running too fast to use her sonar, perhaps topping twenty-four or five knots, taking a beating in the storm.  “What are the other two cruisers playing at?” 
 
    The question was largely rhetorical. 
 
    In the last few minutes, the General Belgrano, the Santissima Trinidad and their three escorts had discernibly lengthened the range – by about two miles – between the last ship in their formation and La Argentina, while still heading almost due east. 
 
    Warspite’s captain stopped himself frowning. 
 
    Never mind, once he had finished back here chasing those old rust buckets down would be but the work of a couple of hours.  It was not as if it was going to take very long to settle La Argentina’s hash! 
 
    The submarine had been slowly pulling ahead of the cruiser. 
 
    He called: “Make your speed one-eight knots.” 
 
    He waited for the acknowledgement and the practical execution of the command to take effect. 
 
    “Port ten, come to zero-two-zero degrees!” 
 
    The deck tilted under his feet. 
 
    In the next minute the range would fast decrease and as the cruiser drifted across the boat’s bow, he intended to launch the first Mark 20.  By then, the fish’s run time to impact – or rather, detonation beneath its target – would be approximately one hundred and five seconds as it acquired and in its terminal phase, fell into formation with its victim. 
 
    The torpedo board confirmed that firing solutions for both tubes five and six were programmed, as the submarine steadied on her new heading. 
 
    The torpedo officer started counting down. 
 
    FIVE…FOUR…THREE…TWO…ONE! 
 
    “FIRE FIVE!”  Max Forton barked. 
 
    The Warspite trembled, dampers sucked back in the charge of air which had expelled the Mark 20 out of Tube 5, and in the Control Room the firing team began to update the firing solution for the fish in Tube 6. 
 
    “Running true!” 
 
    “Target acquired…” 
 
    The Almirante Brown was about to cross behind La Argentina, probably moving too fast for the Mark 20 to latch onto her if for any reason it missed its original target. 
 
    Max Forton was listening to the countdown to impact; and calculating where the destroyer would be if she turned to the south to circle as she had previously. 
 
    Belatedly, he realised that Warspite was going to be in precisely the wrong place to engage the Almirante Brown; in fact, the destroyer might roar straight over the top of her. 
 
    That was the sort of mistake that was a straight ‘‘failure’’ on the Perisher!  Fortunately, a fellow only had to pass that particular test by fire once in his career. 
 
    Try not to do that again, Forton, you chump! 
 
    And actually, he could already think of ways his apparent error could work to Warspite’s favour… 
 
    “Abort Tube 6 launch,” he decided.  “Take us down to three-zero-zero feet and make our course two-seven-zero.” 
 
    This acknowledged he added. 
 
    “Reduce revs to five zero.” 
 
    And finally. 
 
    “Quiet as a mouse, chaps!” 
 
    As the great steel shark dived and La Argentina pitched and rolled past less than five hundred yards to her starboard side the shock wave of the detonating 189-pound Torpex warhead of the Mark 20 S torpedo thumped the flank of the Warspite, followed a moment later by the sound of the explosion, an oddly muted ‘WHUMF’. 
 
    There was no cheering, no elation. 
 
    “Fast screws bearing three-four-five degrees relative!” 
 
    That was the Almirante Brown, turning as her skipper had planned around the stern of the laggard cruiser.  It would be a few seconds before the destroyer’s crew reacted to the torpedoing of their charge. 
 
    “Target One has stopped in the water…” 
 
    “No engine noise…” 
 
    “Breaking up sounds…” 
 
    Shrill random sonar pings screeched off the Warspite’s casing. 
 
    The Almirante Brown’s proximity was audible now. 
 
    She was approaching like an express train rumbling closer from around a distant bend, clanking and thumping maniacally.  Everything on that old ship was worn, loose, knocking against something else and the noise of her approach might as easily have invoked fears of a charging battleship, not just an ancient destroyer whose sonar screens were a mush of sea returns at the speed she was travelling, crashing and bouncing, rolling madly as she careened around and presumably, her crew watched in horror, as La Argentina sagged, broken in the wild seas and began to sink. 
 
    “We’re going to turn back to a south easterly heading on the other side of Target One and attack Target two with Mark 8s,” Max Forton announced.  “Prepare Tubes One and Two, put Tube Six in standby mode.” 
 
    La Argentina was going down fast. 
 
    The sounds of her tearing herself to pieces filtered into the cathedral-like quietness of the Control Room. 
 
    Arresting the dive at two hundred-and-thirty feet, Warspite rose like a wraith through the water column as she slowly turned, and coming out of the sound shadow of the cruiser’s death, any whisper of her stealthy approach drowned out by the depth charges the Almirante Brown was uselessly rolling off her stern, fired two heavyweight Mark 8 fish, contact fused, at the destroyer at a range of less than nine hundred yards. 
 
    The first torpedo raced through the old Fletcher class destroyer’s wake, the second hit her abreast her turbine room and all but blasted off the last third of the ship. 
 
    Airing the attack periscope, Max Forton watched the Almirante Brown begin to settle. 
 
    In those cruel seas there was no hope for her. 
 
    Of La Argentina there was no sign other than a lengthening slick of bunker oil, calming a channel in the Southern Ocean as Max Forton took a series of photographs through the attack periscope. 
 
    “Make our depth three-zero-zero feet, if you please.” 
 
    At the plot table he looked to his second-in-command. 
 
    “We’ll run south east for a couple of hours and attack the remaining ships of the enemy squadron from ahead.” 
 
    There were acknowledging nods around the Control Room. 
 
    “Reload Five with a Mark 20, reload One and Two with Mark 8s.” 
 
    Max Forton felt a little sick and he doubted he was the only one feeling thus.  It had all been a great game back in 1964; but he had been a younger man then, the sorcerer’s apprentice to Simon Collingwood. 
 
    He was about to return to his cabin for a few minutes. 
 
    He needed to recompose himself, regain his equilibrium before recommencing the killing. 
 
    “Excuse me, sir.” 
 
    A signal flimsy was being held out to him. 
 
    Max Forton took it. 
 
    He blinked. 
 
    NO!  NO!  NO! 
 
    I do not believe this! 
 
    Aghast, he knew his career was over and that possibly, joining up the dots and reading between the curt lines, he had just caused the worst rift between Oxford and Washington since July 1964. 
 
    He scanned the flimsy again. 
 
    Just to make certain his eyes had not lied. 
 
    They had not. 
 
    It was as bad as he knew it was. 
 
    Worse, actually. 
 
    He had knowingly jumped the gun and when the board of enquiry, and later his court martial convened he could do no more than accept his culpability. 
 
    And thereafter take his medicine like a man. 
 
    But a part of him still did not accept the evidence of his eyes. 
 
    This was not happening to him… 
 
    Pull yourself together man; get a grip! 
 
    He hoped his face betrayed nothing of his explosively fulminating existential angst as he passed the flimsy to his executive officer. 
 
    FO SUBMARINES TO ALL UNITS IN SOUTH ATLANTIC STOP MOST IMMEDIATE AND CONFIDENTIAL EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY STOP REFERENCE ROE STOP OFFENSIVE OPERATIONS AGAINST HOSTILE WARSHIPS AND MERCHANTMEN OUTSIDE OF THE BRITISH AND DOMINION TERRITORIAL WATERS ARE EXPLICITLY FORBIDDEN UNTIL FURTHER NOTICE STOP ROE FOR INSHORE WATERS AND DEFINITION OF SAME WILL FOLLOW STOP IN MEANTIME WAR OPERATIONS AGAINST ARGENTINE SURFACE UNITS ARE NOT AUTHORISED OTHER THAN IN CASES OF SELF DEFENCE OR TO PROTECT IN SIGHT FRIENDLY UNITS FROM IMMINENT OR PRESENT HARM STOP ACKNOWLEDGE AT FIRST OPPORTUNITY CONSISTENT WITH THE SAFETY OF YOUR COMMAND STOP MESSAGE ENDS 
 
    Tim Dunbar-Naismith read the message, carefully folded it and passed it back to his commanding officer.  The two men’s eyes met.  Neither said a word. 
 
    What could they possibly have said? 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 17 
 
      
 
    02:35 Hours (GMT) 23:35 (Local) 
 
    Charlie Company, 46 Commando 
 
    Greenfield Farm, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    As a breed Royal Marines tend to be positive thinking, rugged optimists whose actions tempered by the certain knowledge that they were the ones who, nine times out of ten, were going to get left holding ‘the baby’ if anything goes wrong. 
 
    Thus, when Major Lionel Colvin, the second-in-command of 46 Commando and OC Charlie Company discovered that half his people were going to be stuck on the Bulwark – for God alone knew how long – and that 1st Platoon had been landed miles away on the wrong side of the San Carlos River, he abjured invective, quickly moved on past his infuriation, and got on with the job in hand. 
 
    Granted, this was not an entirely straightforward matter with only thirty-two of the one-hundred-and-seventeen men he had anticipated leading into the first ground battles of OPERATION GRANDSTAND.  However, he could not help but think of the phlegmatic way his friend, Paddy Ashdown – inordinately lucky to be alive albeit presently confined to the sick bay of the twenty-two-thousand-ton assault carrier which had been 46 Commando’s home for most of the last month somewhere off the rocky north coast of the archipelago – would almost certainly have met this minor adversity. 
 
    There’ nothing to be done except to carry on carrying on, old chap! 
 
    The Argentine occupants of the Campo Verde sheep farm, a plump couple with three teenage children, a boy and two very wide-eyed girls, probably aged twelve to around sixteen, had understandably been somewhat discomfited by the sudden arrival of a squad of Lionel Colvin’s ‘toughs’ fully tooled up to fight a really serious war, their faces streaked with black camouflage war paint, initially with every man wearing his fiercest lantern-jawed expressions.  In the place of the Arroyo family, Charlie Company’s commander would probably have been scared witless, too. 
 
    “Muchas disculpas somos los Royal Marines. No queremos hacerte daño. Hay soldados en tu propiedad?” 
 
    Many apologies, we are the Royal Marines.  We mean you no harm.  Are there any soldiers on your property? 
 
    There was no need to unnecessarily upset the locals; it was not their fault their country was run by a bunch of clowns.  That summer, Lionel’s men had had to sit through tortuous sessions learning basic conversational Spanish.  His new wife, Jane, a Kelper exiled from the islands of her birth in 1964, had been among the volunteer tutors.  It went without saying that his boys had found her every bit as captivating as he had! 
 
    Jane was safe in Somerset, home-making hopefully in the couple’s recently assigned married quarters.  She was twenty-one, nearly ten years his junior, pregnant with their first child; this he had learned from a letter which had caught up with him just before Bulwark departed Simon’s Town at the Cape.  The news had bucked him up somewhat, coming as it had just after he had handed over the Commando, which he had in no small measure formed and with no little help from Paddy Ashdown, trained.  He had known it was on the cards; but it had still been a blow especially with the prospect of action in the South Atlantic looming so large.  Jane’s news, their news and the fact that he could not possibly have been handing over the Commando to a better man, Lieutenant Colonel Sir Steuart Pringle, 10th Baronet of Stichill, had quickly softened the blow.  Likewise, Pringle’s early decision that in the ‘assault phase’ of OPERATION GRANDSTAND he would command Charlie Company and therefore be at the ‘sharp end’ of things rather than being relegated to the ‘back office’ in charge of the HQ and Logistics Company, had further bolstered his personal moral. 
 
    ‘We need to secure the ground first!  We’ll worry about tidying up the battlefield later!’ Steuart Pringle had declared.  Both men had known that there was barely sufficient ‘air lift’ to deliver two fighting companies in the first hours of the invasion, and he had wanted the two lead companies to be led by the Commando’s most experienced officers. 
 
    Alpha Company was now strung out, albeit thinly in places, along the hills above the San Carlos River all the way west to Fanning Head, the investment of which, hot on the heels of an SBS team, had been its primary objective.  Charlie Company was tasked with securing the southern bank of the river and extending south and south west to secure Doctor and Hospital Point, and sweeping the country between Greenfield Farm and the northern heights of the Green Mountains overlooking the eastern side of San Carlos Water.  There were also supposed to be SAS and the Corps’ own ‘thugs’, Special Boat Squadron squads operating on the western isthmus separating the anchorage from Falkland Sound; and in theory they ought to have rooted out any Argentine coast watchers or artillery spotters on Chancho Point, opposite Fanning Head by now. 
 
    Charlie Company had set up its CP – Command Post – in the kitchen of the farmstead.  The lady of the house and her daughters were boiling water and plying their uninvited guests with coffee.  It was all a little surreal.  The man of the house had shown the invaders his guns, a long rifle – the chap was a marksman of some description – and a single-barrel shotgun, both of which had been removed from the main building and after that, everybody had relaxed. 
 
    Making contact with the Bulwark was proving problematic.  This was a fly in the ointment, of that there could be no doubt.  However, there was nothing odd about it.  It was probably just the surrounding high ground monkeying around with signal strength; because intermittently, Colvin’s comms squad were actually managing to communicate with the rest of the Commando. 
 
    Steuart Pringle had been in the second Wessex V to touch down on Fanning Head and been miffed, appalled actually, to find out that the Argentine defenders had abandoned their two 105-millimetre field guns without a fight when they had heard the approaching helicopters.  Within minutes, he had watched the Liverpool serenely cruise below the commanding heights upon which he stood. 
 
    This was going to be a walk in the park if the opposition did not get their act together! 
 
    Lionel had tried to keep his reports short and sweet. 
 
    “I’ve got two fire teams across the Teal Inlet Road to the north; I’m waiting on a report that my chaps are across the road to the south of here.” 
 
    The smallest sub-unit of a Royal Marine rifle company was the four-man fire team, whose members messed, worked and trained together within their unit’s platoon organisation. 
 
    “The country hereabouts isn’t conducive to easy yomping,” Lionel observed, having to speak loudly to be heard above the bursts of static on the field radio.  “I’m here at the CP with one fire team, I’ve sent the rest of my chaps, a five-fire team skirmish line towards the high ground in the east.  Whoever was mortaring the anchorage has desisted so they may already have flushed the bad guys.  I’ve only got the one big radio set.  I don’t know what it’s like on your side of the river but the hand-held comms sets don’t seem to be working most of the time.” 
 
    The Task Force had been supplied with the new, unproven – officially experimental - Clansman radio sets but these were in short supply; thus, 46 Commando was heavily reliant on surplus 1950s US Army field radio equipment. 
 
    “The walkie-talkies don’t seem to like the mountains,” Steuart Pringle commiserated cheerfully.  “As soon as I can get the Liverpool to acknowledge my call sign, I’ll start sending recce parties down the hill to San Carlos Settlement.  In the meantime, carry on the good work, Lionel!  Out!” 
 
    Lionel stepped outside the farm house. 
 
    There was a chill in the night air but no rain, thankfully.  Overhead, the skies were clearing, and stars twinkled in an unfamiliar southern sky like diamonds.  Apparently, there was a storm front blowing though in the next day or two but the islands were only going to catch the northern edge of the worst of it.  Apart from the distant thrumming of helicopter rotors the darkness was quiet apart from the breeze, rustling nearby stands of tussock, and whispering through the grass. 
 
    Sometime tomorrow all six companies of 46 Commando, over six hundred men would be infesting the valley to the north and the hills either side of it.  Lionel had not got ashore on South Georgia until the fighting, such as it was, was over.  As it was, only 42 Commando and Paddy Ashdown’s hard cases had been witnesses, if not participants in the Grytviken massacre.  Nobody had taken much satisfaction from that affair; the Argentines had been idiots not to throw down their weapons and surrender.  It was not as if the blighters had not been given ample opportunity to throw in the towel. 
 
    Had the Argentines been given a similar chance to avoid bloodshed this time?  If so, he had not heard about it; so, he suspected not. 
 
    There was a crackle of gunfire somewhere in the western hills. 
 
    It was hard to tell but he guessed the firefight was happening at least a mile away.  Hearing a burst of radio chatter through the half-open kitchen door he hurried back inside. 
 
    “Recon Two encountered a picket line,” he was informed as he peered at the map strewn across the farmer’s table.  A finger jabbed: “about here just short of the Teal Inlet Road about 2 klicks south-south-west.  The bad guys bugged out, sir.” 
 
    To call the Teal Inlet Road – in places just a dirt track bounded by boggy or impossibly rocky verges as it navigated the rise and fall of the land – a ‘road’ was a huge misnomer.  That said, it was the only way the Argentines could, with any alacrity, move their forces in this inhospitable terrain south of the San Carlos River.  By getting his Marines across that ‘track’ the enemy forces to his west, presumably hunkered down on the heights of the Green Mountains, were trapped and could not be reinforced by fresh troops from the east.  Well, not without the mother and father of all fights. 
 
    “Tell them to leave a fire team blocking the road and to press on to the west.  If they encounter superior forces; they are to disengage and fall back onto the road line.” 
 
    The lady of the house presented him with a refilled billy can. 
 
    Goodness, the coffee smelled real! 
 
    Lionel smiled and despite her best intentions, the woman grimaced a half-smile in return before she turned away. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 18 
 
      
 
    03:10 Hours (GMT) 00:10 (Local) 
 
    HMS Bulwark 
 
    9 nautical miles NE of White Rock Point, West Falkland 
 
      
 
    Rear Admiral David Penberthy handed over the signal flimsy he had received from the Ark Royal to the Ground Force Commander, Major General Ian Gourlay.  The two men had stepped out of the carrier’s CIC.  Privacy was at a premium on the Bulwark, so they settled for a quiet space in a passageway adjoining the aft bulkhead of the crowded compartment. 
 
    Penberthy had come straight from the carrier’s bridge where he had consulted briefly with Bulwark’s commanding officer, forty-four-year-old Captain Desmond Cassidi.  People who did not know Cassidi very well could sometimes walk away with the idea he was a dour Ulsterman but once one got one’s measure it was his cool competence and impish sense of humour that left the lasting impression.  He and David Penberthy recognised each other as being of a type; albeit two men separated by nearly ten years in age. 
 
    Born into a navy family at Limavady in County Londonderry, Cassidi had entered the service as a cadet in 1938.  Commissioned in 1942 he had served on the heavy cruiser Cumberland and the destroyer Hardy on the Arctic run in the winter of 1943-44, and been aboard the battleship Ramillies bombarding the Normandy beaches in June 1944.  After the Second War he had learned to fly and shortly thereafter, joined the exclusive Goldfish Club, entry to which was earned by ditching into, and being recovered from the sea.  His first entry ticket had been in a Firefly fighter when, he freely admitted, due to ‘pilot error’ he had crashed and gone into the water while attempting a landing on HMS Theseus in the icy waters of the Moral Firth.  His second ‘goldfish moment’ had occurred some years later while at the controls of a Fairey Gannet; this time in the English Channel, an engine failure at exactly the wrong moment, on take-off from HMS Albion had resulted in a ducking as the carrier very nearly ran over the top of his sinking aircraft.  Cassidi had prior experience of the Southern Ocean, having been Executive officer of the ice patrol ship Protector in the mid-1950s.  In an extraordinarily varied career, he had also been commander of 820 Naval Air Squadron, the frigate Whitby, and after several staff postings, the Naiad. 
 
    Unlike David Penberthy, Cassidi was a family man with two surviving daughters and a son back home in England, from whom he had been away most of the last year.  Perhaps, it was the thought of such long separations, and the fact that throughout his career he had never wanted for a family – the Navy had been more than enough – that explained why Penberthy had never married, nor in truth, ever worried overmuch about the subject? 
 
    My, my that is an odd thought to be entertaining at a time like this! 
 
    He had given Ian Gourlay time to read and inwardly digest the meaning, and the tsunami of ramifications which flowed from that thin sheet of almost transparent paper. 
 
    “That’s torn it,” the Royal Marine observed dryly.  “He looked up.  “Do we know what happened?” 
 
    “A communication breakdown,” David Penberthy speculated.  “Everybody defaulted to General War Order protocols when Liverpool opened fire in San Carlos Water.  Strictly speaking, the rules of engagement automatically altered at that time, which was known to be on or about twenty-two hundred hours local.  The countermanding directive went out at around two in the morning GMT, just before twenty-three-hundred local.  Atmospherics seem to be problematic at the moment, Ark Royal and ourselves did not pick up and decipher the revocation of the original Rules of Engagement protocols until about an hour ago, forty or more minutes after Fleet HQ broadcast it.” 
 
    The two men thought their thoughts for several seconds. 
 
    “Do we know which boat did the deed?” Ian Gourlay inquired.  It was an idle enquiry; the damage was already done. 
 
    “Warspite.” 
 
    The Royal Marine nodded. 
 
    He asked the pressing question: “So, we can forget about US-supplied spares, ammunition reloads, and so-called technical war-fighting assistance.  Does that mean the transatlantic intelligence feed is about to be cut too?” 
 
    “I don’t know,” Penberthy confessed.  Neither did the Assault Group’s US Navy OLO, who was as horrified as his British counterparts with recent developments.  “The Americans felt naked when the original Five Eyes agreement fell into disrepute after the October War.  Then, when it was formally suspended in 1964 and throughout 1965, it caused them incalculable problems. I doubt they’ll risk that happening again,” he quirked a rueful smile.  “Or, at least, I hope things won’t go that far.  How on earth we monitor Soviet adherence to the Malta Accords over Central European de-militarisation and so forth without full intelligence sharing is a real can of worms?” 
 
    The Five Eyes (in former NATO parlance FVEY) – or more correctly, the United Kingdom – United States of America Agreement (UKUSA) had arisen out of Winston Churchill and Franklin Roosevelt’s Atlantic Charter summit in 1941.  Under its terms, signals intelligence was shared between the US, Britain, Canada, Australia and New Zealand and this had become the bedrock of Western Intelligence gathering in the years before the October War.  Its discontinuation in 1964 and throughout 1965 by Margaret Thatcher’s Government, at which time the Australians and the New Zealanders had also withdrawn, and the Canadians only continued to co-operate with their southern neighbours much in the fashion of a sulky teenager embarrassed by his parents’ stupidity, had blinded parts of the US Intelligence community probably contributing to the disasters in Korea and at home, in the lead up to the civil war in the Midwest. 
 
    “Presumably,” the Royal Marine mused out aloud, “Oxford now expect us to deal with the Argentine Fleet with stern words alone?” 
 
    Penberthy grinned. 
 
    “I’m honestly not sure the politicians have thought that far ahead, old man.” 
 
    “No, silly me,” Gourlay grunted, with a shake of the head.  “Is it just me, or is this beginning to smack of Suez all over again?” 
 
    “When that blew up in our faces, we all sloped off back to Malta to drown our sorrows,” Penberthy recollected.  “I was just a watchkeeper on a cruiser at the time.  You were a lot more intimately involved with things than I was at the time, of course.” 
 
    Ian Gourlay greeted this with the deadest of dead bats. 
 
    He had been the man who had actually planned the landings of the Commando Brigade at Port Said in October 1956 to seize back the northern end of the cursed canal nationalised by Nasser three months earlier.  It had been the most challenging, and the most infuriating period of his whole life, a lot of it spent massaging the egos and countering the paranoia of the political classes; which was why most of the official documents containing his name had been classified as ‘closed for sixty years’ before the Soviets permanently eradicated most of the ‘official’ records in 1962.  He had been awarded an OBE for his contribution to that particular great national fiasco, Operation Musketeer, which had brought down the Eden Government and ushered in the Macmillan era, which had as they all knew now, ended even more catastrophically… 
 
    He sighed: “Yes, well, let’s just say that afterwards I gave up smoking, David.” 
 
    The two men walked back into the CIC. 
 
    “Gentlemen,” David Penberthy announced, to get everybody’s attention.  The Assault Group Commander continued: “revised Rules of Engagement have been issued by C-in-C Fleet.  Contrary to previous planning assumptions, unrestricted submarine warfare beyond the twelve-mile limit drawn around the Falklands Archipelago other than in circumstances where the enemy has clearly indicated hostile intent and, or actually initiated contact, is now off the board.  We may defend ourselves; however, we may not in any way, pre-emptively or otherwise seek to interdict the enemy.  This is not negotiable.  C-in-C Fleet has issued operational orders confirming the re-defined ROEs.  We are not going to wail and gnash our teeth; we are just going to get on with it.” 
 
    There was silence around him. 
 
    Mouths opened and shut, soundlessly. 
 
    Presently, the Operations Officer cleared his throat. 
 
    “Presumably our SSNs will still carry on tracking enemy surface units?” 
 
    “No,” David Penberthy retorted.  “The fear is that if they are in contact with Argentine warships which, suspecting their presence, might depth charge them, it would be construed as being an overt act of war by our boats in international waters.  And therefore, potentially a war crime.  At the request of the White House, our SSNs have been ordered to patrol east of the Falklands to avoid further incidents with the ARA.” 
 
    A lot of the men in the CIC were blinking at the tall, distinguished grey-haired man practically everybody on the ship regarded as a father figure. 
 
    “And Mrs Thatcher went along with that, sir?” 
 
    Penberthy nodded. 
 
    “So, it would seem.”  He let that sink in.  Then, he was all business: “Landing operations will continue as planned, likewise all inshore ship movements.  We still have the Ark Royal Battle Group between us and any likely enemy intervention at sea or in the air.  Our job remains to get General Gourlay’s troops ashore, and to assist him in establishing our bridgehead in the San Carlos Sector.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 19 
 
      
 
    23:00 Hours (EST) 
 
    The White House 
 
      
 
    Walter Brenckmann sat back and steepled his fingers, deep in thought.  He was sitting behind the Resolute Desk, for once alone in the Oval Office.  Earlier that evening the British Ambassador had given him one of those ‘you’ve just shot my dog, you two-timing bastard’ looks.  And in a way, he had, because even though he had made it crystal clear that US vital interests in the Americas were not going to be held hostage by the Malvinas question, history would record that he had self-evidently failed to communicate his resolve to Margaret Thatcher before it was too late. 
 
    Leaving aside the fact that the onus for properly briefing their leader on global realities lay with her own Foreign Office and Defence people, not his, or with him personally – the leader of a third country - although God only knew how hard he had tried to get her to see reason, events now confirmed that he had failed and the thirty-ninth President of the United States was not a man who blamed others for his own mistakes. 
 
    There was a quiet knock at the door and his Personal Military Assistant – PMA - thirty-three-year-old Marine Corps Lieutenant Colonel Karl Devowski entered the Oval Office.  The younger man had served with Walter in England in 1963, and fought in Korea and Cuba with such distinction that the Commandant of the Marine Corps had recommended him for his present posting when he heard that the then President elect, had requested that the PMA appointment of a man with recent combat experience was a non sequitur.  Last week, the White House press pack had been briefly distracted, and if such a thing was possible given the jaundiced aspects of many of its worldly-wise membership, pleasantly beguiled by the news that Karl and the First Lady’s Appointments Secretary, Miranda Sullivan, were engaged to be married. 
 
    While the war in the South Atlantic had rumbled on and the Administration’s latest Cuban peace initiative stalled, the front pages of The Washington Post and The New York Times had carried half-page pictures of the happy couple each holding one of Miranda’s four-and-a-half-year-old son’s hands, walking serenely from the White House to St John's Episcopal Church in nearby Lafayette Square, where the couple worshipped every Sunday, and if the Presidential caravan had been away from Washington over the weekend, prayed together at least one evening during the week. 
 
    Sited on the corner of Sixteenth and H Street, every president since James Madison had walked through the doors of the Church of the Presidents since 1816, presumably each wrestling with his own conscience on many of those occasions. 
 
    Karl and Miranda, the scarred veteran Marine and the one-time wild child daughter of Hollywood celebrities, the former mistress of Dr Martin Luther King junior who had found herself trapped in the middle of the scandal which had eventually brought down Richard Nixon, were at one and the same time, an unlikely couple and yet, oddly, it seemed to the President and the First Lady, ideally matched. 
 
    ‘Each partner should bring something unique to the party,’ Joanne had cooed when the news of the engagement that Miranda had confidentially vouchsafed to her a fortnight before, was finally broached to a wide-eyed public. 
 
    When it happened, sometime in the spring, the wedding was going to be held in the Rose Garden. 
 
    “You ought to turn in, Karl,” the President said, gruffly paternal, reminding himself that while it was one thing for Joanne to treat Miranda like an honorary daughter, his relationship with Karl needed to be more military.  “All the shouting is over for today.” 
 
    “Well, sir,” the younger man consoled him, “as my old drill sergeant used to say: ‘You can always bawl out the useless fuckers tomorrow, sir!’” 
 
    Walter Brenckmann chuckled and shook his head.  Karl was the least profane Marine he had ever met in his whole life but once a Marine always a Marine! 
 
    “Thirteen years ago,” he said, not really talking to his PMA, “Ike sat in this chair and ordered the Brits, the French and the Israelis to get the Hell out of the Suez Canal Zone or he’d cut them loose and they’d get up close and personal with their own Great Depressions.  That brought down governments in Britain, and soon afterwards against the backdrop of the Algerian civil war, in Paris too.  And while all that was going on, we took our eye off what was going on in Hungary.  We still hadn’t repaired half the damage by the time the Soviets started putting those missiles on Cuba six years later.”  He sighed, not a man often given to deep bouts of introspection, he grimaced in mild self-deprecation. “We screwed up in October sixty-two, and again in July sixty-four, and other times, too.”  He fixed the younger man with a thoughtful look.  “How would you feel if you were one of the British marines going ashore in the first wave tonight, Karl?” 
 
    The other man hesitated, mulling the question. 
 
    “I’m a Marine, sir.  If you’ll forgive my language, we’re used to cleaning up everybody else’s shit.” 
 
    The President had no time to dwell on this universal truth because at that moment Secretary of State Henry Kissinger, and Jack McCain returned to the Oval Office.  Walter Brenckmann waved the newcomers to take vacant chairs across the other side of the Resolute Desk. 
 
    “The line to the Casa Rosada is on hold,” Henry Kissinger said, unusually for him not bothering to hide his infuriation. 
 
    “That’s okay, I’ll take the call.” 
 
    “You won’t be talking to Onganía, Walter,” Jack McCain told him, clearly exasperated.  “Lanusse seems to be the guy in charge now.” 
 
    Next to him the Secretary of State was shaking his head; most likely to stop himself tearing out his hair. 
 
    General Juan Carlos Onganía Carballo, the man whose troops had stormed ARA bases and crushed the Navy revolt of 1963, had been in power for the last six years.  The CIA had first predicted his imminent fall eighteen months ago but the man had clung on with such remarkable tenacity, cracking down ever-harder on dissent within the Junta and scandalously, the general population in an atmosphere of near civil war on the streets of the Argentine capital and big cities like Cordoba, that he had seemed immovable. 
 
    General Alejandro Agustín Lanusse was a less volatile, calculating man.  The Chief of Staff of the Ejército Argentino he had always been the real roadblock to a negotiated settlement of the South Atlantic impasse, he was the head of the Malvinist Faction in the Junta with the support of the ambitious cadre of ‘colonels’ that any military dictatorship had to keep onside to survive. 
 
    Even the Nixon Administration had regarded Onganía as a blustering buffoon, albeit one with overweening narcissistic pretensions; one of those ridiculous Latin American joke generals who wore his countless utterly meaningless medals like a medieval knight wore his armour.  The man probably wouldn’t have held down a second-lieutenant’s job in a line platoon in the US Army. 
 
    Lanusse presented a different problem. 
 
    “Good evening, Mister President,” he said in English.  Thereafter, the parties to the call had to wait for their respective translators to make their cases. 
 
    Karl Devowski listened. 
 
    Two tours on Cuba and a six-month-long exhilarating but fiery relationship with a Mexican girl called Conchita, when he was based at San Diego some years back had left him with a working command of expletive-laced colloquial Spanish.  So, once he got his ear in, he caught most of what Augustine Lanusse was saying.  The man had an oily, condescending charm that set his teeth on edge. 
 
    “Is the United States to become an accomplice to cold-blooded murder on the high seas, Mister President?” 
 
    Karl was a little unnerved by the barely-veiled anger in his Commander-in-Chief’s voice that evening.  It was as if he was taking recent events very, very personally and that was not at all like him. 
 
    “Yeah, well,” the President had growled, “when the Ejército Argentino and your Navy gets its act together and provides the United Nations with a comprehensive list of all the missing and disappeared British servicemen from back in 1964, we can have a conversation about murder, General Lanusse.” 
 
    “Il Presidente Lanusse,” the other man retorted. 
 
    “I beg your pardon, sir,” Walter Brenckmann apologised ironically.  “I had not realised that there had been a recent election in the Argentine Republic?” 
 
    “Hundreds of ARA men have been drowned…” 
 
    “Yeah, real wars are like that.  Maybe we ought to talk again when you’ve had a little more time to consider your position.” 
 
    “You must stop the English…” 
 
    The translators eventually caught up. 
 
    “Il Presidente,” Walter Brenckmann rasped, determining that it was time for a little frank, and very undiplomatic talking.  “The only reason you got away with invading those islands down there in the South Atlantic in 1964 was that ‘the English’ were fighting the Soviet Union on their own.   Three months later, the English went to war with the United States for forty-eight hours in the Persian Gulf and sank half the US Navy at the same time they were ripping the guts out of two Soviet tank armies.” 
 
    Lanusse attempted to interrupt. 
 
    “Sir,” Walter growled, “have the courtesy to hear me out.  If you listen you might actually learn something.  Please do not interpret my Administration’s withdrawal of direct military support and its demands for the strictest possible adherence to the rule of international law as commonly understood between the two oldest, closest, and implicitly allied democracies in the world.  Please be aware that my Administration places the same strictures imposed upon ‘the English’ upon your armed forces.  Please do not imagine, for a single moment, that I have washed my hands of my friends in England.  That said, Doctor Kissinger remains ready to travel to Buenos Aires to explain this, any other matters you feel might benefit from clarification and to discuss how best to end this unnecessary conflict without further loss of life.  Moreover, the United States stands ready to support the United Nations, or to directly guarantee a lasting peace in the waters of the South Atlantic.”  He bit off a last, angry rebuke, exchanged looks with Henry Kissinger and his Secretary of Defense and concluded: “That is all, sir.” 
 
    He pushed back his chair. 
 
    “Cut the line; I’m done with this horse shit!” 
 
    None of the men in the Oval Office, or any of the staffers listening in on the call had ever heard the President this angry; later they would recollect it was the only time that year that he actually lost his temper. 
 
    “Goddammit!”  He breathed almost but not quite under his breath.  He rose to his feet, prompting everybody else to jump up.  However, he had already got his ire under control by then. 
 
    He half-smiled at Jack McCain. 
 
    “I’m turning in,” he announced.  “You have the con, Mister McCain.” 
 
    There was a general sigh of relief. 
 
    The Commander-in-Chief was not about to nuke anybody tonight. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 20 
 
      
 
    01:35 Hours (Local) 
 
    ARA Veinticinco de Mayo, Bahia Blanco, off Puerto Rosales 
 
      
 
    Juan Bonham-Garcia had called the LDSO Division together in an impromptu briefing on the hangar deck. 
 
    ‘Commander Griezmann has been temporarily relieved of command,’ he had explained.  It did not need to be any more complicated than that.  ‘I’ve been thrown the ball; all the men transferred to the Indepencia II will be coming back on board before the squadron sorties tomorrow.  It is expected that the Indepencia’s aircraft will be landed on the flagship after any general fleet action.’ 
 
    He was asked what the other carrier was going to be doing while all this was going on.  The others knew the Indepencia II did not have any, let alone a ‘worked up’ or half-trained deck landing capability, no crew to even tension the traps.  It was pathetic, really, sending her to sea half-manned, hardly able to steam let alone fight; Juan might have got angry about it if he had had the time or the energy. 
 
    His conversation with Commander Martin Bauer, the Veinticinco de Mayo’s no-nonsense CAG had painted – if it had been needed – a graphically stark picture of OPERATION RIVADAVIA and its very slim chances of success but Juan was not about to tell his people, man-to-man, that the ARA was embarking upon what was, in effect, a…death ride. 
 
    Now, exhausted, he had returned to his cabin with his head spinning with dark premonitions, needing very badly to pull himself together and to snatch, if he could a few hours rest.  There would be little opportunity for either in the coming days. 
 
    However, word had been passed that there would be one last mail call before the Northern Strike Force departed Bahia Blanco; all over the ship men were attempting to put pen to paper.  Now was the time, in all probability the last chance, to confess his sins, especially one of omission which in hindsight, he regretted more than somewhat. 
 
    So, sleep would have to wait a little longer. 
 
    My dearest Mama and Papa… 
 
    Around him the ship was quietly alive; distant generators reverberated through the steel latticework of the Veinticinco de Mayo’s fabric, faraway, the fire room blowers whispered.  Only a pair of the great ship’s eight Babcock and Wilcox boilers were lit, both on a ‘low burner’ as the engine room snipes would say.  In the middle watch – 00:00 to 04:00 hours – a ship in harbour, or at anchor went quiet, if never still or silent.  Like any big ship the carrier creaked, cables rattled, machinery thrummed in her bowels, she was a living, breathing village moored like an island in the stream. 
 
    First, an apology.  In retrospect I ought to have written this letter some months ago.  Or, actually, I should have had the courage to speak to you – I am sure I could have talked myself on board a flight out to the Malvinas – as soon as I returned from Florida in April.  But life is full of ‘mights’ and ‘ought to haves’, I suppose. 
 
    His time in America qualifying as a DSLO had been revelatory in so many ways that he was still struggling to come to terms with it.  He had been surrounded by candidates hugely better prepared for the course than he, many in between tours on one or other of the big US flat tops.  He had felt a little inadequate to begin with; even though he was flight certified on both North America T-28 Trojans and the ARA’s standard trainer, the SNJ-5C Texan (usually called a ‘Harvard’ by his American friends).  However, messing and competing with men who flew McDonnell Douglas A-4 Skyhawks, and supersonic Vought F-8 Crusaders, he had come in for a lot of ribbing about flying those old jalopies, which to his fast-jet companions seemed more like driving a dumper truck than a street racer!  His time in the United States, three months ashore and three at sea on board the USS Ticonderoga - had been the happiest and most rewarding of his career, and incidentally of his personal life, to date! 
 
    I should have told you about Rita before now. 
 
    Margarita Clark Freemont’s father had been killed in the fighting for the Pusan perimeter on Christmas Day 1965.  An only child, she and her mother, Martha, had been living at Camp Pendleton in southern California at the time, afterwards moving back to Florida where her mother’s parents had retired the year before the October War.  Sadly, the older folk were gone now; they had been taken during the influenza outbreak of the winter of 1967-68, leaving Marth and her daughter rattling around the family’s big house in Jacksonville, a place that inevitably, now retained a host of bad memories. 
 
    This Juan explained in the next two paragraphs. 
 
    Rita is a legal secretary but she still works tables three or four days a night to help her Mama, who struggles with the bills keeping their house.  ‘Spooky, that was how the President and his wife met,’ she reminded me the first time we talked about anything that mattered. 
 
    The first couple of times, Juan had only met Rita in the company of other jocks on the DSLO Course at Mayport, close to the St John’s River US Navy base, the USS Ticonderoga’s home port.  Most of the others were a few years older than him, several were married already with kids; and understandably, they tended to treat him a little like he was their out-of-town hick kid brother who could not be trusted to look after himself in the big city. 
 
    All of this found its way, hardly edited onto one, then a second page of the letter.  Likewise, that Rita was a brunette with almond eyes that twinkled when she laughed, which was often because she was the sort of person who, whenever possible liked to pretend that the glass was half-full, not empty.  He had been smitten that first week, and belatedly, he had discovered that Rita felt the same way about him. 
 
    You should know that I asked Rita to marry me and after keeping me on tenterhooks for at least five seconds, she laughed, and said yes. 
 
    Actually, she had teased him: ‘I thought you’d never ask,’ and added, ‘if you hadn’t, I’d have proposed to you before you got on the plane home!’ 
 
    Rita had been brought up in a casually episcopalian family; like Juan she was not particularly religious.  However, he did not know how marrying outside of their church would be received by his parents.  Nevertheless, he made a clean breast of it and felt better for it. 
 
    We write to each other every week, sometimes more, making our plans. 
 
    Those plans had passed through several iterations, he explained.  There was nothing they could do about being separated for a few months.  He had been returning to Puerto Belgrano to join the Veinticinco de Mayo and Rita’s mother was not in the best of health, the latest ‘bug’ passing across the southern states had exacerbated her asthma, and trying to live on a Marine Major’s Widow’s pension was no picnic. 
 
    And besides, in the short-term, courting from afar by post was well…romantic.  Shades of Peter and Marija Christopher’s slow-burning romance over all those years before they finally met, face-to-face, and within weeks became the most instantly recognised, famous couple in the world. 
 
    The thought stabbed in his mind that sometime in the next few days he might find himself trying to kill Peter Christopher, a thing any right-thinking officer and gentleman ought to find just…wrong.  His little brother and sister idolised, in their different ways, the Christophers.  To Lucia, Lady Marija was a Cinderella-like princess, and to his little – or rather, quite tall apparently these days – brother Carlos just being on board his hero’s ship must have been…truly weird. 
 
    Rita speaks fluent Spanish.  That is, of the Americana-Mexica kind, from her time living so near the Mexican border and having had so many Latino friends at school and when she was starting at college in San Diego. 
 
    When he had told Rita about what life was really like in his homeland, she had been philosophical: ‘My Ma and Pa always voted Republican.  So, they were never political, neither am I.’ 
 
    We talked about living in Argentina but what with the war I am not sure how that would work out.  Anyway, it would not be possible at the moment.  She cannot, and I would not ask her to leave her Mama. 
 
    At this point Juan took a couple of very deep breaths, psyching himself up to scribble the lines that could not be put off any longer. 
 
    Having already penned four-fifth of the ‘Hello dearest Mama and Papa, I met a girl called Rita in Jacksonville and we’re getting married’ letter, he took his courage in his hands and plunged onward. 
 
    I had hoped to talk things over with you.  My resolve failed me and of course, you have been over there, and I have been over here and we have all been very busy; nevertheless, I ought to have spoken of this to you both. 
 
    Another deep, calming breath. 
 
    I have decided that it is for the best that I resign my commission in the ARA.  The Argentine is no place to ask the woman I love to begin a new life and I no longer feel that I belong in a country which treats its own people the way we do.  Therefore, after this stupid war is over, I intend to travel to America, find work, hopefully in the aircraft business, marry Rita and settle in Jacksonville, Florida. 
 
    In writing these words he felt a weight lifting off his shoulders, if not a new, then a better man. 
 
    It goes without saying that Rita and I ask for your blessing in this, and in all our plans. 
 
    The last time Juan had felt this relieved, this light-headed was when he jumped down from the cockpit of the clunky old Texan trainer in which he had just survived his first solo flight! 
 
    I am, as always, your loving and devoted son, Juan. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 21 
 
      
 
    05:45 Hours (GMT 02:45 (Local) 
 
    HMS Ark Royal, 149 miles North of Pebble Island, West Falkland 
 
      
 
    Vice Admiral Sir Henry Leach had contemplated having a nap but concluding that he would only toss and turn worrying about a host of things over which, honestly, he had little or no control over, he had decided to go for a stroll instead.  Preying on his mind was the small matter – given the fine old mess the political classes back home had just gotten him into - of the ongoing viability of OPERATION GRANDSTAND to discuss with the one man on board, whose wise counsel he knew he would be a fool unto himself to ignore, the Ark Royal’s Captain, forty-five-year-old John Roberts. 
 
    By a happy coincidence the two men were near contemporaries with less than six months between them, who brought thoroughly complimentary skills and experiences to their respective roles. 
 
    Roberts had joined the service in 1941.  Whereas, Leach had become a gunner, Roberts had gone into the Fleet Air Arm, reaching the pinnacle of this career as a naval aviator in 1957, commanding 803 Naval Air Squadron flying Hawker Sea Hawk fighters.  His first sea-going command had been the frigate St Bride’s Bay in 1960, and during the Mediterranean battles of 1964 he had commanded the Puma, the crippled frigate Peter Christopher’s Talavera had towed off that now famous lee shore at the height of the Battle of Lampedusa.  Wounded in that action he had been invalided back to the United Kingdom, subsequently commanding the Kent, one of the giant – horribly manpower hungry – Des Moines class cruisers transferred to the Royal Navy, during the opening phase of the French campaign.  Later, it had fallen to him to bring ‘the Ark’ back to England at the conclusion of her refit-modernisation-rejuvenation at Brooklyn last year. 
 
    The carrier’s commanding officer had already seen the offending signal from Fleet HQ: “That’s a bit rich, sir,” he had observed tartly, struggling to keep a lid on his fulminating ire. 
 
    The Task Force Commander shrugged. 
 
    “It is what it is,” he re-joined.  “Ours is not to reason why, and all that tosh!” 
 
    Henry Leach’s Flag Captain was a little mystified by his superior’s apparent equanimity. 
 
    “Oddly,” CINCSATF admitted, “Ian Gourlay and I discussed this,” he confided.  “Well, not exactly this; but other seemingly bizarre eventualities.  It was always likely that the politicians, either ours or the chaps in Washington, or events elsewhere in the world, might, just might threaten to de-rail things down here in the South Atlantic.  Regardless of the old aphorism ‘beware of politicos bearing gifts’ one has to assume that something will always go wrong, what?” 
 
    John Roberts acknowledged this with a nod and carried on ruminating about the iniquities of the Service. 
 
    “Once the other people,” Leach offered, waving in the general direction of the Argentine mainland hundreds of miles to the west, “get it into their heads that the submarine menace isn’t about to wipe them out the moment they reach deep water; the blighters will be an awful lot more inclined to come out and fight.  Granted, in any contretemps I’d rather have a score of post-Second War built frigates and destroyers and the Ark’s Phantoms and Buccaneers to hand, than the other side’s unmodernised museum ships, Corsairs and converted trainers masquerading as fighter-bombers, wouldn’t you?” 
 
    “Looking at it that way, yes, sir,” Roberts conceded, a little grudgingly. 
 
    With a bomb slung under its belly a Trojan was the match for a Second War Zero, and a Texan for a Japanese Val bomber, and there was no forgetting that the ARA had at least a handful of Skyhawks, and even a few old Avenger torpedo bombers, probably a brace of Skyraiders to boot; if they got close enough those aircraft were capable of inflicting serious damage to the Task Force. 
 
    If they got through, that was... 
 
    Which, in the absence of their screening SSNs, and forbidden to do anything more aggressive than wait and see what those two Second War flat-tops, the former USS Bunker Hill and USS Franklin did next, was suddenly a lot more likely than it had been even a few hours ago.  In fact, twelve hours ago John Roberts would have rated the chances of any of the Veinticinco de Mayo’s or the Indepencia II’s aircraft laying a finger on the Ark Royal, the vessels of her Battle Group, or any other Royal Navy ship in the South Atlantic as zero.  Now, he was horribly aware of the sixty, seventy or eighty, perhaps more aircraft those two carriers might potentially carry, and that the new – rankly outrageous - self-defence diktat under which the Task Force was operating meant, in simple terms, that until those Argentine carriers launched a major strike at the Ark Royal, or the Bulwark, or the ships in San Carlos Water, Henry Leach’s hands were tied. 
 
    It was bloody ridiculous! 
 
    And he said as much to Leach. 
 
    “Yes, I suppose that’s one way of looking at it,” the other man conceded.  “It does rather seem that our friends in Washington, and Oxford, have rather gone out of their way to turn this thing into a half-way fair fight!” 
 
    The Ark Royal’s captain felt bound to re-state the patently bloody obvious: “The problem is those two carriers could actually get well within a hundred miles of us and launch an all-out strike and there would be nothing we could do but roll with the punch, sir.  Right now, I’ve got thirteen serviceable Phantoms and eleven Buccaneers on the flight line, airframe for airframe those kites are better than anything the enemy can throw at us but they can only be in one place at a time, and if we have up to a hundred Argentine aircraft coming at us from all points of the compass, well…” 
 
    Henry Leach had nodded. 
 
    “Yes, food for thought and all that,” he agreed. 
 
    He needed time to think; it was always a mistake not to take all the available time to think things through.  He suggested the two men swap notes again in thirty minutes, and went on his way, thinking his thoughts, ambling about his flagship, to the world a man without a care. 
 
    He had never been convinced torpedoing each and every ARA ship that dared to stray outside Argentine territorial waters had been a terribly good idea.  Apart from anything else, it was a wholly disproportionate employment of force in a situation in which there was a better than fifty-fifty chance that the entire ARA would, in any event, meekly sit out the war in port.  That after all, was the logical thing to do given the armada awaiting it in the vicinity of the Falkland Islands.  The problem was that he was not going to have the Warspite and the Valiant acting as long-range pickets.  Nor, in the circumstances did he foresee that any request he put through to Fleet Headquarters for one or other of the diesel-electric boats currently keeping watch on the approaches to Cape Pembroke and Falkland Sound, or ferrying special forces hither and thither around the archipelago, being released as stop-gap replacements for the banished SSNs.  Clearly, the Ocelot, Otter and Grampus, and the newly arrived in theatre Onslaught, presently refuelling and victualling at Leith Harbour ahead of relieving the Ocelot, were not about to be re-tasked in contravention of the radically altered rules of engagement under which the Task Force was now operating. 
 
    A little gremlin, what he sometimes privately regarded as his inner ‘wicked pixie’ told him that he was so far from home that basically, he could probably get away with judiciously bending the rules but actually, that would go against the grain.  He had received radically new orders and if he started picking and choosing which orders he wanted to obey, then how on earth could he ask any man under his command to pay a blind bit of notice to his own orders? 
 
    No, the only thing to do was to leave the politicking to his elders and betters in England, get used to the idea that the Navy was going to have to get the job done with one hand tied behind its proverbial back, and carry on carrying on.  And, if he was looking for reasons to be cheerful – which, generally speaking he was - it was not as if the resources at his disposal were negligible! 
 
    Yes, he would be happier if Hermes and her battle group were patrolling the southern approaches to the disputed islands.  Her presence would have approximately doubled the air power available to him but actually, Ark Royal’s Phantoms and Buccaneers, and his clutch of airborne early warning Gannet turboprop aircraft ought – with a fair wind - to be sufficient to the task in hand.  Moreover, his best intelligence suggested that the enemy had removed his most capable warplanes to the mainland, and no longer possessed a serviceable local runway long enough to operate fast jets; and it was not as if the enemy had many, if any, warplanes capable of operating over the Falklands from bases in the Argentine.  So, notwithstanding the enemy must have managed to secret away a small number of helicopters, even perhaps a miscellany of Second War vintage aircraft around the archipelago, no doubt praying for a spell of dry weather to permit them to use hastily-prepared short, grass runways, he confidently expected the Ark’s air group to own the airspace over the bridgehead David Penberthy’s Assault Group was going to be establishing and expanding over the next five to seven days around San Carlos Water. 
 
    The whole of 1st Commando Brigade – 42, 43 and 46 Commandos – would be ashore, and San Carlos Water secured within twenty-four hours.  All things considered, that part of the exercise was going swimmingly well with, thus far, only very light casualties, with the Argentines putting up little more than scattered, token resistance. 
 
    Yes, there were plenty of reasons to be cheerful. 
 
    One just had to put one’s mind to finding them! 
 
    Their Lords of Admiralty had given him a pretty big stick to wield: including the ships at South Georgia and those in transit south from England, Leach had at any one time between forty and fifty ships available for operations, and ten to fifteen replenishing, resting or conducting minor repairs in the shelter of Stromness Bay or the newly completed ordnance depot at King Edward Cove, Grytviken.  The Kestrels brought down to the South Atlantic on board the Hermes and the Bulwark had been off-loaded and would in the fulness of time be operational onboard the Hermes.  Moreover, a temporary Naval Air Maintenance Station now existed at Leith Harbour to activate the thirty or so Kestrels the Victorious was bringing south at that very moment.  It was a pity about having to offload all of Hermes’s Sea Vixens…but needs must, and all that.  The main thing was that, hopefully, Hermes would soon be steaming for the Falklands, bringing with her the Terrier-armed County class destroyer Hampshire, the fleet oiler Tidespring and as many as six or seven fresh frigates and destroyers to join the fight.  Meanwhile, Hampshire’s half-sister, the Norfolk, would rendezvous with the Victorious and her escorts in mid-Atlantic, any day now and initially, accompany her to South Georgia. 
 
    Henry Leach had been thinking about that for the last few days, mulling the pros and cons of diverting the old carrier directly to San Carlos with a view to establishing a forward air base for at least some of her Kestrels within the bridgehead.  He had planned to have a chinwag with David Penberthy and Ian Gourlay about that; a conversation which now might have assumed a much greater urgency.  It was too early to sound panic stations yet but the notion of having a squadron of Kestrels ashore sometime in the next two to three weeks was suddenly…seductive. 
 
    His anger was gradually morphing to irritation; mainly because whatever had just caused the volte face over the Task Force’s Rules of Engagement could not possibly have come out of the blue to anybody in Oxford.  Well, assuming the people back home had actually been talking to the Americans in the last five years!  Had the people back home – by whom he meant the War Cabinet, not the Chiefs of Staff who would have been sworn to confidentiality by the politicians – told him what he was up against he would not have configured the Task Force in its present fighting order, and he, David Penberthy and Ian Gourlay would most certainly not have gone about their business as they had in the last fortnight! 
 
    Notwithstanding, he had already determined to despatch the Liverpool to cover the southern approaches to Falkland Sound; that was a given the moment he learned that Warspite was no longer ‘looking after’ what remained of the ARA’s Southern Strike Group.  He simply could not allow two enemy cruisers and a gaggle of destroyers to fall on the frigates keeping watch on East Falkland, or the southern approaches to Falkland Sound. 
 
    Other things were less amenable to quick fixes.  Much had been predicated on the Silent Service guarding his flanks; no way would he have kicked off OPERATION GRANDSTAND without the Hermes and her battle group had he known then – a week ago – what he knew now.  Better than a third of the South Atlantic Task Force’s available fighting strength was still hundreds of miles away in South Georgian waters; those bloody SSNs had been his ‘force equalizer’, the trump cards that enabled him to accept risks that otherwise, he would have declined. 
 
    Put bluntly, had he known the SSNs were off the table he would have delayed the opening phase of OPERATION GRANDSTAND at least ten, possibly fifteen or twenty days and almost certainly communicated his concern that in the changed operational environment, consideration ought to be given to abandoning it altogether, as he went about re-drawing his plans to compensate for the non-availability of the wonder submarines. 
 
    After leaving the Ark Royal’s captain to his own devices, the Task Force Commander eventually made his way down to the CIC, following a circuitous route which gave him time to collect a few more of his thoughts, and to chat amiably to practically every man he encountered. 
 
    Down in the CIC, the darkened cockpit of the great ship, situated forward of the carrier’s Special Munitions Magazine – which for the duration of OPERATION SOMERVILLE, its custom-made cradles had remained unused, as they had ever since the ship sailed to New York for her modernisation refit – Leach reviewed the current disposition of his fleet.  Not for the first time he reflected that the whole South Atlantic adventure would have been impossible without the eleven former Fletcher and Allen M. Sumner gunship destroyers, not forgetting the mighty Liverpool, pressed into service to form the core of the Task Force.  The transferred ships were outnumbered about two-to-one by the ‘British-built’ element in theatre and on their way, a real hotch-potch of mostly tired hulls.  In addition to the light-cruiser sized Counties, there were representatives of the ‘C’, Daring and Battle classes of DD, including the Cambrian, Carysfort, Corunna, Daring, Diana, Duchess, and the Dunkirk; general purpose Leander class frigates like the Euryalus, Arethusa, Ajax and Naiad, anti-submarine frigates like the three Tribals, Ashanti, Mohawk and Zulu, and the Lowestoft, Whitby, Plymouth, Tenby and Scarborough, the Lynx class frigates Jaguar and Puma, and the modified aircraft direction frigates Salisbury and Lincoln.  In company with both the Ark Royal and the Bulwark’s battle groups were fleet oilers, ammunition re-supply, and fast stores ships…and until a few hours ago the South Atlantic had been positively teeming with SSNs and a flexible hand of super-quiet diesel-electric submarines. 
 
    No, there was no point sulking about that! 
 
    Accentuate the positive, old man! 
 
    Hermes was still at Leith Harbour, readying to sail.  Presumably that meant putting the pieces of her port turbine set back into crates and lashing down everything moveable in that engine room.  No matter, the main thing was that she would soon be back in the fight.  Meanwhile, the P and O Liner Canberra had departed King Edward Cove twelve hours ago bound for San Carlos Water, where at this very moment the landing craft of the first of the two big assault ships, the Fearless, would be starting to land men of 42 Commando at Ajax Bay, with, close on her heels, the Intrepid, putting ashore men of 43 Commando on the south eastern shores of the anchorage.  By dawn there would be at least two companies of 46 Commando investing the northern heights, and flanking the Argentine positions on the Green Mountains overlooking the men of 43 Commando as they stormed ashore, and the western isthmus south of Chancho Point would be firmly in the hands of the men of 42 Commando.  By close of play at dusk on D plus 1, over two thousand Royal Marines and tens of tons of war supplies would have been landed. 
 
    Again, accentuating the positive, the assault forces had reported very little resistance, none of it co-ordinated and casualties had, thus far, been negligible. 
 
    Within seventy-two hours the Canberra, and her cargo of over two thousand five hundred men of the 3rd Battalion, The Parachute Regiment, the five-hundred brigands of Sergey Akhromeyev’s fearsome Vindrey Commando, three companies of the 2nd Ghurkha Rifles, and the 1st Battalion Scots Guards, would be fed into what by then, ought to be a well-established and relatively secure beachhead. 
 
    Contrary to the fears of many, it seemed that the Canberra’s potentially volatile ‘mix’ of units had knocked along ‘fairly well’ on the long voyage south to Walvis Bay, where they had exercised together for over a week before resuming the transit south.  Henry Leach grimaced every time he contemplated what a powder keg that ship must be! 
 
    The hard men of the Airborne Division (who had never got on that famously with the rest of the British Army, let alone anyone else’s), the fearless little men from the hills of Nepal with their fearsome razor-sharp Kukris, the Guardsmen (who naturally assumed that they were a superior form of life to all others in any army in any country that had ever existed), and the mercenaries of the Vindrey Commando, exclusively recruited from the ranks of exiled former Soviet soldiers under the command of a onetime Spetsnaz man-cum-brigand of the French Campaign, who had sworn allegiance to the Crown only on the express condition that he would never be ordered to bear arms against his former countrymen, all together on the one ship! 
 
    Yesterday, the hospital ship, the SS Himalaya, another former P and O liner taken into Government service after the October War, now radically converted for her new role with helicopter landing pads fore and aft completely altering her pre-war silhouette, had joined the Assault Group.  Once the Canberra had delivered her fighting men to San Carlos, the Himalaya would anchor in the inlet, where it was anticipated she would be sorely needed in the coming days and weeks. 
 
    The sand table exercises conducted by the South Atlantic Planning group, which after the fiasco of OPERATION UPLAND GOOSE had been redesignated the Joint Staff Combined South Atlantic Operational Planning Group, had postulated that the first assault wave might suffer up to forty percent casualties in the first seven days of the campaign.  It was for this reason that the build-up of troops in the bridgehead around San Carlos Water had been accelerated.  The requirement finally being stated as: H Hour +24, 2,100 men ashore; D+3 to D+4, 4,400, and by D+8 to D+11, 6,900. 
 
    The weather was always the joker in the pack in these latitudes and although the former Cunard cargo liners Carmania and Franconia carrying nearly three thousand men and their equipment – of the 2nd Battalion Coldstream Guards, 1st Battalion the Green Jackets and four hundred men of the 201st Royal Marines Combat Engineering Company, and a large contingent of Royal Engineers - were scheduled to be off the landing beaches within seven days of D-Day, it was recognised that getting them ashore on schedule might be moot if the weather took a hand. 
 
    Thereafter, the campaign plan foresaw a twenty-one to twenty-eight day build-up in which operations to expand the bridgehead apart, offensive operations would be limited to conserve manpower and war supplies ahead of a fourteen-day all-out ‘push’ – aiming to secure Teal Inlet as a base for subsequent operations – on a northern axis towards Mount Kent and Murrell Bridge, part of the way to Stanley-Puerto Argentino, while a simultaneous spoiling operation was conducted south towards the Darwin-Goose Green Sector to shield the right-hand flank of the main advance. 
 
    The southern operation would also have the benefit of isolating enemy forces on the Darwin-Goose Green isthmus, and cutting off any Argentine units on Lafonia, while threatening a second line of advance east along the coast towards Bluff Cove and Fitzroy reducing the enemy’s ability to concentrate his forces against the Teal Inlet operation.  The object of the breakout, second phase of operations would be to take and hold ground east of Teal Inlet and around Kent Mountain, thereby establishing forward bases and supply depots ahead of an assault on the Argentine defenders’ mountain defence line guarding the approaches to Stanley-Puerto Argentino early in the New Year. 
 
    By then it was assumed, the ground forces would have reached maximum strength, around nine thousand men.  Thereafter, there would be no further substantial reinforcements; principally this was because a land force of this size was the absolute limit that the Task Force could sustain in the field for any length of time.  And besides, the clock was already ticking. 
 
    Soon, it would be the height of the Austral Summer, if they were lucky, very lucky, this only moderately wet, windy campaigning season might last until mid-March, after that autumn would be upon them and soon, the winter and nobody who knew anything about this part of the world wanted to be fighting a war in the middle of the Austral winter! 
 
    Even at this time of the year, it was to be expected that storms were going to regularly disrupt the logistics train of ships plying the eight hundred troubled miles between the vital South Georgian logistical hub and the Falklands. 
 
    The C-in-C South Atlantic Task Force sighed. 
 
    Yes, Mrs Thatcher and her chums had landed he and his people in another fine old mess! 
 
    “Warn Liverpool that tomorrow night I want her to take two of her Fletchers south down Falkland Sound to keep watch on the south western approaches to West Falkland.  Other ships will be tasked to join her in due course.  Liverpool to command in that sector upon clearing the Sound.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 22 
 
      
 
    10:10 Hours (GMT) 
 
    HMS Victorious, 197 miles SSW of Dakar, Senegal 
 
      
 
    From a distance the massive ‘horn’ of the Type 984 3D S-band radar mounted above the compass platform of the island superstructure of HMS Victorious, looked like a gargantuan search light.  Which, of course, in the electromagnetic spectrum it was, in theory, out to a range of about one-hundred-and-eighty miles. 
 
    At the time of its introduction into service, in 1956, it had probably been the most advanced 3D radar system installed on any warship in the world.  However, that was then and this was now. 
 
    Back in the mid-fifties the Type 984 had been revolutionary, forsaking the concept of a parabolic reflector aerial in favour of metallic tube-arrays on a fully-stabilized rotational mount designed to enable it to operate at maximum efficiency in all but a hurricane.  However, although originally intended to weigh in at fifteen tons – itself a ludicrous amount of weight to contemplate installing high in a ship’s superstructure – in its standard operational configuration, the Type 984 had eventually tipped the scales at around thirty tons, ruling out its use on any but the Royal Navy’s largest carriers, the Eagle, the Victorious, the Ark Royal and the Hermes. 
 
    The Admiralty had, nevertheless doggedly persisted with the 984, developing the system right up until the October War.  Forgetting its weight and complexity, even in the early 1960s, it had been if not revolutionary, then certainly state of the art.  Linked as it was to a CDS – Comprehensive Display System (a second-generation digital computer) – which automated the analysis and presentation of its scanning data in real time, enabling just a pair of operators to do the work previously requiring a team of a dozen or more men, it combined the functions of long-range early warning, so-called ‘track while scan’ predicting the vectors of existing contacts while scanning for new ones, and was employable for both local airspace control around its host ship, and mid- to long-range interception command and control. 
 
    Like most advanced systems developed and introduced in the decade or so before the October War, there had always been problems with the system.  Apart from its size, that was.  The biggest disappointment was the discovery that in operational service that its detection envelope for smaller, fast-moving targets was only about forty miles, which translated into a maximum two to three minutes’ warning of the approach of modern strike aircraft, or significantly less if they were coming in at wave-top height. 
 
    There were other issues, none of which had ever been satisfactorily addressed.  For example, back in the early 1950s when the Type 984 was still on the drawing board the part of the microwave band designated as the S Band – the frequencies between two and four gigahertz, either side of the accepted dividing line between the UHF (Ultra High Frequency) and SHF (Super High Frequency) bands – was, rather complacently and with a stunning lack of foresight by ‘experts’ who ought to have known better - not considered ‘jammable’ and for utilisation at sea, particularly far from land, the band was, curiously, regarded as electro-magnetically ‘clean’.  Needless to say, neither clause necessarily applied by late 1969. 
 
    Moreover, the Royal Navy had never considered the Type 984 variants fitted to its aircraft carriers as being the definitive ‘end fit’; in October 1962 the ‘kit’ had still been a work in progress, with each individual installation being in effect, a test bed subject to continuous ongoing re-design and ‘tweaking’, a painfully slow iterative process which at no stage prioritised the operational requirements of the Fleet, because there was only ever one, or two of the ‘foghorns’ actually in service at any one time.  Inevitably, since 1962, those existing ‘fits’ had been patched, suffered no end of wear and tear – not to mention incidental battle damage - and suffered a worsening shortage, and latterly, from the non-availability of spares and vital components, which now meant that even during her adventures in the Mediterranean – prior to her last spell in the Reserve Fleet – the Victorious’s 984 had only ever functioned in what, at best, was a distinctly sub-optimal fashion. 
 
    During her rushed reactivation nobody had even bothered attempting to resuscitate the carrier’s Type 984.  In fact, had there been time, one suggestion had been that the ‘foghorn’ might have been cut off and offloaded prior to leaving Portsmouth.  No ship needed that much wholly useless topweight so high up in her superstructure. 
 
    There had been no time. 
 
    The news about the Hermes’s ‘stripped’ turbine blades had sent a frisson of well, if not panic – because that was not the Navy way – then undignified alarm through the Admiralty and suddenly, Fleet Headquarters had been literally pushing the old carrier out to sea with what amounted to positively ungodly, unseemly haste.  Thus, it happened that the great big, completely inert ‘foghorn’ dominating the silhouette of the old aircraft carrier was far from the only thing not working, or ever likely to work again on the Victorious. 
 
    It was symptomatic of the febrile atmosphere at Fleet headquarters that autumn, that just the merest suggestion that the Hermes might not be able to operate fixed-wing aircraft – and she was not going to be doing that any time soon with one of her two turbine sets lying in pieces on her engine room deck plates – had galvanised the Admiralty into frantic action.  Suddenly, there had been a crashing need to in some way, somehow, whatever the cost or the risks, get more – of what description was academic - ‘deployable’ air power down to the South Atlantic.  Not to put too fine a point on it; if anything happened to the only other available fully-operational fleet carrier, the Ark Royal, they might lose the war and that, could not be allowed to happen! 
 
    So, the Victorious had been towed from what might otherwise have been her last anchorage as a Royal Navy ship – the Reserve Fleet graveyard in Fareham Creek to the north of Portsmouth naval Base – to the fitting out basin next to Nelson’s dry-docked flagship at Trafalgar, HMS Victory, and fifteen days later her new commanding officer, thirty-one-year-old Acting Commander John Cunningham Kirkwood ‘Jock’ Slater, had presided over her somewhat chaotic, and decidedly low-key re-commissioning. 
 
    He had only arrived on board ten days before, finding the ship in such a mess he wondered if he had misunderstood his orders, and somebody had decided to scrap, not refit what was after all, only his second command. 
 
    His brief, first command had been of a four-hundred-ton minesweeper, the Glassington; so, all things considered, to find himself posted captain of a thirty-thousand ton – albeit one somewhat run into the ground and down on her luck – fleet aircraft carrier, was quite a thing to get used to.  It was the sort of leap into the unknown that would have crushed many vastly more experienced officers; not so Jock Slater who had been having the time of his life the last month. 
 
    ‘We’re not going to get her port turbine set going again this side of a major overhaul,’ Slater had been informed, ‘you’ll have to make the best of a bad deal!’ 
 
    Fortunately, Victorious, even in her first, pre-1950s rebuilding had been a slightly bigger, roomier ship than the post-war Hermes.  She had three sets of Parsons geared turbines and three shafts, not the Hermes’s two, which meant that at a pinch she could still steam at around, or slightly better than twenty-one or two knots.  Well, in theory.  She could certainly maintain a steady fifteen knots almost indefinitely; probably not fast enough to operate conventional propeller or jet aircraft, admittedly but then, that was not her mission. 
 
    Her normal ‘aircraft carrier compliment’ of over twenty-four hundred men, fourteen hundred to crew the ship and a thousand to keep her birds in the air, had been reduced to a skeleton eight-hundred-and-seventy men for the cruise down to South Georgia, and over five hundred of the men on board were RAF personnel, including forty-six pilots and a score of other backseat airmen.  Basically, Jock Slater had sufficient men to steam and to steer the ship; but not to fight her, and her cargo and the RAF men cluttering up, and generally making untidy, her lower decks were to be offloaded when she reached her destination because wisely, Victorious was going nowhere near the enemy! 
 
    If Hermes could not spit De Havilland Sea Vixens fighters and Blackburn Buccaneer strike aircraft off her deck, those aircraft would be parked on board the Victorious to be returned to the United Kingdom, while as many as possible of the thirty-one Kestrel vertical take-off and landing – VTOL – subsonic jet fighters of No 105 and No 112 Squadrons of the RAF, and four Sea King helicopters of No 824 Naval Air Squadron presently parked in the old warhorse’s heavily armoured hangar would cross-deck to the Hermes.  Unlike Victorious, Hermes, even on one shaft was still a fighting ship and if the Kestrels might not be the match of Sea Vixens, once they got within range of the Falkland Islands, they would go a long way to making up the shortfall. 
 
    Well, that was the theory. 
 
    First things first; Jock Slater had to get the Victorious down to the South Atlantic without hitting a rock! 
 
    Inevitably, the RAF wanted to get their toys out to play with; initially, a thing he had no truck with.  The junior service had come aboard at Portsmouth clearly planning to throw its weight around, appointing an Air Commodore to command the Kestrel Force. 
 
    Which was fine and dandy but Victorious did not have a LDSO division, no flight deck crew, and no meaningful damage control capability if an aircraft got into difficulties or crashed on deck.  The idea of even putting fuel in the tanks of those aircraft gave him nightmares.  And that was another thing; Victorious had been sent to sea with her magazines stuffed full of ordnance and her AVGAS bunkers topped off; so, the whole ship was a floating bomb! 
 
    None of this cut any ice with the RAF. 
 
    Forty-eight-year-old Air Commodore the Honourable Harry ‘Hal’ Chesney-Grigson had flown souped-up Spitfire photo-reconnaissance aircraft over occupied France in 1943, got shot down and been one of the men who had not quite made it out of Stalag Luft III at Sagan, in East Germany in the doomed mass breakout of February 1944.  He was charming, a marvellous dining companion but sadly, had a very big flea in his ear about who exactly, was in charge. 
 
    No matter how many times Jock Slater pointed out that the problem with attempting flight deck evolutions at sea was that he did not possess a flight deck crew – or any of the required paraphernalia required - the older, vastly more senior man simply did not get it. 
 
    ‘Look, if anything goes wrong,’ Slater had explained in exasperation, very nearly losing his temper – which would have been unforgivable, the man was a guest on his ship – ‘there won’t be anybody to stop one of your kites rolling off the deck, or into something else and if there’s a fire, or some other kind of accident, it would almost certainly overwhelm my under-strength damage control teams.  And before you say it, neither the Bromyard or the Headington have ever exercised plane guard evolutions.’ 
 
    Victorious’s escorts were both on ‘shake down’ maiden cruises under the White Ensign, recently transferred Allen M. Sumner class former US Navy destroyers, with raw crews under officers, like himself, promoted ahead of their normal time, or recalled from the Reserve in an attempt to cope with the Royal Navy’s ever-deepening manpower crisis. 
 
    The Service had been in the process of retrenchment before the French Campaign in 1966-67, in common with the other Armed Forces, adjusting to the crying need to release manpower and resources to begin the reconstruction at home, adjusting to the radically changing perceived priorities of the Thatcher Government.  The object of the exercise had been to end up with a significantly smaller fleet while which maintaining its ‘punch’ by focusing on quality not quantity; a process which would have been impractical without American help, in the form of ship and technology transfers.  To be fair, both the Army and the Royal Air Force had also been feeling the pain, just not so badly as the Senior Service which, having emerged more or less intact from the calamity of the October War, had subsequently taken a lot more than its fair share of the strain in the intervening years.  In any event, by the end of the French Campaign the pre-October War Royal Navy hardly existed any more, many of its ships were worn out, fit only to swing around their anchors in the Reserve Fleet, or too badly damaged to repair had just been scrapped.  Granted, the war in the South Atlantic had not exactly come out of the blue but nonetheless, the Fleet – all of it – had had to pull out all the stops to get the show on the road.  The home ports were empty of ships capable of steaming, and what vessels still remained in those ports and waters were maintained by no more than skeleton crews.  The training depots might be re-filling but right now, the bottom of the trained manpower barrel had well and truly been scraped! 
 
    This explained, in no small measure, why it came to be that the raggle-taggle flotilla heading south was under the command of a thirty-one-year-old acting commander, and why, Air Commodore the Honourable Harry ‘Hal’ Chesney-Grigson was under the mistaken impression that he was the man in charge.  Which, of course, he was not. 
 
    It was therefore, fortunate that in his relatively short career that Jack Slater had picked up a number of useful pointers as to how to conduct himself diplomacy-wise, and was now employing them.  It was not as if the RAF was his only problem.  It was bad enough that the boys in blue outnumbered his own motley crew, the majority of whom were a bunch of unhappy shore depot dwellers and misfits, many of whom had been hoping to receive their de-mobilisation papers at the time they were marched on board the Victorious.  That said, at least he knew where he stood with his Navy malcontents, most of whom clearly wanted to be somewhere else, either serving on another ship or back on Civvy Street.  The RAF people were another thing altogether! 
 
    He tried to put his angst to one side as he invited Harry Chesney-Grigson to accompany him on a constitutional on the flight deck late that afternoon.  It had been a relatively balmy day as they steamed at a steady sixteen knots farther, and farther into the tropics.  The seas were quiet, almost glassy and only the ship’s passage stirred the wind over the carrier’s bow. 
 
    The Bromyard, formerly the USS Purdy (DD-734), was holding station about a mile to port, the Headington, in her previous life the USS Samuel N. Moore (DD-747), was another mile beyond her sister ship.  They were handsome vessels, twenty-two hundred tons, armed with six 5-inch dual-purpose guns in three twin gun houses capable, in their prime of over thirty-five knots although these days, only probably a very respectable twenty-nine or thirty.  They were typical US Second War designs, rangy, hard-hitting, well-equipped to roam the fastness of distant oceans.  In full war trim they were supposed to be crewed by three-hundred and thirty men, even in peacetime their complements were rated as two hundred and seventy; but neither the Bromyard or the Headington had sailed with over two hundred men on board.  And many of those who had been hurriedly cajoled up their gangplanks had never been to sea before in their lives. 
 
    This he explained to Chesney-Grigson as they strolled. 
 
    At that hour there was a large number of men loafing on the flight deck, mostly RAF men with nothing better to do.  The Kestrels were lashed down below nose to tail, wing-tips interlocked, with crates of spares, everything from replacement or re-conditioned Pegasus power plants to tyres to nuts and bolts, was secured in between and beneath the silent, brooding fighters. 
 
      Jock Slater reiterated that deep in the ship the AVGAS bunkers were topped off, filled with nearly a thousand tons of horribly inflammable fuel, That Victorious’s magazines were stuffed full of every imaginable kind of ordnance short of nuclear weapons and her storerooms filled with enough canned and dried foodstuffs to enable her, with her present complement to steam five times around the world without restocking.  That was what the Navy had come to; employing one of the ships that had hunted the Bismarck as a middlingly fast Royal Fleet Auxiliary! 
 
    Ironically, that summer, Slater had been half-afraid he was going to miss out on all the fun.  A bout of whatever pestilence that was sweeping through Fifeshire had laid him low for several weeks and by the time he was up and about again, most of the old Operations Staff from the South Atlantic Planning Group, based at Auchtermuchty had decamped for warmer climes (well, Oxfordshire and Hampshire, mostly) ahead of purloining plumb postings with one or other of the Task Force ships preparing to, or already on their way to the South Atlantic.  If he had been that sort of man, he might have been a little downcast finding himself commanding a desk at Fleet Headquarters in one of the dreary sandstone tunnels of the Drakelow complex.  Apparently, he would still be there if the man brought out of retirement to be C-in-C Fleet ahead of OPERATION SOMERVILLE, the umbrella codename under which the separate elements of the plan to re-take the Falkland Islands dependencies had not, by chance, bumped into him in one of those subterranean tunnels. 
 
    ‘Good lord!’  Admiral Sir Nigel Grenville had exclaimed jovially, ‘what on earth have you done to deserve being here at a time like this, young Slater?’ 
 
    Despite his relatively tender years – although he had joined the Navy as a cadet in 1956, he had only been commissioned sub-lieutenant in 1959 – Jock Slater had had one of those careers in which he always seemed to be rubbing shoulders with the great and the good.  After serving a seagoing apprenticeship on minesweepers and destroyers he had been, briefly, an Equerry to Her Majesty the Queen, and the Victorious’s Navigation Officer throughout the French Campaign.  Afterwards, he had been the Royal Navy Liaison Officer on the Toulon-based Staff of Admiral Rene Leguay, the Commander-in-Chief of the Navy of the 6th Republic.  Thence, he had joined the USS Lynde McCormick – as her OLO (Operations Liaison Officer) – during her South American cruise, during which that ship had exercised with the Argentine Navy and visited Port Stanley, presently renamed Puerto Argentino by the invaders, on East Falkland, or as the enemy called it Isla de Soledad.  This time last year he had been in Australia, a member of the advance party ahead of Queen Elizabeth’s long-heralded and eagerly awaited state visit.  Briefly, that spring he had been Flag Lieutenant to the First Sea Lord. 
 
    Jock Slater had explained to the C-in-C Fleet that but for his mal-de-mere of earlier in the year he would have hoped to have been with the Fleet in the South Atlantic that winter. 
 
    ‘Oh, I see.’  Sir Nigel had thought about it, patted his arm and said: ‘Leave it with me.  It’s all hands to the pumps at the moment; we can’t have a chap like you sitting around idly at a time like this!’ 
 
    And now he was in command of an aircraft carrier! 
 
    As the Prime Minister was, he had heard on good authority, prone to remark: ‘It’s a funny old world…’ 
 
    “Look, sir,” Slater put to Chesney-Grigson as they walked towards the bow.  The Victorious and her wartime sisters had all been relatively ‘wet’ ships – on account of their armoured flight decks and hangar decks, and cruiser-like hull protection - and her 1950s reconstruction involving an increase in displacement of around seven thousand tons had done nothing to make her a more weatherly sea boat.  However, today, with the Atlantic at its most placid, there was no spray in the breeze coming over the decks.  “I’m not going to apologise for making a song and dance over the dangers of attempting even very limited flying evolutions.  Forget for the moment that none of your aircraft are adapted, or modified in any way to operate at sea.” 
 
    Expecting to be interrupted, Slater had paused. 
 
    He continued when the older man ruminated upon this thought without offering a reply. 
 
    “Once upon a time there was talk about Victorious getting an American overhaul along the lines of that carried out on the Ark Royal, and presently in progress on the Eagle but frankly, that was never on the cards.  This old ship has been modified and rebuilt to buggery, and frankly, she’s not quite big enough to operate the latest fast jets and notwithstanding she had a new machinery set installed in 1958 she’s still at heart, down deep in her fabric, a ship knocked together in the late 1930s.  So, everybody assumed she was off to the scrapyard when they de-commissioned her last winter.  You know that one of her turbines, the port one, is unserviceable.  Actually, there isn’t even a prop attached to that shaft.  We’re steaming at our present speed because that’s our best speed on a single shaft, the central one, that is because the Engineering Officer is trying to ‘save’ the starboard machinery set for a ‘rainy day’, if at all possible.  Anyway, not to digress too far from my original point; because everybody was under the impression the old girl’s days were numbered, there was a big exercise to recover spares and high-value equipment from her before she was left to rust in Fareham Creek.  That’s why we don’t have steam catapults any more, or the hydraulics to re-instal the traps aft.  The ship’s point defence capability is nil because they removed all the 40-millimetre guns, and my best guess is that around half the wiring throughout the ship was stripped out.  We’re still trying to restore power, well light, mostly, to many compartments.”  He gestured to the impressive-looking Type 984 ‘searchlight’ radar above the bridge.  “The bloody foghorn was raided for spares for the Ark Royal, and the other radar aerials were removed.”  He nodded at the Headington: “so, our two little friends are my eyes and ears and we’re blind without them.” 
 
    The older man stared at the old Allen M. Sumner class destroyer, half-lost in thought. 
 
    “My Kestrels have no need of ‘traps’, or a normal Landing Deck Safety officer or crew.  If we wait until we reach our destination it will take forever the re-activate my kites.” 
 
    Chesney-Grigson dug out his silver cigarette holder, lit up using an American Zippo, turning his back to the wind. 
 
    Slater did not smoke. 
 
    Smokable cigarettes and tobacco had been hard to come by in the aftermath of the October War and many men, not just the abstemious had kicked or forsaken the habit. 
 
    “I know trials have been conducted to test the VTOL capabilities of the Kestrel airframe at sea; but that was on board fully-functioning carriers.”  He grimaced.  “No offence, Commander.  You fellows have worked miracles getting this ship back to sea so fast.” 
 
    “Needs must, and so forth,” Slater guffawed. 
 
    “Quite, quite so,” the other man agreed.  “However, despite her somewhat denuded condition, surely Victorious is no less well-equipped to conduct helicopter operations than say, one of the big landing ships, the Fearless or the Intrepid?” 
 
    The younger man shrugged. 
 
    “That may be the case; I don’t.  I have engineers, electrical artificers and just enough men to point the old girl in the right direction.  This is an initiation voyage for most of my general duties chaps.  If,” he went on, lips pursed, “we decided to operate a Sea King off this deck,” his arm swept around the horizon, “you chaps would have to do all the safety, damage control, fire-fighting and air direction involved?” 
 
    Harry Chesney-Grigson nodded. 
 
    “I imagine they’ll have to get used to that when we get to South Georgia anyway.  We might as well get started now.  My other thought is that if we can park two or three of the Sea King’s on the flight deck, that will free up access space for my boys to work on the Kestrels.  Several of those kites are straight from the factory jobs and will need a lot of work before we even think about rolling them out.” 
 
    Jock Slater had not realised that but then at the time the odd-looking interceptors were being lifted on board he had had other things on his mind.  From the day he had taken command of the carrier to the day, mercifully, he had conned her – in an agony of nerves – out into the Solent, past the old Victorian forts, east of the Isle of Wight into the English Channel less than a fortnight later, every waking minute of his life had been insane.  The ship had still been in an unholy mess when she steamed south; only now were parts of her slowly becoming truly shipshape. 
 
    “I’ve been talking with my Squadron Commanders,” the older man was saying. 
 
    “Oh?” 
 
    “They think their Kestrels can operate quite happily off this ship.  The whole idea of a VTOL aircraft is that it ought to be able to operate like a helicopter, after all.  The only problem they foresee is that if their kites are fully fuelled with any kind of ordnance load, they’re going to use an inordinate amount of fuel employing their vertical take-off capability.  However, a rolling start, given, say, a couple of hundred feet and a fair wind – anything over twenty to twenty-five knots at a pinch – and they can get airborne without an undue range and endurance penalty.  Landing, of course, will be just a matter of practicing, especially at night.” 
 
    Slater did not waste the older man’s time, or test his patience revisiting their previous conversations.  For one thing, the RAF man had clearly absorbed what he had said, gone away, thought about it and talked to his pilots.  He too, was now focused on the practicalities of making the best of a possibly, not so bad deal. 
 
    “Seriously?”  He queried. 
 
    “Yes.  As I say, that’s the whole point of the Kestrel.  It doesn’t need a long runway, or an airfield.  It just needs a flat patch of ground fifty or sixty feet on the side, or a piece of a ship’s deck.  Obviously, an aircraft carrier is better; but any ship will do.  Whatever else this ship is, she’s still got a great big flat top!” 
 
    Jock Slater sighed. 
 
    “I’m sorry, you must think I’ve been a bit one-eyed about things,” he confessed. 
 
    “If you have been, you’re not alone.”  Chesney-Grigson halted, turned to face the slightly shorter man.  “You’re one of the chaps that planned this show down in the South Atlantic?”  He asked rhetorically.  “I didn’t discover that until a couple of days ago.  Tell me, frankly if you feel able, how you think things will pan out down there?” 
 
    Now there was a question! 
 
    Slater considered polite obfuscation. 
 
    Instead, he opted for candour. 
 
    “All our plans were based on grabbing South Georgia as a forward logistics hub.  That worked nicely.  Our other assumption was that we’d have two operational fleet carriers at sea practically all the time supporting ground operations.  That doesn’t look like it is going to happen.  The Argentines have as many as ten thousand troops on the archipelago, and they’ve had over five years to fortify and generally dig in, and I should imagine, to hone their plans to throw us back into the sea.”  He sighed.  “Personally, I think OPERATION GRANDSTAND will probably be a damned close-run thing.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 23 
 
      
 
    21:00 Hours 
 
    Sunday 9th November 
 
    ARA Santiago del Estero 
 
    Puerto Howard, Isla Gran Malvina 
 
      
 
    Forty-three-year-old Lieutenant Colonel Leopoldo Fortunato Galtieri Castelli, was a handsome, physically imposing man with a hearty, can-do attitude and on occasion, a hair-trigger temper.  However, the Commander of the 107th Combat Engineering Battalion, had, after a brief fiery interlude, worked out that he was wasting his time trying to intimidate Lieutenant Commander Alberto Castro Fox, the weary captain of the half-wrecked ARA Santiago del Estero. 
 
    ‘I can’t go anywhere at the moment,’ the Navy man had explained patiently and taken Galtieri below to where the covers were off one of the submarine’s – supposedly – General Motors Model 16-278A V16 diesels.  Its twin was running at very low power, sounding awful to Galtieri’s trained ear. 
 
    Castro Fox had given him a moment to take in the scene and to draw his own conclusions. 
 
    ‘I don’t know if you are familiar with the layout of these old subs,’ he had put to him, one professional to another cutting past the man’s blustering of minutes before.  ‘But apart from driving the prop shafts the diesels charge up the batteries.  That’s a problem because we’ve had to unstrap forty-four of the one-hundred-and-twenty-six cells which power the boat’s electric motors.  Everything connected to the port shaft is unserviceable.  Shock damage mainly; we ended up cutting off the screw and welding the shaft in place.  It was the only way we could stop the worst leaks.’ 
 
    Galtieri was a man from humble Italian-Argentine roots who had gone into the Army at the age of seventeen, attended the National Military Academy and trained as a civil engineer; thereafter, he had risen steadily through the ranks and in 1949 graduated from the US Army’s School of the Americas at Fort Benning in Columbus, Georgia.  He was a real professional in the heavily politicised Ejército Argentino, a thing that had never been a problem because he was, especially after his time in Georgia, imbued with anti-communist, and therefore in domestic terms, he was considered virulently anti-liberal and perfectly in step with the mood of practically all the factions vying for dominance once Peron was deposed in the mid-1950s.  By 1958 Galtieri had become a professor of engineering at the Army’s Senior War College.  A Malvinist to his core, he had lobbied for a field command and finally, this time last year, been given the task of activating the 107th, for many years a reserve regiment, one of several nominated for transfer to the isolated colonia in time of war. 
 
    Much though he had regretted leaving his wife, Lucia and his son and two daughters, to be granted the honour of commanding a regiment on the sacred Malvinas had been the zenith of his career; right up until he discovered that the 107th was expected to make do, and presumably ‘mend’ with whatever equipment it could beg, steal or borrow once it got to Puerto Argentino, and worse, that the bloody Marines were running the place! 
 
    Actually, he had a lot of time for Hugo Bonham-Garcia.  The fellow was a real man’s man.  One got none of the usual senior officer bravura or flannel from him, he just looked one in the eye and told you the way it was. 
 
    ‘If the OC MLFG had asked me to have you sent back to the mainland,’ Horacio Mendoza, the then commanding officer of III Corps, under whose aegis the Malvinas fell, had informed him, regretfully, ‘you’d be back at the Engineering Depot at Rosario by now!’ 
 
    Apparently, Bonham-Garcia was not the sort of chap who held a little insubordination against a fellow, who like him, meant well and whose heart was self-evidently in the right place.  Although, that said, the man had tried to exile him and his regiment to Bahia Zorro on Isla Gran Malvina, which any fool could tell was going to be a backwater if and when the English arrived.  No matter, most of his people were still encamped in the Darwin-Verde de Ganso Sector on Isla Soledad, the right side of the Estrecho de San Carlos to get to grips with the invaders.  Now, if only he could get across that bloody channel to get them off their arses and into the field! 
 
    The time to hit the English was now, while they were still unloading their ships and sending men ashore, before they had had a chance to solidify the lines around their beachhead and he had already lost a whole day! 
 
    ‘Look,’ Castro Fox had promised last night while the cannonade sporadically boomed from across the other side of the sound separating the main eastern and western islands of the archipelago.  ‘If I can get enough charge into the batteries; I’ll offload all my people I don’t need just to run the engines and steer the boat, and gladly attempt to ferry you and your staffers across the Estrecho de San Carlos.  The odds are we’ll probably get sunk, or we’ll just sink anyway; but if you’re game, so am I.  But that’s not going to happen tonight.’ 
 
    They had sent men across to the eastern isthmus enclosing Puerto Howard and hiding it from direct view from the broad channel beyond, to attempt to observe ship movements.  They had reported the presence of several ships in mid-channel, perhaps seven or eight kilometres to the north east, manoeuvring slowly.  The entrance to San Carlos Water was too far away for ship movements to be meaningfully observed, or interpreted. 
 
    Last night the southern horizon had flickered and the wind had carried the rumble of faraway detonations.  Possibly, that had been a naval bombardment of the Bahia Zorro area.  Counter-intuitively, in the hours before dawn the north-east, where San Carlos Water lay the night had seemed almost…still. 
 
    ‘We’ll wait until a couple of hours after full darkness,’ Castro Fox promised, ‘and see how far we get with our electric motors.  They’re a lot quieter than the diesels and hopefully, there will be enough things going on in and around San Carlos Water to confuse the patrolling destroyers’ hydrophones to allow us to slip by unnoticed to the south of the main concentration of enemy ships.’ 
 
    Castro Fox did not think that was likely.  However, there was no point worrying about all the things that could go wrong, or gratuitously alarming his Army comrades. 
 
    ‘In the open sea our sail, the conning tower, would stick out like a sore thumb on those destroyers’ radars; hopefully, inside the Sound they won’t be able to distinguish us from the background clutter of the surrounding hills.’ 
 
    Radar or not, on a dark night in enclosed waters there would be a host of English Mark I eyeballs keenly scanning the waters through which he was planning to steam. 
 
    Galtieri had been virtually tearing his hair out kicking his heels on shore during the day.  Every time they heard the distant roar of jet engines everybody had gone to ground, burrowing deeper beneath the camouflage netting concealing the trenches around the Puerto Howard Settlement, a couple of hundred yards from where the Santiago del Estero lay. 
 
    Castro Fox had turned up around noon. 
 
    ‘The boat is flooding aft, again,’ he had reported wearily, pushing his grimy cap upward to kneed his bloodshot eyes.  He had looked as if he had been climbing all over the broken-down diesels.  He shook his head, forestalling Galtieri’s obvious next question.  ‘No, no, we’ll pump her out when its dark.  Assuming we can get number two diesel running, or rather, keep it running until then.  My Chief is worried the engine will seize if we don’t keep it turning over.’ 
 
    Galtieri, fretting to get into the action had asked the submarine commander if he planned to torpedo any ships which intercepted them that night.  The other man had given him a mildly vexed look, and shaken his head. 
 
    ‘Ask me again if it happens.  Our fish need to run for several hundred metres before going live and I’m leaving everybody I can on shore tonight.  The boat’s a floating scrapheap, Colonel.  I’m her captain, so I have to stay with her.  Practically all my boys volunteered but like I said, we’ll be sailing with a skeleton crew.’ 
 
    Now, with the waters lapping over her forward casing the old submarine’s stem swung leadenly to port and pointed out into the Estrecho de San Carlos. 
 
    At Castro Fox’s invitation, Galtieri had come up to the crowded cockpit twenty feet above the deck to join him and the two lookouts.  He handed the Army man binoculars. 
 
    His teeth flashed in the gloom. 
 
    “If you see anything, I’d be obliged if you let me know, Colonel.” 
 
    Galtieri was astonished by the quiet, stillness of the night. 
 
    Beneath him the deck trembled but otherwise all was oddly, eerily silent.  Even as his ears grew accustomed to the sighing of the breeze blowing up from the south, and the faint whirring, swishing of the electric motors – well, the gearing, anyway, he guessed – he marvelled at the unnatural quietness.  The skies above San Carlos Water, perhaps some thirty or more kilometres distant were…dark.  Implausibly, could it be that the fighting across the other side of the sound was, for the time being, at least, over? 
 
    Castro Fox spoke lowly. 
 
    “We’ve got about a forty-kilometre run to the east, that’ll take us,” a shrug, “hopefully to the mouth of Grantham Sound, some kilometres above Darwin.  I have no idea how far we’ll be following the lead south after that.  I don’t have the latest hydrographic charts for these waters.  I didn’t for Isla San Pedro, either,” he added ruefully.  “I reckon we’ve got about four hours in the batteries; so, we’ll have to try to restart the starboard diesel at some stage.  If we get discovered, I plan to scuttle the boat.” 
 
    Galtieri had not blinked. 
 
    He was on the wrong island and he had little confidence that his second-in-command would have grasped the nettle in his absence.  Radio attempts to contact his battalion CP at Darwin had failed to break through the enemy’s jamming noise; further attempts had been abandoned as a bad job liable to call down an air strike or a naval bombardment. 
 
    Nobody talked, other than Castro Fox, calling down regular minor course corrections to the helmsman in the control room the best part of thirty feet beneath the cockpit. 
 
    “Do you have a family, Commander?”  Galtieri asked in the darkness after about an hour. 
 
    The quietness of the night had become oppressive; the gloom mocking, coldly, clammily oppressive as if the war they knew to surround them was a chimera, a figment of their imagination.  In the night the submarine could have been utterly alone on an empty sea. 
 
    “Yes.  You?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    Castro Fox sighed: “Marija and the girls are back at Puerto Belgrano, we were lucky enough to inherit an old bungalow on the edge of the ARA married quarters estate.” 
 
    “My wife cannot be persuaded to move out of Buenos Aires,” Galtieri retorted with a wry fondness.  “The kids are happy there, so,” he shrugged, “we haven’t seen so much of each other in the last couple of years.  So, it goes…” 
 
    “Service life,” Castro Fox sympathised. 
 
    “What exactly happened to you fellows at Isla San Pedro?” 
 
    “We tried to torpedo a British aircraft carrier and a cruiser,” the submariner explained dryly.  “They got very upset about it and depth charged us for most of the rest of the day.  The Yanks built these boats well but,” he grimaced, patting the cockpit rail, “Let’s just say that God was with us that day.  And again later, carrying us back to Puerto Argentino.  She needs several months in a dry dock but that’s probably not going to happen.  General Bonham-Garcia planned to use the boat as a courier and a blockade runner around the archipelago but,” another shrug, “after we torpedoed that British frigate, we touched bottom a couple of times and basically, everything that was held together by glue, wire and the power of prayer, broke again.  Which was why I was planning to abandon the boat at Puerto Howard when you turned up.” 
 
    “But you’ve still got torpedoes.” 
 
    “The second time we touched bottom we think the bow got twisted two or three degrees off true.  Two of the bow torpedo tube doors are warped open so they’re flooded.  Spinning up a fish we might not be able to launch is,” he hesitated, chuckled lowly, “a death wish, Colonel.  As it is I’ve only got one working forward tube with a fish loaded.  We could shoot that without deflection from the control room torpedo board but…” 
 
    Galtieri could feel rather than see the other man’s Gallic shrug.  He said nothing. 
 
    “That tube could be deformed also,” Castro Fox remarked, “in which case even if it floods down when we fire up the fish’s motor it might not actually make all the way out of the tube, or go around in circles until the motor runs down or…” 
 
    “It hits something?” 
 
    “Yeah, that’s about the size of it,” Castro Fox concurred, phlegmatically. 
 
    The submarine’s commander had been staring into the darkness to the north, a little distractedly, wondering if his eyes were playing tricks. 
 
    Then one of the two lookouts squeezed into the cockpit stiffened. 
 
    Without turning he whispered hoarsely: “CONTACT!  BELAY THAT!  MULTIPLE SURFACE CONTACTS BEARING ZERO-FOUR-ZERO RELATIVE!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 24 
 
      
 
    23:40 Hours 
 
    Casa Rosada, Plaza de Mayo, Buenos Aires 
 
      
 
    The Casa Rosada – the Pink House – occupied the site of a fort erected in 1594 on the original shoreline of the River Plate, less than twenty years after the founding of Buenos Aires.  However, it was unlikely that the grand presidential mansion which had been the Casa de Gobierno, House of Government, since 1898, had ever hosted a crisis meeting quite like the one the newly slimmed-down ruling Junta had called for that late hour. 
 
    The last man to arrive had been General Juan Carlos Rey, the Chief of Staff of the Fuerza Aérea Argentina – FAA – the junior member of the triumvirate, who had demanded that their emergency council of war be delayed until his arrival from Rio Gallegos, two thousand kilometres to the south in Santa Cruz Provence.  Customarily, when he was away from the capital, his deputy, Brigadier Antonio Facchetti represented him in mute acknowledgement of his relatively junior status, in the knowledge that the Army and the Navy usually conspired against the FAA anyway. 
 
    In the last twenty-four hours everything had changed.  Although strangely, of all the things which had altered the internal dynamics of the Junta in the last forty-eight hours, the expulsion of Il Presidente General Juan Carlos Onganía Carballo, and the dictator’s arrest and detention at his country hacienda at Pergamino over two hundred kilometres from the capital, was far from the most significant.  Earlier that evening the reports of President Brenckmann’s address to the American people had literally kicked over the geopolitical chessboard of the whole of Latin America. 
 
    It is the avowed intention of the United States to extend the hand of friendship to all the nations of the Americas.  Sadly, the ongoing impasse in the South Atlantic has frustrated My Administration’s efforts to defuse tension in Cuba, between Guatemala and its neighbours, and historic tensions between Bolivia, Colombia and Peru, and between the Argentine and Chile.  Many of our friends in the south may have misconstrued the nature of our North Atlantic commitment to our old ally of this century’s World Wars, the United Kingdom… 
 
    The men in the Casa Rosada could still feel the electricity of that moment coursing through their veins, making the hairs on the back of their necks rise, tingling.  Surprise did no justice to their reaction; astonishment went some of the way to describe their initial gut responses, swiftly followed by relief, hope and lingering disbelief.  After what had happened to La Argentina and the Almirante Brown off the Islas de los Estados, the ARA had immediately suspended all operations.  Jorge Anaya’s Northern Group was still anchored at Bahia Blanco, and the surviving ships of Emilio Eduardo Massera’s Southern Group had scattered in such a panic that OPERATION RIVADAVIA had been to all intents, abandoned. 
 
    The United States – and I in particular – deeply regret the sinking of two Argentine warships in what we consider to be an illegal act of unrestricted submarine warfare.  Consequently, we have requested our British allies to withdraw their nuclear submarines from the theatre of operations around the Malvinas.  Further to this we have confirmed our view to them that we do not recognise the legality of the previously declared two-hundred-mile Total Air and Maritime Exclusion Zones around the Malvinas; believing that such a military exclusion zone can only be legitimate up to and including the twelve-mile territorial limitation currently being considered by the United Nations’ standing committee on the Law of the Sea.  This being the case I have stressed to Premier Thatcher that while her soldiers, sailors and airmen have an absolute right of pre-emptive self-defence within that twelve-mile limit, that right does not and cannot extend beyond it.  We do not have an opinion on the matter of the sovereignty of the disputed territories; other than to re-assert that My Administration’s position is that the Argentine was, prima facie, in the wrong in seeking to resolve its dispute with the United Kingdom by the use of force majeure in 1964.  However, if the parties are determined to continue their war in the South Atlantic, I have determined that the United States will do what it can to uphold international law, and can therefore, show no partiality to either side. 
 
    The English were on their own! 
 
    Therefore, I solemnly urge both sides to return to the peace table and if it is deemed appropriate by the United Nations, the United States stands ready to deploy a peace-keeping force to the Malvinas as soon as possible after the cessation of hostilities. 
 
    Having been briefed by Antonio Facchetti in the car from Mar del Plata Air Base, Carlos Rey was, it seemed, rather more sanguine about the situation than the two men who had been awaiting his arrival at the Casa Rosada.  He was also less than impressed that Alejandro Agustín Lanusse had already acclaimed himself Acting President of the Republic.  Unimpressed but not surprised because given what had happened to La Argentina and that destroyer, he suspected that Admiral Pedro Gnavi, the Chief of Staff of the ARA was most likely, still in a near catatonic state of shock. 
 
    Lanusse already had ‘Presidente de Argentina’ – in gold – inscribed on his personal name plate at the conference table; Rey had half-suspected the man would be wearing the pale blue sash of office, too.  He was not.  Perhaps, there had not been time to tailor something acceptable?  Something that did not hide too many of his medals? 
 
    If Rey had ever held his fellow Junta members in esteem, any at all, the events of the last couple of days had been the last straw.  In his younger days he had been blessed to serve in a golden age of Argentine aviation, an era when Juan Perón had imported old German Luftwaffe men, brilliant engineers like Kurt Tank, Folke-Wulf’s wartime head designer, and the Frenchman, Émile Dewoitine, to work for the Industria Aeronáutica Militar, briefly threatening to turn the Argentine into Latin America’s foremost aeronautical power.  The country had developed its own nascent aircraft industry, and designed and built South Americas first jet fighters.  Then idiots like Lanusse and Gnavi had overthrown Peron and men like Tank and Dewoitine had left, leaving their design teams to wither away as successive regimes sucked-up to the Americans, leaving the FAA to carry on flying an unhappy and virtually impossible to maintain, mix of 1940s and cast-off US aircraft.  Which was why he had spent the last few months recovering airframe carcasses from mothballs, attempting not just to re-build a fighter force capable of offering more than token resistance should the English seek to bomb Argentine cities or military bases, but a bombing group capable of striking at least one telling blow against the beach head he assumed the enemy would surely establish somewhere on the Malvinas. 
 
    Neither Lanusse or Gnavi had been remotely helpful to the FAA, or to Carlos Rey personally, in his work to date.  In fact, once he had disabused them of any notion that his aircraft were remotely capable of obtaining, let alone sustaining air superiority over either the mainland or the Malvinas, they had constantly tried to take his best aircraft away from him! 
 
    Personally, he thought and had said, many times, that a war with the English was unwinnable and that therefore, they ought to make peace.  He had been ignored.  Now he was seriously asking himself if either Lanusse or Gnavi actually had the guts to fight the war they had done nothing to prevent and, all things considered, a great deal to cause? 
 
    He had other questions. 
 
    Why had the garrison of the Malvinas not yet counter-attacked and thrown the invaders back into the sea? 
 
    And why were Jorge Anaya’s ships still swinging around their chains within sight of Puerto Belgrano? 
 
    But of course, he knew the answers to both questions. 
 
    For all that Horacio Mendoza might be the most political of Army officers, Hugo Bonham-Garcia, possibly the least political and most able commander available to the Junta, neither man believed the forces on the Malvinas were remotely capable of swiftly driving the enemy back into the sea. 
 
    Carlos Rey knew the two men ‘on the spot’ had entirely different agendas but that, at the moment, was incidental.  Horacio Mendoza simply wanted, needed to avoid a costly defeat; Bonham Garcia, knowing that if he was to fight a long war that might eventually break the British will to fight on, could not afford to throw away his best units this early in the campaign. 
 
    Therefore, the political and military objectives of the two key officers on the Malvinas were neatly aligned.  For the moment at least, even if they were completely at odds with the unrealistic wishes of Agustin Lanusse and his bloodthirsty desk-bound supporters in the capital. 
 
    Carlos Rey’s last conversation with Horacio Mendoza had focused on how ‘the game’ was to tie the ‘English bull’ down in the Camp until his supply lines failed, to strike wounding blows to his fleet and to his beachhead, to torment the invader as if they were matadors jabbing at a hapless ungulate; they had understood that the Malvinas were under siege and given that there had been, and was unlikely to be a re-supply of the war stores required for sustained offensive operations, that there was no real scope for an extended ‘counter-attack’ of any kind. 
 
    Looking around the table Rey could not help but wonder if his Army and Navy ‘colleagues’ had the least inkling that in supposedly exiling Horacio Mendoza to the Malvinas, they had sealed their own fate, regardless of what happened in the next few days.  It was all the Chief of Staff of the Air Force could do not to smile too smugly. 
 
    He fixed his gaze on Pedro Gnavi; the ARA man looked broken, as if, unlike Augustin Lanusse, that he had nowhere left to run.  Had it dawned on him that Jorge Anaya held his career, possibly his life in his hands? 
 
    Carlos Rey did not know what to make of Anaya’s apparent inaction; other than it probably had a lot to do with cowardice – of the moral not just the physical kind - inter-mingled with a desire not to steam off over the horizon at a time when so many of his enemies were circling, shark-like, smelling the blood in the water. 
 
    “Is it confirmed that the English have landed at San Carlos in great strength?”  Rey asked, side-stepping the usual civilities.  Time was pressing and the usual mantras of self-justification that characterised these increasingly intermittent conferences could wait for later.  Rey had not been consulted about Onganía’s removal; he had been informed after the event by Lanusse who mistakenly, had taken his concurrence with his and Gnavi’s decision for granted. 
 
    Augustin Lanusse nodded. 
 
    “And Anaya is still at anchor?” 
 
    Now Pedro Gnavi nodded. 
 
    Rey looked around, recognising the familiar pack of aides and flunkies who attended the other two members of the Junta. 
 
    “We don’t need all these people in the room.” 
 
    Neither Lanusse or Gnavi did more than raise an eyebrow. 
 
    Rey groaned inwardly. 
 
    “I can either bomb Buenos Aires or I can bomb the English,” he said in weary exasperation.  “Which is it to be, gentlemen?” 
 
    It was only half said in jest but Augustine Lanusse waved a hand and miraculously, within less than a minute the three men were alone. 
 
    “If you could find your way clear to attacking the English,” Lanusse said lugubriously, “that would be helpful, Carlos.” 
 
    By then Rey had slumped down into his chair. 
 
    Two bumpy rides in aircraft no self-respecting airman in either the United States of the United Kingdom would allow himself to be seen dead in, following a sleepless night had done little to improve his mood. 
 
    “Well, are we going to fight?”  He asked.  “I ought to know the answer to that.  If we are, I need to know now.” 
 
    “Of course, we will fight!”  Pedro Gnavi growled, with the angst of a man tempted to challenge his rival to a duel. 
 
    “Has anybody told Anaya?”  Rey snapped angrily. 
 
    His ire was mostly a façade, something to get the others’ attention.  He was bringing something to the table and he needed them to be paying attention to what he had to say. 
 
    “It is sensible to delay OPERATION RIVADAVIA seventy-two hours to make sure the Americans mean what they say,” Gnavi rebuked the younger man. 
 
    “No, it’s not sensible,” Rey snarled.  “If we wait to see what happens next the English will adjust their tactics correspondingly and get on with strangling our garrison on those bloody islands to death.  They’ve got less than two months’ food on Isla Soledad.  Just two months.  If we don’t do something now then nothing will have changed; all that will have happened is that we’ll have lost two ships for no good purpose.  Whereas, if we get our act together and strike a big enough blow now, we can throw their plans, and possibly, their resolve into chaos.  But we have to act now, gentlemen!” 
 
    Augustine Lanusse glared at the Air Force man. 
 
    Pedro Gnavi was staring at the table top, shaking his head and visibly trembling with rage. 
 
    Rey struck while the iron was hot, his tone suddenly measured, patiently insistent: “Gentlemen, if you tell me that the Fleet can engage the main enemy strength at sea, and that our forces on the ground on Isla Soledad can strike a meaningful blow at the English beach head, I will send every available aircraft – on one way missions in which crews will attempt to land at Cap San Felipe, or bail out over Puerto Argentino if necessary – to carpet bomb the ships in the San Carlos anchorage and the troops onshore.  But it must be soon, in the next few days before the enemy adopts new tactics; because he will.  Therefore, it is up to us to seize this critical moment to together, the Army, Navy and Air Force strike the decisive blow of this war!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 25 
 
      
 
    23:45 Hours 
 
    ARA Santiago del Estero, Estrecho de San Carlos 
 
      
 
    There was no Moon, it was hidden behind the thick overcast high above the seas between the main western and eastern islands of the archipelago.  The water was ethereally calm, almost glassy and here and there a wraith of mist swirled, further blurring and reducing visibility. 
 
    Alberto Castro Fox had been unconsciously gauging the changing conditions for some minutes as he chatted with the tall Combat Engineering Officer at his shoulder.  He had heard about this phenomenon in the Estrecho de San Carlos but guessed that it was more usually a day time, early morning occurrence.  The fog, or as the British called it, a ‘haar’ formed out at sea when warmer air moved over much colder water, and then was blown over land, or where there was a loch or inlet, channelled inland.  Most famously, this regularly happened at San Francisco Bay as the resulting pea-souper fog rolled through the Golden Gate, often completely obscuring the great bridge which bore its name. 
 
    However, any hope that the mist might conceal the Santiago del Estero before the first of the approaching ships was upon her was forlorn.  The haar was patchy at its leading edge and presently, the submarine was in relatively clear airs.  Worse, the boat was roughly equidistant, in mid-channel between North Swan Island and Praltos Point on the eastern shore.  Ironically, in normal circumstances there would have been enough water under her keel to allow her to submerge – around forty metres or so – but, of course, Castro Fox knew that if he attempted to dive it would be a one-way trip to the bottom of the Estrecho de San Carlos. 
 
    His booted right foot knocked against the weighted bundle that carried the boat’s code books and his log.  That would immediately go over the side if there was any possibility of the submarine falling into enemy hands. 
 
    The oncoming ships were just elusive black motes in a man’s eye, darker shades of blackness against the land, their presence betrayed only by their movement, the closest still about a thousand metres to the north. 
 
    There was no land nearby, the submarine’s conning tower must stick out like a sore thumb on those ships’ radars, even if it was moving so slowly an unwary operator might interpret the ‘blip’ on his screen as some kind of reflection of North Swan Island, which was now almost directly behind the boat, albeit many kilometres away… 
 
    No, now I am clutching at straws… 
 
    “I see them now!” Lieutenant Colonel Leopoldo Galtieri exclaimed, quietly triumphant as if he had no real appreciation of the deadly peril bearing down upon him. 
 
    Castro Fox stepped over to the hatch and called down. 
 
    “Are those ships sounding?” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    The submarine’s commanding officer stood up, his frown invisible in the near Stygian gloom.  He looked to Galtieri. 
 
    “You may be our magic charm tonight, Colonel.” 
 
    “How so?” 
 
    “I think the English are more worried about running onto a rock than looking for submarines.  That’s probably why they are out in the middle of the Sound, they don’t trust their charts.  We’re using the same charts as they are; or we would be if we had any charts for these waters and for obvious reasons, none of them will have been updated with modern hydrographic survey findings for many years.” 
 
    In fact, the British had been in the process of updating their charts at the time of the 1964 invasion… 
 
    “There’s a bigger ship coming up behind the first ship, sir!” 
 
    Castro Fox knew the time for thinking was over. 
 
    “Full left wheel!  Come to zero-one-five degrees!” 
 
    There was nothing to be done but to shorten and minimise the boat’s silhouette and hope the enemy ships cruised past in the darkness.  He leaned over the compass repeater, felt the ship begin to turn and the dial lean to the north. 
 
    “Do we still have green lights for tube six?”  He checked. 
 
    “Aye, sir!” 
 
    “Flood down the tube.” 
 
    “So, you do mean to fight?”  Galtieri chuckled. 
 
    Castro Fox was squinting into the darkness; he raised his glasses to his eyes. 
 
    “Wheel amidships!”  He hissed, ignoring the soldier’s gentle jibe.  “Steady on zero-two-five degrees,” he ordered, doing the math and the geometry on the hoof to attempt to run down the starboard flank of the leading enemy ship at a distance of about a hundred metres. 
 
    He imagined he saw the distinctive upper works of a Fletcher class destroyer, and behind her, perhaps two cables astern, a very big ship. 
 
    The Liverpool… 
 
    No, that was too outrageous. 
 
    To have that ship bearing down on him…again. 
 
    And likely to pass so close he might be able to reach out a hand and touch her! 
 
    Somewhere far to the north east a flare exploded high in the sky and in that moment, Castro Fox saw all three ships, rolling down towards him like death. 
 
    A Fletcher class destroyer in the lead, then a Baltimore class heavy cruiser with her towering superstructure, followed by another DD.  They were steaming at only eight or nine knots; clearly too preoccupied with what was directly in front of them and relatively close beneath their keels to be focusing overmuch on the waters to either side of their passage south.  The southern reaches of the Sound narrowed and in places big ships would have no choice but to follow the relatively narrow deep-water channel as it moved across towards the Argentine-occupied western shore; that was when the men in those ships were expecting a fight…not now. 
 
    The leading ship’s guns were trained fore and aft. 
 
    Castro Fox could hear her machinery turning, imagined he could discern the faint sound of her fire room blowers swirling.  The oncoming destroyer’s razor stem was slicing effortlessly through the still waters, raising barely a bow wave.  Momentarily the mist fell between the two ships.  The submarine’s commander felt naked, knowing a minor course adjustment would bring the other vessel’s sharp bow scything down and through his half-sunken boat. 
 
    “Do we still have solid greens for the fish in tube six?” 
 
    There was a delay. 
 
    “Aye, sir!” 
 
    “Prepare to launch on my command.” 
 
    The old US Navy Mark 8 was set to run at fifteen feet, dead straight, with no deflection setting.  Castro Fox guessed its combination impact-magnetic detonator had not been overhauled in years but it was too late to worry about that now. 
 
    Talk about a shot to nothing! 
 
    The leading destroyer passed so close that her wake caused the old submarine to roll and pitch slightly as she lumbered, water-logged into its turbulence. 
 
    Castro Fox swallowed hard. 
 
    This, he decided, is madness… 
 
    However, no man who could not perform a string of geometrical and arithmetic gymnastic manoeuvres in his head under intense pressure commanded a submarine in either the British or the American navies; but not so much in the ARA where the tiny submarine division was a very, very poor relation to every other department.  Nonetheless, based on the last sighting of the big ship coming up behind the leading destroyer, its estimated speed and heading, he had formed a half-way viable firing solution. 
 
    “Hard right rudder!” 
 
    He waited one, two, three seconds until he felt the rudder bite and then, leaning over the open conning tower hatch, he half hissed, half called down to the control room: “FIRE SIX!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 26 
 
      
 
    02:50 Hours (GMT) 23:50 (Local) 
 
    Command Post, Charlie Company, 46 Commando 
 
    Greenfield Farm, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    The Bulwark’s Wessex V troop carriers had delivered the rest of Major Lionel Colvin’s men and elements of Delta Company into his sector during the day.  Effectively, his ‘Boss’, Lieutenant Colonel Steuart Pringle had taken command north of the San Carlos River and given him a more or less free hand in the sector to the south.  Between the company CP and the former Argentine positions on Doctor and Hospital Points, there were still enemy stragglers – some of them making a nuisance of themselves - but his men held the Teal Inlet Road, the only ‘track’ south of the river giving any sort of vehicular access to the interior of East Falkland.  Once the ‘road’ had been secured his boys had pressed on south west across the hills to link up with 43 Commando at Blue Beach on the south eastern shores of San Carlos Water, near the cluster of red-roofed buildings that comprised San Carlos Settlement.  It was only when he received reports of this link up that he learned that 42 Commando was now ashore in strength at Ajax Bay, and that all enemy resistance on the western side of the anchorage had ceased. 
 
    All things considered, things were going if not according to plan, then generally speaking, swimmingly.  Domestically, at Greenfield Farm, the CP was now established in a series of sangars and camouflaged tents away from the old farmhouse, allowing the Arroyo family, tenants who managed the countless sheep on the surrounding Estancia, to resume a more normal life.  Needlessly frightening the natives was no part of 46 Commando’s mission on the archipelago.  Lionel got the impression that the family had been labouring under the misapprehension that if and when the English came, they would roast their children on an open fire and do all manner of nasty, positively unspeakable things to them once they had eaten their offspring.  Well, The Parachute Regiment might do that sort of thing; he could not speak for them but Lionel and his chaps were Royal Marines, for goodness’ sake! 
 
    Stifling a yawn – dealing with sleep deprivation was a thing that Paddy Ashdown had been very, very hot about during the Commando’s gruelling months training in the Highlands at Achnacarry overlooking Loch Lochy and Loch Arkaig; part of his friend’s mantra of whenever possible, making the training regime tougher than actual war-fighting - Lionel moved across the tented encampment and entered the first-aid post where two of the most recently captured Argentines had been taken. 
 
    “What’s the score?”  He asked brusquely. 
 
    One of the prisoners had half his head hidden beneath a pristine clean battlefield dressing; the other was lying on a camp bed with a saline drip held aloft by a medical orderly. 
 
    Surgeon Lieutenant Dudley Amis, a third-year medical student at the time of the October War, looked up from the notes he was scrawling on a clipboard. 
 
    “These two need to go on the list for air-evac ASAP, sir.” 
 
    He had already reported this.  The reason why 46 Commando’s second in command had stuck his head into the tent was to speak to the man with the bandaged head; who was peering at him with a single, bloodshot eye. 
 
    “Captain Menendez asked to speak to you, sir.”  Amis said unnecessarily. 
 
    Lionel sized-up the wounded man.  Had the poor fellow not already been slumped on a folding chair he would have fallen down by now. 
 
    “I speak English,” the Argentine said, slurring the words because it was evident the left side of his face was no longer working.  “You have treated my men decently.  For that I thank you.” 
 
    Lionel squatted down on his haunches in front of the other man. 
 
    He shrugged, said nothing. 
 
    “I was involved in an action at Teal Inlet where two of your raiders were killed.  I later heard that at least two members of that party were captured.  Both men suffered minor injuries.  I am a Marine, you are a Marine.  Marines are like brothers.  Two of the men who we captured were Sergeant Donald O’Mara and Lance Corporal John Andrews.  I think the people in Buenos Aires wanted them to be flown to the mainland but the Governor, General Mendoza, a most fastidious man in these things, intervened.  They will be being held in Puerto Argentino.  So far as I know they are the only prisoners in our hands.” 
 
    Lionel Colvin nodded, stood up. 
 
    That was all Menendez was going to say. 
 
    “Thank you, I will make sure that word gets back to England.” 
 
    He knew it would do the two men’s CO, Paddy Ashdown, recovering from his wounds in the Bulwark’s sick bay, no end of good to learn that two of his four lost sheep were like him, still in the land of the living. 
 
    Stepping back out into the night he was aware, for the first time, of the biting chill in the air and for some reason, briefly thought about fog, mist falling off the surrounding high ground.  Paddy had warned him, he had suspected at the time half in jest, that the first time he stepped foot on East Falkland he was going to feel like he was invading the Isle of Skye. 
 
    ‘Forget what those idiots say about it being like the Brecon Beacons, it’s much more like the Western Isles, all the houses have painted roofs, there are sheep everywhere and just when you think the sun is about to come out it starts to bloody rain again! 
 
    Oh, and the other thing Lionel had learned very quickly was that the maps did not lie; anywhere that was flat was a bog – that was spongy when wet and the roots in the tussac meadows were ankle-twisting when dry – while the rest of the landscape was up and down like a jagged yo-yo. In this part of East Falkland, it was impossible to go in any direction in a straight line.  Campaigning in this country was going to be every bit as miserable as his chums at the SAPG had always said it would be! 
 
    Lionel knew he had to try to grab a couple of hours’ sleep sometime before dawn; he had no illusion that this was going to be a short war and running himself or his people into the ground in the first week was not the way to go.  Throughout the last twenty-four hours there had always been a high-flying jet or a helicopter close to the ground in the vicinity; the enemy were not about to mount a significant counter-attack without his pickets knowing about it a long time in advance. 
 
    First, he planned to do a round of the company perimeter.  Another one of Paddy’s mantras – his friend was not pompous or anything like it, quite the opposite, just acutely observant and when he got to trust one, personably forthcoming about the hard-won, and more than once painful lessons he had learned in the course of his many adventures – was that ‘you never quite know how a bloke is going to cope with combat until it happens for the first time.’  Lionel was well aware that roughly two-thirds of his men had never actually been in action until yesterday.  Granted, hardly anybody had shot at them yet but this was not like bivouacking out in the Scottish Highlands, or yomping across Dartmoor or taking part in an exercise on Salisbury Plain. 
 
    The problem was; thus far, it might have been an exercise. 
 
    Yes, his boys had had a couple of brief firefights, taken a few prisoners and chucked a couple of speculative hand grenades into what turned out to have been an abandoned mortar fire pit but there had been no real fighting in Charlie Company’s sector.  The test was still to come and in the quietness of the night, the odd absence of…war, was playing on his mind. 
 
    Which was exactly why he needed to get his head down! 
 
    But first, he needed to take the temperature of his men, and to do that he needed to look the boys patrolling Charlie Company’s perimeter, ready to ward off all comers, in the eyes. 
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 Chapter 27 
 
      
 
    00:35 Hours (GMT) 
 
    Troopship RMS Canberra 
 
    244 miles East of Cape Pembroke, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    Forty-six-year-old Major General Sergey Fyodorovich Akhromeyev struggled, daily to come to terms with the twists and turns his life had taken since the October War.  His was the fate of all exiles.  He felt no less Russian now than he had before the Cuban Missiles catastrophe; and yet he knew he could never go home.  In the way of things, some days it was easier than others to rationalise his situation: his country had left him, not he it and finding himself stateless, he had decided that he owed a higher loyalty to the people who had joined his ‘White Brigade’ in the chaos of the French Civil War than to any nation state.  Fate had decreed that the British had offered him honourable terms when, militarily, his people, already starving were defeated; the price had been his co-operation and later his fealty to the Crown.  Sometimes, he told himself that had his wife, Tamara Vasilievna and his daughters, Tatiana and Natalia not been killed in October 1962, he might have chosen another fate but life was far too short to dwell overlong on such conundrums.  As it was, he had made a new life, re-married a truly remarkable woman, who like him would always be in her heart a devoted Marxist-Leninist serving in the cause of what, these days, passed for Western democracy. 
 
    Indeed, it was a funny old world! 
 
    The commanding officer of the Vindrey Commando of the Setsial'naya Brigade of the British Army, formed exclusively of former Red Army, Navy and Air Force men who were by design, or accident exiles like Akhromeyev, looked up from behind his desk in the cabin requisitioned as the Brigade Office.  He pushed back his chair, and scowled at his tireless secretary. 
 
    Twenty-seven-year-old Staff Sergeant Anatoly Saratov was, for once, not infuriatingly bright-eyed and in an idiom that was wholly English, bushy-tailed.  In fact, he was visibly flagging Akhromeyev guess that his old wounds were probably giving him Hell. 
 
    “If you want to come ashore with the rest of us,” he declared sternly, “you need to start taking better care of yourself, Anatoly!” 
 
    The younger man stiffened in offence. 
 
    Akhromeyev relented a degree, his lips quirking a half-smile. 
 
    In addition to being his secretary, the younger man fully participated – or rather, as fully as his bad arm allowed – in the unit’s harsh physical training regime, and spent hours every day teaching English and Spanish to his comrades.  The man had a natural gift for language, and a unique talent for organising the fine detail of the Commando’s day-to-day organisation. 
 
    Modelled, albeit approximately, on the structure of a British Parachute Regiment battalion, the Vindrey Commando, was decidedly light in terms of its Headquarters Company Staff.  Partly, this was because Akhromeyev wanted, and expected each of his four front-line companies to be capable of operating independently.  Moreover, it went without saying that the prospect of leading fighting men into combat without the dead weight of a cadre of useless, deadweight political officers in tow looking over his shoulder and constantly double-guessing him, was pure bliss. 
 
    “Seriously, we could be in action in forty-eight or seventy-two hours; the men are as ready as they’re ever going to be.  So, rest that arm of yours; and stop fucking pretending it isn’t giving you grief.” 
 
    After Akhromeyev dismissed him, Anatoly had gone up on deck.  He liked to feel the stinging cold of the night air on his face before he turned in.  He suspected that as the ship drew ever closer to the Falkland Islands, the ‘Boss’ was as unsettled as the rest of them.  Each man in the Commando had walked a long, twisted, and in many cases, tortured road to this place, half-a-world away from the Motherland. 
 
    The CO had been a hero of the Battle of Leningrad, commanded a tank battalion at a ridiculously young age at the end of the Great Patriotic War, and a division by the time the fire came in October 1962.  Afterwards, he had commanded Spetsnaz.  He was the hardest man Anatoly had ever met, tempered in the blast of the Russian Winter, the product of unimaginably cruel times.  It was anything but bullshit when he warned new recruits: Don’t even think about telling me you’ve got it tough!  During the siege of Leningrad my boys were never inside, even when the temperature went as low as minus 50 degrees.  We slept outside for two winters; we never had a warm day.  We were always fighting, always starving.   In my school class of thirty-two boys, only two of us survived that war! 
 
    Anatoly was a war baby, born in April or May 1942 somewhere in the Saratov Oblast of the Soviet Union.  He was around three months old when a woman fleeing from the advancing German Army snatched him from the arms of a dying woman at the roadside.  The woman, who may or may not have been is mother, had been shot through the abdomen and such wounds were a death sentence.  With her last breaths she had pleaded for somebody to take her baby to safety across the Volga… 
 
    ‘Anatoly’ was the name assigned him at the orphanage in Chelyabinsk where he spent his first years, and ‘Saratov’ because that was where his existence was first recorded. 
 
    Anatoly had joined the Cadet Corps of the Red Army, and aged seventeen found himself sent to the Moscow Military District to report for parachutist training.  Lean, sinewy, although only five feet six or seven in height he was preternaturally tough, a man who was accustomed to taking hard knocks and bouncing straight back up to his feet; he had been perfectly at home in the casual brutality of soldierly life in the Red Army. 
 
    At the time of the October War Anatoly was a corporal in the 73rd Airborne Regiment serving in the Sverdlovsk Military District.  Throughout 1963 his unit was engaged on policing duties in Georgia and Azerbaijan, operating as normal infantry.  Then, in November 1963 the 73rd was deployed to Bulgaria, and from there to the Yugoslav border at the start of 1964 where the 73rd had found itself heavily engaged in bitter fighting against the ‘Red Dawn insurgency’ in Transylvania, and later in and around Bucharest.  The 73rd had been given two hours to ‘go to ground’ before the Red Air Force nuked the Rumanian capital, comprehensively snuffing out the ‘counter-revolutionary betrayal’ of its formerly allied leadership. 
 
    The ‘shit had really hit the fan’ when elements of the 73rd were sent to Istanbul to put down yet another rebellion.  All he remembered about that time was that it was the dirtiest business of all.  Just killing, really.  Most of the city was on fire by the time the regiment out.  There was no negotiating with those Red Dawn maniacs; they were not the sort of people one could reason with.  So, they had just killed them all.  Them, their women, and their kids, too.  Anatoly and his friends had hated that but orders were orders… 
 
    The 73rd Airborne Regiment had suffered so many casualties – around seventy percent just since the beginning of 1964 – that it was amalgamated with another similarly depleted unit, the 58th, briefly withdrawn from combat and ordered to prepare for a transfer to Greece where a Red Army intervention had stalled in the face of unexpectedly fierce Red Dawn resistance.  Within days the weary men of the 58th/73rd Airborne and the survivors of two other decimated parachute units were herded on a fleet of transport aircraft, and informed they were bound for Malta. 
 
    That had been a misbegotten affair from the outset. 
 
    Like countless other men Anatoly had been shot whist still swinging beneath his billowing parachute high above what he later learned was the Maltese village of Kalkara.  A bullet had shattered his left arm above the elbow and when he hit the ground, he had sustained a compound fracture of his right ankle.  He had regained consciousness, in agony, in the back of a lorry crowded with other horribly wounded and dying men.  He was in such excruciating agony that right then, a bullet in the neck would have been a merciful release. 
 
    In retrospect; that was the moment the course of his life changed.  He had heard women’s voices, felt gentle hands, checking his body for other, unseen injuries and one woman had knelt beside him, stroked his face and whispered unintelligible but comforting words to him.  Another woman had been very angry when the British soldiers unloading the lorry had dropped him roughly on the ground outside what turned out to be the Royal Naval Hospital Bighi. 
 
    He had only discovered the identity of the woman who had comforted him that day about a year later.  The two young Maltese women who had protected and comforted wounded friends and foes alike that terrible day in April 1964 having since ‘gone on to other things.’ It transpired that they were none other than the – by then - wife of the British Ambassador to the United States and her then sister-in-law Rosa, who had married Commander Alan Hannay, another hero of the Talavera.  Needless to say, it had been a while before Anatoly had summoned the courage to write to Rosa Hannay, care of the British Embassy in Philadelphia, thanking her for saving his life. 
 
    Rosa Hannay’s return letter had not reached Anatoly for over six weeks but when it did, he was astonished by its tone; utterly absent any English stuffiness or reserve.  Rosa’s voice was warm, chatty; unprompted, she had filled in the missing details of that day, recounting how she and her ‘sister Marija’ had been given the job of deciding who should be rushed immediately to the over-whelmed emergency operating theatres as each new ambulance arrived at RNH Bighi, and how Marija had had a ‘polite disagreement’ with two Royal Marines who had wanted one of their own ‘lightly injured’ friends to ‘jump the queue’ ahead of Anatoly. 
 
    This had not been the only surprise, soon afterwards another letter arrived from Philadelphia; this time from Lady Marija Calleja-Christopher herself, and that lady’s tone had been no less personable than her sister’s.  Fascinatingly, the Ambassador’s wife had volunteered that she had been a ‘guinea pig’ for exactly the sort of surgery that had saved – albeit with an inevitable loss of full movement and function - his left arm, and that she was most keen to learn of his continuing recovery while sympathising with him that ‘sometimes your bones will ache’. 
 
    It happened that during his first year in captivity on Malta recovering from his injuries Anatoly had become fluent in spoken and written English, although not so voluble in Maltese which despite his best efforts, he found nearly…impossible.  Having initially been treated at Bighi, and subsequently undergone three separate operations to rebuilt his upper left arm he had been transferred to the SS Canberra – this same vessel, then berthed in the Grand Harbour - serving as a hospital and accommodation ship for the less seriously ill and for those undergoing rehabilitation. 
 
    In the days immediately after the battle of Malta, the British had summarily executed any Red Army man they suspected of killing civilians or members of the garrison who had surrendered to them; but the blood-letting was long over by the time Anatoly fully returned to the world of the living.  At RNH Bighi, he was treated like any other patient.  Later, onboard the Canberra while the British made a token show of guarding their Russian prisoners, apart from a couple of sentries at the head of the main gangway, none of the ‘guards’ actually carried guns. 
 
    Anatoly had remained at Malta until the summer of 1965 but for the last eight months of his recovery he had worked as a translator for the Military Administration of the archipelago.  Designated as a ‘non-combatant trustee’, he was effectively allowed to come and go from his billet on board the Canberra and later, in Valletta ‘on licence’.  He had ceased to be a soldier by then.  Back home he knew that the work he was performing for his ‘captors’ was viewed as treachery; but the kindness of Rosa Hannay, his personal angel of mercy, and later the fairness and well, profound decency, of the people into whose hands he had literally fallen, had changed…everything. 
 
    Not all his fellow prisoners felt the same way but that was their problem, not his.  Nonetheless, when he sailed to England aboard the Canberra, it had been with no little trepidation that he first set foot on British soil at Southampton.  Processed into a holding facility – Bushfield Camp - on the South Downs near Winchester, he soon found out that although there were, in theory, strict rules about fraternisation with the civilian population, that the camp was no kind of prison.  He was issued with a ration book, clothes coupons – ‘how you dress is your business, Mr Saratov, but we expect all persons to maintain the highest possible standards of personal hygiene while in our care’ – and was pleasantly surprised to learn that if he made himself available for ‘suitable employment’ he would be free to come and go as he pleased. 
 
    Somebody in Malta had passed a letter to the Governor-General’s Office confirming that ‘Saratov, Anatoly, former Junior Sergeant, 58th/73rd Red Army Parachute Reg. is of proven good character and has of his own free will assisted to the best of his ability the work of the military administration…’ 
 
    This commendation had accompanied him, and his file, to England and the upshot of this was that this was a perfect excuse for the hard-pressed Displaced Persons Agency to no longer consider him to be a prisoner of war.  If he wished to so do, he was free to go home. 
 
    The English understood that this was problematic, since a man in his situation once captured by the enemy would forever be deemed suspect by his former countrymen.  Having stated his wish to remain in England, Anatoly had worked on a farm south of Winchester at Otterbourne for several months, and briefly as a labourer in the nearby city after clerking in the camp commandant’s office.  His left arm ached maddeningly some nights; a thing that was easily borne because he knew how lucky he had been not to lose it. 
 
    Usually, Anatoly bore the nagging ache in his arm with stoic fortitude.  In recent days he had sucked aspirins to take the edge off it.  He worried that once ashore he would not be able to pull his weight; he certainly could not carry the sixty-plus pound packs of his comrades, or shoot an L1A1 Self-Loading Rifle (SLR). 
 
    The Boss had brushed this aside: ‘Don’t worry about that shit.  Just keep close to me.’ 
 
    The cold and the damp got into his rebuilt bones whenever he ventured out into the Brecon Beacons with the others.  Medically, he was forbidden to participate in the rough and tumble; his role was always as an observer and during live-fire exercises as a range controller because that was a job for a man who had been in more than one firefight! 
 
    Before joining the Vindrey Commando, Anatoly had volunteered for the World Cup Auxiliary, the parent organisation of the special duty companies formed to make ready the stadia for the 1966 World Cup.  He had been posted to Wembley Park where he had demonstrated an unsuspected talent for slicing through red tape – it took a Red Army man to know that what the English called red tape was literally, paper thin – and in no time flat he had found his niche in life, unblocking administrative bottle necks and politely, diplomatically knocking heads together. 
 
    It had been shortly after he started working at Wembley that he had met his wife, Greta.  She was expecting their third child now; news that had caught up with the Canberra at Walvis Bay.  Greta was a couple of years older than Anatoly.  Most of her street had been demolished by a German V-2 rocket in January 1945; fortunately, her mother and father had been out at work at the time and she had been, aged five, at school a little less than a quarter-of-a-mile away when the rocket arrived.  The family had settled in the West Country after the Second War, where she and her three younger siblings had all survived on the night of the October War. 
 
    And now Anatoly Saratov was somewhere in the South Atlantic, about to repay his adopted country some small part of the debt he owed it, and its people. 
 
    The darkness of the night lessened as clouds scudded across the sky, allowing the faint light of the stars to fall across the seas.  One of the liner’s escorts was always near at hand.  Presently, the Tribal class frigate Mohawk was pacing the Canberra about six hundred yards to port. 
 
    There were groups of men, and a few solitary figures, like Anatoly on the promenade deck.  The tang of cigarette smoke was whipped away by the breeze; Anatoly had smoked from an early age but after he was wounded at Malta, never really had the urge to pick up the habit again. 
 
    There had been a lot of talk about how ‘the Russians’ would be greeted on the Canberra.  The Gurkhas seemed friendly enough, even the Guardsmen were approachable, and the Royal Marines were just…Royal Marines because they knew they were the best soldiers on the ship.  Only the Paratroopers were openly hostile – well, some of them but none of the officers or senior NCOs - but apparently Paras did not like anybody, especially members of other regiments in the British Army! 
 
    Anatoly had been a member of an elite regiment in the Red Army but in his service career most of the prejudice and aggression between units had been more to do with cultural and racial issues, than the badge one wore on one’s service cap or beret.  People forgot that the Soviet Union was not ‘Russian’ but an agglomeration of territories and peoples, most of whom had been conquered and abused by ‘the Russians’ for hundreds of years. 
 
    Initially, the idea had been to keep the Paratroopers, the Royal Marines, the Guardsman, the Gurkhas and ‘the Russians’ apart but actually, even though she weighed in at over forty-five thousand tons and was over eight hundred feet-long the former P and O liner was not really big enough for a scheme like that to work in practice.  The Canberra had been designed and built in an age when perhaps it might accommodate two classes of passenger; that hardly facilitated separating five ‘classes’ of soldier.  Inevitably, segregation had not worked and there had been several incidents, and a few minor injuries.  The answer had been to release tensions by organising boxing matches, rifle shooting competitions, races around the deck, even a particularly mendacious, vicious series of ‘deck hockey’ games in which the object of the exercise seemed to be for the participants to hit each other with sticks.  However, with unit honour upheld on the sporting field, all things considered in recent weeks everybody had knocked along reasonably happily. 
 
    One English subaltern had remarked to Anatoly: ‘Who’d have thought the boat would turn into a rather boisterous version of the United Nations?’ 
 
    In a particularly British way, senior officers had made it known that they wanted any ‘altercation, fisticuffs or whatever’ resolved, if at all possible, by each unit’s senior NCOs. 
 
    Anatoly was not the Vindrey Commando’s ‘senior’ NCO, not by a long chalk; however, he spoke perfect English and as the voyage progressed, had picked up more than a little Nepali, so he had, again to employ an English idiom been ‘it’ whenever one of ‘his’ people blotted his copybook.  His face had swiftly become instantly recognisable throughout the ship. 
 
    “This must be bloody odd for you?” A familiar voice grunted by his shoulder. 
 
    Anatoly half-turned, grinning. 
 
    As a nineteen-year-old, forty-four-year-old Colour Sergeant James ‘Jimmy’ Howden had fought at Arnhem with the British 1st Airborne Division, and subsequently, everywhere from Malaya to Belfast in the intervening quarter of a century.  A tall, muscular man with a paratrooper’s trademark physical presence, he towered over the Russian. 
 
    Anatoly puffed out his cheeks and with a rueful shake of the head, laughed softly. 
 
    “My friend, you have no idea…” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 28 
 
      
 
    00:42 Hours (GMT) 03:42 (Local) 
 
    HMS Liverpool 
 
    East of North Swan Island, Falkland Sound 
 
      
 
    “INVERNESS IS SHOOTING AT A SURFACE TARGET!” 
 
    Peter Christopher had been about to take a sip from the mug of hot chocolate Carmelo Boffa had just pressed into his hands.  He held out the mug in his Steward’s direction, felt it smoothly removed from his grasp and in the next moment he had stepped onto the starboard bridge wing and was peering into the sparkling darkness about a mile to the north.  Blue and white tracer lashed the sea somewhere to the destroyer’s starboard; in a moment, her 40-millimetre guns joined the faster-reacting 20-millimetre cannons.  He fancied he could make out the old Fletcher’s silhouette lengthening as she turned to, from his perspective, the left. 
 
    Two brilliant searchlight beams stabbed out into the night, sweeping the glassy, almost oily surface of the Sound. 
 
    “CIC report nothing on the local threat board, sir!” 
 
    “Thank you.”  The Liverpool’s Captain was not convinced; the Inverness’s commanding officer, Commander Tom Crawley was one of the least twitchy men he had ever met in his whole life, a veteran reservist who had served on corvettes during the Battle of the Atlantic and survived the PQ17 disaster on the Arctic Run. 
 
    The cannonade slackened momentarily and he ducked back onto the compass platform, squinting suspiciously at the three radar repeaters – relatively small green-black displays rather than the full-size screens in the CIC – and saw nothing that indicated a ‘surface target’ of any description.  The problem was that even the Liverpool’s state-of-the-art, genuinely cutting-edge AN/SPS-43 and AN/SPS-48 aerials were hopelessly cluttered with false returns off the land when they swept the visible horizon.  Nevertheless, if there was anything larger than a rowing boat in the water, particularly if it was in the middle of the deep-water channel, it ought not to be invisible! 
 
    Granted, there were still technicians and specialists crawling all over the power and data cabling above him where over a hundred feet above the waterline the all-seeing flat digital arrays scanned, mostly the skies.  The forward superstructure had taken quite a peppering last night from heavy machineguns, medium and heavy autocannons and, for good measure, at least a couple of bigger rounds.  Nothing had penetrated the bridge, and although several men had suffered minor injuries from metal spalling, little damage had been done apart from the severing of several communications lines. 
 
    So, the question became: Do I trust the kit? 
 
    Peter thought about it. 
 
    Yes, and no, he concluded privately. 
 
    “Scrambler TBS,” he ordered.  He moved to the bulkhead and took the handset as the speaker whirred, crackled for a second and then began to broadcast the quiet background burbling that told anybody on the circuit that it was secure. 
 
    “This is Liverpool.  What are you shooting at, Tom?”  Peter asked the Inverness’s commanding officer. 
 
    The Inverness had ceased fire. 
 
    Her searchlights died. 
 
    “The sail of a hull-down sub, sir!”  The other man replied, a little breathlessly. 
 
    There were no Royal Navy submarines operating in Falkland Sound; the possibility of a friendly boat being attacked was far too high. 
 
    Peter was tempted to order the Inverness to remain circling on top of its suspected prey; but decided that was a bad idea.  Sonar was as good as useless in these relatively shallow waters; the sea bed was rock, gravel and sand, alternating with deep silt which scattered sonar pings, bouncing them randomly around the compass, or sucked them deep into the sea floor. 
 
    “Send a sighting report,” he decided.  “Break off your search and close up on Liverpool.” 
 
    The other man acknowledged. 
 
    Peter handed the handset back to the Bridge Talker. 
 
    Farther south his small flotilla might have to run the gauntlet of Argentine shore batteries, 3- or 4-inch field guns and heavy mortars.  He did not want Inverness running that gauntlet alone without the covering fire of the cruiser’s big guns.  Privately, he was hoping that once the enemy saw the menacing bulk of his ship offshore, they would do the sensible thing, and play dead. 
 
    He moved over to the plot. 
 
    The ship was slightly to the left of the centreline of the Main Passage marked on all the charts. 
 
    “We may have to slow down to allow Inverness to catch up with us south of Swan Island, Pilot,” Peter remarked.  “A glance up to the fire control board told him that numbers one and three main battery turrets were trained to port, and number two to starboard.  Intelligence reports indicated that there was a strong enemy garrison on the Darwin-Goose Green Isthmus and he had requested permission to bombard it as Liverpool passed to the west. 
 
    Permission denied! 
 
    If you do not ask; you do not get. 
 
    Without spotters it would have been a purely speculative shoot, he had consoled his gunnery officer who was a Tartar when it came to the possibility of wasting 8-inch reloads.  That said, if engaged from either shore of the Sound, Peter would have no compunction hurling back angry broadsides in return. 
 
    There was movement behind him. 
 
    “Permission to come onto the bridge?”  Captain James Watkins, USN requested of the officer of the watch, Lieutenant Commander Callum McNish, the cruiser’s Navigation Officer. 
 
    “So granted, sir!” 
 
    The American had been ensconced in the CIC several decks down from the bridge. 
 
    “Inverness thought she saw a submarine’s conning tower,” Peter explained. 
 
    The memory of the loss of HMS Rhyl was still fresh in everybody’s minds. 
 
    “A boat would have to be in a bad way to try to hide in these waters,” Watkins observed. 
 
    The two men had not discussed the revised OLO Protocols received earlier that day.  Basically, what individual captains cared to share with their OLO’s was their business but US Navy men were no longer permitted to offer operational advice and guidance, and were required to log and report at the earliest time any infraction of the new twelve-mile limit ‘retaliation’ rule. 
 
    “We navigated this channel when Jock Slater was with me on the Lynde McCormick last year,” the American recollected.  “That was a fine day.  Hell of a view.” 
 
    Watkins was aware that the cruiser’s captain was only listening to him with half-an-ear.  Guiltily, he shut up.  If he had been in the other man’s shoes, he would have been completely deaf.  Not for the first time he was struck, caught a little unawares, by the younger man’s steeliness. 
 
    “Quite,” Peter Christopher murmured.  Then, turning to Callum McNish he said: “I have the deck, Pilot.” 
 
    “You have the deck, sir!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 29 
 
      
 
    03:43 Hours 
 
    ARA Santiago del Estero, Estrecho de San Carlos 
 
      
 
    “What the Devil are they shooting at?”  Lieutenant Colonel Leopoldo Galtieri asked as the destroyer, trailing about a kilometre behind the big cruiser, suddenly opened fire as she steamed south across the submarine’s stern at a range of perhaps four hundred metres. 
 
    “I have no idea, Colonel,” Lieutenant Commander Alberto Castro Fox confessed.  “Not us, thank God!” 
 
    The men crammed into the cockpit of the old Balao class boat had hardly dared to watch the silhouette of the Fletcher class destroyer foreshorten, and grow ever-larger as it approached.  Had it not altered course half-a-point to starboard it would have run down the Santiago del Estero.   
 
    Castro Fox watched in bewilderment and incredulity as the enemy ship blazed away with every single anti-aircraft cannon and heavy machinegun that could be brought to bear at…something a kilometre or two away in more or less the direction they had just come from.  It had been bad enough botching that – as his American friends in Florida would have called it – hail Mary shot with his last torpedo at the Baltimore class cruiser as it slowly slid past him; but to then find himself on a near collision course with that destroyer! 
 
    But what was now happening was truly inexplicable! 
 
    Despite no little evidence to the contrary, it seemed that God was still with him, egging him on and protecting him from his mistakes.  What submarine commander could ask for more? 
 
    He had no idea where the torpedo he had launched as the boat’s bow swung approximately into alignment with the closing cruiser’s bow, had actually gone.  He still did not believe it had not hit…something.  Or for that matter, how the lookouts on the cruiser had failed to see the submarine wallowing drunkenly in the wake of the great ship as it serenely churned south, utterly oblivious of the half-sinking barely manoeuvrable wreck of the Santiago del Estero! 
 
    The muzzle flashes of the 20-millimetre cannons and the sawing of heavy machine guns reverberated across the water.  Tracer lit the night, in the conning tower cockpit each man felt as if he could see his companions and the world around him as if it was broad daylight.  That was a psychological reflex, an over-stimulation of that ancient, reptilian core of the human brain, the part that activated an unreasoning fight or flight response and set adrenaline pumping through one’s body but, nonetheless, if just one man on board that destroyer turned and looked, really looked in the direction of the Santiago del Estero they were all dead men. 
 
    Suddenly, the destroyer was turning to the west, her outline shortening fast.  One, then another of her 5-inch 38-calibre main battery rifles cracked and from the phosphorescent foam clearly visible under her transom she must have increased revolutions, intent on the hunt, going in for the kill. 
 
    “Maybe,” Castro Fox speculated, “they pinged a wreck with their sonar and got over-excited?” 
 
    “Does that sort of thing happen?” 
 
    “In our Navy,” the submarine’s commander retorted.  “I should imagine those guys are pretty jumpy right now.” 
 
    Castro Fox called down to the Control Room. 
 
    “Stop engines.  Now!  Now!  Now!” 
 
    Galtieri scowled at the submarine’s commander. 
 
    “Our wake may be visible from some distance away,” he explained to the Army man, turning his glasses on the English destroyer, which had ceased firing.  “The tide will carry us north east for a mile or two,” he went on, putting his cheerfulness down to existential hysteria, “as long as we don’t hit an uncharted rock first.” 
 
    The destroyer was slowing now, still circling. 
 
    He guessed the eastern radius of that search pattern was about one-and-a-half kilometres distant; far enough away from the boat’s sail to merge into the darkness of the land beyond it.  Castro Fox understood that there was nothing he could do if they were discovered; so, he would not worry about it. 
 
    “Do we have anything sited south of here that can hurt that Baltimore?”  He asked Galtieri. 
 
    The other man shook his head. 
 
    “The biggest gun emplaced at Bahia Zorro is a 105-millimetre howitzer.  There are a couple of 76-millimetre anti-tank guns.  But nothing that would do more than scratch her paintwork.  I thought the Navy was supposed to be mining the Sound?” 
 
    “Not so far as I know, Colonel.  I think somebody at the Libertador Building might have vetoed that on grounds it would endanger the re-supply of the garrison on Isla Gran Malvina.” 
 
    “That figures,” the other man scoffed derisively. 
 
    No officer worth his salt could avoid confrontations with the mid-ranking desk-bound idiots who ruled the giant Defence Ministry Building in Buenos Aires.  The story was that the only reason the ministry had to be so big – and constructed with such wide corridors - was to accommodate the fat arses of the useless bastards who occupied it! 
 
    The men in the cockpit watched the destroyer’s silhouette slowly lengthen and not immediately shorten again; she was no longer turning, circling, searching. 
 
    “Now would be a good time to pray, gentlemen,” Castro Fox observed wryly.  Men on board that ship would be looking in their direction again.  It was hard to remember to breathe for some seconds. 
 
    “I think she’s moving off to the south, sir,” one lookout reported, trying not to sound like he was seeing his life flashing before his eyes. 
 
    Castro Fox patted the man’s arm. 
 
    “Think of this as another story you’ll tell your grandchildren one day, Diego,” he guffawed quietly. 
 
    “I’m not likely to forget it, sir,” the seaman replied. 
 
    Castro Fox laughed and this time, slapped his shoulder. 
 
    “Good man, that’s the spirit!” 
 
    They watched the destroyer moving away, her dark outline in the night gradually shortening again, diminishing as she followed the deep-water channel, increasing speed to catch up with her consorts which were already invisible in the murk by the time a rocky headland a kilometre to the south blocked the view from the cockpit. 
 
    Castro Fox decided they had drifted long enough. 
 
    “Ask the Chief to try to start the diesel, if you please.  I don’t want to hang around here any longer than we have to!”  Knowing Galtieri was leaning in towards him he explained: “the batteries will have drained down by now.  Once we’re in enclosed water I want the extra grunt of the diesel to call on.” 
 
    A request came up to the conning tower ladder while they waited for the boat’s one surviving diesel to fire up, or not. 
 
    “Permission to pump out the boat, sir?” 
 
    “As soon as the diesel fires up!”  Castro Fox bellowed back.  Again, he glanced to the tall, very curious soldier.  He had a stray thought; this guy would be fascinated by the engineering compromises and fixes all around him that are the only things between a submarine and a watery grave.  The man might be an Army officer but he was probably an engineer first.  “We’ve been slowly flooding.  The noise of the pumps carries a long way on a night like this and besides, the batteries don’t have juice to spare for the pumps.” 
 
    There was a clunking, jarring rattle somewhere aft of the sail. 
 
    A gout of black smoke erupted, blowing back chokingly across the submarine’s sail.  The boat shook under their feet and then, reluctantly, steadied as the muted roar of the Santiago del Estero’s one serviceable General Electric V16 diesel engine settled to a rumbling growl. 
 
    “Half-ahead!”  Castro Fox called through the hatch. 
 
    Inside a minute the boat was forging through the frigid black water at eight knots, which to the men in the cockpit felt like they were standing in a speedboat after the stealthy, slow-motion creeping about of earlier in the night. 
 
    The muted roar of the diesel partly obfuscated the thumping of the pumps as slowly but surely, the boat’s casing rose inches and then a couple of feet higher in the water. 
 
    “Any of your people who’d like to, can come up on deck now,” Castro Fox suggested to Galtieri, knowing how oppressive non-submariners found it cooped up below.  “But nobody is to shoot at anything unless I say so,” he added, only half in jest. 
 
    “Of course,” Galtieri beamed broadly, his teeth flashing in the starlight, “you are the Captain, sir!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 30 
 
      
 
    10:45 Hours (GMT) 
 
    Cabinet Room, Churchill House 
 
    Headington Quarry Government Estate, Oxford 
 
      
 
    Unusually, Tom Harding-Grayson was one of the first ministers to arrive for the hastily convened meeting of the Cabinet.  Within the Government panic was in the air, a dispiritingly bad sign given that hardly anybody knew anything other than that President Brenckmann had, apparently, washed his hands of his closest overseas political ally, the Prime Minister. 
 
    What made it worse was that since the first elements of the South Atlantic Task Force had sailed with such fanfare in the early autumn, the majority of business had been conducted by cabinet committee and everything had been subservient to the demands promulgated by the War Cabinet comprising the Chiefs of Staff – who tended to attend in rotation – Tom Harding-Grayson, Defence Secretary Sir Ian Gilmour, Airey Neave, the Secretary of State for National Security and either Geoffrey Rippon, the Home Secretary, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Maurice Macmillan, or if and when matters of international law were on the agenda, the Government’s senior law officer, Geoffrey Howe. 
 
    That morning, both the Chief of the Defence Staff, and the First Sea Lord arrived soon after the Foreign Secretary.  Sir Michael Carver was wearing a grave expression but then he often did; but Admiral Sir Peter Hill Norton was hardly any more chipper, which was unusual. 
 
    “I need to have a private word with the Prime Minister,” the Foreign Secretary apologised to the two military men, who nodded their assent. 
 
    “The Prime Minister is already in the Cabinet Room,” Robin Butler, the absurdly youthful Acting Secretary to the Cabinet explained.  “This has been nominated as a political cabinet so Ian will be taking minutes.” 
 
    Ian Gow, the Prime Minister’s Parliamentary Private Secretary and Chief of Staff, opened the door to the Cabinet Room when Tom Harding-Grayson knocked. 
 
    “If I may have a brief word with the Prime Minister, Ian.” 
 
    It was not just a polite request, and the younger man understood as much. 
 
    He excused himself and left Margaret Thatcher alone with her friend.  She had risen to her feet and folded her arms across her chest in a most uncharacteristic way, as if she was suddenly cold.  She had looked at him, and he to her. 
 
    “I never imagined that Walter would be the first to stab me in the back, Tom,” she said with sadness rather than bitterness.  “I regret nothing.  Those islands are British…” 
 
    The old man said nothing. 
 
    The Prime Minister made a distracted, waving away gesture with her left hand at the polished oval table occupying half the floor space behind her. 
 
    “They will try to bring me down now.” 
 
    He shook his head. 
 
    “Yes, but not today, Margaret.”  He shrugged.  “And as you well know, a day, or a week can be a very long time in politics.  In one sense, nothing has really changed.  Your fate, all our fates, the fate of this government was in the hands of our seamen, soldiers and airmen from the moment the first ship sailed for the South Atlantic.  To a degree, nothing has changed…” 
 
    “Except everything,” she objected in a low, trembling voice.  She recovered her composure in a moment.  “Well, aren’t you going to tell me ‘I told you so’, Tom?” 
 
    Tom Harding-Grayson shook his head. 
 
    “What right have I to do a thing like that, Margaret?” 
 
    Their eyes met. 
 
    “I miss Pat terribly,” she said. 
 
    “So, do I,” he echoed.  He smiled wanly as a stray thought flitted across his mind. 
 
    “What?”  Margaret Thatcher asked. 
 
    “Nothing.  Nothing,” he muttered.  “No,” he changed his mind, “it is something, actually.  Here we are being very British about all this.  If Lady Marija was here she wouldn’t have said a word; she’d just have hugged us.” 
 
    The Prime Minister smiled.  In spite of herself, she smiled. 
 
    “Goodness, I think she would, too.”  She sobered.  “What will become of all our grand plans for Peter and Marija when we are gone, Tom?” 
 
    The Malta Question was just one of many post-colonial dilemmas near the top of the agenda of present and probably several Foreign and Commonwealth Secretaries to come, in the next decade.  The wind of change had been blowing not just through Africa but through the last vestiges of all the European empires.  The de-colonisation of the Caribbean and of sub-Saharan Africa was unfinished business, as was Maltese Independence.  But for the war the latter would have happened as long ago as 1964 or 1965, and like other imperial legacies it was best untangled sooner rather than later. 
 
    “Whoever holds our great offices of state when we are gone,” Tom Harding-Grayson observed, “will probably embrace many of the solutions we already have in hand, Margaret.” 
 
    She glanced at the clock on the wall. 
 
    “The jury will be assembled, waiting outside by now,” she sighed. 
 
    “Yes,” her friend agreed, “but don’t forget that the first among them to break ranks will never be forgiven by either the Party, or by the British people.  Either they support you, and axiomatically, they declare their support for the continuance of the war; or they risk casting themselves out into the political wilderness.  Whatever happens, you do not need to go to the country again for at least the next three years, or four if you want.” 
 
    They might have been reading each other’s minds. 
 
    Always, in politics as in life, when things went catastrophically wrong, there was a price to be paid for survival. 
 
    “I shall resign,” the old man said.  “Somebody must fall on his sword; it should be me, if not for this fine mess I’ve allowed you to get into, Margaret,” he grimaced in profound self-deprecation, “but for the sum of my sins.  By your leave, I will depart at the conclusion of this Cabinet.  It will quieten my soul; and take the heat out of the debate in the Party, for a while at least.” 
 
    Margaret Thatcher swallowed; there were tears in her eyes. 
 
    “Tom, I…” 
 
    “No, this is the way it has to be.  We both know it.  I have no regrets; and neither should you, my dear.” 
 
    There was a knock at the door. 
 
    Ian Gow stuck his head into the room. 
 
    “Everybody is here, Prime Minister.” 
 
    “One minute please, Ian.” 
 
    The door clicked shut. 
 
    Margaret Thatcher looked at the man who was now her closest friend in the world.  She was suddenly thinking about everything they had been through since the October War; their first meeting, both still more than a little traumatised at Cheltenham in the days after the coming of the fire, of all the battles they had fought, and the terrible decisions they had had to make, 
 
    She stepped to him and after a momentary hesitation, wrapped him in her arms.  He seemed so slight, frail that she was almost afraid to squeeze him too tightly.  He reciprocated, patting her back in reassurance. 
 
    “You’ll be fine,” he whispered.  “Just promise me that you’ll remember to be you at all times.” 
 
    They stepped apart, each very self-conscious. 
 
    In a moment she had smoothed down her dress, raised a hand to check her perfectly coiffured perm. 
 
    Margaret Thatcher stood to her full height, around five feet six inches in her sensible heels, waited a second, then another until she was confident that she had re-applied her Prime Ministerial mask and called, like a schoolmistress summoning her miscreant children: “Everybody should come in now!” 
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 Chapter 31  
 
      
 
    08:05 Hours (Local) 
 
    ARA Veinticinco de Mayo, 40 miles East of Bahia San Blas 
 
      
 
    Had Acting Lieutenant Commander Juan Bonham-Garcia, the Flagship’s Landing Deck Safety Officer had the time, or the inclination, to pause a moment as the haze began to burn off the unusually tranquil seascape around him, he would have seen the big grey ships of the Northern Strike Force steaming, like castles of steel towards their destiny.  And an impressive sight it was; the two old Essex class carriers, the former USS Bunker Hill, the Indepencia II steaming two miles to port, with the Brooklyn class Nuevo de Julio and Cleveland class Hercules, respectively the former USS Boise and USS Wilkes-Barre.  Each carrier – badly damaged in the latter stages of the Second War and repaired to their design specification – weighed in at over twenty-seven-thousand tons and were over eight-hundred-and-seventy-feet long.  And the two cruisers, their 6-inch main battery rifles jauntily elevated at thirty degrees certainly looked the part, at least to the untutored, uncritical eye.  However, an officer in the US or the Royal Navy would immediately have noticed things that did not add up, or just plain seemed wrong. 
 
    Juan did not care to dwell on things which might be staring him in the face but that he could do absolutely nothing about.  Every time he glanced at the Indepencia II he saw her unmodified bow.  Most of the later war-built Essex class ships were completed to the ‘long-bow’ design applied to the Ticonderoga, which lengthened and enclosed the ships’ clipper bow; those which had survived in service after 1945 had been modernised, their 5-inch DP gun houses removed, angled-flight decks introduced, steam catapults and heavy-duty traps installed and their island superstructures remodelled to accommodate state of the art radar and communications arrays.  But the Indepencia II and the Veinticinco de Mayo were stuck in time, as they had been in 1945, perfect wooden-decked dinosaurs.  Likewise, the two cruisers were unmodernized, throwbacks, good ships in their day but old, tired and even had they been manned by professionals rather than raw conscripts straight out of basic training, their two to three decades of physical deterioration meant they would never again fight their weight. 
 
    The other thing an American or a British officer would have noticed was that there were as many big ships as there were escorts screening them, and two of the smaller ships were so decrepit that now the Veinticinco de Mayo had worked up to twenty-four knots and turned south east into the wind to launch two T-28 Trojans to scout ahead of the fleet, they had quickly fallen behind the Flagship. 
 
    Not that the frigates Azopardo or the Piedrabuena were alone, the Hercules had also started to lag behind, and after making a lot of smoke, the Nuevo de Julio had begun to lose ground on the two carriers.  Only the thirty-year-old Entre Rios – courtesy of a boiler-cleaning refit last year – was still pacing the carriers, attempting to hold an ‘aircraft guard’ position some two hundred yards off the Veinticinco de Mayo’s starboard stern quarter. 
 
    The corvette ARA King had lost contact with the fleet shortly after it sailed.  It was likely that it had broken down trying to keep up with the big ships, hardly surprising given that her top speed, even just after she was commissioned over two decades ago had been only eighteen knots. 
 
    As darkness had fallen last night the Veinticinco de Mayo had started clearing the flight deck, stowing her aircraft below.  The Indepencia II – on account of her half-finished, abandoned overhaul last year - with only a single operable elevator, and with a skeletally-manned flight deck division had simply left her aircraft parked wingtip to wingtip topsides.  Insanely, Juan had learned that many of those aircraft were already fuelled and armed.  It hardly bore thinking about.  Aircraft carriers were highly-incendiary floating accidents waiting to happen as it was; but to tempt the fates in such a cavalier fashion was, well…insane.  Moreover, a lot, possibly most of those aircraft were going to be flown by Fuerza Aérea Argentina volunteers, unbelievably brave – and in his opinion, foolhardy - men indeed staring at a one-way mission off a flight deck that the ARA had already callously designated as a ‘tactical decoy’ in the battle to come. 
 
    Juan had installed himself in one of the empty sponsons – once occupied by a multiple 40-millimetre mount – to get a worm’s eye view of the launch.  He did not really need to be up at ‘the sharp end’ because he trusted his people, including all the men who had returned from the Indepencia shortly before the fleet left Bahia Blanco, to send the first two scouts off safely.  Aircraft like the Trojan, or the ship’s F4U Corsairs had been designed to fly off ships exactly like the Veinticinco de Mayo.  Landing back on the ship was going to be the problem, three or four veterans apart, none of the pilots on the Flagship had more than a handful of carrier landings in their log books and most, none at all.  As for the men destined to launch from the Indepencia II, Juan shuddered to think how many of them would be killed simply getting airborne. 
 
    OPERATION RIVADAVIA was loco, mad, there was no other way to describe it. 
 
    Jorge Anaya had addressed the crew, his voice coldly impersonal over the carrier’s booming Tannoy. 
 
    The enemy has withdrawn his nuclear submarines.  Our American friends have tied the hands of the English behind their backs.  We will avenge the sinking of La Argentina and the Almirante Brown and all those patriots who died in the massacre on Isla San Pedro.  We will steam to the Malvinas and launch all our aircraft at the enemy fleet.  We will sink the English aircraft carriers.  In the south, the General Belgrano and the Santissima Trinidad will break into the southern gates of the Estrecho de San Carlos and drive the enemy before them!  And that is only what we, the Armada of the Republic, will do to the English!  When we strike the enemy; he will know fear… 
 
    OPERATION RIVADAVIA had been changed, suddenly everybody in the Junta was desperate to demonstrate their loyalty to the cause, mostly by throwing away the lives of other men’s sons and brothers.  Just as the surviving cruisers of Emilio Eduardo Massera’s Southern Strike Group were now expected to damn the torpedoes and steam to death or glory south of the Malvinas, the Nuevo de Julio and the Hercules were preparing for their own ‘death ride’ into the enemy-congested Estrecho de San Carlos.  It was as if the High Command of the ARA had had a collective psychotic episode! 
 
    The carrier’s CAG, Commander Martin Bauer, who had obviously concluded that Juan was very much ‘in his camp’ had been philosophical about the situation which he had, more than once in the younger man’s hearing, cheerfully referred to as a complete FUBAR; an English acronym standing for Fucked Up Beyond All Repair but then he had already been torpedoed once by the English when he was on the old Indepencia, so OPERATION RIVADAVIA, whatever its faults, was personal not political for him! 
 
    The sullen, despondent mood among, possibly, a majority of the crew of the Veinticinco de Mayo was hardly a thing Juan could ignore.  Apart from Captain Herrera, and those members of Admiral Anaya’s staff who actually deigned to have anything to do with the ship’s officers, the only people on board who seemed oblivious to the disastrously poor morale all around them were Martin Bauer’s pilots.  Understandably, cynics claimed that this was only because most of them were drunk most of the time. 
 
    Juan had called his key people together. 
 
    “There’s too much loose talk on this ship and not enough of just getting on with it!  If we fuck up our pilots die and the ship gets sunk!  Everything else is somebody else’s problem.  Do your jobs.  Do your duty.  My Mama and my Papa, and my little sister are on the Malvinas; so, don’t expect me to listen, for a single minute about anybody talking to me about how this isn’t fair, or that your senior officers don’t know what they are doing!” 
 
    He heard the whine of the motors and the quickening rumbling of the port drum catapult, the blast of power of the Wright R-1820-86A radial engine of the North American F-28B Trojan, watched it accelerate away, stagger off the bow, dip for a moment and then begin to climb. 
 
    The Trojan had been designed as a trainer; later developed into a fully aerobatic fighter and ground attack aircraft, albeit with a maximum speed of only about three hundred and thirty knots.  It was not as good a dog-fighter or interceptor as the F4U Corsair, or anywhere near as fast but it was easier to keep in the air, and spare parts for it were still being manufactured.  It was also a lot less dangerous to fly, and when fitted with an air brake, it was a passably good dive bomber. 
 
    The second Trojan trundled off the bow. 
 
    Two gull-winged Corsairs were running up their Pratt and Witney R-2800-18W twenty-three-hundred horsepower engines as they were jockeyed onto the re-loading catapults.  From now on the carrier would fly daytime CAPs – Combat Air Patrols – over the strike force, necessitating the rotation of four to six F4U’s through the take-off and recovery cycle in pairs at eighty-to-ninety-minute intervals until around 22:00 hours that night.  The cycle would re-commence at dawn tomorrow, and so on. 
 
    Nobody had told Juan what a couple of Corsairs, or the Trojans, foraging up to seventy or eighty miles ahead of the fleet were supposed to do if they were jumped by Mach 2 missile-armed F4 Phantoms or subsonic, hardly any less formidable Sea Vixens flying off one of the English carriers. 
 
    The latest intelligence reports said the Ark Royal had been on station within striking range of the Malvinas for several weeks and that by now, she would have been joined by the smaller Hermes.  It was thought that the large number of enemy helicopters which had landed assault troops around San Carlos Water must have come from a third carrier, which was assumed to be the Bulwark, the flagship of the squadron which had so brutally re-taken Isla San Pedro last month.  The assumption was that all three English aircraft carriers would be operating north of the archipelago, protecting and directly supporting the ongoing landings in the San Carlos Sector of north western Isla Soledad. 
 
    Juan went up onto the flight deck and hurried towards the stern, as always when aircraft were moving and propellors spinning he ached to have eyes in the back of his head.  He only really began to feel safer, relax a little when he clambered down into the LDSO pit on the port side of the great ship’s transom.  He checked his watch. 
 
    A few minutes yet. 
 
    Even Captain Herrera had seen the urgency in clearing the deck.  The old man was not such a bad sort; his younger brother had been killed when the old Indepencia went down and like many men on board the Flagship, he had been longing for payback ever since.  It was just that like practically every other senior officer in the ARA he was a big gun man who had come to the carrier that spring with no previous experience of flight deck operations, and still tended to think like a cruiser captain. 
 
    There was a persistent, electronic tone nearby. 
 
    “They’re twenty miles out!” 
 
    Juan was so tightly-wired he only just stopped himself bawling out the speaker for the inadequacy of his report.  In the event, a scowl was sufficient to do the job. 
 
    “Five friendlies inbound at two-zero miles vector three-three-zero relative!” 
 
    The Air Force had got five more A-4 Skyhawks into the air, fitted an arrester hook of some description, cobbling them together from spares in the last couple of days, and found five men foolhardy enough to attempt their first deck landings in the middle of a war! 
 
    Now…if only Juan could coax them onto the traps the Veinticinco de Mayo would have a potential strike force of as many as eleven of the potentially deadly modern strike aircraft. 
 
    Eleven ship killers to hurl at the enemy, wolves in sheep’s clothing hiding among the sixty or so old prop planes which might, by then be clogging the air search and gun director radars of the ships protecting those all-important English carriers… 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 32 
 
      
 
    11:20 Hours (GMT) 08:20 (Local) 
 
    HMS Liverpool, Task Force 69.3 
 
    23 miles South of Meredith Point, West Falkland 
 
      
 
    Captain James Watkins, USN, could not shake off the sensation that he was a guest who had long-outstayed his welcome at a party.  It was nothing his hosts said, or did – in fact they had carried on as if nothing had happened – but he knew, he just knew that things could never again be the way they had been up until three days ago.  The post-July 1964 rapprochement of the world’s two great navies might continue in the years to come but the honeymoon period of the last three years was over. 
 
    An American president, his President and Commander-in-Chief had changed the rules of the game and suddenly, the tragic events of the two battles of Kharg Island in which 4,879 Americans, 1,421 British, 208 New Zealanders, 62 Australians and 57 other Commonwealth seamen and airmen had died, were again front and centre because once again, the man in the White House had proven, conclusively, that the United States would not always ‘be there’ for his British friends. 
 
    Watkins had spoken to survivors of those terrible battles; to men still shocked, traumatised, forever undermined by what they had experienced who would never, forget the rage and the ferocity of the what, as a group, many of them openly called ‘the English way of war…’  It was often forgotten in America that while those battles had been going on a British and Commonwealth squadron led by the cruiser Tiger and the Royal Australian Navy destroyer Anzac had fought its way all the way up the Shatt-al-Arab to within sight of Basra, and in an act of heroic self-sacrifice engaged and destroyed a whole Red Army tank division.  In that action alone, the navies of the British Commonwealth had lost another 1,683 men dead or missing in action; more men than it had lost in the whole Gulf Campaign on land.  Any historian will attest that context is everything: those desperate battles had been going on at the time that the US Navy had stabbed the Brits in the back…the last time. 
 
    Given that the British still felt JFK had started World War III in October 1962 without letting them know, and the litany of his Administration’s subsequent betrayals, culminating in the July 1964 debacle in the Persian Gulf, James Watkins had a sick feeling in the pit of his stomach as he contemplated the long-term consequences of this latest…setback. 
 
    ‘Setback’ was the word used in the succinct revision to the OLO protocols under which he was operating.  He was to carry on as normal with the caveat that he was obliged to report any ‘infraction of the 12-mile limit interpretation of the TAMEZ.’  He had been instructed to inform his ‘host officer commanding’ of this forthwith; which he had, somewhat uncomfortably, done. 
 
    Peter Christopher had shrugged but Watkins had been under no illusion that every other captain in the South Atlantic Task Force would take recent developments in any other way than very, very personally. 
 
    There was probably no greater friend of the United States in the Fleet than Peter; moreover, it was a thing he made no bones about.  Heck, legend had it that he and his wife were still on friendly terms with JFK and Jacqui, that Lady Marija had charmed Lyndon Johnson’s socks off, and they had even enjoyed relatively cordial relations with Richard Nixon and his family.  Watkins had lost count of the number of pictures he had seen of the Christophers with the McCains in Australia.  Peter had told him that it was a ‘privilege’ to have had the chance to get to know and to ‘work with Mister Sea Power’; and his and Lady Marija’s former ward, Lucy de L’Isle was practically engaged to the US Secretary of Defence’s son, John!  If any man straddled two nations who seemed forever, to be so divided by things lost in translation between their supposed shared, common tongues, it was Sir Peter Christopher! 
 
    Watkin’s friend had been oddly philosophical. 
 
    ‘I don’t know President Brenckmann very well although, Marija and I were friendly with his son, Dan and of course, his daughter-in-law, Gretchen when we were in America.’  Famously, it was Lady Marija who corresponded with presidents, prime ministers, movie stars and captains of industry and become, in the last few years, among the ‘best-connected’ woman in the world; as well as one of the most photographed!  ‘If I learned anything in my time as a diplomat,’ Peter had gone on, a little ruefully, ‘it was that the world is a horribly complicated place and that sometimes, one just has to do what one has to do.  I don’t think any of us down here in the South Atlantic is terribly enthusiastic about things but that is not to say that most of the people at home weren’t whole-heartedly behind Mrs Thatcher sending the Task Force in the first place.  I suppose we’re all a bit cheesed off to be down here, truth be known.  Most of us are fed up with fighting, we’re tired, we want to get on with our lives.  I certainly do.  The people we are really angry with are the blasted Argentines for kicking us when we were down in 1964, and for making us come all the way down here to teach them the error of their ways.’ 
 
    Watkins had thought he understood. 
 
    But he did not. 
 
    There had been that cool steeliness in the other man’s eyes again; the same unyielding sense of purpose he had recognised the previous night as the Liverpool and her two faithful old Fletchers had steamed south down Falkland Sound, their guns trained on both shores, ready to deal out death. 
 
    In the event, there had been no stabbing searchlights, nor shooting from either dark coast and the ships had steamed serenely out into the South Atlantic where, in recent hours they had begun to patrol, barring the way north to all comers. 
 
    At first light the Whitby class anti-submarine frigate Plymouth, and the Battle class destroyer Corunna, the latter an unmodified sister of the Talavera had joined the Liverpool, Inverness and Dunfermline.  Keeping Corunna and Inverness in hand, Peter had deployed the Plymouth and the Dunfermline to act as forward radar pickets twenty miles to the south and south west.  To a degree, this was just extra insurance because the Liverpool’s loftily-mounted state-of-the art flat-array AN/SPS-43 and AN/SPS-48 aerials were capable of detecting enemy aircraft two thirds of the way to the Argentine mainland and enemy surface ships far beyond the visual horizon.  However, the old Baltimore class cruiser’s commanding officer had learned, back in the Mediterranean, never ever to tempt fate. 
 
    Watching the Plymouth periodically disappear into the grey-green seascape had raised a lump in Peter Christopher’s throat.  In what now seemed like another lifetime, that ship’s timely arrival on the scene had saved the Talavera back in December 1963 as she wallowed, in a sinking condition off Cape Finisterre.  That had been the day he had discovered the terrifying - faster than the mind could really comprehend in real time - firepower of modern jet aircraft at sea.  Talavera, and the Devonshire, on passage south to Gibraltar had been crippled in what seemed like the blink of an eye by A-4 Skyhawks; it was a miracle both ships had not been sunk, or that neither had foundered in the winter storm in the following days.  Thinking about it at this remove, six years later, he knew that by rights, he should have died that day and probably would have, had not Jack Griffin rugby-tackled him to the deck when the Skyhawks returned to strafe their burning victims.  In a split-second Talavera’s deck-house CIC had been turned into an abattoir around them… 
 
    James Watkins had climbed up to the compass platform to watch the pickets disappear into the mist.  Murmuring his excuses – knowing his friend was communing with his thoughts, as a Captain must from time to time – he had turned to leave, passing a familiar, four-square bearded man on the companionway. 
 
    “Good morning, Chief,” he grinned. 
 
    The other man straightened respectfully. 
 
    “Aye, sir,” he acknowledged. 
 
    The two men parted. 
 
    “Permission to come on the bridge, sir!” 
 
    “So granted, Mister Griffin,” the officer of the watch retorted. 
 
    Peter turned to give the newcomer a stern look.  He guessed his friend had been watching the Plymouth depart, merging into the greyness of the seas with, like him, a lump in his throat.  On board the two men were meticulously, correctly formal – possibly over-formal, truth be known – and even in private, at sea, distant.  Even away from the ship, on land, with their families inter-mingled Peter was always Jack Griffin’s Captain, and he his faithful warrant officer.  That was the way both men knew it had to be, and preferred it to be, recognising and respecting boundaries, always knowing exactly where one stood. 
 
    At the Executive Officer’s request Jack had reported in person to the bridge to update the officer of the watch on the ongoing repairs to the helicopter deck.  During the cruiser’s last brush with Argentine shore batteries off Cape Pembroke, a 6-inch round had passed through the stern, holing the port – raisable – side of the profoundly ugly appendage to what had been previously, a perfectly handsome, well-ordered quarterdeck. 
 
    Both sides of the helicopter platform had to be raised to allow boats to be recovered from the ‘boat hangar’ below, a thing that had not been possible in recent days because the damaged ‘port side’ lifting motor had been inoperative. 
 
    Peter listened to his friend’s report. 
 
    The cruiser slammed into another Southern Ocean swell and shipped green water over her bow. 
 
    He waited until Jack Griffin had finished and glanced to the officer of the watch. 
 
    “That’s good to know,” he observed, dryly, “my compliments to Mister Canning.  But I think we’ll hold fire on restarting the inter-divisional sailing races until the weather has eased somewhat!” 
 
    Around the bridge men grinned, smirking behind their hands. 
 
    Before the Task Force had steamed for the South Atlantic every one of the cruiser’s divisions had competed fiercely, and without let or hindrance, to come out as top dog in the raft of competitions devised by its famous captain, to whom it was not enough – by a long chalk – just to have the Liverpool crowned as that year’s fleet gunnery champion.  The divisions, headed by the most numerous Engineering and Deck Departments – of which latter, Jack Griffin was the senior ‘Chief’ – had fought with each other on the athletics track, the football and rugby field, boxed and last but by no means least, sailed against each other in every gap in the ship’s gruelling training regimen.  Liverpool, like every other ship in the fleet was constantly rotating experienced officers and ratings to other ships, and taking in drafts of reservists requiring urgent refamiliarization and in some cases, extensive re-training, and new recruits direct from their sixty-day inductions at shore establishments.  Melding this ever-changing, increasingly disparate cocktail of old and new, experienced and bewildered newcomers into a crew and maintaining morale, and therefore motivation without having to resort to a disciplinary regime any tougher than it absolutely had to be, was an age-old challenge for any captain. 
 
    Peter had determined that anything which promoted physical fitness, encouraged mental acuity and yes, that might actually be fun for many of the men under his command, was to be pursued with maximum vigour.  His motto was: We’re all in this together, men!  He had led the way, ‘guesting’ for the Deck Division in a sailboat with Jack Griffin crewing for him, with decidedly mixed results much to the merriment of all concerned and thereafter, a lot of the doubters had started to see the point of ‘the games’ and the generally uplifting effect they had on all concerned.  This, and the generally softly, softly command style of the cruiser’s famous and very youthful commanding officer – whom everybody knew could be the Devil incarnate if one took liberties – had generally resulted in a Wardroom that had enthusiastically bought into Peter’s methods and style, and the result had been, in the circumstances, a relatively happy ship. 
 
    The trouble was that morale was like money in the bank; if you spent some of it every day and only rarely replenished it with a new deposit, or deposits, one’s credit steadily ebbed away, and sooner or later it ran out.  As on any ship, the ‘Chief’s Union’; the select fraternity of the Chief Petty Officers’ Mess was the one infallible weather vane of the state of a ship’s ‘happiness’ or otherwise. 
 
    The Chief among the Chiefs was the Liverpool’s Master at Arms – senior non-commissioned officer - Fleet Chief Petty Officer Thomas Curnow, a teak-hard, barrel-chested terror with a face that could turn as black as Hades.  Had he and Jack Griffin not ‘got along’ then Jack would have had to have gone ashore or to another ship in short order; that was just the way of things.  However, although Curnow had confessed straight out to his new Captain, while they were still in the United States, that he had had previous ‘dealings’ with Jack ‘that was before the War; so, that doesn’t count, sir.’  What had gone on ‘before the war’ did not count; history so ancient as to be irrelevant and Curnow, not a man given to sentimentality had, in any case, been friendly with the late ‘Spider’ McCann, Talvera’s last Master at Arms who had survived the Battle of Malta only to die on the Tiger at the Battle of Abadan three months later.  It seemed that at some point after Talavera had berthed at Gibraltar after her adventures off Cape Finisterre, ‘Spider’ had confided to Curnow – they were old chums whose paths had crossed time and time again in their long careers – that ‘Jack’ was the man who really won ‘that fucking fight!’ off Sliema.  That was good enough for Tom Curnow. 
 
    Peter broke out of his brief introspection. 
 
    “Actually, now we’ve got the bloody helipad sorted out,” he declared, “there’s no excuse for not going sailing again,” then “what do you think, Mister Griffin?” 
 
    Notwithstanding his friend remained determinedly poker-faced, there was nothing hiding the mischief in his rugged, red-bearded physiognomy or in his eyes. 
 
    “Just say the word, sir!” 
 
    The ships quarterdeck ‘boat hangar’ had originally accommodated two of the cruiser’s complement of Second War-vintage Vought OS2U Kingfisher reconnaissance and search and rescue floatplanes, of which she had been designed to carry up to four.  The two quarterdeck-mounted catapults had long been removed enabling the ship’s boats, previously stored on deck and thus, frequently damaged or washed away in heavy seas, to be stowed below deck beneath a sliding roof.  Above which, in its wisdom, earlier that year the Board of Admiralty had ordained the installation of the clumsy, decidedly ugly the two-sided – well, more ‘slabbed’ - helicopter landing deck; itself, prone to seize up whenever a big sea, or as they had discovered, a bothersome Argentine artillery round encountered it. 
 
    “I shall hold you to that, Mister Griffin!” 
 
    Shortly afterwards, Peter retired to his sea cabin to spruce up.  Most days he shaved twice, changed his uniform – Carmelo Boffa was a magician setting out immaculate blues or fatigues as required, and shining a replacement pair of shoes – because his people expected him to look the part whatever else was going on.  His steward knocked at his door after a few minutes. 
 
    A SPAM sandwich leavened with a spicy pickle, a mug of hot, well-brewed tea, and Peter was ready for anything again! 
 
    “AIR CONTACT!  RANGE ONE-THREE-FOUR MILES!  VECTOR TWO-NINE-FIVE RELATIVE!  SPEED TWO-THREE-ZERO!  NO IFF!  PRESUMED HOSTILE!” 
 
    Peter stepped over to the plot. 
 
    The contact was slightly closer to the Ark Royal’s south-western pickets than it was to the Liverpool. 
 
    “Any indications from the Ark’s CAP?” 
 
    “Negative to that, sir.” 
 
    Peter sighed. 
 
    Without the SSNs surface ships approaching from the Argentine mainland would get a lot closer to the Ark Royal’s battle group before being spotted.  The Ark’s CAP would probably fly patrols out to about a hundred-mile radius and West Falkland was between Liverpool and much of their search envelopes.  A Phantom’s radar would be painting that contact by now, even if one of the forward pickets, a frigate or a destroyer, had not locked onto it by now. 
 
    Twelve-mile limit… 
 
    Peter had no idea if that applied to air as well as sea operations.  Probably not, other than insofar as it meant that the contact the AN/SPS-43 was painting was most likely a singleton flying a hazardous reconnaissance mission destined to turn back long before it sighted the outer islands of the western archipelago, would probably not, on this occasion, be shot down. 
 
    He looked up at the radar repeaters. 
 
    No unidentified surface contacts. 
 
    “NEW AIR CONTACT!  RANGE 0NE-FOUR-SEVEN MILES!  VECTOR 0NE-NINE-ONE RELATIVE.  NO IFF!  VERY LOW SPEED!” 
 
    Peter waited for the officer of the watch to acknowledge the report, thinking his thoughts.  The Plymouth, already fifteen miles closer to the second contact was not, nor would it be painting it until it closed the range by thirty or forty miles; her Type 965 was not a patch on the Liverpool’s AN/SPS-43. 
 
    Presently, CIC calculated the second contact’s airspeed at about fifty knots.  It was probably a helicopter and if either the General Belgrano or the Santissima Trinidad was flying helicopters in the easing but still bad flying weather to the south, it told Peter that their captains must be worried to the verge of paranoia. 
 
    “Helicopter, methinks,” he offered. 
 
    “We know the ARA operates a handful of Sikorsky H-19 Chickasaws, sir,” he was reminded. 
 
    Peter was not convinced he would want to operate H-19s off the stern of his ship.  Those aircraft were even more underpowered than the Westland Whirlwind version the British Armed Forces had operated from the mid-1950s. 
 
    He sat in the captain’s chair, thinking his thoughts. 
 
    Okay, the enemy might not have scuttled straight back to Ushuaia after the Warspite settled La Argentina’s hash.  In fact, that helicopter could not have been launched from a ship much farther than two hundred miles away, possibly a lot less, maybe from somewhere in the vicinity of the Burwood Bank to his south-south-west. 
 
    The Burwood Bank marked the southern edge of the South American continental shelf on which the Falkland Islands sat, approximately a hundred and twenty miles to the north.  The ‘Bank’ was actually several majestic undersea features, with peaks and valleys rising to less than a hundred, and diving deeper than eighteen hundred feet beneath the surface.  It was an environment where no wise SSN commander would choose to venture because while it offered him both good hunting and hiding locales, it also threatened the very real perils of a disturbed water column as the current from the Antarctic battered its southern flank, as well as areas of dangerously shallow water in which he might easily be trapped in the sonar beams of a well-handled frigate or destroyer.  So, yes, that would be a place where, if he suspected a hostile SSN was stalking the Liverpool, he might shelter, hiding in plain sight while he contemplated his options.  Had, that was, he been in the shoes of Commodore Emilio Eduardo Massera who, like any man in his position, was waiting to see if the submarine which had sunk La Argentina and the Almirante Brown had really been driven off its kills… 
 
    Oddly, right up until that moment he had been convinced – or perhaps, hoped, a triumph of wishful thinking over reality – that Massera would do the rational thing; and run back to Ushuaia. 
 
    Sadly, the man obviously had other ideas. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 33 
 
      
 
    08:50 Hours 
 
    Verde Ganso, CP 9th Regiment de Infanteria 
 
      
 
    The ARA Santiago del Estero had finally decided that enough was enough just south of Cantera Island.  Her skipper, Albert Castro Fox had heard the submarine’s surviving diesel’s pre-death rattle and pointed the boat at what he took to be the nearest beach.  This was no simple thing in a southerly inlet littered with craggy islets and reefs and once, and then a second time the hull had scrapped and threatened to snag on submerged obstacles.  Finally, the boat had grounded some fifty metres off the eastern shore of Brenton Loch, somewhere to the west of where the charts claimed was a place called Camila Creek House. 
 
    ‘I’m sorry I can’t take you any further, Colonel,’ Castro Fox had apologised, entirely sincere in his chagrin.  ‘If you and your staffers follow the coast south you ought to come upon the Darwin-Verde de Ganso perimeter in a couple of hours.  But you’d know the ground better than me!’ 
 
    Galtieri and the other seven members of his party had all got soaked – up to their necks once they had slipped, sunk or fallen - getting ashore, after paddled in two emergency inflatable rafts which had encountered a boggy swamp underlain with rocky outcrops some distance from anything akin to firm footing.  One man had almost drowned in what might have been quicksand, for all he knew.  Afterwards, they had trudged down the shoreline, every step sinking ankle or calf-deep, with the peaty dunes sucking at their legs. 
 
    The soldiers had left their personal weapons and equipment, packs, apart from their side arms on the submarine.  This had proved to have been the wisest thing Galtieri had done since picking the wrong day to visit Isla Gran Malvina last Thursday.  His party was made up of relatively fit men, other than their leader all in their twenties and thirties; but they were all exhausted by the time they stumbled into the 9th regiment’s pickets. 
 
    ‘I have no idea what the fucking password is; I’ve been on the other side of the bloody Sound for the last four days!’  Galtieri had bellowed in response to a belated ‘WHO GOES THERE?’ challenge. 
 
    Instructed to come forward and to be identified he had been recognised immediately, and after sending his men to find the nearest Mess tent to get a hot drink and to dry out a little, had gone in search of Hector Balza, whom – much to Galtieri’s ire - it transpired was still breakfasting. 
 
    It had begun to rain by the time Balza walked into his regimental command post to find Galtieri already monopolising the secure land line to HQ in the Puerto Argentino Sector. 
 
    Galtieri had established that Hugo Bonham-Garcia was temporarily out of contact; however, he was much relieved to discover that the MLFG’s adjutant, Major, promoted now that hostilities had begun in earnest to brevet Lieutenant Colonel, Pedro Morales, also a combat engineer by profession, seemed to be on the ball and seemingly held no grudges against Galtieri on account of their past sparring. 
 
    “I was on the wrong side of the bloody water when the shit hit the fan,” Galtieri had explained.  “That’s why everybody at Camp Prado de Ganso is still sitting on their arses picking their noses over here!” 
 
    Morales told him that the enemy had already moved into position on and around Sussex Mountain, contact had been lost with the forward elements of the 5th Infantry Regiment and 3rd Marines in the San Carlos Sector, and it was therefore presumed that the English held the country surrounding San Carlos Water, and in some places, had pushed several miles inland to the east. 
 
    In passing, Galtieri had reported the Santiago del Estero had torpedoed and sunk a frigate north of the entrance to the Estrecho de San Carlos prior to the invasion, and had encountered a heavy cruiser and two destroyers steaming south the previous night. 
 
    “The garrison at Bahia Zorro was ordered not to fire on those ships,” Morales told him.  “They don’t have any guns big enough to hurt that ship and it would have been like Isla San Pedro all over again.” 
 
    Galtieri did not query this. 
 
    His recent experience traversing a relatively short march across the coastal ‘Camp’ had given him a new appreciation of just how difficult it was going to be, moving north to attack the enemy bridgehead.  Likewise, the English were going to have a fine old time of it actually breaking out of their breach head, and advancing anywhere! 
 
    He shared this insight with the other man. 
 
    Pedro Morales had worked this out for himself as soon as he had gone outside of Puerto Argentino within days of his arrival on Isla Soledad two years ago.  Diplomatically, he made no comment to this effect. 
 
    Galtieri realised the other man had come to a decision at about the same moment Hector Balza entered the old farm building, one of several around a huge shearing shed, on the roof of which had been painted giant red crosses.  Presumably, because that was where all the civilians who would have come through the lines in the last forty-eight hours would be sheltered.  The other officer was scowling at the filthy, dripping man sitting in his command chair. 
 
    “Okay,” Pedro Morales said.  “El Jefe,” my chief, “will want to leave Hector Balza in Sector Command.  That said, he also wants, and has done so since the first news of the invasion arrived, pressure to be applied to the enemy south of Sussex Mountain and aggressive patrolling to the east to establish and to monitor the perimeter of the beachhead.  That will be your job and if you’d be so good as to pass me over to Hector, I will endeavour to communicate that in such a way that, nobody’s feelings are wounded to the point of us having to fight duels between ourselves, and,” a wry half chuckle, “to make sure you get the resources you need to seriously inconvenience the English.” 
 
    Galtieri was momentarily stunned by the clarity of what he had just heard.  The Boss is not around at the moment but no pissing around; this is the way he wants it to be and I speak with the full authority of the OC Malvinas Lucha Contra las Fuerzas Terrestres de la Guarnición (MLFG) – the Malvinas Fighting Garrison Ground Forces – in his absence. 
 
    “I trust that works for you, Colonel,” Pedro Morales inquired. 
 
    “Er, yes.  Yes, it does.” 
 
    Galtieri passed the field handset to Hector Balza, whose visible mal-de-mere softened somewhat when he realised who he was speaking to.  He discovered – and realised he ought to have known it before now – that the two men were on convivial ‘Hector’ and ‘Pedro’ terms. 
 
    “Battalion-sized force, yes,” Balza echoed, “and he’ll need to borrow a mortar company…  Okay, two mortar companies and supporting machine gun squads, yes…  Forty-eight hours, yes.  No, I’ll pass that on to Galtieri.  Please pass on my kind regards to General Bonham-Garcia…” 
 
    Balza put down the receiver. 
 
    “What are you thinking?”  He asked Galtieri rhetorically.  “I’m thinking you need both the 107th’s infantry companies, maybe reinforced with the 9th’s lead company, attached machine gun squads, and a mortar platoon?” 
 
    The two men haggled briefly. 
 
    Ten minutes later Galtieri was marching back to his own battalion HQ to start organising the six-hundred-man mixed arms assault group he would lead north to harry, and if circumstances permitted, deploy to punch through to San Carlos Water. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 34 
 
      
 
    09:25 Hours 
 
    ARA Veinticinco de Mayo, 44 miles ESE of Bahia San Blas 
 
      
 
    After running south east at over twenty-six knots to land the last serviceable Douglas A-4 Skyhawks anywhere in the Republic, and two A-1 Skyraiders – the latter having just ‘turned up’ without advance notice and been fired upon, fortunately – but predictably, to nobody’s great surprise - to no ill-effect by the Nuevo de Julio, the carrier had reduced speed and circled to allow her escorts, now stretched out across over thirty miles of the South Atlantic, to catch up with her. 
 
    Juan Bonham-Garcia and the rest of the LDSO team were, by that time, so mentally and physically drained, pretty much wiped out in fact, that it was all they could do to find the energy to watch the deck crew stowing the traps and parking the newcomers on the starboard side of the bow. 
 
    The third Skyhawk pilot had taken four circuits to nail a landing that ought, by rights to have been a huge crash catching the fourth trap.  Of the other four A-4s, only one of the others had got down on its first attempt, catching the third trap.  In contrast, the A-1s with their low wing-loading and slow stall speeds had floated down and barely required a trap to halt, mid-deck. 
 
    “It’ll take forever to launch all our birds!”  One man complained. 
 
    The new arrivals would have to stay topside, there was no room left down below.  Juan had honestly not known his country had so many aircraft.  There were now between eighty and ninety distributed between the two carriers; okay apart from the Skyhawks the rest were old propeller types, no match for anything the enemy could field but even so, if and it was a big if, they could get most of those machines in the air and pointing more or less in the right direction, surely some of them would get through to the English carriers? 
 
    “Right, get a grip, guys!”  Juan called, staggering to his feet.  “Next on the agenda is rotating the CAP.” 
 
    There would be two thirsty F4U Corsairs coming home to mother in the next twenty minutes.  And after them, the two Trojans searching ahead of the fleet would be on the way back.  In the shadow of the island bridge the great steel ‘catcher’ safety net was being rolled out and attached to its port and starboard hoists.  Once that was in position nobody got to touch deck and bolt back into the air, every mistake meant an airframe disabling, or writing-off accident. 
 
    “Somebody needs to get a big pot of very strong coffee!”  Juan ordered.  He knew this was just the beginning; this was what it was going to be like until the war was over or the carrier was sunk. 
 
    A man in flying overalls jumped down into the LDSO pit. 
 
    He was about Juan’s age, beaming broadly.  He thumped the Veinticinco de Mayo’s LDSO on the back with such force he almost knocked him over. 
 
    “You’re that arsehole Griezmann’s replacement!”  The newcomer chuckled.  Ashore, Juan might have suspected the man was drunk, or high on drugs but knew that this was not the case.  He was dealing with a man who had just ‘spotted’ his first carrier landing. 
 
    “That would be me,” Juan confessed. 
 
    “Good man!  Good man!  I knew that arsehole couldn’t have been on the paddles; he’d have let me fly into the ship’s stern!”  The man was bathed in sweat, cheerfully agitated.  He frowned as a thought skittered across his excited mind.  “Why’d you wave me off the second time?” 
 
    Juan blinked at him. 
 
    “I was Red Two,” the pilot explained. 
 
    Red Two was the aircraft that had taken four, very scary, attempts to get on board. 
 
    “Oh, right…  You were too high, and coming in way too hot.” 
 
    “That was deliberate.  I planned to chop the throttle as I came over the stern, you see…” 
 
    The pilot’s voice had trailed off because of the expression of unadulterated horror on Juan’s face, and the sharp intakes of breath around the two men. 
 
    Juan found his voice: “No, no, never, never do that!” 
 
    “Oh, right…” 
 
    “The only way to go is to fly into the deck, if you try to flare out like you would on land with a normal tarmac runway in front of you, you’ll just crash.  Every time,” Juan said angrily.  “Didn’t they teach you anything at flight school, lieutenant?” 
 
    The other officer’s name badge patch, sewn into his uniform beneath his wings read: Lt. Carlos Scarpa. 
 
    The flyer was suddenly very sheepish. 
 
    He was starting to wind down, recover his senses as his adrenaline rush subsided.  Among other cardinal sins, he had just slapped a Lieutenant Commander on the back and behaved, he suspected, with a shameful lack of decorum in front of the man’s men. 
 
    “Not about landing on a carrier, no.  Sorry…” 
 
    Lieutenant Scarpa began to apologise in earnest, sobering now that the reality of surviving his first carrier landing was sinking in. 
 
    “Forgive my impertinence…”  
 
    Juan patted his arm, shaking his head.  He gestured at the other men in the pit. 
 
    “No, don’t worry about that shit, Lieutenant.  You got your bird down and nobody got killed; my guys know how hard that is.  You did your job; we did ours.” 
 
    The other man forced a grimace: “Just…  Thanks, that’s all.” 
 
    Juan’s LDSO team watched the man go. 
 
    The ship’s Tannoy was blaring in the background as the circuit to Flight Control buzzed insistently.  It was the CAG, Commander Martin Bauer on the line.  The German sounded like he was handing out the cigars. 
 
    “That was bloody good work, Juan.  Bloody good work.  It thought that idiot Scarpa was going to plaster himself across the deck before you waved him off!” 
 
    “He’ll learn from his mistake, sir.” 
 
    “I bloody hope so,” the older man guffawed cheerfully, “he’s my sister Angela’s boy!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 35 
 
      
 
    14:00 Hours (GMT) 11:00 (Local) 
 
    HMS Bulwark, 17 miles North of Cape Dolphin, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    Captain Dermot O’Reilly almost collided with a petite nurse at the port door to the assault carrier’s main sick bay.  The ship’s medical team had been busy – although thankfully not as busy as everybody had feared – in the last few days and had he not been scheduled to go ashore that afternoon, the tall Canadian would not have risked getting under anybody’s feet. 
 
    The woman stepped to one side, and looked up at him. 
 
    “Paddy’s bored out of his wits, sir,” she reported, guessing why he was visiting this part of the ship.  “He should be well enough to be transferred to the Himalaya in the next day or two.” 
 
    Given the number of bits of metal the surgeons had removed from his body and the number of bones they had had to pin back together, it was a miracle that O’Reilly’s friend from their days together in Scotland at the SAPG, was alive at all. 
 
    “You can’t keep a good man down,” he observed ruefully. 
 
    Then the woman was gone. 
 
    The wounded man was half-sitting up in his cot with only a couple of lines attached to his right arm.  He looked like death warmed up – or leastways, he did to somebody who knew him – but there was the old, familiar mischievous twinkle in his eyes as he spied O’Reilly. 
 
    “How goes the war in Sparta, old man?”  Captain Paddy Ashdown inquired, a little hoarsely. 
 
    “That’s what I’m going ashore this afternoon to find out, actually!” 
 
    “You lucky beggar!”  This came out as little more than a whisper. 
 
    “I don’t know about that,” the Canadian retorted with a conspiratorial chuckle.  Turning serious he went on: “We’ve got off lightly so far, Paddy.  Minimal casualties, less than twenty killed and seriously wounded.  A lot of that is down to the intelligence you and your chaps delivered in the lead-in to the landings.”  He paused to make sure the compliment had struck home, Royal Marines were notoriously sanguine about receiving any kind of pat on the back for simply doing, what they construed, to be just doing their jobs.  “Much to everybody’s surprise, we think the ARA may be at sea in strength.  That might be a problem, it’s still just the Ark Royal and her battle group out at sea.  Bulwarks just about in sight of East Falkland here.  We lost a Wessex V to an engine fire yesterday but all the crew got out in one piece.  Oh, and Peter Christopher took the Liverpool south down Falkland Sound to watch over the southern approaches.  I’d say we’re pretty firmly established ashore; and the Canberra will be arriving soon.  Yes, all things considered, things are going well.  Current thinking is that the breakout, when it happens – that’s a point of hot debate at the moment – will probably be towards Teal Inlet.  The other option would be to breakout to the south but the Argies have got a big garrison at Goose Green and we’re never going to have enough war supplies ashore to fight two big battles.  Not for any length of time, leastways.” 
 
    Dermot O’Reilly had decided his friend did not need to know how blind the Task Force was to what the defenders were up to on West Falkland.  The hope was that the estimated fifteen hundred to two thousand enemy troops on that side of the archipelago would, essentially, play dead.  There were plans to put raiding parties ashore but for the moment, that was problematic because every available SAS and SBS man was needed for reconnaissance and various other nefarious jobs behind the enemy’s lines on East Falkland.  Not for the first time was it being recognised that when it came to the land campaign, the Task Force was operating on what amounted to a shoe-string. 
 
    “Conventional wisdom is that the Argies will mount a few hit and run raids, demonstrations, just to show they’ve got their hearts in the right place for the folks back home; but honestly, unless we’re unlucky, we don’t think their old carriers and cruisers can lay a finger on us in open waters, we own the air over the archipelago and it doesn’t seem as if the garrison is remotely interested in coming out of its trenches and attacking us on the ground.  The Argentine Air Force hasn’t showed up at all, well, apart from flying a few recce missions out of Rio Gallegos when they fly half-way to West Falkland, turn around and go home.  It’s all a bit of a phoney war, really.” 
 
    Just paying attention drained the wounded man’s reserves. 
 
    “I bumped into your favourite nurse in the passageway,” O’Reilly teased Paddy Ashdown. 
 
    His friend had closed his eyes, smiling. 
 
    O’Reilly left him sleeping, making his way forward to the CIC where he knew the Assault Force Commander, David Penberthy would be found.  Even down in the bowels of the ship the sound of helicopters taking-off and landing was a constant element of the mechanical soundscape of the ship. 
 
    “Let’s go for a stroll, Dermot,” Penberthy suggested, rising to greet his Amphibious Landings Operations Officer. 
 
    The two men made their way, unhurriedly – mindful that the senior man, albeit only the older by a handful of years, had a ‘peg leg’, or rather ‘foot’ courtesy of that ‘sharp little action off Lampedusa’ back in 1964 where Peter Christopher had first ‘saved the day!’  Actually, hardly anybody who did not know that the Assault Group Commander had lost a foot would have guessed it; he was a man who was never rushed, always considered, contemplative and consequently, tended to generate an aura of calm about him wherever he went. 
 
    Peter had once confided to O’Reilly that David Penberthy was the man upon whom he had attempted to model his own style of command.  Further, that Penberthy was the first captain he felt had ever ‘trusted’ him, as an officer and a watchkeeper.  ‘I could never imagine him raising his voice to one, or anybody else, and I just thought, now there’s a man one would follow anywhere!’  David Penberthy would always be Peter’s Captain; Peter might have commanded Talavera through her famous adventures in 1964 but she had never been anything other than the ship he had inherited from his mentor. 
 
    The two men emerged onto the hangar deck, which was always a busy, noisy place where men could walk, and talk, knowing they were unlikely to be overheard. 
 
    “It worries me that our people are still so ‘bunched up’ around San Carlos Water, Dermot,” Penberthy remarked.  “I know that an element of that is unavoidable but I can’t decide if we’ve been lucky so far, or we’re riding for a fall in some way.  I know the Ops Staff think the Argentines are going to balk at the jump; but they’ve held the Falklands for five-and-a-half years, and I am not so sure that sooner or later they will fall to pieces.  I really don’t think we can count on that.  A nagging little voice in my head tells me that they might do what we’d do in their situation.” 
 
    The Canadian nodded, head bowed in thought. 
 
    He grimaced: “Do a Talavera, you mean?” 
 
    David Penberthy ran a hand through his grey hair.  “Yes, or something suicidal like Nick Davey did, steaming all the way up to Basra to turn the tide against that bloody Russian tank army; or even” he hesitated, “something like we did to the Kitty Hawk and Carrier Division Seven in the Persian Gulf.” 
 
    The two men halted, eying the organised chaos around them. 
 
    Bulwark’s Wessex V troop-carriers had been worked hard in the last few days and several of them were undergoing urgent maintenance.  A short stone’s throw away the forward elevator was descending with another helicopter, rotors folded back and warning lights blinking angrily. 
 
    “That would be a one-shot thing for them,” Dermot O’Reilly offered.  “Back in 1964 we never emptied the locker; even after the Gulf War died down, we still had enough ships and planes and people to hold down most of the Mediterranean.  I don’t doubt the Argies can do us some harm; but they’d have to throw everything they’ve got at us and at the end of the day, I suspect we’d still hold the ground.” 
 
    “Yes, and they’d be a broken reed,” Penberthy concurred.  He refrained from pointing out the obvious: they were eight thousand miles from home and the Argentines were, relatively speaking, just over the western horizon.  “I suppose the thing that bothers me most is that the people in charge in Buenos Aires probably don’t give a damn about how many men they throw into the fire.  In the long-term it may be that several thousand martyrs better suit their purposes than anything they might achieve on the battlefield.  It is not as if they have to worry about little things like democracy, or public support – which incidentally, they probably have overwhelmingly behind them at this moment – or Parliamentary dissent.  It may be that the generals in the Casa Rosada aren’t as stupid as we think; that they might just understand that although they cannot win this war militarily, that does not mean they can’t stymy us politically.  They might just be insane enough to believe that if they can strike a telling blow against us, that it will be our resolve, not theirs which falters first.” 
 
    O’Reilly was not hearing anything he had not already worked out for himself.  If the Hermes had been on station, not still back at Leith Harbour preparing to operate solely as a flight deck for a small number of serviceable vertical take-off and landing Kestrels she and Bulwark had carried down to the South Atlantic, he would have been fairly sanguine.  Hermes’s Sea Vixens and Buccaneers to back up the Ark Royal’s formidable air group would have been more than enough insurance against any Argentine surprises. 
 
    “I take it that there’s been no change of heart in Oxford over the SSNs?”  He inquired lowly. 
 
    “No, they’ve been withdrawn and our conventional boats are operating under a tight leash in and around the archipelago.  Apparently, Ark Royal only has a couple of serviceable AEW Gannets.  They’re having to fly continuous ops.  Flying twenty-four-hour CAP and recce missions is straining even the Ark’s capabilities, even though I gather her Buccaneers have started sharing the load in the last twenty-four hours.  If we were in a position – that is, the one we thought we would be in when we planned this show and sent off the Task Force – to seek out and destroy the ARA if and when it ever ventured out of port, we’d still hold the whip hand.  But now, well, we’ve got to wait for the other side to make the first move and frankly, I doubt if the Chiefs of Staff would have let a single ship leave England if they’d known this was what was going to happen when we got down here!” 
 
    Dermot O’Reilly was unhappily aware that one of, if not the keystone assumption the South Atlantic Planning Group had built into OPERATION SOMERVILLE, was that the Navy’s SSNs would be given free rein to destroy, or to blockade the Argentine fleet.  Other, almost incidental assumptions back home as recently as the late summer, had been that the enemy had no significant air assets capable of operating over the Falklands Archipelago from bases on the mainland, and that even if the land campaign bogged down at any time, it would only take a couple of months to starve out the occupying garrison.  This, of course, might still be the case.  However, the prohibition against waging unrestricted submarine warfare, allied to unthinkably restricted rules of engagement under which the rest of the Task Force was now obliged to operate, had two very obvious likely consequences.  Casualties in men and ships would be heavier than anticipated; while on land, the prospect of fighting a relatively short, sharp, quick and if necessary dirty campaign to settle the issue before there was any significant weakening of political support at home, was now at best, improbable.  Moreover, with the only available carrier – the Ark Royal – effectively reduced to operating in a fleet protection role at for the foreseeable future, it was not hard to envisage the land battle becoming a Second War, or worse, a First War-type slogging match, given the absence of battlefield air superiority which a two-carrier battle group would have been able to guarantee throughout the coming march on Stanley-Puerto Argentino. 
 
     Overnight, improvisation had become the order of the day and if, by some mischance the Ark Royal was damaged or unable to sustain her present intensity of flight operations, all bets were off.  As it was, if they had not worked it out already, the Argentines were soon going to work out that the occasional sound of a high-flying Phantom or Buccaneer was not the same thing as the invader’s having on-call, on tap air support.  If and when the penny dropped, surely that would be the moment when any aircraft that they had managed to hide away around the islands would come out to play… 
 
    “I’m sure we’ll muddle through, sir,” the Canadian decided.  It was not as if they had any other choice; so, they might as well just get on with it. 
 
    “Yes, of course.”  Penberthy smiled, shook his head.  “Of course, we will.  With Peter and Jack Griffin guarding the southern approaches to Falkland Sound, Alan Hannay and Naiad en route to join the Ark Royal, and your good self about to go ashore to make sure everything’s tickety-boo for the arrival of the Canberra, I think all us old Talaveras have the situation well in hand, what!” 
 
    Dermot O’Reilly grinned piratically.  Back in early 1964, he had only come on board the old destroyer after Penberthy had been wounded; Alan Hannay had been another ‘late recruit’ but he knew what the other man was saying.  That ship had bound them together, a band of brothers. 
 
    “If I was still a drinking man,” the Canadian, saved by the October War from imbibing himself into an early grave, and staunchly teetotal ever since, guffawed, “I think I’d drink to that!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 36 
 
      
 
    14:05 Hours (GMT) 
 
    House of Commons, 
 
    Christ Church Great Hall, Oxford 
 
      
 
    The Speaker of the House had risen to his feet shortly after the Prime Minister had marched to her place on the Government’s front bench.  The Commons had fallen silent, icily silent for a moment and then the muttering and the jeering had begun, only partly quelled by the Speaker’s rise to his feet. 
 
    Fifty-five-year-old Charles Fletcher Fletcher-Cooke, Queen’s Council and since 1951, the Member of Parliament for Darwen, was not regarded happily by Her Majesty’s Loyal Opposition, or even by many on the National Conservative side of the house.  In times of crisis memories were very, very long; in 1936, Fletcher-Cooke had been President of the Cambridge Union and a member of the Communist Party of Great Britain.  Extraordinarily, neither his simultaneous membership of the infamous Cambridge Apostles – a clique since known to have been populated with Soviet spies and sympathisers – or his open affiliation to the CPGB, had impeded his call to the bar at Lincoln’s Inn in 1938.  Thereafter, principles conveniently set aside, Fletcher-Cooke had inculcated himself into the establishment, changing his political spots like a chameleon.  Notoriously, he had stood for the seat of Dorset East in 1945 as a Labour candidate, and when he failed to be elected, defected to the Conservatives; all with the shameless insouciance of a born member of the ruling class. 
 
    The Speaker was supposed to ‘speak’ for all the Commons. 
 
    However, nobody on the Opposition benches believed that for a minute and thus, numerous conversations and muttered heckling continued as Speaker Charles Fletcher Fletcher-Cooke stood waiting for the House to come to order. 
 
    “A Statement from the Prime Minister!”  He bellowed, and resumed his seat. 
 
    Margaret Thatcher did not stand up immediately. 
 
    In fact, for the first time anybody could recollect she sat a moment, her eyes shut, as if in atypical meditation before with a visibly overlong intake of breath she gathered her papers and rose to her feet at the Despatch Box. 
 
    With the firestorm of rumours jostling for attention in Oxford since the weekend it was hardly surprising that she was greeted with a – more than usually – well-choreographed sustained chorus of jeers from across the other side of the hall and a dangerous, stony silence from the majority of her notional Right Honourable friends at her back.  She waited patiently for stillness, for the bear pit of the Commons to quieten.  And while she waited, she looked around at her surroundings struck by how successive crises had galvanised…this place. 
 
    The layout of the old pre-October War chamber of the House of Commons in the derelict, wrecked shell of the Palace of Westminster had owed its configuration to that of an earlier chamber, St Stephen’s Chapel, destroyed by fire in 1834.  The construction of St Stephen’s Chapel within the old Palace of Westminster had been completed around the year 1297 during the reign of Edward I.  It was only after Westminster ceased to be a royal palace that Henry VIII’s son Edward VI had passed the Abolition of Chantries Act in 1547, making the chapel available to the Commons.  Thus, St Stephen’s Chapel had become the debating chamber of the House of Commons for nearly three centuries until its destruction by fire in 1834.   
 
    The incarnation of the mother of Parliaments in Christ Church’s Great Hall was nothing if not faithful – some said ‘the prisoner’ - of its ancient traditions and prerogatives.  In both Christ Church and King’s College, whose halls had vied for primacy in the early days of the latter-day post-cataclysm Parliament, much reverence had been shown to the layout of the rebuilt Victorian Palace of Westminster.  In that august, ruined chamber the historic floor plan of the new, Victorian Commons, had been religiously copied from that of St Stephen’s Chapel; the Speaker’s chair placed squarely upon the altar steps as if still in a church, the Table of the House positioned where a lectern had once stood, and as they had from its earliest days, the Members of the House had sat facing each other in medieval fashion in opposing choir stalls. 
 
    Although the Great Hall of Christ Church College was not that much bigger than the previous home of the Commons it had always seemed, to the Prime Minister, significantly less claustrophobic other than on days like this when the House knew that it had her at its mercy. 
 
    Margaret Thatcher cleared her throat. 
 
    Although not a single hair was out of place on her head, every time she looked in the mirror, she saw the encroaching age lines in her face, the grey at her temples and the weariness in her blue eyes, and she seriously wondered how long she could go on...alone.  Today, she was more alone than ever. 
 
    “Over five years ago,” she began, “I promised this House that the Argentine invasion and occupation of the South Atlantic Dependencies would not be allowed to stand.  Earlier this year, I decided, with the support of this House, that it was right and proper, justified in all the circumstances to send a powerful task force to the South Atlantic to take back British sovereign territory and thereby, uphold the rule of international law.  This House voted its confidence in the Government as recently as August of this year…” 
 
    This was greeted by a blizzard of dissent; everything from relatively coherent assertions that this was ‘rubbish’ and a ‘con’ to hoots of derision. Ridicule and a variety of utterances presumably learned from observing the participants in a Chimpanzees’ tea party followed in quick succession. 
 
    The Prime Minister made no attempt to be heard above the cacophony.  She looked to the Speaker who, reluctantly got onto his hind legs to demand: “ORDER!” 
 
    Eventually, Margaret Thatcher, who had waited, gathering her strength while the tempest broke around her, continued. 
 
    “I must inform the House that following conversations with our allies in North America; we face a situation analogous to that we faced in late 1956.  Like then, our fighting men were already in contact with the enemy.  Like then, we had been proceeding in good faith convinced that our friends in America would stand by us, and that we would be supported in our selfless endeavour to uphold the rule of law in a world which desperately needs that certainty…” 
 
    This time, Margaret Thatcher flinched at the vitriol flying at her head, seemingly, from all quarters.  Even her stalwarts, and her ministers, packed sardine-like around her were poker-faced; leastways, those that were not visibly withering under the unrelenting verbal fire. 
 
    Again, the Speaker called for calm, threatening to suspend the sitting of the House. 
 
    Thus far, there had only been two resignations from Margaret Thatcher’s Government; there would be more and many, like that of Tom Harding-Grayson’s loyal and long-serving number two at the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, Sir Anthony Kershaw, would be from among the ranks of her loyalist supporters.  For example, Nicholas Ridley’s deputy at the Education department, Peggy Fenner had indicated that ‘when all this is over’ that she would be standing down.  The Prime Minister’s friend and Minister for London, Miriam Prior, had confided similar sentiments to her in a tearful, personal interview and it was widely known that others, including her newly confirmed Secretary of Defence, Ian Gilmour and all three of his Ministers of State were ‘actively considering their positions’ in the light of recent events. 
 
    One thing was crystal clear; her six-year-long ‘love affair’ as her detractors called it, with the military was coming to a very messy end; that much was inevitable now.  Even had everything gone swimmingly in the South Atlantic she had assumed that the CDS, Field Marshal Sir Michael Carver, and the Chief of the Air Staff, Air Chief Marshall Sir Daniel French – who in any event was due to retire shortly – would stand down.  Now it was likely that the First Sea Lord and almost certainly, Flag Officer Submarines would also depart, although she hoped, only after a decent interval to allow at least a little of the dust to settle. 
 
    She had contemplated resigning. 
 
    ‘Don’t be a ninny, Margaret!’ Airey Neave, her mentor and the man who held all the strings of the nation’s revamped Intelligence Services, not to mention personal files on every single one of her friends and foes alike in Parliament.  ‘Besides, you have a majority in Cabinet, and you will still have it after this is over, too.  Don’t ever forget, however bad things are, that this is about pay, rations and status to most of the boys and girls on the back benches; they know that if there was an election tomorrow half of them would be out of a job.  So, they’ll whine and whinge, twist and turn and say all manner of thoroughly ill-advised things about the Government but they will not bring you down unless, or until somebody who they believe will win the next election emerges.  Right now, there are no contenders!” 
 
    In the meantime, Francis Pym, who had held down the onerous post of Secretary of State for Northern Ireland for several tortuous years with no little aplomb, had been appointed the new Foreign Secretary, and the United Kingdom’s equally long-suffering Ambassador in Dublin, Iain MacLennan, suitably ennobled, had been recalled to Oxford to replace Anthony Kershaw as his deputy. 
 
    “However,” Margaret Thatcher resumed, her voice suddenly hectoring in exactly the way which she had tried so hard to eliminate down the years.  “Our present situation is not what it was in 1956…” 
 
    This was greeted with incredulity. 
 
    “This is not Suez all over again!”  She declaimed angrily. 
 
    Contempt drooled from the lips of the men and women flanking the leader of her Majesty’s Loyal Opposition, Peter Shore.  Shore himself simply shook his head in sad disbelief. 
 
    “President Eisenhower threatened to bankrupt the country in 1956,” the Prime Minister cried.  “President Brenckmann has merely withheld certain military and logistical assistance…” 
 
    By then emotion had got the better of a substantial minority of the member in the chamber and the session was degenerating into chaos.  Men had stepped from their pews to approach the Despatch Box and but for the Sergeant at Arms and the intervention of two of the Prime Minister’s Royal Marine AWPs attired in the sober black suits of the Chamber’s elite internal security force, one Labour MP brandishing a rolled-up copy of the day’s ‘order paper’ might actually have physically assaulted Margaret Thatcher. 
 
    “CONFIDENCE!  CONFIDENCE!” 
 
    Such was the deafening cry from the Opposition benches. 
 
    “THE HOUSE IS SUSPENDED!  SUSPENDED, DO YOU HEAR?”  The Speaker bawled, his voice cracking above the hubbub as the Prime Minister was ushered to safety. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 37 
 
      
 
    17:15 Hours (Local) 
 
    Comodoro Rivadavia FAA Base, Chubut Province 
 
      
 
    The last two North American F-86F Sabres lined up for take-off, their General Electric J47-GE-27 turbojets spooling up, filling the hazy afternoon air with whistling thunder.  The 170-gallon drop tanks hanging from under-wing hard points gave each aircraft a clumsy look, distracting the eye from their swept back wings, high tail and streamlined, muscular silver fuselages.  The two fighters looked what they were, hunters, machines crafted to get to altitude in a hurry and to dogfight for their lives. 
 
    The United States had sold the Argentine – albeit at a very generous hard-dollar exchange rate subsidised by the US Defense Department – a batch of 26 F-86Fs back in September 1960, of which twenty-two were still airworthy and sixteen deemed in sufficiently good mechanical condition to be hurriedly modified – stripped of all inessential weight and configured to carry drop tanks to increase their relatively miserly operational range on internal fuel alone – and been formed into a new unit, the 14th Fighter Group, shortly after the English had re-conquered Isla San Pedro.  Initially based at Villa Reynolds Military Air Base, in San Luis Province, the 14th had been moved to its forward operating base here at Comodoro Rivadavia for an all-too short, intense period of unit affiliation and tactical training – mainly dogfighting exercises - in preparation for its part in OPERATION CATECISMO, the FAA’s component of the ARA’s OPERATION RIVADAVIA. 
 
    Catecismo…catechism in English; for students of such ephemera, was the name the British had given to an attack by thirty-two Lancaster bombers of 617 and 9 Squadrons RAF on the German battleship Tirpitz on 12th November 1944. 
 
    Of course, the F-86s were unlikely to be the game-changing stars of OPERATION CATECISMO, if any aircraft were cast in that giant-slaying role, if it was to happen at all, it would be the A-4 Skyhawks miraculously safely landed on the Veinticinco de Mayo.  Although, as Major General Juan Carlos Rey, the Chief of Staff of the Argentine Air Force watched the final pair of Sabres charge down the runway into the prevailing westerly wind, screaming past the long line of dark, camouflage net-shrouded heavy bombers parked along the southern perimeter of the field, hoped, rather than believed, that only those old, lumbering big beasts the silvery, shark-like interceptors were leaving behind at Comodoro Rivadavia actually had the strike potential to change the course of the war. 
 
    The junior member of the ruling Junta had left Buenos Aires at the earliest possible moment.  Increasingly, he was disgusted by the senior partners in the Junta to such an extent that had he ever doubted it, they deserved exactly what they were going to get sometime in the next few weeks. 
 
    For all his faults, the exiled Governor of the Malvinas, Horacio Mendoza, had been pushing at a half-open door when he had unambiguously invited Rey into the camp of the men plotting the next coup.  Or rather, coups, as many as it took to root out the incompetent clique who had been running the country ever since Juan Peron’s fall from grace fourteen years ago.  The fact that the Onganía era was over was immaterial, the same fools were still pulling the strings behind the scenes; and as for the dummkopfs presently sitting with him on the Junta, well, these days it was all he could do not to despair too visibly! 
 
    Pedro Gnavi had abdicated responsibility for the ARA’s part in the coming ‘death ride’ to Jorge Anaya, Benigno Varela – the commander of the Southern Strike Force flying his flag on the Santissima Trinidad – and Emilio Eduardo Massera, the captain of the General Belgrano. 
 
    Augustin Lanusse – the newly self-appointed Il Presidente himself – had almost certainly convinced himself that whatever happened he would be able to palm off the blame onto Mendoza, and the unimpeachable hero of the re-conquest in 1964, Hugo Bonham-Garcia.  Lanusse was so out of contact with reality that it had probably never occurred to him that not all his potential scapegoats would meekly, obediently play the roles he assigned them! 
 
    Let alone that they were, in chess board terms, several moves ahead of him and that in effect, he was already in ‘check’; a thing he would have known if he had been paying attention not admiring the new medals he had just awarded himself! 
 
    Likewise, it would not have occurred to either Il Presidente or his bumbling ARA puppet, Gnavi, that the only reason that they were still in place at the Casa Rosada was that it suited the real movers and shakers of the Republic.  Far from realising that they were little more than human shields, the idiots honestly thought they had side-lined the powerful Cordoba Faction when they exiled its titular leader to Puerto Argentino…  
 
    None so blind as they who will not see… 
 
    Every time the Junta convened, Rey regarded himself as the last patriot standing and had laid his battle plans accordingly.  Moreover, he not only planned to survive the coming trials but and he and his deputy, Brigadier Antonio Facchetti – an unnervingly competent officer - had been working, literally night and day readying the Air Force’s counter-stroke against the invaders ever since that witch Thatcher’s ‘Task Force’ had set sail that summer. 
 
    ‘When this is over,” Horacio Mendoza had declared, “the people in the Casa Rosada will be there because they have earned their places in battle!” 
 
    For the moment the politics could wait. 
 
    Carlos Rey had a war to fight. 
 
    Having assumed the ARA would hide away in port for the duration of the war and that the armchair strategists in the Army high command would blame the Navy, if and when the garrison of Las Malvinas y Territorios del Atlántico Sur was eventually blockaded and starved into submission, he had determined that the FAA, for all its history the Cinderella Service in the shadow of the Navy and the Army, would show the ‘senior’ services the way.  And unlike his colleagues, either bobbing about on the water or with their feet solidly planted on terra firma, he had known from the outset that his was the one arm of the Argentine armed forces for which the English had, for seemingly very good reasons, the least regard, or respect. 
 
    At its nearest extremity the Malvinas Archipelago was 483 kilometres – 298 miles – from the Argentine Mainland.  Puerto Argentino was 783 kilometres, the best part of five hundred miles from the nearest FAA base, at Rio Gallegos.  Just maintaining a minimal air bridge employing a pair of Douglas C-47 Skytrains (old Second War-vintage DC3 Dakotas) to the Malvinas was a nightmare and a handful of A-4 Skyhawks apart, the FAA had precious few fighting aircraft which could actually reach any part of the Malvinas, let alone loiter over the islands in any kind of meaningful combat role, before having to turn for home.  For example, although an unmodified F-86, or a Grumman F-9 Cougar could reach the archipelago, unless they could land on it and refuel, they were never coming home.  Had Rey been free to base F-86s at Cap San Felipe that might – and it was a big ‘might’ – have made the enemy think twice about overflying the islands but the other Junta members had insisted until last week that the Sabres be kept ‘at home’ in case the Chileans made trouble on the border.  Idiots!  If they were worried about the Argentine’s neighbours, the Chileans who were only interested in the disputed waters of the deep south, were the least of the country’s worries.  And none of his country’s neighbours posed anything like such a sledgehammer existential threat to the Republic as the English! 
 
    So, Rey had turned his back on half-measures. 
 
    Nothing short of an all or nothing strike justified the likely cost in men and materiel.  Unlike Lanusse or Gnavi, he understood that none of them would survive losing the war without a backs against the wall fight.  His colleagues were too stupid – or was it too self-obsessed? – to see what was staring them in the face.  God had given them a chance to atone, to prove that there was more to them than their medals and their crisp uniforms; that the Argentine military still had its honour. 
 
    Given the chance to be real heroes; they had reverted to type, started looking around for scapegoats even in the moment they had ordered the armed forces of the Republic to embark upon a series of uncoordinated reckless adventures. 
 
    Gestures, so many useless gestures… 
 
    Juan Carlos Rey was not going to play their game.  If he was asking his men to put their lives on the line, he wanted it to mean something.  He understood that the coming battles would consume the FAA very nearly, in the blink of an eye. 
 
    That was why he planned to fly one of those aging Avro Lincoln bombers lined-up on the southern perimeter of the Comodoro Rivadavia Air Base, to the Malvinas on Thursday night.  Weather permitting, that was, regardless of whatever else was going on the bombers would fly to the east and embrace their fate. 
 
    Of the three current Junta members he had concluded that his survival depended upon one thing, and one thing only.  He needed to be hero and serendipitously he had the means to make that happen. 
 
    Lanusse and Gnavi would sit out this war on their hands, hiding in Buenos Aires while he was earning his ticket at the top table of the new Junta by dint of his personal heroism in the face of the enemy.  His was not a perfect plan – he could get killed – but if he survived, nobody would be able to refuse him his rightful place in the Government that emerged from the wreckage of the war. 
 
    Ideally, the Lincolns would strike later on the same day his F-86s sortied from Rio Gallegos – over four hundred miles to the south and two-hundred-and-fifty miles closer to the Malvinas – to protect the flock of Skyhawks, F-28 Trojans and old-F4U Corsairs, A-1 Skyraiders and miscellaneous museum pieces, including half-a-dozen TBD Grumman Avenger torpedo bombers, swarming off the decks of the Veinticinco de Mayo and the Indepencia II. 
 
    However, he was taking nothing for granted. 
 
    Carlos Rey had known Jorge Anaya long enough to know that the man would almost certainly find a way to screw up, or ‘do it his own way’ or to just plain run away at the last minute.  He did not know the other key ARA men, Benigno Varela or Massera, very well but neither man seemed to him to be broken from what the English would have called a Nelsonian mould.  However, to Rey this was of little consequence, the actions of the two surviving cruisers of the South Strike Group were largely irrelevant; the English carriers were thought to be operating north and north west of the archipelago, and they were the only ships that mattered.  Sink them and the day afterwards, and every day of the rest of the war would be a day owned by any aircraft the FAA had left that could reach those cursed islands! 
 
    He had transferred every last A-4 Skyhawk to the ARA because that was the only way those aircraft could be transported close enough to the Malvinas and the enemy fleet to have an even chance of inflicting some, if not catastrophic damage on the English aircraft carriers. 
 
    When it came down to it, strategy was not that complicated. 
 
    The United States had removed the enemy’s nuclear-powered submarines from the theatre of operations in the South Atlantic; thus, the priority now was to destroy the enemy’s air power.  Achieve that, and an unwinnable war was suddenly… 
 
    Well, if not winnable, then ripe for stalemate. 
 
    The Chief of Staff of the FAA watched the Sabres climbing away, and swing to the south to begin their cruise down the coast to their new forward base. 
 
    Without those one-hundred-and-seventy-gallon drop tanks an F-86 had an operational range of less than eight-hundred-kilometres carrying a standard ordnance load.  But lightened, with gun boxes half-empty, air to air missile pods removed, power plants tweaked and tuned to factory perfection – the hardest job of all – and full drop tanks rather than 1,000-pound bombs, a well-flown Sabre might arrive north of Isla Gran Malvina with perhaps, fifteen minutes loiter – a maximum four to five minutes combat – time before being obliged to turn for home.  To the unversed in such things, that probably seemed a waste of time.  Far from it; the moment an enemy radar operator picked up a gaggle of fast jets vectoring towards him the whole air defence effort of his ship, and any aircraft under his control, had to respond.  That was the point of the exercise; the Skyhawks apart, the enemy had vastly superior aircraft and ships, and given their war-fighting experience in the last few years, immensely greater combat nous than any Argentine pilot.  Therefore, the battlefield had to be salted, made as opaque as possible so that if the attackers were very, very lucky, a few – Carlos Rey had no illusions about that – a few attacking aircraft might get through to their targets. 
 
    What price was it worth paying to sink an English aircraft carrier?  Or one of their big landing ships?  Or simply to kill enough sailors, airmen and soldiers to remind the British people that their leaders were imbeciles and that those distant, windswept islands in the South Atlantic of which they had known little and cared less back in 1964, were simply not worth the price in blood, grief and treasure to re-conquer? 
 
    With the safe departure of the F-86s the first bomb trains were snaking around the perimeter road.  Old bomb dumps and dusty corners of half-forgotten arsenals all over the country had been opened and under-employed specialists – many of them more accustomed to bomb disposal and naval clearance work – mobilised to make safe time-expired ordnance and to supervise the fusing of the seventy-five tons of bombs stored ready to hoist into the bellies of the eleven bombers deemed fit for operations.  Three other aircraft were sitting out OPERATION CATECISMO; likely, it was a faulty engine belonging to one of those which was being run up in the distance. 
 
    Each aircraft was going to be carrying between six and seven tons of bombs, the majority standard 500- and 1,000-pounders fused to penetrate the ground before detonating.  However, there were also a half-a-dozen 2,000-pound bombs and a couple of US-supplied two-ton blast devices, designed to explode on contact.  The remaining stockpile comprised mainly smaller – 250-pound or smaller weapons, and about a hundred anti-personnel munitions, cluster bombs of various sizes, sufficient to fill the bomb bays of four or five of the big bombers for an immediate follow-up mission.  More ordnance was arriving by the day by sea, train and road. 
 
    Although Rey had made a point of emphasising to the crews of the Lincolns that this was not a one-off suicide operation for many of his men it would, of course, be exactly that; however, he had no right to rob his men of hope. 
 
    Across the other side of the field another supposedly problematic 1,750 horsepower Merlin 85 coughed into life and began to sing its near mystical song; one no airman anywhere in Christendom could not be moved by, entranced.  Rey could not help but be struck how strange it was that one of the few places in the world where an air base could reverberate to the unmistakable rhythm of Merlin engines – a thing which would have been so evocative to millions of Englishmen and women in the years of the Second War – was here in faraway South America. 
 
    Yes indeed, the world had gone mad. 
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 Chapter 38 
 
      
 
    12:05 Hours (GMT) 09:05 (Local) 
 
    46 Commando, East of the Green Mountains 
 
      
 
    Charlie Company had been inserted within, held and cautiously extended its perimeter to cover most of the ground in the bowl between the hills to its east (the Corral Mountains), south (in the direction of the Sussex Mountain, a place on his maps listed as Flat’s Charbola, roughly translated as ‘shack’) and west (the Green Mountains) and around Curlew Creek, in the north.  The Company was dangerously over-extended; its commanding officer’s worries hardly alleviated by the fact that the enemy seemed to have run away. 
 
    Complicating matters, when it rained – which was off and on most of the time some days - a score of small brooks became impassable as they fed north into Curlew Creek, and thence into the San Carlos River.  As paddy Ashdown had warned him, even in the height of summer – which was fast approaching - the rain, although rarely heavy was invariably of the persistent, wind-blown, drenching kind and given that even at this season, in these latitudes the average daily temperature hardly ever crept above 10 Celsius (around 50 Fahrenheit), and the nights were always if not freezing, then very cold, it made for miserable conditions in the field. 
 
    Thus far, Major Lionel Colvin was confident the grey weather, the cold and the wet had not taken the edge off his Marines’ morale but he knew that soon, it probably would.  Both Paddy and his wife had warned him what living out in the Camp would be like.  Jane was a born and bred Kelper, a native of the Falkland Islands who despite her love for the islands, had no sentimental illusions about these things! 
 
    ‘People do not live outside at any time of the year,’ she had warned him.  ‘There’s no such thing as what people in England would call a shirt-sleeves day.  Sometimes, between December and mid-February there might be a sunny day but mostly, the sky will be overcast.  They say the weather either comes from the Chilean Andes or straight from Tierra del Fuego, the wind moderates as it passes over the land and the sea but by the time it gets to the islands it blows steadily, usually east to west, mostly at ten to twenty miles an hour pretty much all the time.  If you get wet, that wind gets into your bones and large areas of the Camp never, ever dry out.  You can’t dig trenches or sangars like you would on Dartmoor or Salisbury Plain or in the Highlands or the Glens because the soil is peat or around the coasts sand and peat, and the water table is always just below the surface…’ 
 
    Well, he had been well and truly warned! 
 
    ‘I plan to shoot the next clown who tells me the Falklands are like the Brecon Beacons!’  Paddy Ashdown had told him.  “And so will you when you get there!” 
 
    However, it was not until one had one’s boots on the terrain – or in this case, squelching ankle-deep in the sodden peat in between the mountains – that one really got the measure of what one was up against. 
 
    Having handed off its positions around Greenfield Farm to Delta Company, Charlie Company was fanning out across the dank, green-grey landscape to the south in three snaking yomping columns.  In the field Royal Marines ‘yomped’, and Paratroopers ‘tabbed’; marching was a thing left behind on the parade ground.  Each man was burdened down with a fifty-pound Bergen rucksack and up to thirty pounds of equipment including their personal weapons, an L1A1 Self-Loading Rifle or a Sterling sub-machine gun, and a Browning 9-millimetre pistol, ammunition, grenades – standard, and ‘smoke’ – entrenching and messing tools and items of Company ‘kit’, anything from spare radio components to emergency combat medical supplies and 3-inch mortar re-loads.  Even the strongest man walked slowly, bowed forward against the deadweight dragging him down, carefully placing each foot because a sprained ankle, or worse, a broken ankle was an ever-present threat as they navigated the spongy, tussock grass-infested swamp between them and the foothills to their front. 
 
    Lionel Colvin knew that beyond that evening’s stop line – along the crest of those hills – the enemy might be waiting and if he was not, then there was another slog across another bog to reach the foothills of the next mountains.  Tomorrow, Charlie Company’s line of march would probably be south west, moving across the hills to the flank of the mountain range east of Mount Sussex, securing the jumping off line for a speculative advance south towards Darwin and Goose Green, probably by 42 Commando. 
 
    Steuart Pringle had come down to the Greenfield Farm CP last night.  Notwithstanding his apparent sangfroid about the prospect of his Commando’s companies being ‘randomly sent off here and there’ it was obvious that he felt ‘shilly-shallying around’ when the enemy was clearly not in any mood to ‘throw us back into the sea’ was a less than optimal stratagem.  So, if Ian Gourlay, who apparently was still on board the Fearless in San Carlos – because otherwise he would have been unable to communicate with either his troops onshore, or with the Royal Navy at sea – was taking it upon himself to start the breakout from the beachhead without waiting for reinforcements, that was hunky dory with 46 Commando’s CO! 
 
    For his part, Lionel was relieved to be…doing something. 
 
    Securing a jumping-off line was not necessarily the most glamourous of assignments but it was definitely something, and anything was better than slowly sinking into the peat around Greenfield Farm. 
 
    Yomping slowly, each footstep sinking into the boggy peat, Lionel realised how much physical conditioning he, and likely, his men had lost during their passage down to the South Atlantic.  No amount of calisthenics, nor even the restorative ‘boot camp’ organised at Walvis Bay on the way down, had maintained the peak physical preparedness the Commando had achieved in the Highlands that spring.  Around him, nobody was talking.  That was a bad sign.  In these field conditions a man’s physical state would only decline, and if his people were feeling the pace the same way he was at this early stage of the campaign, it was hardly auspicious for what lay ahead of them. 
 
    Something whispered past his head. 
 
    He almost missed a step, stumbled. 
 
    What was that dull ‘thwacking’ sound? 
 
    Oh, fuck… 
 
    Everybody was going to ground around him, worming into the nearest thicket of chest-high tussock grass. 
 
    “MEDIC!  MEDIC!  MAN DOWN!” 
 
    Lionel was shrugging off his Bergen, squirming around. 
 
    Five metres away a Marine was spread-eagled, his upper body concealed by vegetation. 
 
    “SNIPER!  SNIPER!” 
 
    Training kicked in. 
 
    Lionel bawled for rifle teams to move out to left and the right.  In these conditions with visibility possibly less than five hundred yards from any kind of elevated shooting post in the foothills, a sniper would have to be concealed somewhere relatively near at hand.  Men around him had gone to the aid of the downed Marine; others were dispersing into the tussock grass.  He knew the sniper had to be somewhere in a relatively narrow arc ahead of him.  That bullet had almost taken him out, unknowingly, in that moment he had felt its passage through the moist air.  The man it had struck had been almost directly behind him. 
 
    The sniper would probably get away. 
 
    The drill was to shoot and move; the object of the exercise was to slow the advance not to stop it in its tracks or to repel it.  One man would shoot and move; his buddy would do the same when Charlie Company got to its feet and moved forward again. 
 
    Lionel already had skirmishers out in front, lying low. 
 
    Maybe, one of them would draw a bead on the sniper the next time he moved… 
 
    There was a burst of fire off to his right, perhaps a hundred yards away.  The barking of an SLR, immediately followed byt the stuttering of a Sterling and the sharp crack of a grenade. 
 
    Rounds were scything through the tussock grass nearby. 
 
    “HOLD YOUR FIRE UNTIL YOU CAN SEE WHAT YOU’RE SHOOTING AT!”  Lionel yelled at the men nearest him. 
 
    Fighting insurgents in the jungles of Borneo was a mug’s game; this was little better.  If you could not see your enemy war became rifle team on rifle team, a Lance Corporal’s war. 
 
    The shooting stopped abruptly. 
 
    Lionel waited for the kill report, if there was one, to travel through the tussock grass.  He heard it indistinctly, then an invisible man ten yards away called: “We got one of the bastards, sir!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 39 
 
      
 
    16:05 Hours (GMT) 
 
    Situation Room 
 
    Headington Quarry Government Compound, Oxford 
 
      
 
    Sir Ian Gilmour, Her Majesty’s Secretary of State for Defence had come straight from the House of Commons, in its last days of operation at Christ Church Hall in the city, to meet the Chief of the Defence Staff.  Julian Amery, one of his three Ministers of State – with responsibility for the Navy – had warned Gilmour that he was going to be ambushed but neither man had realised that all three Chiefs of Staff, and the Flag Officer Submarines would be waiting for them that afternoon. 
 
    “The Cabinet Secure Briefing Room has been prepared, Secretary of State,” Field Marshal Sir Michael Carver informed him as hands were shaken and presently, the group – Carver, Admiral Sir Peter Hill Norton, Air Chief Marshall Sir Daniel French, Vice Admiral Simon Collingwood, Julian Amery and, as the door closed, Assistant Cabinet Secretary, Robin Butler – settled around the top of the table in the bunker adjacent to the Situation Room. 
 
    The military men eyed Butler thoughtfully. 
 
    “I asked Robin to attend, so that he could minute our discussions,” Gilmour explained, wondering hopefully – more a triumph of optimism over expectations - if this would quell whatever mutiny was afoot.  This was not to say that he was in any way unsympathetic, or considered himself detached from the increasing unhappiness of the Chiefs of Staff.  Not to put too fine a point on it they had warned – well, everybody had warned – the Prime Minister that ‘playing chicken’ with the Brenckmann White House was, well, the height of folly and they had been proven right; a thing that gave nobody around the table the least satisfaction.  They found themselves fighting a war eight thousand miles from home with a metaphorical ball and chain shackled to one leg and forbidden to deploy the one weapon – the SSN force – which had underwritten every assumption upon which OPERATION SOMERVILLE had been based, and after much soul-searching, deemed to be viable.  Thus, when the various interpretations of what had, and what had not been said, or worse, what the parties had ‘thought’ had been said in the days to come emerged, he intended to have a contemporaneous account to hand because as any wise man in his position understood, politics never, ever goes away.  “I trust that is acceptable to you, gentlemen?” 
 
    The Chiefs of Staff had asked to speak directly to the Prime Minister but she had refused to cancel a planned engagement in the West Country, meeting with the wives and children of some of the Royal Marines so recently landed on East Falkland. 
 
    “It is not,” Michael Carver said tersely.  “But I think we are beyond politics, Secretary of State.” 
 
    Ian Gilmour tried not to flinch. 
 
    “Has something happened?”  He asked. 
 
    “Not yet,” the CDS retorted, his impatience barely veiled.  He was a man who had never troubled to learn to treat fools gladly, or otherwise and whereas, he had always enjoyed a frankly robust working relationship, and to a degree, friendship, with Gilmour’s predecessor, the late Viscount De L’Isle, he had never been overly taken by the old Etonian former Guardsman, lawyer and owner of The Spectator.  For all that Gilmour’s grandfather, Sir Hedworth Meaux – the family had owned the brewery of that name - had been Admiral of the Fleet on his retirement from the Royal Navy in 1916, Michael Carver had never really trusted the wealthy son of Scottish landed gentry, whom he suspected of being in some way, one among many Tory dilletantes… 
 
    None of that had matter overmuch when he was Minster for Air and overseeing aerospace technology exchanges with the Americans; but now that he was the man in whom political responsibility for the defence of the realm resided, and a leading member of a government which had sleep-walked into a potential military blind alley, trust or rather, the lack of it, had suddenly become very important. 
 
    “Not yet?”  Gilmour echoed as the men took their seats.  “I see…” 
 
    Of the service chiefs around the table, Gilmour was closest to Dan French, a calm, unerringly competent and personable man who inspired confidence in everybody around him which was probably how he had stayed in post when lurid rumours of scandal, and worse, about his second wife, Lady Rachel, had dominated the headlines, not to say the news agenda for a brief, excruciating period of several weeks in early 1967.  He had been due to stand down as Chief of the Air Staff at the end of 1968 but had had his tenure extended by a year to oversee, among a raft of other projects, the TSR2 Strike Eagle and supersonic Kestrel joint development programs with the US aerospace industry.  Only half in jest, it was often remarked that he and Lady Rachel had virtually set up shop in Washington DC and Pasadena, California, where they were allegedly honorary members of the Officers’ Club of the famous Skunk Works. 
 
    In respect of OPERATION SOMERVILLE, Dan French was the least involved of the three Chiefs.  Other than maintaining the air bridge to Ascension Island, Walvis Bay and the Cape, the RAF had been only minimally engaged up until the ‘Kestrel contingency’ had been identified relatively late in the day as ‘insurance’ against some misfortune with one or other of the aircraft carriers in the South Atlantic.  This, and critical manpower shortages in practically all key technical areas of air operations at sea, had necessitated the transfer of some eight hundred RAF personnel to the Fleet Air Arm, prior to the rushed re-commissioning of HMS Victorious as a fast transport to deliver the thirty plus Kestrels of No 105 and No 112 Squadrons, and four Sea King helicopters of No 824 Naval Air Squadron to the Task Force Logistics hub at Leith Harbour, South Georgia. 
 
    However, as Dan French’s many American friends would say, until 105 and 112 Squadrons arrived in the South Atlantic, he had ‘no skin in the game.’  Which had made the suspicion, and frankly, disbelief verging on resentful disdain, which had greeted his confidential warnings to senior members of the Government as to the changing mood in DC in recent weeks, more than somewhat galling. 
 
    The Chief of the Air Staff cleared his throat. 
 
    “I still do not think it is appreciated in Oxford just how disenchanted our friends in the United States are about what is going on in the South Atlantic, sir,” he said patiently. 
 
    The one-time Lancaster bomber pilot, the man who had picked up the pieces after Julian Christopher’s death during the Battle of Malta in 1964 and subsequently returned to serve as Governor of that archipelago before assuming his present role, had of late, grown accustomed to being politely discounted in Oxford in a fashion he had never experienced in America.  More than once, his wife Rachel, had put it to him that she would not demur, not for a single moment, if and when the time came for him to accept a job with one of the big aerospace contractors on the West Coast… 
 
    These days, the notion of spending the rest of his days with the woman he loved in the idyllic surroundings of California was ever more seductive! 
 
    “The Government has a good understanding of the dynamics of the special relationship, Sir Daniel,” Gilmour assured him. 
 
    “No, with all due respect, I don’t think that is true anymore, sir.”  The airman shook his head, biting down his mounting infuriation.  “The action President Brenckmann has taken, namely, insisting on the cessation of unrestricted submarine warfare in internationally recognised waters, is the absolute least the Administration could be seen to be doing at this time.  There is a growing lobby in Congress for a complete suspension of all military and economic aid to the United Kingdom and a lesser man than President Brenckmann would already have conceded defeat.  I am sorry if I am beginning to sound like a record with the needle stuck in the same groove, but I have said this until I am blue in the face; there is no significant body of support, or sympathy, in the United States for the re-colonisation of a part of Latin America…” 
 
    “That’s putting it a bit strongly!”  Gilmour retorted mildly. 
 
    “Not if you are looking at it from Philadelphia, or New York, or Kansas or California, sir.”  Dan French frowned, glanced sidelong at the First Sea Lord. 
 
    Peter Hill Norton looked, in turn to Michael Carver, who nodded almost imperceptibly for him to speak.  The First Sea Lord fixed Ian Gilmour with suddenly hard eyes. 
 
    He did not speak for some seconds. 
 
    A chronometer on the wall behind him clicked loudly. 
 
    “Because the SSNs have been withdrawn and US Intelligence agencies are now filtering, and to a degree, impeding the flow of real time operational information to Fleet Headquarters at Drakelow,” Hill Norton prefaced, “we no longer have a precise grasp of ARA dispositions, or,” he added dryly, “the wherewithal to respond timeously to threats at a safe distance from our own forces within the former two-hundred-mile TAMEZs.” 
 
    Gilmour’s expression reflected a little of his exasperation. 
 
    He already knew this! 
 
    “We cannot, therefore,” the First Sea Lord stated, “inform or advise ministers with the precision they have become accustomed to; instead, we are in a Second War scenario where much of what we report to you is guess work and intuition, based on relatively scanty hard intelligence.  That said, it is the view of Fleet HQ, and of the Task Force Commander, Henry Leach, that the Argentines are planning a major, probably all-arms riposte.  We have little feel for what that means in the air, although we can speculate, and while we remain confident that mobility considerations limit the enemy’s options on the ground, namely terrain and logistical issues, at sea, it seems likely that the ARA is – frankly, to our astonishment – planning to steer at full speed towards the sound of guns.” 
 
    The Secretary of State for Defence blinked. 
 
    “What does that mean in practical terms, First Sea Lord?” 
 
    Peter Hill Norton hesitated and glanced to Dan French. 
 
    “We think,” Dan French interjected, “that when the ARA gets its act together, the FAA will put up every available aircraft to attack the Task Force at sea and on land, probably attempting to land its aircraft at the airfield on Cape Pembroke, or on other emergency fields around the Falklands Archipelago.  Our aerial reconnaissance has been patchy – the result of only having the Ark Royal on station – and there may be several undetected grass air strips, with attack aircraft and helicopters concealed standing ready for just such a counter attack.  Ark Royal has her hands full providing air cover for the fleet at sea,” he shrugged.  “So, our boys on the ground will be on their own if we’re right.” 
 
    Peter Hill Norton nodded. 
 
    “Currently,” he explained, “Henry Leach is looking at a battlespace plot which shows two Argentine aircraft carriers, a couple of cruisers and several other ships bearing down on him from the north, steering approximately directly for the northern entrance to Falkland Sound.  Because we only have one operational carrier in those waters the Argentine know, roughly, where the Ark Royal Battle Group must be deployed.” 
 
    “Surely the Ark Royal ought to be able to deal with anything the Argentines can throw at us, First Sea Lord?” 
 
    Peter Hill Norton’s face hardened in the face of this ‘politician’s rhetorical, and wholly for the record’ interrogative. 
 
    “I don’t know, Secretary of State.  I would be more confident if the Hermes, or say, the Eagle in full fighting fettle was in company with the Ark Royal; but even in that circumstance my confidence would be hedged around with numerous caveats.  Which was why the role envisaged for our nuclear submarines was so crucial in the Chiefs of Staff green-lighting OPERATION SOMERVILLE, sir.” 
 
    Ian Gilmour met this phlegmatically. 
 
    He made no comment, so the First Sea Lord went on, knowing he was speaking for the record: “We know how from long, and bitter experience, how difficult it is to protect an individual target against an assassin prepared to sacrifice his own life to kill his victim.  Well, what we might soon find ourself facing in the South Atlantic is an entire navy, the ARA, prepared to face immolation if that is what it takes to cripple the Task Force.” 
 
    Ian Gilmour did not trust himself to speak, 
 
    Belatedly, he recognised the others were looking to the second admiral in the room.  Vice Admiral Simon Collingwood was studying the Secretary of State for Defence’s face wearing his famous cool-eyed, gun-slinger ship-hunting expression. 
 
    “I have communicated to the First Sea Lord my intention to place a letter in his hands offering the resignation of my commission, Secretary of State.  I will not participate in moves, that I know are afoot, to court martial Captain Forton of the Warspite.  Further to this, I will publicly disavow the same.  However, that is by the by.  Pertinent to this discussion you should know that two of my boats, HMS Churchill and HMS Valiant are in contact with Jorge Anaya’s Northern Strike Group,” he said softly.  He might have been shouting I DISOBEYED YOUR ORDERS!  BUT I DON’T CARE!  Instead, he was confessing it quietly, albeit with a vehemence that not just took Ian Gilmour’s breath away; but rattled him to his very core. 
 
    Because he knew that there had to be more. 
 
    Simon Collingwood continued, ever more remorselessly: “South of the Falkland Islands, again in direct obedience to my captains’ eyes-only personal orders, HMS Warspite is currently in contact with the two cruisers of Benigno Varela’s Southern Strike Force.  There is no doubt in my mind that both Anaya’s and Massera’s squadrons are intent on attacking our naval forces guarding the northern and southern approaches to Falkland Sound at around dawn tomorrow morning.” 
 
    Ian Gilmour’s jaw was slack. 
 
    He shut his mouth, knowing he must have looked like an idiot. 
 
    “You were ordered,” he began but never finished. 
 
    “Yes, well,” Simon Collingwood re-joined irritably, not believing that he was having to tell his political master this.  Any of it.  “One of the first things a young officer learns is that one never, ever gives an order one expects to be disobeyed.  Command comes with responsibilities, sir.” 
 
    Gilmour just stared at him. 
 
    And with a sinking feeling understood where all this was going. 
 
    “As I said, when this is over,” Simon Collingwood said, more in disappointment than regret, “you will have my resignation, sir.” 
 
    Michael Carver coughed. 
 
    The Chief of the Defence Staff’s gaze bored into, and very nearly, through Ian Gilmour. 
 
    It was Simon Collingwood who actually spoke. 
 
    “One way or another, we are going to sink those Argentine ships and regrettably, kill a lot of brave men, Secretary of State,” he said grimly, “if you give the order, my submarines will sink them all in the next few hours and none of our people will die, unnecessarily, tomorrow morning.  If you do not give that order, hundreds, perhaps thousands of our people will be killed and probably, a number of our ships will be sunk, or badly damaged.  In fact, we might have lost the war by this time tomorrow.  The Prime Minister refused to meet us this afternoon; so, we have told you what we planned to tell her.  I suggest you consult with her at your earliest convenience, sir.” 
 
    Robin Butler looked up from his notebook. 
 
    It was as if he had been recording the exchange in a trance, unaware that what had been under discussion were the lives of an untold number of men thousands of miles away. 
 
    “We can really sink all those Argentine ships?”  He asked, stupidly. 
 
    He had been looking at Simon Collingwood. 
 
    The Flag Officer Submarines nodded. 
 
    “Yes, every single one of them.”  He checked his watch.  “If the Government authorises me to do it, it will happen in the next three to four hours.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 40 
 
      
 
    19:30 Hours (GMT) 
 
    HMS Warspite, North of the Burwood Bank 
 
      
 
    Warspite had crossed the western end of the Burwood Bank from south to north where the bank, which was less than fifty feet from the surface at one point to the east was not so much a bank as a series of underwater mountains and valleys.  Within a couple of hours, she had re-established contact with the Southern Strike Group.  Now, she was running quietly, like a ghost at a depth of two hundred feet around three miles behind the hindmost ship, an old Fletcher with typically noisy, badly maintained machinery and what sounded like a chipped propeller blade. 
 
    If the Argentines ran true to form, they would turn soon, steady onto a reciprocal course for a couple of hours, and then turn again, careful not to make it look as if they were about to steam north towards West Falkland.  The big cruisers were idling along at eight or nine knots, the escorts moving around them at speeds of up to twenty knots, their sonars pinging for dear life.  Periodically, Warspite dropped farther behind or steamed north to open the range. 
 
    “The next time the blighters turn around we’ll motor a bit farther to the north east,” Max Forton announced to the Control Room at large, “and drop down to three-fifty feet.” 
 
    The last few days had been a to say the least…odd. 
 
    Twelve hours after the sinking of La Argentina and the Almirante Brown his old skipper, now Flag Officer Submarines had sent Max Forton new orders. 
 
    FO SUBMARINES TO WARSPITE STOP PERSONAL AND IMMEDIATE STOP THIS OFFICER CONFIRMS THAT YOU ACTED UNDER MY DIRECTION TO ATTACK AND SINK LA ARGENTINA AND ALMIRANTE BROWN IN ACCORDANCE WITH BROADCAST RILES OF ENGAGEMENT THEN IN EFFECT STOP WARSPITE ACTED IN THE FINEST TRADITIONS OF THE SERVICE STOP BELAY MY PREVIOUS EXECUTIVE REF ROE STOP MAINTAIN DISTANT CONTACT WITH ENEMY SQUADRON AND BE PREPARED TO TAKE AGGRESSIVE ACTION AT SHORT NOTICE STOP BUT DO NOT ATTACK WITHOUT SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS TO SO DO STOP ACKNOWLEDGE AS PER PATROL PROTOCOL STOP MESSAGE ENDS 
 
    In other words, forget what I said yesterday; well done, I take complete responsibility for all actions taken, carry on as normal except do not, under any circumstances torpedo anybody else without my direct authority. 
 
    It had taken fifteen hours to re-establish contact with the enemy, partly because the surviving units of the ARA’s Southern Strike Group had scattered and taken almost as long to re-form as it had for Warspite to return to the approximate scene of the original crime. 
 
    Max Forton was still struggling with his conscience.  He told himself that his old captain and friend had all but fallen on his sword for him; therefore, the least he could do was make the best of a bad situation. 
 
    Okay… 
 
    Plan A had been cancelled; likewise, Plan B.  So, presumably, this had to be Plan C?  Thinking about it, neither his commanding officer and mentor from their Dreadnought days, or Francis, now Rear Admiral Barrington, who had picked up the reins of the Undersea Fleet Program in Scotland on Simon Collingwood’s appointment as Flag Officer Submarines, had been wildly enthused – at any stage – about OPERATION SOMERVILLE, and Max Forton guessed they were even less enthused now given what could only be a gigantic U-turn caused by political meddling in purely operation matters.  Yes, he might have jumped the gun the other day but everybody had understood the rules of the game; a deadline had passed and in good faith, he had got on with the war. 
 
    He still anticipated being hauled up in front of a court martial, or a board of inquiry and neither of those were going to be remotely beneficial to whatever was left of his naval career.  That clearly, Simon Collingwood was not going to sit back and let him face the music alone was a huge comfort; but they both knew how these things worked… 
 
    However, that was all in the future. 
 
    Right now, he was back in the game. 
 
    It was not inconceivable that if well-handled, those two old American cruisers could give the gunline defending the southern approaches to Falkland Sound a hard time.  It did not occur to him for a moment that Peter Christopher would let them get past him but yes, they could give the Liverpool and her thin-skinned accompanying frigates and destroyers a very, very hard time of it. 
 
    Whereas, Warspite could blow the General Belgrano, the Santissima Trinidad and their escorting Fletchers away in an hour or two, perhaps three if they scattered the way they had the first time.  All the blood that would be spilt would be on the Argentine side of the equation; that was only right, they were the ones who had invaded the bloody islands in the first place! 
 
    In fact, the logic of the situation was so glaringly obvious, that it seemed to him that the signal to take out those ships might – well, ought – to be received at any moment. 
 
    Except the minutes began to drag into an hour, and then hours as Warspite silently paced her prey a little more than a hundred miles south of West Falkland. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 41 
 
      
 
    17:09 (GMT) 12:09 (EST) 
 
    The Oval Office, The White House 
 
    Washington DC 
 
      
 
    Walter Brenckmann listened to the line click, and go quiet.  He sat back, rubbed his jaw and sadly, shook his head before looking again, across the broad top of the Resolute Desk at the men who had listened to and witnessed the latest call from Margaret Thatcher. 
 
    If those goddammed SSNs were still inside the TAMEZs that meant they had never disengaged; the Brits had lied to him and he had burnt untold political capital on the Hill holding the line against the resurgent America First majority for nothing! 
 
    ‘Margaret, we can talk about this until the cows come home but if one of those boats fires a single torpedo Congress will cut you off at the knees.’  Sometimes, even an old courtroom fixer had no choice but to tell it the way it was.  ‘We’ve had this conversation several times this year and I’ve told you the same thing every time.   
 
    These United States are not at war with the Argentine Republic.  We support, and we have always supported a peaceful and mutually equitable solution to the South Atlantic situation.  Heck, I thought that’s why you were one of the main movers behind resuscitating the United Nations!’ 
 
    He had got angry. 
 
    And unforgivably, he had allowed it to show. 
 
    All those years fixing the Kennedy’s…problems and now he was losing his temper with a friend! 
 
    ‘Self-defence means retaliating when somebody hits you; not waiting five-and-a-half-years later, all the while plotting to annihilate the other side’s entire military!  As for the body count in sixty-four, well, you levelled that up in a single stroke at Grytviken!  I cut off the Junta months ago, you know that.  What do I have to do, cut you off too?’ 
 
    The woman had had the nerve to try to give him a lesson on ethics! 
 
    ‘The whole Argentine Navy is steaming towards the Falklands!’  She had snapped.  ‘What am I supposed to tell Admiral Leach?’ 
 
    “That’s simple, Margaret.  When he is fired upon, he can shoot back.  That’s it.  Those are the only rules of engagement acceptable to me.  I’m sorry, I really am that you don’t get it but we are where we are.’ 
 
    Secretary of State Henry Kissinger was en route to Bombay where the peripatetic floating home of the United Nations – the former Blue Ribband super-liner America – was about to host a one-month-long General Assembly, so the other men in the room were Vice President Larry O’Brien, Jack McCain and an ashen-faced British Ambassador, Sir Nicholas Henderson. 
 
    The President had had one last, despairing attempt to persuade the Lady to understand the way the rest of the world, even the United Kingdom’s friends, viewed what was going on in the South Atlantic. 
 
    ‘Margaret.  Those people, whatever you think about them have been on that archipelago for over five years, during which time they have invested in those islands more every month than your government had in the previous ten years.  Yes, there are war criminals who ought to be brought to book but those people aren’t on those islands, they’re back on the mainland.  And you know as well as I do that most of the atrocity stories are just malicious hyperbole.  Heck, have you even asked the islanders if they actually want to go back?  The way I hear it, most of the Kelpers have made new, and probably much better lives for themselves and their children in their adopted countries than they ever could have back down there.’ 
 
    The Angry Widow had not reacted very well to that. 
 
    The Secretary of Defense got to his feet. 
 
    “Hell, Nicko,” he growled at Henderson, “doesn’t that woman listen to a word anybody ever says to her?” 
 
    “I couldn’t possibly comment, Mister Secretary,” the other man replied as he rose, in stages, from his chair, knowing his business at Pennsylvania Avenue was concluded.  He too, was at his wits end and asking himself how on earth things had come to this? 
 
    “What was it LeMay always used to say?”  Jack McCain demanded rhetorically. 
 
    “FUBAR,” the President sighed. 
 
    Fucked Up Beyond All Repair… 
 
    “Let us hope not,” Nicko Henderson offered, making to leave.  For the first time he no longer felt welcome in this room and a little guilty inflicting his presence on his hosts. 
 
    Jack McCain watched the Englishman depart. 
 
    Knowing the two men would not be alone long, he said: “You’re doing the right thing, Walter.  If it gets to be a half-way fair fight down there and both sides take casualties; we can hold the line.  In the Senate, leastways.” 
 
    The President understood what he was being told but it did not help. 
 
    “Do you know what still gives me nightmares?” 
 
    McCain waited, guessing that his President’s bad dreams were, like his own, likely to be to do with his experiences during the Second War.  He had been a hot shot submarine skipper in the Pacific; Walter Brenckmann a watchkeeper on the North Atlantic convoys at the height of the U-boat war. 
 
    “There was the weather, the storms mostly,” the President recollected.  “Never getting enough sleep.  Being cold, or wet, or both most of the time.  Now and then fear, well, pure terror if we’re being honest about it.  But no, the thing that really never gets out of your head is having to leave men in the water…” 
 
    When a ship was torpedoed, an escort could not – was explicitly forbidden to, in fact – stop to pick up survivors.  The submarine responsible was still around and when a ship was sunk it no longer had need of escorting, so an escorting warship moved on.  If the survivors were lucky a rescue ship, a merchantman tagging along twenty miles behind the convoy, sometimes but not always travelling empty or in ballast, might pull them out of the water before hypothermia, or oil ingestion or their injuries claimed them; mostly, men just drowned. 
 
    “I guess that happened a lot?” 
 
    The President nodded. 
 
    The door opened and with a squeal, a little girl trotted into the room making straight for her grandpa.  Jack McCain grinned from ear to ear as Tabatha Brenckmann bounced up onto the President’s lap. 
 
    “She got away, Pa,” a tall, rangy man with wild hair but for once, clean-shaven apologised, smiling a beguiling smile as he came into the Oval Office. 
 
    The newcomer shook Jack McCain’s hand. 
 
    “Congrat’s on Junior’s engagement, Mister Secretary,” the President’s youngest, musician son Sam grinned, obviously more relaxed about Jack McCain’s son’s recently announced betrothal to the still just sixteen-year-old daughter – Lucy would be seventeen in February when everything would be declared ‘official’ - of the late British Defence Minister. 
 
    “When did you get into town, son?”  The President inquired as his granddaughter clung to his neck, giggling and laughing. 
 
    “Just now, we came straight from the airport.  Judy and Ma are corralling the other little monsters somewhere in the Executive Wing.  I was looking for Miranda, I hear she’s in line for wedding congratulations too?” 
 
    The President grinned, momentarily setting aside his problems.  Back in the day, 1962, the First Lady’s Appointment’s Secretary, Miranda Sullivan and his youngest son had been ‘involved’.  He had never got to the bottom of that, which was ‘probably for the best’.  Joanne’s words, not his but she was usually a better judge of these things than him.  In any event, a lot of water had flowed under the bridge since then and the main thing was that after more than a few twists and turns, Sam and Miranda’s lives had worked out just fine. 
 
    “You heard right, Sam.” 
 
    The President had risen with Tabatha in his arms to come around the table to properly greet his son, who relieved him of his burden.  The little girl would be six next month.  As it was every year, last month’s anniversary of the October War had been painful; the aunt for whom Tabatha had been named would have been twenty-five, maybe married with a kid of her own by now but all those dreams, all those futures had been snuffed out when that big bomb had obliterated Buffalo. 
 
    Sam found a spare hand to shake the Secretary of Defence’s, hanging onto his daughter.  Tabatha treated the White House like a playground, especially when she was looking to get reacquainted with Martin junior, Miranda’s son who was about a year his junior.  The pair had been inseparable the last time Sam and his wife, Judy, brought the kids to DC. 
 
    “Sorry to interrupt you gentlemen,” Sam smiled.  “Common, trouble,” he murmured to Tabatha, rubbing noses with the giggling girl.  “Grandpa’s busy saving the free world, let’s go and find Martin, hey?” 
 
    The President and the master of the Pentagon watched father and daughter depart, Tabatha waving over Sam’s shoulder. 
 
    Walter Brenckmann sighed. 
 
    “Back in 1962 Jo and me were looking forward to cashing in on our house in Cambridge – we had a place practically right next to the MIT campus – and moving down to the Florida Keys.  We’d been talking about it for years, just waiting for Tabatha to start college at Buffalo.”  He shook his head.  “It only goes to show you can never tell what’s coming next, Jack!” 
 
    The other man chuckled. 
 
    “You sure as Hell can’t tell what the Brits will do next!” 
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 Chapter 42 
 
      
 
    03:05 (GMT) 00:05 (Local) 
 
    Port San Carlos, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    Major General Ian Gourlay nodded acknowledgment to the newcomer as he joined the huddle around the map table.  HMS Liverpool had done such a thorough job demolishing everything hereabouts that the Royal Marines had had to start again from scratch just to set up a rudimentary tented Headquarters compound. 
 
    “I’ve just spoken to Lionel Colvin,” Steuart Pringle, the CO of 46 Commando explained.  Presently, elements of his battalion were spread out in sub-company sized combat groups all over the beachhead; a thing he hoped to tidy up in the next couple of days.  However, for the moment the man who had come to public notoriety as the Prime Minister’s ‘personal guardian angel’ – the chief of her personal Royal Marines bodyguard for the best part of four years - was basking with pride that his commando was leading the way on so many fronts. “The enemy is holding the east-west ridge on the eastern side of Sussex Mountain.  Lionel thinks the opposition are pretty well dug in; his chaps took casualties establishing exactly how well dug-in.  I vetoed a night attack; we have no idea what we’re up against over there.  The Navy are happy to detail a couple the ships out in the Sound for an early-morning bombardment support mission, assuming we can tie down the grid references for them.” 
 
    “Casualties?”  Ian Gourlay inquired.  “What are we looking at, Steuart?” 
 
    “Seven or eight dead, as many wounded, sir.” 
 
    “SAS reported Argentine troops in column passing Camilla House just before dusk,” Gourlay confided.  “So, the Navy’s already got one fire mission first thing this morning.” 
 
    “The more the merrier, I suppose!” 
 
    The big assault ships, Fearless – now the flagship of the Landing Squadron – and the Intrepid had put ashore another three hundred Marines and four combat platoons of Royal Engineers, who were busy building piers, organising depots and other facilities including a field hospital at Ajax Bay, utilising some of the less badly damaged buildings of the canning factory; the parts of it which had survived the enthusiastic attentions of Peter Christopher’s overly zealous gunboats. 
 
    Another man entered the tent. 
 
    “Evening all!”  Dermot O’Reilly declared cheerfully, never sounding more Canadian than when he was surrounded by a gang of British public school-educated cutthroats. 
 
    The newcomer had come ashore from the Fearless to finalise the plan for disembarking the Canberra ‘like grease lightning’ with Ian Gourlay and his 1st Commando Brigade Staff.  The object of the exercise was to bring the liner into San Carlos Water at dawn – about seven hours from now - and to have ninety percent of the troops and fifty percent of their equipment off the ship by sunset.  Landing craft from the assault ships and motorised pontoons, all five serviceable ‘rafts’ would ferry men directly to piers or onto beaches.  Once ashore, the new troops would occupy positions vacated or co-located with units of 42, 43 and 46 Commandos, ahead of moving out in the coming forty-eight hours as part of the general expansion of the beachhead to secure jumping off points for further operations. 
 
    “It looks like the enemy may have moved to block an advance along the southern axis,” Dermot O’Reilly was informed. 
 
    Officially, the Canadian was Commodore, South Atlantic Task Force Amphibious Assault Group – CSATFAAG – but now the first wave was ashore, he had become a peripatetic, very nearly all-powerful arbiter of who got, and who did not get, priority for scarce landing craft and powered cargo pontoons, with a remit to keep the peace between the men on shore and those on the ships at sea.  Thus, he had spent the last thirty-six hours mostly in transit between ships and mostly chaotic HQs and command posts on the newly re-occupied soil of East Falkland. 
 
    “I see.  I hope we’re not going to put up with that?”  He checked, with more than a glint of mischief in his eyes.  
 
    “Certainly not!”  More than one man around the table retorted, as if the very idea was anathema. 
 
    That was what Dermot loved about the Royal Marines; these fellows thought nothing about walking through brick walls.  And that was just before breakfast! 
 
    Ian Gourlay asserted control over the command group. 
 
    “We’re beefing up 42 Commando’s forward lines east of Sussex Mountain overnight.  That exercise might be interesting, we think the other side may be attempting to mount some kind of spoiling attack in that sector tonight.  It looks like we might need to lend Steuart’s chaps a helping hand, too.”  He wielded a thin, cane pointer and indicated the ridge-line to the east of Sussex Mountain.  “The enemy is established along here.  So, it looks as if the first priority will be to sort out a fire plan for the Navy first thing tomorrow,” he corrected himself, ‘today rather, to make life as miserable as possible for the other people over there, while extend our lines to the south.” 
 
    The Canadian studied the map. 
 
    The Vindrey Commando was coming ashore at Port San Carlos in the north, 3rd Battalion, Parachute Regiment at Ajax Bay with a view to moving into the southern quadrant of the beachhead, right behind 42 Commando.  The Gurkhas were landing at nearby San Carlos – just a collection of houses, a settlement not even a village – half-a-mile from where he now stood; preparatory to pushing east along the North Camp Road towards Teal Inlet, passing through 46 Commando.  The Scots Guards would be the last to disembark from the Canberra and would go into the Brigade Reserve, taking over 46 Commando’s positions north of the anchorage in the next twenty-four hours. 
 
    None of the ‘Canberra battalions’ would be properly ‘sorted out’ equipment-wise for at least forty-eight hours after coming ashore; and inevitably, a lot of kit would be unloaded in the wrong place but that would be for the beachmasters to sort out. 
 
    “Okay, we’ll separate into planning groups in a minute.  First things first,” Ian Gourlay decided, “Priorities: one, tidy up the southern front ahead of a battalion-strength push towards Darwin-Goose Green not later than seventy-two hours from this time; two, get as many of our people off the Canberra PDQ and encamped by this time tomorrow,” again, a smile, “today, rather.  That is all.  Let’s keep this simple.  There will be bottlenecks; don’t let them slow us down.  I do not want soldiers sitting on the Canberra a minute longer than they absolutely have to.  Carry on!” 
 
    Dermot O’Reilly remained while the others dispersed back to their units and staffs. 
 
    “Bulwark may have to stand out to sea,” the Canadian said, confidentially to Ian Gourlay.  “The whole Argentine Navy is headed towards us.  Or that’s what it looks like.  David Penberthy thinks the Canberra may actually be safer here than out at sea.” 
 
    Ian Gourlay thought about it. 
 
    “You think it could be as bad as that?” 
 
    The other man hesitated. 
 
    “Honestly, yes, I think we may be in trouble, old man.” 
 
    The Royal Marine raised an eyebrow. 
 
    “Oh, I see.”  He quirked a conspiratorial smile.  “If the Navy thought they had a problem; they probably did.  Potentially have a problem, that was.  Definitely a SNAFU then,” he observed dryly. 
 
    Situation Normal All Fucked Up. 
 
    Except in their heart of hearts neither man really believed any Argentine ship or bomber could possibly get through to San Carlos Water; things might be looking bad but not that bad. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 43 
 
      
 
    03:24 Hours (Local), 06:24 (GMT) 
 
    ARA Veinticinco de Mayo, Northern Strike Group 
 
    147 miles North of the Jason Islands 
 
      
 
    The wind was gusting up to thirty knots from the south, stirring ten-foot, white-horse crested swells as the two carriers began to launch their aircraft.  It was still dark, pitch black beneath the overcast that signified the leading edge of a westerly gale.  Full dawn would not be for another sixty minutes and Juan Bonham-Garcia knew there would be deck and taking-off accidents on the blacked-out flight decks of the two veterans of the Pacific War. 
 
    When a T-28 Trojan – possibly with an engine fault – toppled straight over the bow of the Indepencia II there was no guardship within miles and the men on board it had either been killed as the ship ran over them, or quickly drowned in the frigid sea.  In the confusion, and panic, the other carrier had briefly lit up like a Christmas tree, three miles off the Veinticinco de Mayo’s port stern quarter. 
 
    The Nuevo de Julio and the Hercules had separated from the carriers and their labouring escorts at dusk last night; charging at their best combined speed, around twenty knots to the south east to be in a position to engage enemy shipping in the northern approaches to the Estrecho de San Carlos around dawn.  Nobody on the Flagship had believed it was anything other than a death ride, albeit one which might, just, distract the English long enough to allow the carriers to get all their birds in the air. 
 
    Juan tried not to think about how much of a wild shot, literally in the dark, OPERATION RIVADAVIA had become.  Apart from the distant echoes of enemy aircraft at the extreme outer edges of its Second War-vintage radar envelopes, they had no real idea where the enemy was or what he was doing.  The enemy fleet could be over the horizon, thirty miles or hundreds of miles away; everything was based on the simplistic assumption that if the Northern Strike Group threatened the landing beaches of San Carlos Water, then magically, the enemy would manoeuvre directly into the path of its aircraft and gunships.  Moreover, nobody believed that the English had actually withdrawn their SSNs; so, logically, they, and or long-range electronic-warning aircraft off the Ark Royal and the Hermes must surely have tracked, and reported back every course change both the Northern and the Southern Strike Groups had made since leaving port.  The only mystery was why the enemy had not yet attacked them! 
 
    The American President had said that the English had a right to defend themselves if attacked.  Or at least, that was what Juan had heard reported.  Well, what were the English waiting for? 
 
    It was not as if there was anything remotely subtle about the ARA’s tactics; heads down like bulls most of its ships were charging straight at the enemy!  Well, the cruisers were, anyway.  The carrier group – the Veinticinco de Mayo and the Indepencia II - had actually slowed overnight before steering for the most westerly islets of Isla Gran Malvina and, once it had launched its aircraft planned to turn away from the Malvinas and steer to the west, putting as much distance as possible between it and what, by the time full dawn broke across this part of the South Atlantic was confidently expected to be a very, very angry Royal Navy counter-strike. 
 
    It was hardly any comfort to the brave men in the aircraft blundering into the air in the darkness to know that if, somehow, they survived the coming mission that their mother ships would be lengthening the range, and the distance they had to fly to land back on them, as fast as possible most of the time they were in the air.  But then that was a plan that had Jorge Anaya’s sweaty palms all over it; he would attempt to save himself even if it meant only a handful of the aircraft and airmen of the strike force had any chance of landing back on board.  Inevitably, aircrew who lived through the battle with the British would have no option but to bale out over the Malvinas.  The Junta back in Buenos Aires would turn around and proudly claim that they had hurled everything at the enemy; not that they had done it in such a way as to throw away the lives of the majority of the ARA’s naval aviators, and the courageous FAA men who had volunteered for their one-way ticket to the Malvinas. 
 
    The Veinticinco de Mayo was launching her T-28s first, then her pair of A-1 Skyraiders, and next her F4U Corsairs, and lastly among the prop-driven aircraft, three ancient TBD Avenger torpedo bombers.  This, the First Wave, would form up – loosely was the best anybody could hope for – before setting off in the general direction of the northern approaches to the Estrecho de San Carlos, streaming off to the south-south-east on a twenty-mile-wide front hoping to find the British aircraft carriers shortly after daybreak.  Thereafter, from around zero-four-hundred hours, hopefully, with the length of the flight deck clear of obstacles – that is, old propeller aircraft – by that hour, the Flagship would launch her ten – one aircraft had had a hydraulics failure – McDonnell A-4 Skyhawks. 
 
    In an ideal world the Indepencia II would, by then, have also cleared her flight deck, and the Veinticinco de Mayo’s Skyhawks would be lost in the radar clutter of around seventy Trojans, Corsairs, Skyraiders and Avengers straggling towards the general area in which it was suspected the British fleet would be, or if it failed to encounter it, the full weight of the aerial armada would then fall upon, and deliver a crushing blow to the concentration of enemy shipping in and around the northern mouth of the Estrecho de San Carlos, and the helpless warships, oilers and transports supporting the landings inside San Carlos Water. 
 
    Simultaneously, every aircraft on the Malvinas – as many as twelve to fifteen T-28s and F4Us - were to be ‘flushed’ around dawn from their ‘secret’ air fields to attack the landing beaches but nobody in the fleet was counting on that.  If it happened, all to the good but they had all heard an awful lot of bluster and frankly, insulting exhortations from the High Command in the last few days! 
 
    Inevitably, as the poorly co-ordinated swarm of old aircraft grew in the dark skies to the south of the two carriers, and its leading elements began to head to the south and east, it began to spread across a ten to fifteen mile front but then keeping formation was the least of the pilots’ problems.  Juan would have worried about it, despaired at the wing and a prayer fashion in which his country’s entire fleet and every single available aircraft was being so recklessly, callously hurled at the English sea wolves.  However, he was too busy; and the flight deck was an insanely dangerous place.  Everywhere there were propellers spinning up, Trojans and Corsairs being manhandled, or taxiing into position, queueing for the bow drum catapults.  Men toiling on the flight deck lived their lives frantically, touching mutilation and death at every turn and time flashed past in an insane rush.  All the aircraft on deck had at least one bomb slung beneath their bellies, 250-pounders for the Trojans and Corsairs, two 1000-pounders on underwing hardpoints for each Skyhawk.  As the wind whipped across the deck the air stank of AVGAS, oil and hot engines. 
 
    Juan had no idea where an hour had just gone. 
 
    The first Skyhawk, Martin Bauer’s was spooling up her Pratt and Whitney J52 turbojet, and his wingman, his nephew Lieutenant Cesar Scarpa, was following suit. 
 
    The first tint of pre-dawn twilight was lighting the eastern sky as the first jet rumbled, accelerating far too slowly it seemed to most observers, and with a roar fell off the bow into the darkness before, a heart-stopping split second later, rising again above the deck with its jet pipe glowing faintly red-blue in the gloom. 
 
    Cesar Scarpa’s aircraft followed; it had had a slightly longer run but it too, dipped alarmingly out of view before, again, staggering skyward. 
 
    Juan reminded himself to breathe again. 
 
    Another Skyhawk roared down the deck, throttle through the gate.  There had been a plan for the A-4s to carry smaller bombs and a drop tank, to increase their operational range.  Martin Bauer had objected: ‘We either land back on the Veinticinco de Mayo, or we eject over the Malvinas!’ 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 44 
 
      
 
    06:35 Hours (GMT) 
 
    Prime Minister’s Rooms, Churchill House 
 
    Headington Quarry, Oxford 
 
      
 
    Sixteen-year-old Carol Thatcher had been awakened several times in the night by the comings and goings from the Prime Ministerial Residence.  Usually, when she was hauled back to Oxford it was because of some new IRA threat against her, her twin brother Mark or the Government in general.  One way and another the Irish Republican Army had a lot to answer for but in the way of these things, like any teenage girl aching to dip her toes in the adult world, to be compelled to live inside a suffocating security bubble was, most of the time, intolerable.  What made it worse was that now Mark was at Winchester College, basically being prepared for a career in the Army, inspired by their late Uncle Frank’s example, she was the only one who ever seemed to get dragged back into the offending ‘bubble’ if there was a crisis. 
 
    Both twins had been as inconsolable as their mother when Uncle Frank was killed by that roadside bomb in France.  Notwithstanding the rascally SAS veteran had only been in their lives a relatively short time, he had been like a breath of fresh air, no, more than that, of freedom, and when he was around, their mother had been so…different. 
 
    That morning, Carol did a thing she rarely did.  She sought out her mother; invariably, it was the other way around.  Her mother went through periods of intense fussing around her, which was very irritating, interspersed with periods of what seemed to her from her teenage perspective as complete neglect.  There were times when she wondered if the Lady actually existed; or if the woman she saw on TV or heard on the radio or read about all the time in the papers, was anything to do with her.  She got it that Mark was her favourite.  That had its advantages, and while Aunt Pat was alive, she had always had somebody she could talk to, discuss anything with. 
 
    How weird was that? 
 
    Carol did not think there was anything strange about people being angry with her mother.  She was sometimes.  Very angry!  But this time it was different; everybody seemed to be angry with her and after the shambolic scenes in the House of Commons on Tuesday, and what with the vote of confidence scheduled for that evening with the whole Falklands business coming to a head it was as if her life also, was stumbling towards the edge… 
 
    “Hello, Carol,” Ian Gow smiled, encountering the Prime Minister’s daughter in the lobby leading through to the Cabinet Room and its warren of annexes. 
 
    Carol could tell her mother’s Chief of Staff had not slept. 
 
    He was dressed in his Hussars uniform; that was a bad sign because he tended to leave the finery on the peg unless he needed to wear it as a statement of intent.  These days, Ian was a member of a dwindling band of men who would gladly lay down his life for Carol’s mother; there used to be a regiment of such men but no longer.  Steuart Pringle was down in the South Atlantic, Uncle Tom had resigned, the Fighting Admiral – whom she never recollected having ever met but whom people talked of, quite often, actually – and Uncle Frank were dead.  There was still Uncle Airey, of course but the late Lord De L’Isle had been her mother’s closest confidante, the only man people said, who could and perhaps, should have talked her mother out of sending the Task Force to those stupid little islands in the South Atlantic. 
 
    “Can I see mother?”  Carol asked. 
 
    Ian Gow frowned: “Yes, why not?”  He asked rhetorically.  “She could do with a little cheering up.” 
 
    Carol tried hard not to sigh.  Only a middle-aged man would think it was a teenage girl’s job to cheer up her mother! 
 
    The Prime Minister was dashing off notes across the top of the pages of a paper before her on the cabinet table.  She glanced up when the door opened, did a double-take and smiled a forced smile at her daughter. 
 
    Okay, I get it…I am not Mark, the chosen one. 
 
    “I couldn’t sleep,” Carol muttered. 
 
    “People do clump about so noisily in the night,” her mother retorted; it was the nearest she was going to get to uttering an apology. 
 
    “Is today going to be really awful?” 
 
    This momentarily flummoxed her mother. 
 
    “I…  Well…” 
 
    Carol waited. 
 
    “Yes,” her mother, the Prime Minister said. 
 
    Her daughter made as if to leave, confused as to why she had asked the question in the first place. 
 
    “Carol.  They think there will be a big sea battle today.  Quite soon now…and the White House has forced us to fight under a set of rules which greatly benefit our enemies.” 
 
    Carol thought about this. 
 
    “Then, why fight at all?”  She asked. 
 
    He mother looked at her with blank incomprehension.  It was as if she had never expected to be asked that question. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 45 
 
      
 
    05:02 Hours (Local) 08:02 (GMT) 
 
    HMS Ark Royal, 44 Miles NW of Cape Dolphin 
 
      
 
    Another man would have railed at the constraints placed upon him; but as he had begun to realise what was happening and the shape of the coming battle began to form in his mind’s eye, Vice Admiral Henry Leach had taken a deep breath, exhaled his existential angst, and got on with the job in hand.  He had two objects: one, to protect the beachhead at San Carlos, and; two, to destroy the enemy fleet.  It was one of those scenarios in which one out of two simply was not good enough, and, in his judgement, the achievement of both desired ends, warranted the calculated risk of placing his one operational fleet carrier, and many of his other fighting ships directly in harm’s way. 
 
    That said, as he watched the radar symbols gather, coalesce and move around the CIC plot, he had considerable pause for thought.  Ark Royal and her battle group’s western and northern radar pickets were painting upwards of sixty enemy aircraft, most of them still heading south west, their tracks skirting the eastern wing of the Ark Royal Battle Group, but more aircraft by the minute were turning, almost due south, to vector towards his flagship. 
 
    How on earth would the blighters know where to find the Ark? 
 
    Or were they just heading straight for San Carlos Water? 
 
    Perhaps, just flying on a wing and a prayer hoping for something to turn up? 
 
    Question, questions… 
 
    The fascination of battle was not to be underestimated! 
 
    892 Naval Air Squadron’s Phantoms were launching – alternatively off the Ark Royal’s bow and amidships catapults – and the first two Buccaneers, each with a 30-millimetre Aden cannon pod under one wing and a Firestreak air-to-air missile under the other, were on deck preparing to launch. 
 
    “These chaps don’t seem to be messing around,” Henry Leach observed cheerfully, eying the ever-more numerous aerial contacts heading in his direction. 
 
    The CAP is engaging the enemy!” 
 
    The Task Force Commander knew his Phantoms would cut a swath through the oncoming swarm.  He sighed, wishing he had been able to do this thing the proper and sensible way, pick his time and place and – if the SSNs were not allowed to do the necessary execution – manage it from a safe distance with his Phantoms and Buccaneers.  However, that was not to be and if he was being philosophical about it, what he had on his hands now was what Fleet HQ had always been afraid he would have to deal with once the politicians made a royal dog’s breakfast of the affair; an out-and-out pell-mell brawl of a battle in which raw courage and luck would be allowed to play an inordinately inappropriate role! 
 
    “Fast jets incoming from the mainland!” 
 
    Henry Leach raised an eyebrow and watched the new symbols on the plot. 
 
    “Surely not more Skyhawks out of Rio Gallegos?”  He queried. 
 
    “Possibly, sir.  I think we may be seeing fast jets in amongst the swarm approaching from the north, too.” 
 
    It was about then that everybody in the CIC was thinking how nice it would have been if the Ark’s ‘foghorn’ Type 984 3D S-Band radar system had been in good working order.  True, they had a reasonably sound idea of what, exactly was coming their way; it was just ten to fifteen minutes later than ideally, they would all have liked! 
 
    “Dunkirk and Arethusa are engaging bogeys!” 
 
    The storm front of approaching aircraft was already passing over the Ark Royal Battle Group’s outer, thirty-mile radar pickets almost directly to the north.  The Ark’s Phantoms would fall on the enemy again as they crossed into their allotted weapons free zone. 
 
    The Ark Royal shook as two more aircraft rocketed off her deck. 
 
    Henry Leach noted that four Phantoms had been re-directed to intercept the formation of as many as a dozen fast jets approaching from the west.  Churlishly, he silently bemoaned the absence of the Hermes.  Having a dozen Sea Vixens to back up his Phantoms would have been admirably sufficient – given a fair wind and a bit of luck - to turn back the tide of Argentine aircraft.  However, one fought with what one had to hand, not with the tools that one wished, in an ideal world, that one had! 
 
    He watched the readiness boards. 
 
    That was six Buccaneers in the air; the big, heavy-duty strike aircraft were not really dogfighters, although at a pinch they could mix it with pretty much anything the Argentines could put in the air. 
 
    “Gentlemen,” he remarked cheerfully, “it is pretty obvious to me that we are under attack and are therefore fully entitled to defend ourselves.”  He paused a moment, savouring the moment as he eyed the markers for the two Argentine carriers currently being painted by one of the Ark’s airborne early warning Gannets, circling some seventy miles to the north-north-east.  “Detail the Buccaneers to attack and to sink those two Argentine flattops!” 
 
    The two Argentine carriers had already turned to the west…bravely running away leaving their birds, literally, on a wing… 
 
    Suddenly, everything was happening fast. 
 
    “Devonshire has cleared her Terrier rails!” 
 
    The big Country class destroyer was the Ark’s ‘goalkeeper’, literally positioning herself in such a way as to be between the Flagship and harm.  Things were going to get messy in the coming minutes because a lot of those oncoming aircraft were going to get past the gun line, the Phantoms and the small number of missile-armed vessels circling the Ark Royal. 
 
    Another Buccaneer screamed off the amidships catapult. 
 
    Another would be latching onto the bow catapult in the next minute or so. 
 
    A report was received from south of the Falklands Archipelago. 
 
    “Liverpool reports she is in contact with two enemy heavies,” Leach was informed.  “She anticipates being in action within the next few minutes, sir.” 
 
    Henry Leach heard this as if from afar. 
 
    Twelve, no eleven fast jets were still boring in from the west at well over five hundred knots.  He glanced at the radar repeaters.  Fine tracery marked the flight of missiles, two of the oncoming jets disappeared, the others bolted past the first two intercepting Phantoms. 
 
    A Buccaneer launched off the bow. 
 
    Eight in the air, good! 
 
    The collision bell clanged loudly, repeatedly and after a delay of two, perhaps three to four seconds, the carrier’s wheel went over and she began to heel, turning to port.  Originally equipped with a battery of 4.5-inch dual purpose guns, these had been removed in the 1950s, as had all the ship’s smaller-calibre anti-aircraft weaponry in her American modernisation.  On her return to England four twin 40-millimetre and five twin 20-millimetre cannons had been fitted.  Now, these were hammering, their recoil whispering through the great ship as she leaned into her change of course.  The Ark was hardly nimble but she could turn, proscribe middlingly violent figures of eight; the one thing no ship under attack from the air, or anywhere else, did was steer in a straight line! 
 
    The CIC plot was a mess. 
 
    The battlespace had become chaotic. 
 
    Devonshire had re-loaded her missile rails. 
 
    Every ship in the battle group was blazing away with everything it had. 
 
    At times such as these there was nothing for an admiral to do; nothing that he could do except wait and see what happened next.  Oh, and utter a silent prayer. 
 
    A prayer that would have been familiar to Nelson’s band of brothers as they steered their wooden walls into battle. 
 
    For what we are about to receive may we be grateful… 
 
    And: Stand by for incoming, my friends… 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 46 
 
      
 
    05:14 Hours (Local) 08:14 (GMT) 
 
    HMS Liverpool, 17 miles SSE of Cape Meredith 
 
      
 
    “Shoot!”  Peter Christopher commanded. 
 
    The salvo bell rang and less than a second later, when the main battery ready board inclinometer light blinked green, signifying that in that instant the ship was on a level keel, all nine of the old Baltimore class cruiser’s 8-inch 55-calibre rifles launched a 335-pound armour-piercing round which left the muzzle of each barrel at a velocity of over 2,500 feet per second, hurtling in a ballistic arc towards the leading enemy cruiser at over 1,700 miles per hour. 
 
    The whole ship recoiled, absorbing the shock of the broadside. 
 
    “The first and second divisions may fire at will at the second ship,” the Captain of the Liverpool added.  His two old 5-inch armed Fletchers, the Inverness and the Dunfermline, and the Corunna and the Plymouth, both with 4.5-inch rifles were operating independently, the former to the east, the latter to the west, and had already closed the range to around sixteen thousand yards. 
 
    Liverpool had held fire until the leading Argentine cruiser, tentatively identified as the Santissima Trinidad had approached to within twenty thousand yards.  Twenty thousand yards was at the extreme limit of the enemy cruisers’ engagement envelope but already five miles within the Liverpool’s. 
 
    Peter had been at pains to make clear his thinking about the coming battle: ‘Theoretically, Liverpool could keep out of range of those two cruisers.  But only theoretically, they want to get past us into the southern reaches of Falkland Sound.  Therefore, we do not have unlimited freedom of manoeuvre and we must stand, and fight, here, to the south of the entrance to the Sound.  That said, I do not intend to waste ordnance in an ultra-long-range, over the horizon artillery duel.  Once the range comes down to twenty thousand yards our shooting error rapidly diminishes; so, that is the range at which we will commence the engagement.’ 
 
    Captain James Watkins, USN, had been surprised to be invited to participate in the conference, some twelve hours ago, held in the chart room to discuss how the coming battle was to be fought.  Other than himself and Peter Christopher, there had been only two men present, the ship’s Executive Officer, Adam Canning, and Lieutenant Commander Fred Dickens, in old-fashioned parlance still ‘Guns’, the cruiser’s Gunnery Officer, but in the modern idiom, the ship’s Principal Weapons Officer, or PWO. 
 
    ‘I’m sure I don’t have to remind anybody that those ships’ 6-inch 47-calibres have a sustainable rate of fire of up to ten rounds per minute against our 8-inchers’ three or four, or that between them they’ve got twenty-seven main battery barrels against our nine.  I’m also cognisant that theoretically, they can reach us at twenty-thousand yards.  We shall see.’ 
 
    He had explained how he wanted the 5-inch and 4-5-inch-armed divisions to get out on the enemy’s flanks, principally to engage any enemy escorts but in their absence, to harry whichever cruiser was farthest from the Liverpool, or if in doubt, the cruiser the Liverpool was not shooting at. 
 
    ‘Those cruisers can hurt us but they can’t penetrate our magazines, fire-rooms, machine rooms or anything vital below the main armoured deck at ranges beyond seven or eight thousand yards.  If they want to try to shoot it out at those sorts of ranges, good luck to them.  Whereas, our main battery AP rounds can cause those ships catastrophic damage at any range.  As to the enemy’s supposed advantage in terms of his rate of fire, well, I seriously doubt they will be able to sustain a rate of fire superior to ours after the first few salvos.’ 
 
    James Watkins had listened, and afterwards felt as if he had glimpsed the future.  Peter Christopher had coolly designed his battle.  The Liverpool would stand off the southern approaches to Falkland Sound, presenting her full broadside to the oncoming Argentine cruisers – effectively crossing their ‘T’ – restricting the General Belgrano and the Santissima Trinidad to the use of only their forward turrets during the ‘closing the range’ phase of the action, employing the modernized Baltimore class cruiser’s state of the art radar and director systems to shoot them to pieces.  If his enemy decided to jink this way and that, to come at him an angle, lengthening the period when they would be too distant for accurate gunnery so that he could bring more artillery to bear on the Liverpool, all the better.  In that eventuality, the Liverpool, which Watkins knew for an absolute certainty would be superbly handled in the coming battle, would simply have bigger targets to shoot at. 
 
    ‘They have to steam towards us; we do not have to steam towards them,’ Peter had explained.  ‘And if we can cross their ‘T’ for most of the engagement, they won’t have twenty-seven rifles firing 130-pound rounds at us, they’ll only have a maximum of fifteen, against our 8-inchers throwing, minute by minute, every ounce as much metal at them, as they can throw at us!’ 
 
    At a range of twenty thousand yards, ten nautical miles or eleven-and-a-third on land, the Liverpool’s first broadside would travel down range in less than thirty seconds, each shell still travelling at supersonic speed in its terminal phase, plummeting down with such inertia that if it encountered the armoured deck – 2-inches thick – of one of the two old US Navy light cruisers, it would slice down, through the ship much in the fashion of a red-hot poker through butter.  Except at supersonic speeds.  In fact, if such a round did not encounter something substantial, like an armoured bulkhead, or a boiler or turbine, or the robust carapace of a magazine, it might easily dive straight through a ship and explode, or not, in the water beneath or beyond the vessel.  Its passage would in most cases, be as ruinous for the men in the compartments through which it ploughed as if it had actually exploded. 
 
    The Liverpool had been designed to absorb that sort of punishment – not happily but in such a way as to enable her to carry on fighting after several such hammer blows – sustained at ranges longer than ten thousand yards.  She was an entirely different kind of beast to her ‘light’ cruiser sisters, specifically intended to fight in the fleet gunline, or to act as a bodyguard to a fleet aircraft carrier. 
 
    So, Peter Christopher had determined to fight her in exactly the way her designers had intended.  An hour before dawn the ship had worked up to twenty-six knots and begun quartering a fifteen-mile-wide box blocking the entrance to Falkland Sound, while the three destroyers and one frigate of her screen took up their allotted stations to the east and the west.  And then she had waited, like a lioness in plain site as her prey drew near. 
 
    “The enemy is shooting at Plymouth and Corunna!” 
 
    The Main battery readiness board was showing solid greens. 
 
    Even though the heavy cruiser’s first broadside had not yet landed, the salvo bell rang again. 
 
    This time, the crash of the Liverpool’s nine 8-inch rifles discharging was instantaneous.  The ship lurched, steadied and the eyes of the men on the bridge flicked involuntarily towards the traces tracking the vector of the first broadside as the lines seemed to converge on the nearest enemy cruiser. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 47 
 
      
 
    05:15 Hours (Local) 
 
    48 miles NNW of Cape Dolphin, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    Commander Alan Hannay stepped out onto the bridge wing as the M2 50-calibre hooked onto the nearby rail sawed murderously and a second Sea Cat burned away from the ship in a cloud of white-grey smoke.  In the waist of the Leander class frigate both 20-millimetre cannons were hosing livid tracer into the sky and every few seconds the twin 4.5-inch main battery turret barked a new salvo and ejected, empty still-steaming as they met the moist air, shell cases clanged onto the deck. 
 
    He stepped over two magazine boxes and ignored the discarded M2 barrel – one of three the Royal Marines had wrestled through the compass platform – rolling at his feet.  The barrels got hot in a hurry when they were shooting continuously and needed to be replaced at regular intervals… 
 
    A ship was burning three or four miles away, it was already too smoky to make out details but the plot was identifying her as the Tamworth, one of the Allen M. Sumner class destroyers transferred to British service last winter. 
 
    Everybody seemed to be shooting but apart from the unfortunate Tamworth, none of the inner ring of radar pickets, or any of the other escorts close to the Flagship seemed to have been damaged.  That probably meant the enemy was only going after the big ships; the Ark Royal, the Bulwark, or the assault landing ships and transports in the northern reaches of Falkland Sound or inside San Carlos Water. 
 
    Alan had been a little afraid that the first time the going got tough he would freeze; perhaps, start thinking about Talavera and the madness which had seized him that dreadful day six-and-a-half years ago.  But actually, he was far too busy to dwell on that particular nightmare.  One glance at the Type 965 air search repeater told him somebody, somewhere had got something very, very wrong.  The whole sky seemed to be full of enemy aircraft and Naiad’s CIC was painting several of them as hostile fast jets! 
 
    He stepped back onto the compass platform. 
 
    The frigate’s PWO – Principal Warfare officer – was fighting the ship from the CIC, but the point, or near defence of the ship was very much dependent on the Mark 1 eyeballs of her men and the officers around him on the bridge.  The scrambled TBS – Talk Between Ships VHF radio – was busy; there was no panic, that would have been unseemly and the Navy did not approve of that sort of thing.  However, given that many of the men commanding the ships around Naiad had seen their fair share of action in recent years, there was, nonetheless, a palpable sense of…surprise in the ether.  It was as if a lot of Alan’s fellow captains were thinking ‘this is ridiculous’ and ‘what on earth is going on’ as they got on with fighting for their lives. 
 
    “This is Cambrian,” Alan heard over the TBS speaker near his head, “I think some of these bloody aircraft are coming from the landward side!  Has anybody got a decent radar picture of the airspace around Pebble Island?” 
 
    Alan registered the sawing of the M2s and the other anti-aircraft guns pause for several seconds.  Like all frigates and destroyers Naiad had ‘gun posts’ strategically placed along her sides abaft her bridge.  These were steel tripods topped with a gimballed mountings to take a machine gun, additional so-called point defence either to repel boarders or to fill the nearby sky with fast moving metal in the event of an air attack. 
 
    Then every gun was suddenly blazing away again. 
 
    “AIR ACTION PORT!” 
 
    Alan swung around, raising his glasses to his eyes. 
 
    He halted; the aircraft was so close binoculars were superfluous.  The oncoming aircraft looked like an old Harvard trainer, Second War-vintage, and it was wobbling between streams of tracer from more than one ship as it weaved, it seemed, directly towards him. 
 
    Strings of fire detached themselves from below the old aircraft’s wings.  He blinked, rockets… 
 
    Everybody dived for the deck at once. 
 
    There were a couple of loud bags, then the aircraft had zoomed across the frigate’s forecastle, pursued by 20-millimetre cannon shells, trailing a thin stream of oily, grey smoke from somewhere under its engine cowling. 
 
    “CIC, sir!” 
 
    Alan took the headset, pulling it over his white anti-flash balaclava.  Like everybody else he was weighed down by his US-style flak jacket, gloved but not helmeted which he realised guiltily as he pulled on the headset. 
 
    If CIC wanted a private word, it was not good news. 
 
    “Captain here,” he declared. 
 
    “We’re painting a lot of aircraft in the vicinity of the Flagship, sir.  Her data link is up and down like a yo-yo, she must already have been hit.  The bastards are going after the Ark…” 
 
    “Give me a bearing to the Flagship, please.” 
 
    “Three-zero-zero relative, sir.  The plot is updating…now.” 
 
    “Very good.”  Alan turned to the quartermaster at the wheel.  “Starboard ten.  Make your course,” he checked the compass, “three-one-zero.”  Without waiting for an acknowledgment, he ordered: “Full ahead on both shafts.  Maximum revolutions, if you please.” 
 
    If the Argentines were going after the Ark Royal, Naiad was in the wrong place; as in fact, were most of the ships around her guarding the approaches to the northern end of Falkland Sound. 
 
    Over the CIC circuit he heard: “Seacat action starboard, single low-flying target…  ENGAGE!  ENGAGE!  ENGAGE!” 
 
    There was a WHOOSH from the after superstructure where the quadruple GWS21 Sea Cat launcher was located and another missile smoked away.  Alan saw the target, another old, slow trainer-type aircraft dragging across the sky at about a thousand feet from west to east, only momentarily before the Sea Cat dashed it to pieces. 
 
    Naiad shipped green water over her forecastle. 
 
    She shuddered from stem to stern and drove onwards. 
 
    “Damage reports…  Rocket hit aft, round penetrated berthing space beneath the hangar…  No casualties.  Second hit, hull amidships…  Round failed to explode but we have a small fire in an equipment locker, probably unspent propellent igniting…  Two men slightly injured…  Third hit…  Round passed through the base of the funnel.  One man missing, presumed killed or blown overboard…” 
 
    It was beginning to get lighter. 
 
    The eastern sky was brightening. 
 
    In the west Alan saw a distant flash of crimson through the murk, and then another.  He checked the ship’s heading as she steadied onto her new course but he knew, with a horrible, sinking feeling what he had just seen and what, most likely, it might bode for what was to come. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 48 
 
      
 
    05:16 Hours 
 
    MLFG Command Post, Sapper Hill, Isla Soledad 
 
      
 
    Major General Hugo Bonham-Garcia had made several assumptions about the way the British would wage war, not all of which had turned out to be justified.  For example, he had assumed that all the undersea cables connecting the Malvinas with the mainland would be cut early in the affair.  They had not been severed; and neither had the cables stretching across the floor of the Estrecho de San Carlos.  Moreover, the enemy had not bombed any of the emergency landing strips – at Pebble Island, Bahia Zorro and Goose Green – where a motley collection of T-28 Trojans, a handful of F4U Corsairs and several helicopters had been dispersed after the base at Cap San Felipe became untenable.  All bar four of the Corsairs had been written off and two pilots seriously injured attempting to put down on the horribly short, bumpy strips but to his astonishment, the exercise had successfully ‘hidden’ as many as eighteen fighting aircraft – albeit not all of them would still be serviceable - and seven helicopters. 
 
    Given that it had become evident that British special forces raiders had been operating – in some areas with impunity – for some months, possibly ever since the re-conquest of the Archipelago in 1964, particularly on Isla Gran Malvina and probably, widely on Isla Soledad, it was incredible to Hugo that the enemy had not targeted those key communications lines and airfields with naval gunfire or pinpoint air raids.  However, they had neglected to so do, and from the ongoing mayhem of garbled, scrambler mush punctuated, now and then, with the terse observations and reports in plain language emanating from the communications bunker, the English were paying a high price for their inattention to detail. 
 
    It was because of the secure undersea cables Hugo had known what was coming; and more important, by employing radio direction finders to facilitate the triangulation of intercepted traffic, his people had been able to feed the Operations Centre at Rio Gallegos a constant stream of estimated positional updates on the movements of the enemy fleet off the northern coasts of the archipelago.  Granted, there was an enormous amount of guesswork involved in this process; no matter, it had provided the FAA and the ships of the Northern Strike Force a sense of where, within a circular error probability of about thirty to forty miles, the main English fleet was operating from hour to hour in the last two days. 
 
    Four minutes ago, he had received confirmation that the F-86s of the 14th Fighter Group operating out of Rio Gallegos had engaged the enemy CAP about eighty miles north west of the Pebble Island Sector.  From the blizzard of faint TBS chatter – most of it scrambled, unintelligible – he had already known the strike forces from the Indepencia II and the Veinticinco de Mayo must have been in contact with elements of the English armada for some minutes.  The TBS ‘mush’ was being picked up by listening posts at Salvador Water, north of Teal Inlet and Tamar Point on Isla Gran Malvina east of Pebble Island, and transmitted back to Puerto Argentina via more telephone lines that the English had neglected to cut. 
 
    It was good to know that the English were not supermen, just mere mortals like he and the men he commanded on the Malvinas! 
 
    That was not to deny that a lot of land lines had gone dead, mostly in the northern half of Isla Soledad – or that the enemy was not listening in on the ones he had elected not to destroy - but the outages were random, as if the enemy had not fully understood the complexity and the redundancies of the over-land and undersea communications networks installed in the last five years.  As to why the underwater cables were still untouched; that was a complete mystery to the veteran Marine.  A single ship dragging a hook along the bottom off the western isles of the archipelago – albeit on the end of a long rope – could have ripped those lines to shreds at any time… 
 
    He put that thought out of his head. 
 
    “His Excellency is on line three, sir.” 
 
    Hugo picked up the handset. 
 
    Horacio Mendoza was at the Governor’s Palace in the heart of Puerto Argentino. 
 
    ‘It might have a bloody great big bulls-eye on it,’ Hugo’s friend would guffaw, ‘but my lumbago plays merry hell when I’m out in the field!’ 
 
    And besides, the two men had agreed that they needed to maintain separation between themselves in case the English decided that decapitating the garrison’s leadership was a good way to go. 
 
    ‘Dammit, no more of Doña Elena’s sumptuous Sunday feasts!’  The Governor of the colonia had bemoaned.  Notwithstanding, it was known that Doña Francesca, the widow of Horacio’s unlamented predecessor, was a regular visitor to the fortress-like Government Compound and had accompanied Horacio on several walkabouts in the town in recent days. 
 
    Horacio and Doña Francesca… 
 
    Now, that really had opened a few eyes, although not Hugo’s or his wife’s, who were aware that the Governor who had been, especially in his younger days, a serial philanderer.  It had even been whispered that years ago, he and Francesca had been…close.  But then the Bonham Garcia’s were not a couple who wasted overlong worrying out their friends’ past, and very personal, peccadilloes.  Horacio was a widower; his wife having died in a road accident in 1963.  Although both the Mendoza boys had been young subalterns in the Army by then, horsemen like their father, they had been closer to their mother.  After her death, it happened that neither of the boys had pursued subsequent careers in the military; the elder had gone into the priesthood, the younger was a banker in Cordoba.  Either way, Hugo suspected it was a mercy to their father that his sons were far, far away from the drama playing out around the Malvinas. 
 
    If Mendoza had been a little economical with the truth about his former relations with Francesca Ibarra de Madrid then actually, that had been his right. 
 
    “Why on earth we have to have these bloody battles at the crack of dawn beats me!”  Horacio Mendoza complained.  “Nobody’s at their best before breakfast, dammit!” 
 
    Hugo smiled, mostly to himself. 
 
    “That’s a question which has baffled the greatest generals down the ages, sir,” he observed dryly. 
 
    The other man sobered. 
 
    “How are things looking, Hugo?”  He asked. 
 
    “Confused.” 
 
    This was somewhat understating the case.  Actually, the commanding officer of the MLFG was bewildered.  Why had the English allowed the ARA’s big ships to get so close to the archipelago; surely, with their longer-range high-performance aircraft they could have just picked off the carriers and cruisers at any time in the last five days? 
 
    What if there had been an outcry after La Argentina and that destroyer were torpedoed?  It was almost as if the enemy had taken his eyes off the ball… 
 
    He knew he was missing something; that what he was seeing simply did not add up and, in many ways, confounded his expectation, and knowledge of the English way of war. 
 
    The Governor of the Malvinas might have been reading his mind. 
 
    “My people have finally decoded that long message from Buenos Aires,” he confided.  “The Junta now believes that the Americans pulled the plug on the British in a much bigger way that we were given to understand!” 
 
    “What…” 
 
    “No unrestricted submarine warfare,” the other man went on, “no Exclusion Zone, self-defence only, no aggressive action beyond the twelve-mile limit…” 
 
    “Seriously?” 
 
    “Apparently,” Mendoza confirmed. 
 
    Hugo was…speechless. 
 
    How did one fight a war thousands of miles away from one’s home bases with one’s hands tied behind one’s back? 
 
    He collected his wits. 
 
    Now he thought about it; it explained a lot. 
 
    “When did this happen, Horacio?” 
 
    “Soon after La Argentina was sunk.” 
 
    “And those idiots back home didn’t tell us?” 
 
    “Well, they are idiots, Hugo,” the other man reminded him, sagely. 
 
    Hugo wanted to kick something; not a good idea, it would only set off the ache in his bad leg again.  Courtesy of the ‘idiots’ on the mainland he had wasted five days; five days when had he known his enemy was hobbled, he would have revisited the whole ‘citadel Puerto Argentino’ defence plan… 
 
    He cursed under his breath. 
 
    “Dammit…” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 49 
 
      
 
    05:19 Hours (Local) 08:19 (GMT) 
 
    SS Canberra 
 
    San Carlos Water, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    Alarm bells were clanging, the ship’s Tannoy was blaring and smoke was roiling across the glassy water of the anchorage as dawn broke beyond the mountains to the east. 
 
    Colour Sergeant Anatoly Saratov had come up onto the promenade deck as the former P & O Liner crept through the murky twilight beneath the cliffs of Fanning Head to the north and the still invisible headland of Chancho Point to the south.  As the first twilight of the coming day began to open up the misty vista of the anchorage, he had seen the Intrepid and the Fearless, several frigates guarding the Royal Fleet Auxiliary Resurgent (a fast transport), the Reliant (an ammunition ship), another stores ship, the Fort Duquesne and beyond her the fleet oiler, Wave Chief.  Deeper into the fjord-like inlet he saw the indistinct outlines of a destroyer, and another merchantman, big landing craft shuttling backwards and forwards to piers stretching out from the shore.  Most of the men of the Vindrey Commando were making final preparations to disembark, the ship had already swung out her lifeboats – well, those with their own motors – because nothing had been so insistently hammered into their heads than the fact that the Canberra needed to be in and out of San Carlos Water within twenty-four hours.  The Vindrey Commando was disembarking first because it was going straight into the line in the Northern Sector. 
 
    Nonetheless, Anatoly had been determined to snatch a last few minutes of personal time before everything went crazy.  And besides, the pain in his arm had made it impossible to get back to sleep.  The cold and the damp had got into his re-constructed bones as the ship had sailed south in a way that the last few winters in Herefordshire had not.  He had no idea why that might be; it just was, and his Russian soul made it easier to simply accept this than to waste time wondering why. 
 
    There was hardly a breath of air in the anchorage and the faint tang of burned bunker oil hung in the atmosphere, tainting the cold purity of the morning. 
 
    Anatoly was soaking up the ambience of the moment, gazing at the armada assembled in the shelter of the surrounding hills, briefly feeling invincible to be surrounded by so much military might. 
 
    And then it had happened. 
 
    In a split second the dream had dissolved and chaos had reigned supreme. 
 
    An aircraft had roared past the stern of the liner and turned, lining up on a destroyer idling off a low island – Fanning Island – and almost in slow-motion, unleashed Hell… 
 
    Anatoly watched, transfixed. 
 
    It was an A-1 Skyraider, a big single-engine machine with a legendarily evil reputation earned in the two Korean wars.  There were cannons and heavy machine guns in its wing-roots, hard points for rocket launchers and bombs… 
 
    The aircraft approached the destroyer’s - one of the old American Fletchers – port stern quarter at an angle of about seventy degrees; suddenly, the water between it and the ship’s side was torn into a maelstrom, rockets hurtled through the spume and as the aircraft rattled over the top of the destroyer’s masts several small, black eggs tumbled away into space.  The ship seemed to tremble, then rock back – that might just have been some kind of optical illusion in the heat of the moment – and then the water around her had boiled, erupted and roiling balls of liquid fire had splashed across her deck. 
 
    It was a moment before Anatoly realised that the Skyraider must have clipped the ship’s main mast; her starboard wing had slid downward, dug into the water and the aircraft had cartwheeled to destruction in the blink of an eye. 
 
    Leaving behind her a destroyer burning fiercely, wracked by a series of explosions amidships and already listing, sickeningly to port… 
 
    “GET DOWN!  EVERYBODY DOWN!” 
 
    Anatoly dragged his gaze away from the horribly mauled destroyer, dead in the water about a kilometre distant and…stared at another, odd-looking black gull-winged machine which had just swooped over the isthmus to the west, banked tightly, almost putting its left wing-tip into the ethereally glassy water, levelled up and roared, impossibly fast, towards the Canberra. 
 
    Or rather, it seemed directly at Anatoly. 
 
    Old soldier or not he had just stared at the lines of exploding water racing towards the side of the liner; not registering that they were bullet and cannon shell splashes until it was far, far too late. 
 
    Out at sea there had been danger everywhere; but here, in this anchorage they were supposed to be…safe. 
 
    Weren’t they? 
 
    He was still standing at the rail, staring wide-eyed as the Argentine F4U Corsair screamed overhead.  He heard something snap, and a crash above and behind him.  The old fighter had been so low it must have carried away the top of a radio mast and scythed through several lines… 
 
    Anatoly registered this before he became aware that that only yards away men were lying bleeding - a couple in pieces - and that wisps of smoke were already escaping from nearby cabins. 
 
    He had also heard a very loud, metallic bang which had seemed to shiver the deck, too. 
 
    That must have been the bomb I saw fall from the Corsair. 
 
    The one I watched hit the water and skip towards the ship… 
 
    That was when the alarm bells had begun to clang. 
 
    There were other aircraft, all old-looking, including a couple that for some reason, reminded him of the profile of Second War Japanese Zeroes not so much racing, as sedately cruising so low that their propellors were rippling the surface of the water.  Machine guns rattled.  It was all unreal, except for the carnage on the deck around Anatoly. 
 
    It was this which brought him to his senses. 
 
    After that he ignored what was going on around him in San Carlos Water and went to the aid of a burly British paratrooper, applying pressure to a sucking chest wound. 
 
    He felt the shrapnel imbedded deep in the man’s torso under his hands. 
 
    First things first, stop the guy bleeding out. 
 
    Leave the rest for the surgeons. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 50 
 
      
 
    05:19 (Local) 
 
    North of Isla Gran Malvina 
 
      
 
    Lieutenant Cesar Luis Scarpa had followed his uncle’s A-4 off the bow of the carrier, convinced all the while, that he was going to rocket, or more likely, stall into the South Atlantic and that the twenty-seven-thousand-ton Veinticinco de Mayo would then put an end to his misery by running over him.  But that had not happened; in fact, with a surge of thrust his Skyhawk had defeated gravity and confounded the sum of his fears vis-à-vis insufficient laminar air flow over the leading edge of the jet’s wing at low airspeeds, and climbed away to safety.  Had he been religious, he would have telepathically transmitted a vote of thanks to his merciful God; but he was not, religious that was, so he had contented himself with a loudly heartfelt: ‘YES!’ 
 
    In his excitement, forgetting the Squadron’s channel was live, this utterance had very nearly deafened his uncle; who had not been very pleased about it. 
 
    Cesar was twenty-seven, boyish-looking for his age; he had never, ever wanted to be, or to do anything other than to be a fast-jet aviator.  Wrongly, people assumed he had been inspired in this by Uncle Martin’s example.  In fact, it happened that his Papa had been estranged from his scary CAG most of his life, family legend had it that it was something to do with a woman that had caused the schism.  Apparently, Cesar’s Papa had not always been a scion of family life, or faithful to his mother, and that at one point he had very nearly fought a duel with Uncle Martin.  In any event, he had hardly known his uncle until he was commissioned into the FAA and discovered that the Chief Instructor at Flight School at El Plumerillo Military Air Base, was none other than…Martin Bauer.  To be fair, his uncle had been as tough on him as he was on all the other wet behind the ears newbies.  Uncle Martin was a hard man, of that there was no mistaking, and if he was a martinet with a heart of gold, Cesar had yet to see any evidence for it.  Nonetheless, most of his would-be pilots survived basic training, and Cesar had realised, belatedly, that actually he did aspire to be exactly the all-round, professional airman exemplified by his uncle. 
 
    “Blue One to Blue Two.  Check, switch off IFF!” 
 
    Cesar acknowledged: “IFF Off! Over!” 
 
    The last thing a pilot wanted was to go into battle broadcasting his position on a standard frequency. 
 
    The two Skyhawks had circled the Veinticinco de Mayo in the night at five thousand feet as the other A-4s launched.  He heard the voice of the carrier’s LDSO report that the last aircraft had an engine fault. 
 
    Once there had been eleven, now there were only nine A-4s. 
 
    “Form up on me!”  His uncle had commanded.  “All birds weapons free.  If attacked break, break, break and continue the mission as planned.” 
 
    Then Martin Bauer had led the Squadron down to five hundred, then two hundred, feet above the still black waves.  The Skyhawks throttled back once, twice and at third time as they rapidly caught up with the tail of the twenty-mile-long, and almost as wide gaggle of around sixty propellor-driven aircraft cruising towards the forty-mile radius where, supposedly, the main enemy fleet was operating.  It was a circle which at its southern edge was only thirty-five kilometres from Isla Gran Malvina. 
 
    In the crowded flight crew briefing room shortly after midnight Cesar’s Uncle had said that aircraft flying from fields on the Malvinas would fly diversionary operations against enemy ships in the Estrecho de San Carlos, and north of Pebble Island, hopefully drawing off the enemy’s CAP to the west.  When he claimed that over two-dozen aircraft had been hidden from the English on the Malvinas, Cesar had not been the only man to grimace his doubt. 
 
    ‘The English have a lot of ships,’ Martin Bauer had observed wryly.  ‘They don’t have that many aircraft, less than we have.  Yes, their airframes are more capable but numbers do matter.  On the ground, we outnumber them three, four, five to one, perhaps and the Malvinas are big islands.  Big enough to hide away any number of grass landing strips.  So, there actually may well be ten, or twenty or for all I know, thirty of our kites in the air down there when we go in; it doesn’t matter.  Even a couple of aircraft attacking from the south will be a very nasty shock for the enemy!’ 
 
    Cesar was not the only man wanting to know how, exactly, they knew where the British fleet was going to be at dawn.  Answer came there none. 
 
    ‘The intelligence is good; we won’t be short of targets.  But remember, we are only after the carriers.  If we sink a few destroyers or transports that causes the enemy minor inconvenience.  If we sink his carriers; we win the war!’ 
 
    Five minutes after merging with the swarm of aircraft flying south-south-east at about two-hundred-and-seventy knots the first pair of Phantoms arrived. 
 
    Up ahead aircraft blew up. 
 
    In the darkness splashes of fire broke the night. 
 
    Dawn began to brighten, not yet touching the blackness of the sea directly beneath and ahead of the wings of Cesar’s A-4.  Off to his left day was fast approaching, greyly, the distant horizon hazy. 
 
    ‘BREAK!  BREAK!  BREAK!’ 
 
    Cesar had hit the throttle as he hurled the Skyhawk into a gut-wrenching diving turn to port.  After that, the madness was so intense that chronology became meaningless. 
 
    Missile tracks seared through the disintegrating chaos of the great, straggling formation and individual aircraft began to search for targets above an ocean that seemed full of ships spitting fire but strangely, apart from a handful of Phantoms chasing shadows, seemingly empty of enemy interceptors. 
 
    Cesar followed his uncle up to eight thousand feet, dropped his starboard wing and followed him down, his finger poised above the bomb release button.  He had no idea what they were attacking until, through a hole in the wispy clouds he saw the at first, tiny flight deck swinging into the cross hairs of his gun sight. 
 
    “DROP AT TWO THOUSAND FEET!” 
 
    Cesar registered this as if his uncle’s command was coming towards him from the other end of a long tunnel; an odd thought given that he was plummeting down at many times the rate of knots of an express train. 
 
    He released his bombs late, two 1000-pounders fused with a millisecond delay to allow them to penetrate the armoured decks of the English carriers.  He knew he was late in the release because he was utterly convinced that he was going to dive into the sea right up until the moment the jet pulled up.  He was so low by then that he half-suspected he was dragging his arrester hook through the crests of the waves. 
 
    That was stupid; the hook was not even in the down-landing position… 
 
    Or was it? 
 
    Despite everything else that was going on: hundreds of strangers trying very hard to kill him being not least among his distractions he checked the arrester hook status light. 
 
    Yes, the hook was UP! 
 
    The aircraft shook, the controls kicked at his hands and feet. 
 
    Why the fuck am I flying upside down? 
 
    And what’s that whistling noise… 
 
    “FUCK!  FUCK!  FUCK!” 
 
    His mother would have been ashamed of him, he was supposed to be a good Catholic boy but he reckoned that if she had been here with him in the cockpit at a time like this that she would have been swearing like a trooper too! 
 
    He touched the pedals, tested the control column. 
 
    Not a lot happened which was both good, and probably also very bad news.  Good because the aircraft had not fallen out of the sky, or nosed up, stalled or augured straight into the South Atlantic; not so good because he was still flying two-thirds inverted looking at the crests of waves that were so close that they were trying to get inside the cockpit with him and it was crystal clear that he had little, or no meaningful control over the A-4. 
 
    All this had happened in fractions of seconds. 
 
    He did not actually have time to think, let alone game the problem; either he did something now, or he was going to be having a high-speed conversation with the fishes! 
 
    He kicked the aileron, jerked the column and as an afterthought, decided to pull back on the throttle rather than be heroic on the power.  He did not dare breathe.  The Skyhawk flicked right-side up, albeit left wing low. 
 
    “CESAR!  TALK TO ME, CESAR!” 
 
    That sounded like Uncle Martin, it was hard to be sure, his ears were ringing and now he had the aircraft under control again, well, sort of, he was hurting.  His right ankle felt…wrong.  And his stick hand, his right hand was…wet.  Wet from the shoulder down, in fact… 
 
    “I COPY YOU, BLUE ONE!” 
 
    He wanted to ask what fuck had just happened. 
 
    “I THOUGHT YOU’D CRASHED INTO THAT FUCKING SHIP!” 
 
    What ship? 
 
    Suddenly, there was another Skyhawk hovering in mid-air less than a wing’s length off his right side and ahead of him. 
 
    “YOU’VE GOT SEVERAL HOLES DOWN YOUR STARBOARD FUSELAGE!  DO YOU HAVE CONTROL, CESAR?” 
 
    “YEAH, KIND OF…” 
 
    “VECTOR ZERO-SEVEN-ZERO, DO YOU COPY?” 
 
    “YES…  I COPY…” 
 
    “COPY!  CONFIRM VECTOR ZERO-SEVEN-ZERO, COPY?” 
 
    “ZERO-SEVEN-ZERO, COPY?” 
 
    “AS SOON AS YOU HIT THE COAST EJECT.  REPEAT.  AS SOON AS YOU HIT THE COAST IN ABOUT TEN MINUTES, EJECT!” 
 
    The other A-4 swung away. 
 
    And Lieutenant Cesar Luis Scarpa was alone. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 51 
 
      
 
    05:20 Hours (Local) 
 
    ARA General Belgrano, South of Isla Gran Malvina 
 
      
 
    As the eastern sky began to brighten Commodore Emilio Eduardo Massera had watched in horrified fascination as the Liverpool’s first broadside had straddled the Santissima Trinidad.  The old Cleveland class cruiser had disappeared within a forest of huge shell splashes, and although he suspected it was only some trick of the murky light, seemed to stagger as she emerged from the blizzard of flying shrapnel and the concussion of the near misses. 
 
    It had been the other ship’s captain, keen to avenge his old friend Hector Bonzo, the hero of Isla San Pedro who had forcefully made the case for his ship, Admiral Benign Varela’s Flagship, and the somewhat more modern vessel, to ‘lead the line’ against that cursed old Baltimore class heavy cruiser barring their way to the north. 
 
    ‘Most of the extra tonnage of the Santissima Trinidad is armour and greater compartmentalisation, and we both know she has the more modern fire control system.  So, she can shoot straighter and take greater punishment than the General Belgrano.  Let me lead the line!’ 
 
    There had been sound logic in it. 
 
    Varela had agonised over the decision but in the end, concurred.  Both ships had worked up to twenty-three knots, a speed the General Belgrano had not sustained for many years past and steered directly for the middle of the southern entrance to the Estrecho de San Carlos, in the process swiftly losing contact with two of their three escorting destroyers, with only the Rosario clinging onto the General Belgrano’s coat tails, gradually falling astern.  Presently, the old Fletcher was three miles astern. 
 
    The tactics were not dictated by fine calculations, less still any elegance of manoeuvring; no, rather it was ineluctable gunner’s logic.  The Liverpool’s 8-inch 55-calibre rifles could shoot Varela’s ships to pieces at a range five miles longer than the ‘reach’ of his own ships’ 6-inch 47-calibre guns and unless he could somehow, close the range to significantly less than ten miles, his shells would bounce off that old Baltimore like ping pong balls off a brick wall.  So, the only tactic available was to charge at the enemy and hope, against hope, for a miracle. 
 
    That hope had died with the Liverpool’s first fall of shot. 
 
    Normally, a captain would steer towards the fall of the last salvo; that is, alter course to throw off the aim of the enemy.  The trouble was that if the enemy had very nearly struck one with his first, ranging broadside, where was one supposed to steer next? 
 
    Massera had seen the Santissima Trinidad’s forward main battery turrets belch smoke, and automatically checked the range. 
 
    19,500 yards. 
 
    “OPEN FIRE!”  He had commanded. 
 
    Moments later the General Belgrano’s number one and number two turrets spat flame and more smoke, quickly whisked away by the wind of the ship’s passage.  Number three triple turret, directly forward of the bridge was still masked by the two other turrets.  However, the plot indicated that the Liverpool was tracking across his course from right to left and within a few seconds number three would be unmasked. 
 
    “Oh, God…”  Somebody uttered, shocked. 
 
    Massera looked at the Santissima Trinidad; she had been hit, possibly by two, or three shells.  Following about eight hundred yards behind her, what looked like pieces of debris were still falling from the sky, and something was burning in her aft superstructure.  From the sparkling string of flashes in the murk of the immediate post-dawn, he guessed that what he was seeing was 20- or 40-millimetre ammunition stored in ready lockers lighting off. 
 
    The two cruisers fired salvoes within a split second of each other; Massera’s ship’s more experienced and longer-practised turret crews re-loading faster than the Santissima Trinidad’s. 
 
    The Liverpool’s third broadside fell, mostly, long but three huge waterspouts still reared up, straddling the Flagship’s stern.  Massera’s ship fired again, and again, before the leading cruiser got off another salvo. 
 
    “Permission to shoot number three at minimum clearance, sir?” 
 
    Normally, perhaps never in fact, would the third forward triple turret conduct a shoot with its barrels aimed within a 20-degree arc of number two turret, or ‘over the shoulder’ within fifteen degrees of the bridge superstructure; the chance of incurring structural damage was acute even at the ‘limits’ set by Fleet Orders. 
 
    Massera saw the pointers were reporting an 11-degree clearance from number two turret. 
 
    “You have permission to shoot with all three forward turrets!” 
 
    The three forward turrets fired, the ship juddered for a moment and surged onward, cleaving through the swell, thrumming and vibrating. 
 
    Massera glanced at the main battery readiness board. 
 
    Number two was showing no lights. 
 
    He heard the gunnery officer talking to its turret captain. 
 
    It seemed that the concussion of the muzzle blast from number three turret had, among other things, shorted out the comms circuit and temporarily disabled its linkage to centralised, electronic firing control. 
 
    The Liverpool had turned onto a reciprocal, west-east course; masking her own, aft number three turret but not before she had launched another broadside at the Argentine cruisers, which had now closed the range to a little over eighteen thousand yards. 
 
    The Santissima Trinidad’s forward turrets vomited defiance in the very moment a deluge of 336-pound armour-piercing shells fell at supersonic terminal velocities into the sea, and onto and through her. 
 
    There was a livid, momentarily blinding flash. 
 
    Massera thought the other ship had blown up. 
 
    She had not; but a round had penetrated the 3-inch-thick cemented plate of the roof of her number three, aft main battery turret and in detonating, almost certainly ignited several 6-inch shells in the ready hoists.  The explosion had torn off the turret roof, and vented a column of orange-crimson fire – like a dreadful giant Roman candle – at least a hundred feet into the air. 
 
    “She was hit by three or four shells!” 
 
    This from a panicky lookout. 
 
    There was a big fire now amidships; this was visible because the Santissima Trinidad had veered to port and her silhouette was lengthening as she began to lose way. 
 
    “Starboard ten!”  Massera ordered calmly, so as to pass her wounded consort astern. 
 
    The General Belgrano surged past the Santissima Trinidad.  Men on the bridge and on deck needed only the briefest of glances at the other ship to know that they were alone now. 
 
    The old Cleveland class cruiser still had one shaft turning but she was visibly listing to starboard and down by the head.  Smoke was pouring from her shattered number three turret and her superstructure was just so much tangled wreckage where fires were taking hold, glowing brightly, deep in the ship as she began to circle, haemorrhaging bunker oil. 
 
    It was as the General Belgrano cleared the transom of the crippled cruiser that the next broadside fell.  One round, there were rogue shells – with some undetected flaw or fired with a sub-optimal charge – which always flew long or wide, threw up a tower of water fifty yards off the cruiser’s starboard flank. 
 
    The rest of the Liverpool’s broadside plummeted into the sea around the Santissima Trinidad.  At least two shells struck the cruiser, including another aft, somewhere in the vicinity of her ruined number three turret. 
 
    Simultaneously, there were a pair of explosions which enveloped her quarterdeck in smoke and then, from within the roiling grey cloud a blinding ball of yellow-red fire burst outward and upward, and the old cruiser blew up. 
 
    As the General Belgrano drew away all her crew could see was the Santissima Trinidad’s bow rearing out of the grey-green seas, twisting, showing her re-leaded bottom to the shocked witnesses before sliding with ever-gathering speed to her watery grave. 
 
    Massera ordered a course change to enable the General Belgrano to open up her A arc and bring all fifteen of her 6-inch guns to bear on the English cruiser. 
 
    There was an explosion, then another somewhere behind the bridge. 
 
    He hardly noticed. 
 
    “Destroyers!  Bearing zero-seven-zero relative!  Range one-three-thousand yards!” 
 
    “Broadsides!”  He commanded.  “Secondaries will engage enemy light units as they bear!” 
 
    The ship’s 5-inch 25-calibre secondary armament were really for anti-aircraft defence – or they had been thirty years ago when the ship was completed – but it would make his crew feel better to hear then popping away in between main battery broadsides. 
 
    Massera had ignored the English destroyers creeping around his flanks; he had eyes only for the that Hell ship heavy cruiser that was probably, in short order, going to be the death of him and his command. 
 
    “Engine room!  Set all telegraphs to flank speed!” 
 
    Another one or two knots was all he could hope for; and that only at the risk of shaking the old ship to pieces but he was damned if he was going to go down without a fight. 
 
    The salvo bell rang. 
 
    The ship recoiled as all fifteen of her 6-inch rifles discharged almost but not quite at the same time. 
 
    Number two turret, damaged by the concussion of Number three shooting with minimal blast clearance, was going to be firing manually for the rest of its career. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 52 
 
      
 
    05:21 Hours (Local) 
 
    SS Canberra 
 
    San Carlos Water 
 
      
 
    Two Royal Marines unceremoniously lifted Anatoly Saratov off the wounded paratrooper’s chest and a medic wearing the battledress tabs of the Scot’s Guards went to work. 
 
    Anatoly staggered backward, only to be steadied by a firm hand. 
 
    “You’re going to need to tidy yourself up, Sergeant,” Major General Sergey Fyodorovich Akhromeyev observed, releasing his grip and patting the younger man’s shoulder.  “Before you come ashore with the rest of us.” 
 
    Anatoly began to register what else was going on around him, possibly for the first time in several minutes.  There was the taint of burning in the air and in the distance, the big guns of one of the destroyers were pumping rounds at some unseen target.  Glancing past his commanding officer’s shoulder he saw a dull, rainbow slick on the water and flotsam bobbing, ships’ boats and life rafts, two big landing craft holding position approximately where he had seen the destroyer hit. 
 
    She must have sunk… 
 
    A wisp of smoke was rising from somewhere beneath the bridgehouse of a storeship anchored nearby – the Bacchus, pennant number A404 clearly visible on her stern – as the liner glided, at a crawl deeper into the anchorage. 
 
    He looked down at himself. 
 
    He was covered in blood. 
 
    “Is any of that your’s?” Akhromeyev inquired, frowning. 
 
    “I don’t think so, sir.” 
 
    “Get yourself sorted out.  We’re getting off this vodka palace as soon as we can, Anatoly!” 
 
    The ship was oddly quiet, all was deathly calm below decks, unnaturally so.  Anatoly was stripping off his bloodied uniform when one of the Vindrey Commando’s medical orderly stuck his head around the hatch combing. 
 
    “I’m to check you over, Sarge,” he said.  His tone suggested ‘whether you like it or not’ so Anatoly submitted. 
 
    “I’m going to have to put a couple of stitches into those nicks behind your shoulder,” the other man apologised, matter-of-factly.  “Hold still, I can see something shiny in that wound over your ear.” 
 
    Okay, that explained where the blood in his eyes had been coming from! 
 
    He hardly felt the sliver of metal being tweezered out of his flesh; and stinking like a hospital ward some thirty minutes later, his head bandaged and his various ‘nicks’ and ‘scratches’ sewed-up, Anatoly reported to Akhromeyev in his unbloodied, second battledress rig.  He had felt horribly guilty not being at his chief’s side while the Commando was preparing to disembark.  The medics had thought Anatoly was concussed, still in shock but he had protested that he was perfectly okay so, they had handed him a small bottle of aspirins and washed their hands of him. 
 
    “There’s a bloody big bomb rolling about in the crew mess room about twenty feet below us!”  Akhromeyev explained cheerfully, trying hard but failing to conceal his relief that his secretary really was still, more or less, in one piece. 
 
    For his part, Anatoly was in two minds as to whether he wanted or needed to know that there was an unexploded bomb beneath his feet! 
 
    The ship reverberated minutely under their feet as one of her forward anchors was released and the chain ran out through the hawse hole.  Two hundred yards away to the east the twelve-thousand-ton assault ship, HMS Intrepid swung around her chains, her stern landing dock flooded down with clumsy, flat-bottomed landing craft and ugly motorised pontoons coming and going.  A Wessex V helicopter squatted on her flight deck, surrounded by men wrestling with a broad net. 
 
    Anatoly could not tell if it was smoke or mist that shrouded the far corners of the inlet which was a lot narrow, particularly in the south, than he had imagined it to be.  He had also expected the hills around it to be, well, taller.  The Green Mountains were around a thousand feet high but in the west, the land could not have been more than two or three hundred feet. 
 
    “Change of plan,” Akhromeyev told him.  He half-turned and gestured to the north.  “They want us to march straight off the beach to Green Three, that’s the sector east of Cerro Montevideo, where we’ll set up a CP and develop a battalion perimeter north and east of the San Carlos River’s valley.  Once we go ashore, I’ll be running around like a blue-arsed fly,” he went on, speaking English like a native, casually idiomatic like the British officers he had dealt with every day for the last two years, with as time went by, less and less of a Russian accent.  “So, normal exercise drill.  If I’m not about, make sure the adjutant and the other company commanders know what’s expected of them.” 
 
    Anecdotally, jokingly he hoped, the Commando’s officers sometimes referred to Anatoly as the ‘second-in-command’ which he found to be hugely embarrassing, especially as until OPERATION SOMERVILLE had come along and the Vindrey Commando had been mobilised for deployment in the South Atlantic, all and sundry had assumed that he was just a supernumerary desk trooper.  Gratifyingly, once it had been decided that he would be coming with the Commando, the verbal sniping at least, had ceased. 
 
    Sergey Akhromeyev was in a sunny mood. 
 
    “God, I’ve missed this!”  He sighed.  “Haven’t you, Anatoly?” 
 
    Guiltily, the younger man confessed: “Yes, just a little, boss.”  He grimaced.  “But please don’t ever tell my wife.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 53 
 
      
 
    05:25 Hours (Local) 
 
    CIC, HMS Ark Royal 
 
    North of West Falkland 
 
      
 
    It was only after Vice Admiral Henry Conyers Leach had picked himself up from the deck, patted himself down and concluding that he was still, very much in one piece, that he had seriously begun to contemplate just how bad things were. 
 
    The lights had gone out after that first explosion, which had been somewhere near the great ship’s stern judging by the way the whole carrier, all fifty thousand tons of her had seemed to whip up and down.  Then there had been a second, ear-splitting crash and all the electronics had blinked off line, died and the ship had lurched, sidelong, and settled with a slight list to port.  There had been other bangs, sounds like a giant swinging a hammer against the hull and soon afterwards, choking smoke had begun to fill the CIC. 
 
    The emergency lighting had come back on, dull, like dusk because from the crunching underfoot many of the light bulbs had been smashed by concussion.  By then the ship was listing at least five degrees and felt…different.  She had almost lost way and was turning, possibly out of control. 
 
    “You need to get out of here, sir!” 
 
    Leach blinked at the Ark Royal’s Principal Warfare Officer. 
 
    “Nobody’s commanding the ship, or anything else from down here for the foreseeable future, sir!” 
 
    There was a groan of metal and a hatch was crow-barred forced open just wide enough for a man to squeeze through.  It soon transpired that the aft bulkhead and the armoured deck above the CIC was also deformed, squeezing and bending the aft hatches immovably in place.  CINCSATF could only wonder at the forces which had done that… 
 
    So, with a little assistance from younger, spritelier men the Commander of the South Atlantic Task Force had clambered through several smoky, chaotic passageways and up several decks before eventually – time was telescoping and elongating in the shock of the moment - emerging onto the flight deck to be greeted with a scene straight out of Dante’s Inferno. 
 
    There was a huge fire burning aft, flames were spurting out of a gaping hole in the deck where the stern elevator pit had once been, and smoke was rising in a mile-high pillar of doom into the grey skies. 
 
    “There were at least two bombs aft!  Thousand-pounders, we think!”  He was told, his companion having to virtually shout in his ear to be heard above the roaring of the fires and the rattle, boom and crack of gunfire.  The staccato thumping of 40-millimetre cannons filled the air… 
 
    “We had eleven Phantoms and eight Buccaneers and two of our helicopters in the air when we were hit the first time,” the other man reported breathlessly. 
 
    Henry Leach would have despaired; had that been remotely helpful to man or beast but of course, it was not.  So, he drew some small satisfaction that the carrier’s air group would soon be meting out revenge in kind, hopefully with interest, upon the Argentine carriers. 
 
    “We took another couple of hits forward!” 
 
    This was news to Leach but he comforted himself with the thought that this, at least, possibly explained the ship’s list to port. 
 
    “One bomb went off between the hull and the hangar deck near the island, that jammed the forward elevator and another went through the bow and exploded in the water.  Actually, that might have been a torpedo, some reports mention that…” 
 
    There was another explosion at the stern, the ship juddered and felt even deader in the water than before, pitching and rolling slowly, lifelessly. 
 
    “Anyway, that’s the hit that’s causing all the flooding.  Something obviously punched a big hole in the side of the ship, sprung several plates, or maybe, twisted the keel off centre somewhere around frames twelve to fifteen…” 
 
    There was another, bigger explosion and Leach discovered himself face down on the deck. 
 
    He tried to get up but a shielding body pressed him down. 
 
    At least two men had bundled him to the cold, unyielding steel of the flight deck. 
 
    There was another detonation, and another. 
 
    Shrapnel, rubber and asbestos showered down. 
 
    “Fuck!”  A man nearby groaned.  “That must have been the aft AVGAS main…” 
 
    Another man yelled in Henry Leach’s ear. 
 
    “We’ve got to get off the deck, sir!” 
 
    It was as Leach was lifted to his feet and carried, his feet hardly touching the deck, towards the apparently, still intact island superstructure that he glimpsed the Leander class frigate manoeuvring purposefully alongside his mortally wounded flagship.  
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 54 
 
      
 
    05:27 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Naiad 
 
      
 
    Commander Alan Hannay had pulled on his hard hat and gone out onto the frigate’s starboard bridge wing to better judge the distance between the Leander class frigate’s fragile hull and the burning aircraft carrier.  He tried not to think about those desperate hours in the spring of 1964, when on his first time at sea on board the Talavera – in those days in the capacity of her purser and supply officer, to all intents, clueless as a deck officer and a million miles from earning his precious watchkeeper’s certificate – when Peter Christopher had conned the old destroyer under the USS Enterprise’s stern… 
 
    That was then, this was now. 
 
    With a sick feeling in his stomach, he knew that this was different.  The Enterprise had had a flight deck fire; the Ark Royal was burning deep in her vitals and down by the head and throughout those desperate hours back in 1964, the huge US carrier had never lost way. 
 
    He ducked as the latest explosion threw debris high in the air and it rained down around him.  Detritus clunked and scraped down on the compass platform roof. 
 
    Through the smoke he glimpsed the Devonshire, the big County class destroyer had just cleared her Terrier rails again and thankfully, seemed undamaged.  Devonshire had been with Talavera that day off Cape Finisterre, almost sunk like the old Battle class destroyer; but that was long before Alan Hannay had met Peter or been posted as his father’s flag lieutenant on the day that he was sent to take command at Malta… 
 
    Concentrate man! 
 
    “Get to work with the fire hoses as soon as the fire main comes on line!”  He shouted above the thunder of the flames and the rattle of gunfire, which was seemingly coming at him from every point of the compass. 
 
    Or was that just noise, fear in my head? 
 
    He happened to glance to the west; where another pillar of fire was drifting from a ship lost in the post-dawn haze.  Overhead jet engines screamed. 
 
    “We have the Ark on TBS, sir!” 
 
    Alan stepped back into the bridge and took the handset. 
 
    “Naiad stands ready to assist you…” 
 
    “I’ve already told Devonshire to stand off, old man,” he was warned, affably, by the carrier’s Executive Officer.  “One of those bloody bombs went off in the port turbine room.  That last explosion was one of our AVGAS tanks lighting off.  We should be okay for a while so long as we’ve got steam for the pumps but be aware I might have to warn you off too!” 
 
    Naiad was forced to widen the gap between the ships within minutes as the Ark Royal began to drift, lolling increasingly water-logged in the troughs of the waves, rolling slowly, leadenly in a spreading pool of her own, haemorrhaging bunker oil, as her fires began to creep forward. 
 
    Alan Hannay felt sick. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 55 
 
      
 
    05:29 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Liverpool, South of Falkland Sound 
 
      
 
    The handful of salvoes the Santissima Trinidad had fired at the Liverpool had landed not so much in boxes but in broad, ill-defined circles between five hundred and a thousand yards, generally ahead of the Liverpool.  This spoke to poor director control and unaligned main battery rifles; that is, guns not finely adjusted to shoot along exactly the same bearing as the one next to it, a basic tenet of naval gunnery.  In contrast, the General Belgrano’s first broadside was relatively speaking, tightly grouped, albeit long. 
 
    Liverpool’s second broadside had scored a hit; so, did her third.  Visibility was clearing but only patchily, forcing range correction by radar rather than line of sight. 
 
    ‘This is the Captain,’ Peter Christopher had announced after the Santissima Trinidad had blown up and the Liverpool had launched her first broadside at the second Argentine cruiser.  “The leading enemy cruiser has been destroyed by a large explosion.  We are shifting our fire to its companion, which we believe to be the General Belgrano.  That is all.’ 
 
    He hardly recognised his own voice. 
 
    The old Argentine cruiser was shooting three broadsides to the Liverpool’s two, her fall of shot less concentrated than would have been acceptable to any Royal Navy man back in the day; otherwise, significantly better directed than that of her sunken partner. 
 
    A few minutes into the ship-to-ship duel, two shells struck the Liverpool, their impacts immediately drowned out by the cruiser’s next broadside.  Damage reports came in.  A hit on the armoured belt amidships, another just forward of ‘C’ main battery turret. 
 
    The Argentine cruiser was fighting like a lioness at bay. 
 
    There was a hit forward, nearer the bow than the forward main battery turret that the old Baltimore class cruiser shook off like a heavyweight momentarily stung by a middleweight’s long-range jab. 
 
    There were fires burning on the General Belgrano, she was making smoke as she turned to expose the length of her port side to her tormentor. 
 
    The Plymouth and the Corunna had swiftly closed the range to less than twelve thousand yards and the splashes of their cannonade pursued the General Belgrano as she steadied onto her new course, steaming at a west-east diagonal to the Liverpool’s track. 
 
    “PORT TEN!  MAKE YOUR COURSE ZERO-NINE-ZERO MAGNETIC!” 
 
    Peter planned to force the General Belgrano to turn again as the range shortened or risk having the Liverpool cross her T anew.  He suspected he was over-complicating matters; sooner or later an 8-inch round was going to knife down into the old Argentine cruiser and hit something vital… 
 
    The General Belgrano’s next broadside arrived. 
 
    There was a flash of fire forward, the Liverpool surged ahead but Peter saw that A Turret had stopped tracking the target.  The main battery readiness board was still showing greens… 
 
    “That was a hit on the turret roof, sir!” 
 
    There was 8-inch-thick plate on the face of the three main battery turrets, and between five and two inches on the sides and roof.  The other to turrets belched fire, still A turret did not move, fixedly traversed nearly ninety degrees to port. 
 
    “The target is slowing, sir!” 
 
    And then another report: “A Turret took a direct hit.  No casualties.  Checking drive train…  Electrical failures…” 
 
    Peter glanced at the SPS 43 repeater. 
 
    The Liverpool’s last, six-gun salvo was arrowing towards the target and in a moment, the trace lines intersected with the damaged Argentine cruiser.  His two Fletchers, Inverness and Dunfermline were both shooting now, like Plymouth and Corunna rapidly closing the range.  Other than the General Belgrano there was only one other threatening contact on the plot; probably the Argentine destroyer Espora, another old Fletcher class hull, lagging too far behind the General Belgrano to draw fire from the burning cruiser, or to engage any of her tormentors. 
 
    Liverpool launched another six-gun salvo. 
 
    The General Belgrano was virtually stopped in the water. 
 
    Peter moved to the comms board and toggled Number One (scrambled) TBS Circuit to ‘Plain Talk’. 
 
    “This is Liverpool to all ships.  Cease fire.  Cease Fire.  Hold your positions but do not fire unless fired upon.” 
 
    In the following seconds each of his captains came over the circuit and acknowledged the command. 
 
    “CIC, put me on your best guess for the ARA’s TBS hailing frequency,” Peter requested, ignoring the thoughtful looks he was getting from several of the other officers on the bridge. 
 
    In the meantime, A Turret was reported as being fully operational. 
 
    “Thank you,” the cruiser’s commanding officer acknowledged tersely. 
 
    “We are intercepting the ARA TBS, sir!” 
 
    A nod and then he was speaking: “This is Captain Peter Christopher, please copy if you are hearing this!” 
 
    He tried again, this time in Spanish. 
 
    “Este es el Capitán Peter Christopher, por favor copie si está escuchando esto!” 
 
    He listened to the static. 
 
    He was on the verge of demanding a switch of frequency – which was precipitate because he knew Liverpool’s CIC would have been closely monitoring the ARA’s local inter-ship communications and had simply tuned the scrambler circuit into that VHF frequency – when a man spoke in heavily accented English. 
 
    “This is Commander Roberto Mabragana,” the man said with weary defiance, adding: “Espora.” 
 
    “There will be many of your comrades in the water.  The General Belgrano is very hard hit.  My ships will not fire on you if you do not fire on them.  The battle is over.  Now is the time to save what lives we may…” 
 
    CIC was updating the plot. 
 
    “Corunna reports the General Belgrano is stopped in the water, with many fires and down by the stern!” 
 
    “I will not surrender, sir!”  Commander Mabragana declared defiantly. 
 
    Peter felt unutterably weary. 
 
    “I don’t want your bloody surrender, sir!  All I ask is your word of honour that you will not fire on my ships during the rescue operation…” 
 
    It was at that moment the General Belgrano fired a three-gun salvo at the Liverpool. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 56 
 
      
 
    08:30 Hours (GMT) 05:30 Hours (Local) 
 
    Situation Room, Government Compound 
 
    Headington Quarry, Oxford 
 
      
 
    The implausible nightmare scenario that Commander-in-Chief Fleet, Admiral Sir Nigel Grenville had been living with in recent days had just come to pass.  This he knew in his heart even if, in the way of such unmitigated disasters, the true magnitude of the calamity would not perhaps, be fully understood in detail for many hours, or even days. 
 
    It was no solace whatsoever to know, without a scintilla of doubt, that this had not needed to happen, or that nor would it have happened at all but for political bungling and interference at the highest level.  The Navy had been betrayed; sent into harm’s way with one set of rules of engagement and then told that in lieu of lethal force it was initially, to defend itself with little more than…stern words! 
 
    It was enough to make any old sea dog spit with rage. 
 
    And he was pretty much the Royal Navy’s oldest, saltiest sea dog who had just been informed that the Prime Minister planned to visit HMS Drakelow!  Presumably, to wring her hands over the bodies of the men she had sent to their deaths this morning! 
 
    “Honestly, Nigel,’ the First Sea Lord and a friend of over thirty years standing replied, notifying him of the Prime Minister’s intentions, ‘I haven’t a clue what the Lady has in her mind at the moment.’ 
 
    “I don’t want that bloody woman anywhere near me right now, Peter,” Grenville fulminated.  He had removed himself to his office and shut the door behind him to take the First Sea Lord’s call.  His people might guess his mood from the dark look on his face but this was a conversation neither man wanted overheard.  “A lot of our people will have been killed and wounded today,” he said grimly, “and you and I, an Uncle Tom Cobbly and all, know it did not need to happen.  Frankly, I can’t answer for the way my people would welcome her, not today, not at least until the dust has settled.  If you don’t want to tell her, I will, Peter.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord allowed his friend a few seconds to recompose himself.  He knew that Fleet HQ would be functioning as normal, that elsewhere in the warren of tunnels men and women would be working quietly, urgently updating the wall boards and the big battlespace map at the heart of the complex. 
 
    It was too early to know exactly how bad the situation in the South Atlantic was; but intuitively, Peter Hill Norton and Nigel Grenville knew that when a fuller picture emerged, it was going to be very, very ugly. 
 
    Henry Leach had played the game by the letter of the rules; the rules inflicted upon the Task Force by his own Government – forget whatever hand grenade the Americans had thrown into the pot in recent days, the fault belonged to politicians in Oxford, not Washington DC – and it now seemed likely that the enemy had thrown, or was in the process of throwing everything but the kitchen sink at the South Atlantic Task Force.  If the garbled reports of aircraft suddenly emerging ‘from nowhere’ to attack ships anchored in San Carlos Water were to be believed, the Argentines had even managed to hide away attack aircraft on the archipelago, for goodness’ sake! 
 
    The list of ships hit lengthened every minute… 
 
    “Nigel, old man,” the First Sea Lord sighed, “you know I can’t stop the Lady visiting Drakelow.” 
 
    “Yes, dammit!” 
 
    The call ended. 
 
    Nobody could pretend that they had not known they were riding for a fall; the Chiefs of Staff had made no bones about it to the Prime Minister. 
 
    Judging from her stridency, she had regarded them as just so many ‘wets’, although obviously, she had not said so much to their faces in the fashion she often berated ‘back-sliders’ and ‘faint hearts’ in Parliament. 
 
    Peter Hill Norton had exchanged notes with Dan French, the Chief of the Air Staff, recently returned from DC where he had been doing what could be done to pour oil on troubled waters with the Pentagon.  They had discussed what else the Argentine Air Force might still have in its locker, purely, they imagined as a thought exercise late last night. 
 
    Dan French had speculated about a situation in which every available A-4 Skyhawk might be rushed to sea, but had ruled out the carrier operation of the FAA’s F-86 Sabres. 
 
    ‘Stall speed too high, and their under-carriages are too fragile but those kites could easily reach Stanley with drop tanks; that said, I doubt if they could reach West Falkland with enough fuel to loiter if they wanted to get back to the mainland.  I can see a T-28 Trojan operating off a reasonably flat grass strip; not an F4U Corsair but then my suicidal days are long gone!  Now, the FAA did have twenty or thirty old Lincolns, improved Lancasters at one time…my understanding was that they’d all gone into reserve, or mothballs or been scrapped around 1965.  Conceivably, some of them might be pressed back into service; granted, their Merlins would all be time-expired by now and they’d be easy meat for a fast jet whether by day or night.  So, we can probably forget about them.  Basically, apart from a handful of C47s or a couple of turboprop airliners I doubt if the FAA has anything which can actually fly to the Falklands, operate over, and return home.  But if they’ve parked every serviceable attack aircraft including Skyraiders and Avenger torpedo bombers, and a gang of Skyhawks on those two old carriers, that might be a serious problem if we’re talking about sixty, seventy or eighty aircraft.  Of course, once they’ve committed their whole front-line strength that’s that; they’ve well and truly shot their bolt…’ 
 
    Peter Hill Norton crashed out of his introspection when the Prime Minister and the Secretary of Defence entered the Situation Room.  If he had expected the Lady to be dishevelled or in any way despondent, he was rudely disabused of that notion. 
 
    “What’s going on?  I need to know how bad this is before I leave for Drakelow,” Margaret Thatcher demanded peremptorily. 
 
    The First Sea Lord had risen to his feet. 
 
    “The situation remains confused.  Our people are fighting a major engagement over hundreds of square miles of sea and land, Prime Minister,” he prefaced, refusing to hurried.  “However, I will share what we know so far.  The Liverpool and her escorts engaged an Argentine squadron including two cruisers of the entrance to Falkland Sound, one of which has blown up,” Peter Hill Norton explained, holding the message flimsy confirming the same.  “The situation in San Carlos Water is confused.  Several ships, including the Canberra have been attacked and damaged.  There are reports that HMS Leith, a destroyer, may have been sunk.  I have no further information to hand about those attacks.” 
 
    He took a deep breath. 
 
    “North of the Falklands, the situation is confused and heavy fighting may still be going on.  All we know for certain is the fleet has been attacked by several dozen Argentine war planes.  The Ark Royal has been hit, as have at least two other vessels but we have no indications of what damage they may have suffered at this time; reports are coming in every few seconds.  I have no information about retaliatory operations against units of the Argentine Navy, although I am confident that they will be ongoing at this time, Prime Minister.” 
 
    The Prime Minister was staring at him. 
 
    “The Ark Royal has been damaged?” 
 
    “We believe so.”  The First Sea Lord met Margaret Thatcher’s steely blue stare.  “As I say, we have been attacked.  Many of our people will have been killed and wounded.  Now, I suggest, is the time to allow our submarines to protect what remains of the South Atlantic Task Force, Prime Minister.” 
 
    The woman glared at him. 
 
    The First Sea Lord was unblinking: “HMS Churchill has the cruisers Nuevo de Julio and the Hercules, in her sights as we speak, Prime Minister.  Likewise, Valiant has the enemy carriers under surveillance…” 
 
    “Only because Flag Officer Submarines disobeyed orders, First Sea Lord!”  Margaret Thatcher railed angrily. 
 
    There was no denying that. 
 
    So, Peter Hill Norton did not. 
 
    Instead, he observed: “Quite so, Prime Minister.  Now, if we may return to the matter under discussion…” 
 
    “No, we may not!  How on earth did the Argentines manage to surprise us when we had them under observation at all times?” 
 
    It was the moment all trust disintegrated. 
 
    Peter Hill Norton said nothing. 
 
    Neither did the Lady, or Ian Gilmour, her Secretary of State for Defence listening, watching in despair; his role that of a man who is helplessly watching a slow-motion car crash. 
 
    The First Sea Lord’s face was as black as thunder and everybody around the trio in the Situation Room was pretending to be working.  The silence was draining, oppressive. 
 
    The First Sea Lord knew he ought to be preoccupied with the flapping ears all around him but actually, he was beyond that.  The contract had always been that if a task force was sent to the South Atlantic that military considerations alone would determine its operations.  OPERATION SOMERVILLE had been viable under those rules of engagement, and even in the event of something happening along the lines of today’s all-out Argentine attack, that ought to have ensured that casualties would have been minimised.  However, the Government had gratuitously reneged on its side of the contract and that if the three Chiefs of Staff felt themselves to have been betrayed, that many of the men fighting and dying eight thousand miles away felt exactly the same way about it. 
 
    The point had been reached where the Lady was on the razor edge of issuing demands, giving orders to the armed services which she ought, in any rational world, know might not be obeyed.  Any officer worth his salt knew that when one reached that sad pass, one was really no longer up to the job. 
 
    The First Sea Lord stood tall. 
 
    “My advice to you in this matter, since the Spring has been unambiguous, Prime Minister.  In respect of recent events; again, my advice to you was framed in such a way that it would not later be possible to reasonably misconstrue it.  Had the Task Force been permitted the freedom of action envisaged in the planning and mounting of OPERATION SOMERVILLE, and allowed to continue to operate under the previously agreed rules of engagement we would not, regrettably, be in the situation we now find ourselves.  That, Prime Minister, is the reason why we find ourselves,” he took a deep breath, “where we are now.  That we are having this conversation,” he looked around, “in the presence of so many other persons, indicates to me that you have lost confidence in me.  Therefore, should you so request it, I will consider myself dutybound to tender my resignation.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 57 
 
      
 
    05:31 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Bulwark 
 
    Foul Bay, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    Out in the northern approaches to Falkland Sound the thin grey gun line of frigates and destroyers had repelled several of the singleton Argentine aircraft which had straggled towards the commando carrier, or attempted to reach San Carlos Water.  However, three aircraft had made attack runs on the Bulwark, each at low-level, two F4U Corsairs and an F-28 Trojan, dropping bombs short which, unnervingly, had skipped onwards towards Bulwark’s starboard flank. 
 
    One bomb had struck the hull at an acute angle and disappeared, inert into the dark water in the vicinity of Bulwark’s stern.  Another had clanged against her thinly armoured waterline without exploding and another, a 500-pounder, had ended up lodged in the Petty Officers’ heads, again without detonating. 
 
    Miraculously, there were no reports of casualties. 
 
    The battle was over, at least for the moment. 
 
    There were only a few aircraft on the air search plot; the majority of those from the Ark Royal, like their Argentine foes, with nowhere to land.  A few of the enemy aircraft had flown to the west when they disengaged, including several of the fast jet contacts responsible for splitting the Ark Royal’s CAP’s attention at the critical moment, otherwise enemy aircraft had flown south, disappearing off the radars as they sought emergency landing fields, or their pilots baled out over West Falkland. 
 
    Rear Admiral David Penberthy had never entertained any illusions about how quickly bad things happened at sea; nevertheless, privately he was as shocked as the men around him on the Bulwark’s bridge that morning.  However, underlying his shock, which was really grief, sadness for all the good men who had died that morning more than fear, or even alarm, was another, colder, calculating impulse.  He was thinking not just about the terrible wounds inflicted on the Task Force but the cost being exacted from the enemy. 
 
    There were still nine Phantoms and six Buccaneers in play, the former with 250-pound bombs, rocket pods and 30-millimetre Aden cannon sung beneath their noses; the latter with 1000- and 2000-pound bombs in their bellies, and 500-pounders under each wing.  Those Argentine carriers had no CAP, and had left their escorts trailing up to thirty miles astern as they turned to run for the mainland.  As to the two cruisers, out there somewhere to the north, perhaps he ought to have given them another thought but if they had ever been in play, well, they would already be offshore.  Intent, strength of purpose was everything in combat and raw courage, and nationalistic fervour simply did not of themselves, cut it. 
 
    Up until the last hour or so, things had been going deceptively well.  It had all been too easy. 
 
    Henry Leach and he had known how vulnerable the altered rules of engagement and the absence of the SSNs and yet they had carried on regardless.  Penberthy knew that Leach – if he was still alive – would be feeling as guilty, if guilt was the right word, as he was about… 
 
    What? 
 
    The betrayal had been political, none of their doing; this time around the stab in the back had not been by the Americans, they had said all along what they would and could not live with; but by their own Government in Oxford who had ploughed ahead, blithely acceded to the Chiefs of Staffs’ conditions for embarking on the South Atlantic adventure and now…for whatever reason, possibly because things had been going so well, demanded that the war continue despite the changed political landscape.  Not a man given to bouts of emotion, to highs and lows of mood and as he got older, harder than ever to be surprised, David Penberthy was angry. 
 
    Fighting mad. 
 
    He was so angry it was some moments before he realised somebody had spoken to him. 
 
    The collision bell was clanging. 
 
    “Fast jet incoming!” 
 
    Having briefly fallen silent, the gunline out to sea was shooting again.  One of the ship’s two or three miles out to sea was talking over the Assault Force TBS. 
 
    “SKYHAWK LEVEL ONE-FIVE LOW!” 
 
    “VECTOR ZERO-SEVEN-FIVE…SMOKING!” 
 
    A single A-4, possibly on fire… 
 
    “I see him!” 
 
    Penberthy glimpsed the Argentine jet.  The singleton was coming directly for the Bulwark.  Machine guns were hammering away.  The aircraft was dragging a thickening trail of grey smoke across the sky and its engine sounded…somehow manic, screeching, its whistling pulse ragged. 
 
    It thundered so low over the stern that men threw themselves to the deck, then the Skyhawk was gone, one wing low hurtling towards the rocky coast of East Falkland pursued by every gun that could be brought to bear, punching a hole through air pocked with explosions and in a moment, it disappeared from sight. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 58 
 
      
 
    05:39 Hours (Local) 
 
    ARA Veinticinco de Mayo 
 
      
 
    Three Skyhawks and four F86 Sabres had circled protectively over the two carriers as they waited for the inevitable counter-strike.  Juan Bonham-Garcia thought it was the bravest thing he had ever seen in his life; the men in those aircraft knew they were not landing back on either the Indepencia II or the Veinticinco de Mayo and they had to be running low on gas.  Soon, they would be too far from the Malvinas to even eject over land. 
 
    He could hardly bear to watch as missile trails from the first two enemy F-4 Phantom IIs smoked across the sky and dashed three of the carriers’ protectors out of the sky in a single pass.  The rest went down within a minute as more Phantoms fell upon the survivors. 
 
    After that everything happened at a thousand miles an hour, as if they were all living in a fever dream.  Later Juan would recollect the ruthless, brutal efficiency with which the Phantoms and Buccaneers destroyed the two old carriers but at the time everything went to Hell in what seemed like a blink of the eye. 
 
    The English went for the Indepencia II first. 
 
    The carrier was suddenly steaming through great columns of oddly black water – a trick of the early morning light – with huge, fiery explosions erupting from her deck.  Somehow, she steamed out of the maelstrom; only to be set upon by more aircraft.  The scream of jet engines carried across the three miles separating the two sisters, as did the drumroll of detonations like distant thunder, walking across the waves like the footsteps of angry giants. 
 
    Captain Herrera threw the Veinticinco into a turn to the east, her guns, fully-manned unlike those on the Indepencia II began to blaze away, her 5-inch dual purpose gun houses barking every four to five seconds, her 40-millimetre cannons thumping, pumping rounds into space, and her 20-millemetre mounts spitting and sawing in an initial burst of defiance as four British Buccaneer strike aircraft fell on the flagship. 
 
    Juan and his LDSO team, with nothing to do other than mourn the pilots they had seen off that morning had set up a 50-calibre machine gun on a tripod mount in their sponson at the stern.  They fired a short burst at a Phantom – without visible effect – which was scorching in impossibly fast from astern to strafe the length of the flight deck with its 30-millimetre Aden cannon. 
 
    There was an explosion somewhere nearby. 
 
    Two of Juan’s people were no longer there, they were just…gone when he tried to pick himself up from the deck and saw that another man was wounded.  He rolled onto his back as two bombs, each looking like they were far too enormous to be carried by any aircraft – but were probably only 2000- or 1000-pounders – whistled down.  He shut his eyes, thinking they were falling on his head, felt and heard the heart-stopping, jarring THUD as they struck the ship. 
 
    Then nothing happened. 
 
    Well, not for what seemed like several seconds. 
 
    Then the whole stern of the great ship heaved and the air was filled with splintered wood and tortured, twisted metal and smoke…so much choking, impenetrable smoke. 
 
    Down deep in the ship there was a dreadful grinding, disintegrating series of detonations, and suddenly the whole ship was juddering as if the Veinticinco de Mayo was tearing herself apart. 
 
    Some shocked, concussed part of Juan’s consciousness guess that one of those big bombs must have carved through the carrier’s unarmoured flight deck, through the 2.5-inch thick hangar deck plating and possibly, the 1.5-inch protection above the machinery spaces; what he was hearing, and feeling, was one or more of the ship’s Westinghouse geared turbines – running at maximum power only moments before – tearing itself to pieces and its two-hundred feet-long shaft, still spinning at over two hundred revolutions a minute thrashing about inside the hull… 
 
    He knew he was listening to the Veinticinco de Mayo’s death rattle. 
 
    “We’ve got to get out of here!”  Somebody screamed in his face. 
 
    He blinked uncomprehendingly. 
 
    “If we stay, we’re going to be burned alive!” 
 
    Juan had no idea if all the blood on his arms was his. 
 
    The last thing he remembered before he passed out was wondering if anybody had let Adolfo Griezmann out of the carrier’s brig… 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 59 
 
      
 
    05:41 Hours (Local) 
 
    Camilla Creek, Isla Soledad 
 
      
 
    One, perhaps two English ships out in the Estrecho de San Carlos had begun lobbing shells onto the two 9th Regiment platoons holding the ridge line east of Sussex Mountain about an hour before dawn.  Soon afterwards, contact had been lost with them as the 1st Assault Company of the 107th Combat Engineering Battalion slogged out of the lines north of Darwin. 
 
    Lieutenant Colonel Leopoldo Galtieri’s cup, metaphorically, was running over by then.  One delay after another had put back H-Hour for his spoiling probe north of the Darwin-Verde de Ganso Sector, and then a temporary hold order had been received from MLFG HQ before the scheduled ‘off’ just after dusk last night.  So, by the time his boys had finally got moving any possibility of surprising the English, slim at the best, in the darkness was gone.  Worse, his whole force was going to have to move, in column, in broad daylight if it was going to get anywhere near to a jumping off point from which to attack the enemy that coming night. 
 
    As for co-ordinating his ‘probe’ with the promised Navy and Air Force ‘big effort’; his attitude had been that ‘I’ll believe it when I see it!’ 
 
    Moreover, he had been appalled when he discovered that the ground attack aircraft he had been relying on for support when he got ‘up close and personal with the enemy’ were to participate in the coming ‘spectacular’, not his little sideshow.  He took it as read the English would be bound to shoot most of them down and that those which survived would probably crash attempting to land on one or other of the short, bumpy grass airstrips around the archipelago. 
 
    Galtieri had not expected the air to be full of aircraft, at least one or two of which had attacked those bloody ships out in the Sound, or to hear the prolonged drumroll of big explosions and gunfire booming through the gusting south-westerly wind as daybreak began to lighten the Camp around him, and he marched north. 
 
    His forward scouts, moving along the coast, had not been able to confirm if the aircraft had sunk the ship out in the Sound.  There was a lot of smoke and it might just have withdrawn into more sheltered waters. 
 
    He was going to have to let his boys in on the big secret, that OPERATION RIVADAVIA had been a serious attempt to halt the invasion in its tracks.  They would have heard the aircraft taking off from Verde de Ganso, the distant screeching of jet engines, some of them would have seen, or listened to that A-4 Skyhawk which had crashed somewhere on the western side of Cantera Mountain a few miles to the east. 
 
    Galtieri scanned the distant Estrecho de San Carlos.  He guessed the haze was mist, not smoke, blown up the sound by the wind.  He thought he glimpsed the silhouette of a British destroyer manoeuvring slowly in the distance, emerging from Grantham Sound, sliding into and through patches of the slowly dispersing, lifting haar.  He felt naked as the low, watery sun began to cast long shadows across his line of march between the high ground to his right and the water to his left.  His men, burdened like pack animals with all the equipment and ammunition that would normally be transported by wheeled or half-tracked vehicles, were making tortuously slow progress and understandably, immediately went to ground every time they imagined they heard an aircraft or the crack of a distant rifle. 
 
    He had known the ground was bad, just not that it was all but impossible.  Galtieri’s mood darkened by the minute knowing that even as his force bogged down, Hugo Bonham-Garcia’s Marines would be marching in good order along the North Camp Road from Teal Inlet, planning to move onto a jumping off line at the head of the San Carlos River that night.  It was maddening that his planned spoiling assault on the enemy perimeter east of the Sussex Mountains might not happen in time. 
 
    He halted, squinted through the haze at the English ship lurking at the distant edge of Grantham Sound at the very moment her guns belched smokily.  He stared, hesitating a moment, expecting to hear the discharge of her rifles rolling across the water. 
 
    “DOWN!”  Screamed a man nearby. 
 
    Galtieri went down, shielding his ears and opening his mouth. 
 
    He thought he heard the whistling passage of the incoming rounds, possibly that was only in his head.  The shells were coming in at supersonic speeds, ahead of their sound waves. 
 
    The earth convulsed, pulverised peat and shrapnel rained down.  Every man in the advanced column stayed low, knowing there would be several more salvoes before the destroyer paused to assimilate reports and if necessary, to adjust her range.  Each four-round salvo moved south by a degree. 
 
    OPERATION RIVADAVIA must have failed. 
 
    Galtieri and his men were eating the dirt, the English must have taken the ridge line to the east overnight and that ship out in the Sound was still on station.  There were still one or two propellor aircraft in the sky, circling to the north but what had happened to the other planes hidden away at Goose Green and elsewhere around the archipelago?  Were they all gone?  Shot down? 
 
    The next salvo fell, this time some hundreds of yards to the south, targeting the rear of the column. 
 
    “EVERYBODY STAY DOWN!” 
 
    The enemy must have spotters on Sussex Mountain; men systematically guiding the bombardment along the line of march of the 107th Combat Engineering Combat Group. 
 
    Galtieri found himself recollecting his conversation with Hugo Bonham-Garcia yesterday afternoon on the landline back to Puerto Argentino. 
 
    ‘We aren’t about to throw the enemy back into the sea.  Not tomorrow, this is not about defeating them on the battlefield; it is about eroding their morale here, and at home.’ 
 
    For a Marine, the MLFG Commander was a poet! 
 
    However, Galtieri had been on the other man’s wavelength; they did not have to win the battle, they just had to make sure they did not lose it! 
 
    The trouble was that right now, all that seemed a little esoteric and from where he was standing – well, lying face down in the wet peat – it did not look as if the English morale, or fighting efficiency had been dented by anything he or his comrades had achieved thus far! 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 60 
 
      
 
    05:58 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Liverpool 
 
    South of Falkland Sound 
 
      
 
    The strength of David Penberthy’s voice fluctuated with the inevitable attenuation of the relatively long-range, boosted TBS link.  Peter Christopher had donned a headset, and stepped into the cruiser’s chart room, to speak privately to the man who, pro tem, was in command of the whole Task Force. 
 
    “It will be a while before we have a firm grip on what happened this morning,” the former Captain of HMS Talavera explained, a philosophical note in his voice that rang through the interference and scrambler mush.  “It is clear, however, that Ark Royal is out of action and we have lost Leith, Whitby and Jaguar.  Other ships have sustained damage, thankfully relatively minor in most cases.  Presently, ships offshore are focused on recovering aircrew from the Ark’s F4s and Buccaneers.” 
 
    That operation was in its early stages. 
 
    The two Argentine cruisers, the Hercules and the Nuevo de Julio were believed to be operating in an area approximately ninety miles north-north-east of Cape Dolphin, apparently having ‘balked at the jump’ and held back when the Indepencia II and the Veinticinco de Mayo had charged into action launching all their aircraft. 
 
    Curiously, both ships, having been steering for the northern entrance to Falkland Sound had ‘veered off’ and reduced speed to a crawl – seven or eight knots, no more – around two hours before the two Argentine carriers must have started launching their strike aircraft. 
 
    David Penberthy was frankly at a loss to explain the overnight manoeuvres of the two old cruisers: “Those ships were being marked by Valiant,” Peter was informed, “but presumably, the torpedo politics of the affair have thus far prevented us removing them from the threat board.  I am extending a picket screen out to the east to make sure we keep them in ‘radar’ sight.  Obviously, if we still had air, we could sink them at our convenience with a clear conscience; but we don’t.” 
 
    Peter had confirmed, tersely, that his battle was over. 
 
    He was proud of the way his people had performed; otherwise, he took little pleasure in the destruction of two enemy ships and the deaths of an untold number of Argentine seamen. 
 
    The General Belgrano had capsized seven minutes ago, wrecked by as many as eight or nine additional hits with 8-inch and innumerable 4.5- and 5-inch rounds from the frigate and the three destroyers under his command. 
 
    Plymouth and Corunna had raced to the site of her sinking to search for survivors, Inverness and Dunfermline had hurried south to join the ARA Espora in her probably, hopeless efforts to recover men from the frigid waters where the Santissima Trinidad had met her sudden, fiery death. 
 
    Liverpool had taken five hits, all from the General Belgrano: one had gouged a shallow scar on the roof of A main battery turret, another had ‘scratched the paintwork’ at the point where the cruiser’s main, 6-inch-thick main side armour tapered to 4-inches, a third had hit and passed through ‘Flag Country’ amidships between the ship’s two raked stacks, exploding – possibly only partially – as it exited the unmanned compartment.  A fourth 6-inch armour-piercing round had exploded in the forward chain store, having penetrated an unarmoured part of the bow just below the waterline, flooding three adjoining compartments.  Another round had hit the ship aft below the waterline, causing minor flooding but not, it seemed, detonating.  They were still trying to locate the unexploded shell; in the meantime, the cruiser had reduced speed to twelve knots while the damage to her forward hull was hurriedly assessed. 
 
    Peter explained that: “I suspect that until we can heave to, and put a clearance team in the water to weld a patch over the hole, I wouldn’t care to turn on all the taps, sir.” 
 
    “No, that’s fair enough,” David Penberthy had conceded.  “With the Ark out of the picture, I need Liverpool to re-join the rest of the Task Force.  We’ll worry about those damned ARA cruisers loitering to the north in due course; the more immediate issue will be the command and control of the offshore battle group if the Ark is out of the picture.  Talk to your pilot and give me an ETA when you can be back in contact…” 
 
    “Three to four hours, sir,” Peter retorted, not needing to think about it.  “I’ll bring Liverpool up to you through Falkland Sound.” 
 
    There was a hesitation at the other end of the connection. 
 
    “Good, that will shave several hours off your passage.” 
 
    “By your leave,” Peter acknowledged, “I’ll pass squadron command down here to Nick Laforey on Dunfermline.” 
 
    “He’s a good man.”  An afterthought: “Bring Plymouth north with you, Peter, and I suggest you make all the necessary preparations to accommodate the fleet staff on board Liverpool.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 61 
 
      
 
    06:03 Hours (Local) 
 
    East of Sussex Mountain 
 
      
 
    Charlie Company, reinforced by two platoons from Alpha Company, 43 Commando had suffered three dead and four serious wounded – men requiring urgent medical evacuation - in the assault on the ridge line.  This, despite the Navy bombarding the enemy’s position to, well…buggery. 
 
    Skirmishers had advanced and proceeded to scout the southern, down-slopes and push to the south west when, from nowhere, a Skyhawk had rattled overhead, literally spitting oil and fuel and as everybody was picking themselves up from wherever they had flung themselves, the canopy of the man who had, self-evidently, ejected from it just before it dived into the ground somewhere to the south, had opened and begun to flutter down to terra firma. 
 
    “Medics!  Medics!” 
 
    Listening in on the battalion circuit, Major Lionel Colvin was aware that several Argentine pilots had baled out, mostly crashed, in the San Carlos Sector in the last half-an-hour.  Brigade had also broadcast an order to be ready to assist in the recovery of British airmen, which frankly, Lionel like others, had taken with a pinch of salt.  Only, now he was wondering where that bloody Skyhawk had come from? 
 
    The Argentine pilot had come down about a hundred yards away from his Company CP – a small, sodden clearing in the head-high tussock grass – in the middle of Blue Platoon’s lines. 
 
    A corpsman was working on the man when Lionel arrived. 
 
    “This guy is FAA, sir,” he was told.  “Lieutenant Scarpa.” 
 
    The downed flyer was barely conscious. 
 
    His parachute and cables were piled under his head and a poncho had been laid on the ground where he lay. 
 
    “He’s going to need medivac like the others, sir.” 
 
    There were emergency casualty clearing stations at Ajax Bay, and to the north at Port San Carlos.  Previous mercy flights had been fired on from position in the eastern Corral Mountains but overnight, Bravo Company had been extending its perimeter into those hills. 
 
    “What priority are we giving this guy, sir?” 
 
    It was a legitimate question; they had their own wounded.  Was this man prioritised according to the severity of his injuries or automatically put to the back of the queue? 
 
    Lionel shook his head; not they were not having any of that nonsense! 
 
    “Make sure he goes back on the first available medivac flight.” 
 
    There were very few places a Wessex V could safely put down in the marshy bowl formed by the hills and mountains ringing the Greenfield Farm sector south of the San Carlos River, so the downed Argentine pilot was going to have to be stretchered back nearly a mile to the one, prepared landing area. 
 
    Returning to the Company CP he spoke to Steuart Pringle. 
 
    “Is there a general SITREP update on what’s going on Boss?” 
 
    “There was a big battle at sea.  Several ships were damaged in a surprise air attack on San Carlos Water.  There are reports of multiple air crashes hereabouts.  Responding to our forward artillery spotters the Navy is shooting up an enemy column moving past Camilla Creek House.  Otherwise, your guess is as good as mine, old man,” he was informed jovially.  More seriously, Pringle ordered: “Keep developing your front south and south west but don’t get involved in a major firefight.  Until the Canberra unloads her reinforcements we might be in a bit of bother if the enemy really wants to make a fight of it in this sector.” 
 
    The two men talked about logistics and casualty evacuation for a couple of minutes then bade each other adieu.  In the distance, judging by the regular thump and boom of artillery, the Navy was giving somebody grief, presumably those cheeky sods trying to creep up the coast from Goose Green! 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 62 
 
      
 
    06:40 Hours (Local) 
 
    SS Canberra 
 
    San Carlos Water 
 
      
 
    The Vindrey Commando had exercised with Royal Marines and Paratroopers in Wales and on Dartmoor but never participated in amphibious operations.  Anatoly Saratov had been astonished by the size of the four dazzle-camouflaged landing craft that had emerged out of the mist and bumped alongside the liner. 
 
    The operation to recover the Leith’s survivors, and the floating bodies of her dead, out of the glassy, cold waters of the anchorage was over.  Very few of the men in the water had been pulled out alive; the majority of those who had got off the sinking destroyer had perished of hypothermia.  Medics had laboured over the lifeless forms of men brought on board the Canberra; of the old Fletcher class destroyer there was no sign other than a spreading slick of oil and dispersing flotsam which eventually would wash up ashore or be sucked out into Falkland Sound by the tides.  
 
    “LCU Mark 9,” a Royal Marine had sniffed, seeing where the wide-eyed Russian was looking.  Apparently, the Fearless and the Intrepid both had four of the monsters, which they transported wherever they went in their cavernous stern ‘docks’. 
 
    The craft were over seventy-feet-long, were capable of carrying a main battle tank or up to one-hundred-and fifty men with all their equipment.  The four LCUs coming alongside the Canberra were going to take the entire Vindrey Commando ashore in one trip! 
 
    Anatoly followed Sergey Akhromeyev down to the boarding hatch, where a ramp had been lowered enabling men to march straight onto the first of the LCUs.  After getting used to the motion of the forty-five-thousand-ton Canberra, trying to keep one’s balance on the deck of an eighty-ton flat-bottomed landing craft was something of a rude awakening; likewise, to be exposed to the relatively mild lash of that morning’s austral wind on his face, tinged with ozone-rich flecks of spray. 
 
    Obediently, he trailed Akhromeyev onto the upper deck near the stern wheelhouse.  He and his chief exchanged crisp salutes with a Royal Marine subaltern, who cheerfully explained that while he was not LCU FC3’s captain, he was responsible for the safe ‘hand-off’ of the Vindrey Commando to the Beach Master at Port San Carlos. 
 
    Drawing away from the Canberra, they saw for the first time the ragged cannon holes in the great liner’s flank and oddly V-shaped gash where the unexploded bomb had penetrated the ship’s side about ten feet above the waterline.  Around them helicopters, two Wessex V troop carriers and a Sea King flew low, the latter with a huge cargo net slung on a hook carrying a 76-millimetre anti-tank gun. 
 
    Pressed together in the well of the vessel the men of the Commando were quiet, warily eying the skies, most waiting for the moment they were ashore again to light up the first cigarette of the real campaign to come. 
 
    The LCU passed astern of the Intrepid. 
 
    The big LDS – Anatoly had learned the two ungainly looking ‘commando’ ships were not strictly speaking ‘assault ships’ but Landing Dock Ships, on account of their presently flooded down docks.  The two ships looked odd, visibly down by the stern. 
 
    He strained to read the names of the other ships they passed. 
 
    Lagan Empire… 
 
    A destroyer cruising in the narrow waters, all her guns at maximum elevation…Diana. 
 
    A stores ship, the…Resurgent with the number A280 on her flank, not in the tall, strident way of the US Navy but neatly painted, with characters less than a man’s height. 
 
    A minesweeper, the Repton was alongside the Intrepid. 
 
    Anatoly hardly cared to think about what the long voyage across the South Atlantic must have been like for the men on that tiny little ship… 
 
    “I hope you are memorising all this for your memoirs, Anatoly?”  Sergey Akhromeyev chided him. 
 
    The younger man snapped out of his reverie, which he attributed in no small part to the knock on the head he had got back on the Canberra that morning. 
 
    “This is not a thing one sees every day, sir!” 
 
    The landing craft was forging through the grey water pushing a broad bow-wave before her.  Astern, a second craft was already following less than a hundred yards adrift. 
 
    Akhromeyev was eyeing the ships all around them. 
 
    “All those fucking aircraft had to do this morning was squeeze the trigger and hit the bomb release lever and they were bound to hit something!”  He observed pragmatically. 
 
    The ships in the anchorage were sitting ducks. 
 
    Long ago, Anatoly had discovered that his chief was not one of those officers – the majority of Red Army officers – who talked just because he liked the sound of his own voice.  He actually enjoyed conversations with his men, particularly ones who had been with him back in France or he had met soon after he arrived in England, like Anatoly. 
 
    “I think those aircraft this morning came in so low they hardly had time to pick a target, sir,” the younger man offered respectfully. 
 
    “You’re probably right.”  Akhromeyev flicked his eyes skyward.  “But from up there, they’d have had a perfect view and the surrounding hills would block the gunboats’ radars and guns until they were literally, right over our heads.” 
 
    Anatoly nodded. 
 
    Fortunately, so far as he knew, the Argentine Air Force did not have any bombers like the Tupolev Tu-95 Bears, or Yankee B-52s with which to overfly San Carlos Water at altitude, or with which to carpet bomb the helpless fleet around them! 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 63 
 
      
 
    16:45 Hours (GMT) 
 
    House of Commons, 
 
    Christ Church Great Hall, Oxford 
 
      
 
    For the second time that week the Commons was packed, so overcrowded that Members of Parliament had to stand with the Press in their gallery, and were sprinkled about the few benches reserved for members of the public and visiting VIPs, like the US Ambassador, George Bush and the High Commissioners from several Commonwealth allies, Australia, New Zealand and South Africa. 
 
    The mood in the air was sombre, less febrile than it had been on Tuesday, mainly because the Labour Party had withdrawn – delayed at any rate – its motion of no confidence in the Government as soon as the news of the great sea battle off the northern shores of the Falklands Archipelago had begun to circulate in Oxford.  It was one thing to kick a wounded Government when it appeared to be on its knees; another entirely to do it at a time when thousands of British servicemen were engaged in a life or death struggle thousands of miles from home. 
 
    The Speaker of the House rose to his feet and on this occasion, without coercion, the chamber fell silent. 
 
    “A statement by the Prime Minister!” Charles Fletcher Fletcher-Cooke declared; his voice hardly raised above a conversational pitch in the hush. 
 
    The Prime Minister was flanked by her new Foreign and Commonwealth Secretary, Francis Pym and a grim-faced Secretary of State for Defence, Sir Ian Gilmour. 
 
    Margaret Thatcher stepped up to the Despatch Box and for a moment, as if she badly needed to steady herself, her balance impaired, rested her hands on it as she raised her head and for some seconds surveyed the faces of the men and women on the opposition benches. 
 
    “I come to the House with solemn news,” she said simply.  “Within the bounds of what I may reasonably tell Right Honourable and the Honourable Members opposite without risking disclosing information which may be of use to an enemy, I plan to be as forthright,” she hesitated, “as frank and honest with you, and with the British people, about the prosecution of the war in the South Atlantic as I can be at this time.  Further to this, I have authorised my ministers to fully brief, should he so choose, the Leader of the Opposition and shadow ministers he might care to nominate, of ongoing developments, on Privy Councillor terms going forward.” 
 
    Peter Shore, the leader of the Labour and Co-operative Party frowned.  Privy Councillor terms would bind him to secrecy, and conceivably, muzzle him in the coming days.  If, that was, he elected to entertain the offer; which intuitively he was disinclined to accept. 
 
    “At around dawn, local time in the South Atlantic, around breakfast time this morning here in England, the ships of the South Atlantic Task Force were attacked by a force of perhaps as many as one hundred land-based, and carrier-borne Argentine aircraft.  Although many of the enemy aircraft were propeller driven, including some of Second World War vintage, some North American F-86 Sabres and Douglas A-4 Skyhawks, possibly between twenty and thirty in number, also took part in the action, primarily against the ships of the Ark Royal’s Battle Group.” 
 
    The Prime Minister had become declamatory, and a little shrill as she got into her stride. 
 
    “It is important at a time like this to squash false rumours and any attempt to foment public alarm.  Likewise, I urge all members to avoid words, and actions likely to needlessly worry the relatives of men serving in the South Atlantic, or which risk giving undue comfort to our enemies.” 
 
    Not unreasonably, MPs on both sides of the House murmured in umbrage at this imputation that they might disseminate scurrilous half-truths, or in any way seek to aid an enemy in time of war. 
 
    Margaret Thatcher seemed completely oblivious to the offence she had just caused among an assembly that was by no means uniformly opposed to her, or her Falklands policy.  In fact, throughout the autumn support for sending the Task Force had, if the polls were to be believed, been as strong, if not more so in many staunchly Labour-voting constituencies than in the majority of those which had returned National Conservative candidates to Parliament in the last election. 
 
    People would later claim to have seen the horror on Ian Gilmour’s face at that moment and how ‘rattled’ he seemed during the remainder of the Prime Minister’s short and ultimately, unsatisfactorily terse statement. 
 
    “Reports are still being collated and the House will understand that we must await a further, measured accounting of today’s events.  However, it seems that by sheer weight of numbers the enemy overwhelmed our air defences and attacked several of the ships escorting HMS Ark Royal.  I am constrained in what I can tell you at this time but sadly, I must inform you that a number of our ships were damaged, and there will have been casualties on board those ships.  After the attack, aircraft of the Fleet Air Arm attacked and disabled both of the Argentine aircraft carriers; one of which, we believe to be the Indepencia II, may have now sunk.  The two Argentine cruisers thought to be in company with the aircraft carriers, are believed to be lurking somewhere to the north of the Falklands…” 
 
    Understandably, everybody wanted to know about the Ark Royal. 
 
    The Prime Minister ignored this. 
 
    “I must also tell you that our ships at San Carlos were also attacked, although I am assured that casualties among our ground troops were…light.” 
 
    Margaret Thatcher had brought a prepared script into the House; but not referred to it at any time. 
 
    “Simultaneously,” she continued, starting to breathe defiance, “to the south of the Falklands, HMS Liverpool, and a squadron under the command of Sir Peter Christopher, engaged and destroyed two Argentine cruisers, the Santissima Trinidad and the General Belgrano in what has been described to me as a ‘classic cruiser action’ lasting some thirty minutes.” 
 
    Realising that his leader had, for reasons beyond his comprehension, strayed off script, Ian Gilmour was seen, and heard to mutter a pleading: ‘Prime Minister!” 
 
    This was ignored. 
 
    “HMS Liverpool suffered only minor damage and has since re-joined the main part of the Task Force supporting the landing of reinforcements at San Carlos Water, from whence offensive ground operations to re-take East Falkland will shortly commence!” 
 
    With which, Margaret Thatcher had resumed her seat as if nothing further needed to be said about the matter. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 64 
 
      
 
    20:10 Hours (Local) 
 
    HMS Naiad, Falkland Sound 
 
      
 
    Commander Alan Hannay stood on the starboard bridge wing of the Leander class frigate watching the gap between his ship’s heavily bolstered flank and that of the old Baltimore class heavy cruiser narrowing.  He thought he saw traces of oil in the dark water between the Liverpool and his ship but that might have been his imagination playing tricks; it had been one of those days and they were all if not dead on their feet, then mentally utterly spent. 
 
    Alan had resisted the suggestion of ‘pep’ pills but accepted every mug of industrial-strength coffee pressed upon him throughout the day, a day which had seemed to go on forever yet, had seemed to pass him by in a series of supersonic flashes…just like parts of that terrible day in April 1964 had whistled past his conscious mind.  His part in the Battle of Malta had come back to haunt him later, in dreams and waking…visions that he had confessed to nobody other than his wife.  He guessed it was worse for Peter and he knew Rosa and Marija had spoken of the toll that day had taken on their husbands.  This war had only just begun for him and already he had another lifetime’s worth of the stuff of nightmares to carry home.  Beneath his urbane, calm exterior he was angry, fighting mad and he suspected he was not the only one.  None of today’s grief needed to have happened; it ought not to have happened and there were a lot of people back home, particularly in Oxford, with blood on their hands.  Right now, politicians, especially the ones who had been the keenest to spend unlimited blood and treasure on retaking the Falkland Islands, would be closing ranks, getting their excuses ready, plotting to blame the innocent and to handsomely reward those among their number most culpable for today’s…debacle. 
 
    “STOP BOTH!”  Alan called over his shoulder into the enclosed compass platform at his back. 
 
    “ALL STOP BOTH, AYE, SIR!”  Came the acknowledgement. 
 
    On paper, today had been a victory, of sorts. 
 
    Two enemy carriers sunk – well one of them sunk and the other a burning hulk the last he had heard, and practically every enemy aircraft shot down or abandoned and from what little he had been told, the disembarkation of the Canberra was proceeding more or less to plan while an enemy attempt to attack the beachhead from the south had been not so much roundly repulsed but nipped in the bud by 42 Commando.  However, this was less than half the story.  Although the Ark Royal’s fires had been brought under control – or rather, started to burn themselves out - and as night fell it was still hoped she might be towed inshore, patched up so that at some stage she could be towed back to the Cape, her air group was gone – fourteen Phantoms and twelve Buccaneers, her four Gannets and two of her four Sea Kings – and without them the Task Force was naked.  The frigates Whitby and Jaguar and the destroyer Leith had also been lost and although nearly a thousand men had been taken off the Ark Royal, hundreds of men were dead, missing, or terribly injured.  At least five other ships, including the Country class Terrier-armed Devonshire had been damaged.  Presently, she lay anchored close to Cat Islet about a mile to the east of the Liverpool, whose superstructure now loomed above the Naiad in the ever-darkening shadows. 
 
    Liverpool herself has suffered six dead and twenty-three wounded in this morning’s action; and as Naiad had manoeuvred to come alongside, the eerie glow of oxy-acetylene torches plugging her holed bow had glinted through the waters of Falkland Sound.  It would be sunset in a few minutes and fully night in half-an-hour, and already the ships in Falkland Sound were blurring into the haze of the dusk. 
 
    An hour ago, Alan had watched the Hospital Ship, the SS Himalaya, a great white whale with huge red crosses painted on her sides, enter the Sound and feel her way below Fanning Head, disappearing into San Carlos Water.  The Bulwark’s Wessex Vs had been queuing to put down on her helicopter pads, fore and aft even as she slipped past Chancho Point. 
 
    Alan felt a presence by his shoulder. 
 
    He half-turned. 
 
    Vice Admiral Henry Leach was, like the frigate’s captain, eying the narrowing space between the two ships.  He looked up, momentarily meeting the younger man’s eye. 
 
    Bizarrely, nothing had given Naiad’s crew a bigger lift than the news that the Task Force Commander’s cat, Bantu, had been found.  The wide-eyed little black and white feline had been safely reunited with his master by the rating who had captured it, on the second of the four Wessex V ‘drops’ of men rescued from the Ark Royal.  Altogether, there were over a hundred-and-thirty survivors on board the frigate; in the main unhurt or lightly wounded, those with serious injuries had been flown directly to the Bulwark or to the Himalaya. 
 
    The latest accounting for the Ark’s airmen was twenty-six safe, and thirty-five killed in action, drowned or missing.  There were hopes that some of the men unaccounted for might have ejected over land but thus far, only nine bodies had been recovered from the sea.  Once in the water a man only had minutes to live in these latitudes. 
 
    During her transit north through Falkland Sound the Liverpool had been engaged by a shore battery in the Fox Bay Sector, taking several medium-calibre hits, most likely from 105-millimetre field guns, or long 76-millimetre anti-tank pieces.  The cruiser, and her consort, the Plymouth, had replied with every gun that would bear but not before the Liverpool had taken several more hits, fortunately all above the waterline and in well-protected places apart from one round which had killed another three men manning a 40-millimetre mount. 
 
    Henry Leach, like Ark Royal’s other survivors, had been lifted off the forward flight deck of his flagship in only the clothes on his back; of his personal possessions, everything else was gone.  Again, like the other men brought on board the frigate, he was now kitted out in borrowed rags, willingly given up by Naiad’s officers and men. 
 
    Leach was a man of similar stature, perhaps an inch or so shorter, leanly constructed like the frigate’s captain; and was now nattily-attired in Alan Hannay’s spare No. 3 dress uniform – that is, general duties rig – jacket absent decorations with a commander’s rank insignia, three solid cuff rings, a white shirt and tie, today with a woollen jersey beneath his jacket, and trousers that were just a little slack around the waist. 
 
    “Thank you and your excellent crew for everything you have done for us today,” Leach murmured, and looking at himself, “and for the generous loan of your gear.  Bantu and I will always be in your debt, Captain.” 
 
    The frigate and the cruiser were moving together at an almost imperceptibly gentle rate; Alan had never imagined he would ever be this comfortable handling the two-and-a-half-thousand-ton Naiad but, in this as in so many other things in his life, he was constantly surprising himself! 
 
    “It was the least we could do, sir.” 
 
    The Liverpool had thrown bow and stern lines and her deck division was poised to lower a gangway down to the frigate’s helicopter platform. 
 
    Naiad’s Wasp anti-submarine helicopter was unserviceable, locked away in its hangar much to Alan Hannay’s chagrin.  Hopefully, one of the supply ships in San Carlos Water would have the spares required to get the bird back into the air. 
 
    Passing the con to the Officer of the Watch, Alan accompanied Henry Leach to the stern where a small honour guard had been formed by Naiad’s twelve-man Royal Marines Detachment. 
 
    Bosuns’ whistles trilled, hands were shaken, salutes exchanged and Henry Leach, followed by several junior members of his staff marched up the gangway to be received on board the cruiser.  Almost immediately, orders were barked and other survivors began to ascend the companionway to the Liverpool’s quarterdeck beneath the looming barrels of her elevated aft 8-inch rifles. 
 
    On another occasion Alan might have been tempted to steal aboard the cruiser to have a chinwag with Peter Christopher; not least to find out what had happened in the battle south of the archipelago that morning.  However, the friends would have to wait for another day; they were, after all, in the middle of a war.  A war which had just turned even messier and bloodier than anyone could have imagined. 
 
    Alan trudged back to the bridge. 
 
    Several of Ark Royal’s survivors shook his hand as he moved through them on the quarterdeck helicopter platform as they waited to disembark, he patted shoulders, slapped arms and more than one man thumped his back in the gathering darkness. 
 
    There were tears in his eyes by the time he reached the bridge. 
 
    He checked the Type 965 air search repeater. 
 
    The display was half mush, snowed with false returns from the surrounding hills exacerbated by proximity to the Liverpool’s cutting-edge, very powerful SPS 43 and 48 systems. 
 
    “Liverpool’s plot is showing no air threats at this time, sir.” 
 
    Alan had contemplated changing the ship’s readiness status to ADC2, if only to allow some of his people to get their heads down for a couple of hours.  As it was, men were dropping off to sleep at their stations.  He had compromised, the ship would remain at ADC1; however, he had ordered food to be brought round to all stations and told his officers to allow men leave to ‘nap’ in turns.  It was all very ad hoc, not in Queen’s Regulations, or any of the operating protocols he was aware of but back in the Mediterranean in 1964 captains had had to learn to make it up as they went along… 
 
    Lieutenant Commander Nigel Bonham arrived on the bridge a couple of minutes after his commanding officer.  The frigate’s Executive Officer looked as tired and drawn as everybody else did in the faint red light of the compass platform. 
 
    “The C-in-C’s little furry friend has now been received with all due ceremony on the Liverpool, sir,” he reported, deadpan. 
 
    Alan chuckled and shook his head. 
 
    “Thank you, Number One,” he sighed, “that’s good to know!” 
 
    

  

 
 
    Chapter 65 
 
      
 
   



 

 Epilogue 
 
      
 
    23:17 Hours 
 
    San Carlos Water, East Falkland 
 
      
 
    The destroyers guarding the southern entrance to Falkland Sound, standing some twenty miles out to sea to ensure that their radars could search all around the horizon without ground interference, had first detected the straggling formation approaching from the west at 01:02 Hours (GMT) – 22:02 Hours (Local) – flying on a course approximately eighty miles south of the southernmost extremity of West Falkland. 
 
    This and subsequent reports were transmitted to the new Task Force CIC on board HMS Liverpool over the next hour. 
 
    Ten contacts, cruising at around two-hundred-and-forty knots which as they passed due south of the nearest guardship destroyer, HMS Corunna were flying at an altitude of 9,500 feet.  Instruments on all three destroyers detected the emissions of centimetric radars from the formation. 
 
    It was not until a course correction indicated that the unknown aircraft were making for Beauchene Island, the most southerly and isolated of the archipelago’s islands, situated some thirty-four miles south of Porpoise Point that the alarm bells began to ring.  A line on a map drawn from Beauchene Island to point a few degrees east of due north vectored, almost exactly, down the length of San Carlos Water; and from that moment there could be no doubt that the mystery aircraft were bombers. 
 
    Beauchene Island was a four-hundred-and-thirty-acre uninhabited rock rising at its highest point to about two-hundred-and-thirty feet in height, which had probably not been visited by anybody since scientists had stayed on it for a month in 1951 to study its fauna and flora.  However, as a great big, easily identified route marker and initial – starting - point for a blind-bombing radar-directed bomb run it was absolutely priceless. 
 
    In San Carlos Water the inlet was filling with ammunition and supply ships unloading ordnance, other war supplies, food and everything else the beachhead desperately needed to sustain itself and to prepare for forward operations.  Those ships were literally, sitting ducks. 
 
    HMS Devonshire backed out into the main channel, the black water under her stern boiling.  Even though she was down by the bow several degrees, riddled with splinters forward and with an unexploded bomb lodged in her engine room uptakes the big County class guided missile destroyer’s still fully-functioning air search and director radars scanned the southern skies. 
 
    Naiad, having cast off from the Liverpool, manoeuvred so as to clear the big County class destroyer’s targeting envelope; meanwhile, the Liverpool’s screws churned to bring her broadside on to the approaching bombers, her big guns loaded with time-fused high explosive shells set to explode between eight and ten thousand feet, creating huge killing boxes in the path of the oncoming bombers.  Her 5-inch 38-calibre DP guns had loaded proximity-fused anti-aircraft rounds, with both of her twin starboard gun houses trained towards the southern sky. 
 
    The Liverpool was the first of about a dozen ships in Falkland Sound to open fire with her main battery at a range of seventeen nautical miles.  Two minutes later the 5-inch DPs followed suit and then every gun on every ship began to blaze away. 
 
    The Devonshire, wallowing in the tide two miles off shore struggled to achieve target lock for her Terriers as her forward 4.5-inch guns blazed away. 
 
    Then, one, and moments later, a second 3000-pound RIM-2 Terrier, twenty-seven-feet long surface-to-air missile – capable of accelerating to Mach three and shooting down jets flying at supersonic speeds at altitudes of up to eighty-thousand-feet, lanced up into the night. 
 
    But by then it was too late. 
 
    Bombs were already spilling from the cavernous bomb bays of the first three Avro Lincoln IIs of the specially re-formed Grupo de Bombardeo of V Brigada Aérea. 
 
    Even as the Devonshire’s Terriers’ semi-active C-band homing radars locked onto their prey 500-, 1000-, and 2000-pound bombs, approximately one-third armour-piercing, and the rest high-explosive iron bombs fused to detonate on impact were whistling down through a blizzard of anti-aircraft fire into San Carlos Water, and accidentally onto the surrounding hills, and the seven bombers of the second wave, each carrying over six-and-a-half tons of bombs were lining up on the narrow inlet they had been sent to carpet bomb. 
 
    The Ark Royal’s CAP, or perhaps, the Devonshire had she been undamaged and gifted with unobstructed radar sightlines, would almost certainly have decimated the old, slow-flying Lincolns.  But the Ark was gone, her Mach 2 Phantoms splashed and whatever the Task Force did some, if not all of those Lincolns were surely going to get through. 
 
    The first salvo of Terriers smoked and burned across the night over Falkland Sound; but then, from beyond the headland there were flashes that lit the overcast and after some seconds, the awful rumbling thunder of huge explosions began to roll across the water like a drumroll of death. 
 
      
 
    [ THE END ] 
 
    

  

 
   
    Author’s Note 
 
      
 
    Thank you for reading ‘Smoke on the Water’, I hope you enjoyed it.  If not, I am sorry.  In either event, I believe that civilisation needs people like you to keep the written word alive. 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    ‘Cassandra’s Song’, Part 3 of the War in the South Atlantic, Book 18 of the Timeline 10/27/62 Main Series and twill be published on 27th April 2022. 
 
      
 
    It is my hope, and plan – although if events have illustrated of late, the best laid plans can often go awry – to release ‘Changing the Guard’ and ‘Independence Day’, respectively Books 19 and 20 in the Main Series in October 2022. 
 
      
 
    James Philip 
 
    October 2021 
 
    

  

 
   
    Other Books by James Philip 
 
      
 
      
 
    Other Series and Novels 
 
      
 
    Europa Reich Series 
 
      
 
    Book 1:  Moonshot 
 
      
 
    Coming in 2022 
 
      
 
    Book 2:  Olympiad 
 
    Book 3:  Triumph  
 
      
 
    The New England Series 
 
      
 
    Book 1:  Empire Day 
 
    Book 2:  Two Hundred Lost Years 
 
    Book 3:  Travels Through the Wind 
 
    Book 4:  Remember Brave Achilles 
 
    Book 5:  George Washington’s Ghost 
 
    Book 6:  Imperial Crisis 
 
    Book 7:  The Lines of Laredo 
 
    Book 8:  The Halls of Montezuma 
 
    Book 9:  Islands in the Stream 
 
      
 
    Coming in 2022 
 
      
 
    Book 10: The Gathering Place 
 
      
 
    The Guy Winter Mysteries 
 
      
 
    Prologue:  Winter’s Pearl 
 
    Book 1:  Winter’s War 
 
    Book 2:  Winter’s Revenge 
 
    Book 3:  Winter’s Exile 
 
    Book 4:  Winter’s Return 
 
    Book 5:  Winter’s Spy 
 
    Book 6:  Winter’s Nemesis 
 
      
 
    The Bomber War Series 
 
    Book 1:  Until the Night 
 
    Book 2:  The Painter 
 
    Book 3:  The Cloud Walkers 
 
      
 
    Until the Night Series 
 
      
 
    Part 1:  Main Force Country – September 1943 
 
    Part 2:  The Road to Berlin – October 1943 
 
    Part 3:  The Big City – November 1943 
 
    Part 4:  When Winter Comes – December 1943 
 
    Part 5:  After Midnight – January 1944 
 
      
 
    The Harry Waters Series 
 
      
 
    Book 1:  Islands of No Return 
 
    Book 2:  Heroes 
 
    Book 3:  Brothers in Arms 
 
      
 
    The Frankie Ransom Series 
 
      
 
    Book 1:  A Ransom for Two Roses 
 
    Book 2:  The Plains of Waterloo 
 
    Book 3:  The Nantucket Sleighride 
 
      
 
    The Strangers Bureau Series 
 
      
 
    Book 1:  Interlopers 
 
    Book 2:  Pictures of Lily 
 
      
 
    The River House Chronicles Series 
 
      
 
    Book 1:  Things Can Only Get better 
 
    Book 2:  Consenting Adults 
 
    Book 3:  All Swing Together 
 
    Book 4:  The Honourable Member 
 
      
 
    Non-Fiction Cricket Books 
 
      
 
    FS Jackson 
 
    Lord Hawke 
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
    Cricket Books edited by James Philip 
 
    The James D. Coldham Series 
 
    [Edited by James Philip] 
 
      
 
    Books 
 
      
 
    Northamptonshire Cricket:  A History [1741-1958] 
 
    Lord Harris 
 
      
 
    Anthologies 
 
      
 
    Volume 1:  Notes & Articles 
 
    Volume 2:  Monographs No. 1 to 8 
 
      
 
    Monographs 
 
      
 
    No. 1 - William Brockwell 
 
    No. 2 - German Cricket 
 
    No. 3 - Devon Cricket 
 
    No. 4 - R.S. Holmes 
 
    No. 5 - Collectors & Collecting 
 
    No. 6 - Early Cricket Reporters 
 
    No. 7 – Northamptonshire 
 
    No. 8 - Cricket & Authors 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    Details of all James Philip’s published books and  
 
    forthcoming publications can be found on his website  
 
    ________ 
 
    Cover artwork concepts by James Philip 
 
    Graphic Design by Beastleigh Web Design 
 
      
 
  
  
 cover.jpeg
SMOKE ON
THE WATER

WAR IN THE SOUTH ATLANTIC
PART 2

TIMELINE 10/2%7/62

BOOK SEVENTEEN

Eﬁ X

JAMES PHILIP






